Public Document Pack

Notice of meeting and agenda

Policy and Sustainability Committee
10.00 am Tuesday, 10th November, 2020

Virtual Meeting - via Microsoft Teams

This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome to watch the live
webcast on the Council’s website.
The law allows the Council to consider some issues in private. Any items under “Private
Business” will not be published, although the decisions will be recorded in the minute.

Contacts
Email:

jamie.macrae@edinburgh.gov.uk / louise.p.williamson@edinburgh.gov.uk

Tel:

0131 553 8242 / 0131 529 4264

1. Order of Business
1.1

Including any notices of motion and any other items of business
submitted as urgent for consideration at the meeting.

2. Declaration of Interests
2.1

Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests
they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying
the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest.

3. Deputations
3.1

If any

4. Minutes
4.1

Minute of Policy and Sustainability Committee of 6 October 2020
– submitted for approval as a correct record

7 - 32

5. Forward Planning
5.1

Policy and Sustainability Committee Work Programme November 2020

33 - 38

5.2

Rolling Actions Log

39 - 70

6. Business Bulletin
6.1

Business Bulletin

71 - 80

7. Executive Decisions
7.1

Adaptation and Renewal Programme – Report by the Chief
Executive

81 - 120

7.2

Short Window Improvement Plan Progress Update – Report by
the Chief Executive

121 - 156

7.3

Public Bodies Climate Change Duties Report 2019/20 – Report

157 - 222

Policy and Sustainability Committee - 10
November 2020

Page 2 of 5

by the Chief Executive
7.4

International Framework Update – Report by the Chief Executive

223 - 228

7.5

Gaelic Language Plan 2018-22 - Monitoring Report – Report by
the Chief Executive

229 - 254

7.6

Filming in Edinburgh - Costs and Income – Report by the
Executive Director of Place

255 - 262

7.7

Community Centres and Library Re-opening (Update) – Report
by the Chief Executive

263 - 298

7.8

Update on the Edinburgh Health and Social Care Older People
Joint Inspection Improvement Plan – Report by the Chief Officer,
Edinburgh Health and Social Care Partnership

299 - 352

8. Routine Decisions
8.1

Policies - Assurance Statement - Customer – Report by the
Executive Director of Resources

353 - 358

8.2

Human Resources Policies - Assurance Statement – Report by
the Executive Director of Resources

359 - 364

9. Motions
9.1

By Councillor Whyte – Health and Social Care Savings
“Committee:
1)

Notes the challenging operating environment for Health
and Social Care in light of changes required from Covid-19
and the difficult financial conditions;

2)

Recognises the IJB has set challenging targets for savings
in the current financial years:

3)

Requests an update within one cycle of Council progress
in meeting the savings targets for Health and Social Care;

4)

Requests commentary on each of the savings targets and
the impact on service provision.”

Policy and Sustainability Committee - 10
November 2020

Page 3 of 5

Andrew Kerr
Chief Executive

Committee Members
Councillor Adam McVey (Convener), Councillor Cammy Day (Vice-Convener),
Councillor Robert Aldridge, Councillor Kate Campbell, Councillor Nick Cook, Councillor
Neil Gardiner, Councillor Gillian Gloyer, Councillor Graham Hutchison, Councillor
Lesley Macinnes, Councillor John McLellan, Councillor Melanie Main, Councillor Rob
Munn, Councillor Ian Perry, Councillor Alex Staniforth, Councillor Susan Webber,
Councillor Donald Wilson and Councillor Iain Whyte

Information about the Policy and Sustainability Committee
The Policy and Sustainability Committee consists of 17 Councillors and is appointed by
the City of Edinburgh Council. The meeting will be held by Microsoft Teams and will be
webcast live for viewing by members of the public.

Further information
If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact
Jamie Macrae, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council, Business Centre 2.1,
Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG, email
jamie.macrae@edinburgh.gov.uk / louise.p.williamson@edinburgh.gov.uk.
The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting and all the main Council
committees can be viewed online by going to https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk.

Webcasting of Council meetings
Please note this meeting may be filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the
Council’s internet site – at the start of the meeting the Convener will confirm if all or part
of the meeting is being filmed.
The Council is a Data Controller under the General Data Protection Regulation and
Data Protection Act 2018.
We broadcast Council meetings to fulfil our public task obligation to enable members of
the public to observe the democratic process. Data collected during this webcast will be
retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy including, but not limited to,

Policy and Sustainability Committee - 10
November 2020

Page 4 of 5

for the purpose of keeping historical records and making those records available via the
Council’s internet site. Any information presented by individuals to the Council at a
meeting, in a deputation or otherwise, in addition to forming part of a webcast that will
be held as a historical record, will also be held and used by the Council in connection
with the relevant matter until that matter is decided or otherwise resolved (including any
potential appeals and other connected processes). Thereafter, that information will
continue to be held as part of the historical record in accordance with the paragraphs
above. If you have any queries regarding this, and, in particular, if you believe that use
and/or storage of any particular information would cause, or be likely to cause,
substantial damage or distress to any individual, please contact Committee Services
(committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk).

Policy and Sustainability Committee - 10
November 2020

Page 5 of 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4.1
Minutes
Policy and Sustainability Committee
10.00 am, Thursday 6 October 2020
Present
Councillors McVey (Convener), Day (Vice-Convener), Aldridge, Jim Campbell
(substituting for Councillor Cook, item 19 onwards), Kate Campbell, Cook (items 1 –
18), Dickie (substituting for Councillor Gardiner, items 1 – 9), Gardiner (item 10
onwards), Gloyer, Hutchison, Macinnes, Main, McLellan (items 1 – 18), Mowat
(substituting for Councillor McLellan, item 19 onwards), Munn (substituting for
Councillor Rankin), Perry, Rose (substituting for Councillor Webber, items 1 – 14),
Staniforth, Webber (item 15 onwards), Whyte and Wilson.

1.

Response to Council Motion on Whistleblowing Culture

On 17 September 2020, the City of Edinburgh Council considered an emergency
motion by Councillor Whyte on Whistleblowing Culture. This motion was referred onto
the Policy and Sustainability Committee of 6 October 2020 to allow any relevant
information relating to the process and timeline of investigations to be presented by
officers to the contents of the motion and then brought back to Council on 15 October
2020 for a full discussion.
In response to a motion to Councillor Whyte’s motion a report was provided which also
set out some details in relation to the current confidential ongoing investigation.
Recommendations were made in relation to a proposed further review of Council
culture and associated processes. The report was considered alongside the referred
motion.
Decision
1)

To note that a fully independent review into certain specific matters was
underway and was currently expected to complete its work in the Spring next
year.

2)

Building on the decision made at Council on 17 September 2020, to agree that a
further independent assessment of Council culture and relevant processes
would be undertaken.

3)

To refer this report to full Council on 15 October for decision.

(References - Act of Council No. 16 of 17 September 2020; report by the Chief
Executive, submitted.)

Page 7

2.

Whistleblowing Culture – Motion by Councillor Whyte

The following motion by Councillor Whyte was referred from the meeting of the City of
Edinburgh Council of 17 September 2020 in terms of Standing Order 17:
“1)

Council notes with concern the recent media reports about the sudden death of
a Council employee who had been suspended and was under investigation by
the Council and Police over serious criminal allegations.

2)

Council further notes that media reports allege that complaints about the
employee’s behaviour date back over a number of years and that this behaviour
was raised with the Council in the past. It is not clear to the public whether, or
how, these matters were addressed.

3)

Council notes that, since its introduction in 2014 the current whistleblowing
process has improved matters with independent oversight from Safecall and the
Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee being key contributors, but that
there have been concerns raised historically in relation to pre-2014
whistleblowing and conduct inquiries into matters such as the statutory notices
scandal, the matters examined by the Edinburgh Tram Inquiry, various
investigations resulting in reports to Council detailing historic maladministration
and the circumstances which led to the dismissal of the head teacher at
Castlebrae High School. Many of these matters are still subject to Public Inquiry
or Court proceedings.

4)

Council expresses concern that current circumstances are potentially an
indication of a negative culture which it was hoped was wholly historic in nature.

5)

Council notes that an investigation has been commissioned by Council officers
into the matters relating to the activities of the Council’s former staff member and
related activities, working with the Police as appropriate, potentially involving
independent input, and that this will report back to the Chief Executive in due
course.

6)

Council recognises the confidentiality and sensitivity of the investigation and
requests the Chief Executive to report back to Council on the outcome and any
recommendations in due course and in the meantime to keep the Group
Leaders updated on progress.

7)

Council agrees the prime importance of ensuring confidence in its approach to
whistleblowing, corruption and criminal wrongdoing, and notes that addressing
the culture contributing to any such failings is crucial.

8)

Council therefore agrees to instruct an independent Inquiry into the culture that
developed that allowed this situation to exist within, to determine whether it
continues to persist today and to report on any recommendations for change.
The Inquiry will be led by a senior person with appropriate experience such as a
QC or former senior Police officer.

9)

The Inquiry should proceed at the earliest appropriate opportunity, taking
account of internal processes, legal proceedings and Police investigations and

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 8

Page 2

recognising that some of these may have to conclude before this wider cultural
inquiry begins. The remit will be decided independently of the staffing structure
of the Council and agreed by Group Leaders in consultation with the
independent person identified to lead the Inquiry. It should specifically include
the Council’s approach to the “avoidance of reputational damage” and whether
this or any other aspects of culture within the Council has been a contributory
factor in not fully identifying or addressing any potential wrongdoing.”
Decision
To note that the motion had been withdrawn by Councillor Whyte as it had been dealt
with under Item 8.7, which was referred to Full Council.
(Reference – Act of Council No. 16 of 17 September 2020)

3.

Minutes

Decision
To approve the minute of the Policy and Sustainability Committee of 20 August 2020 as
a correct record, subject to the following correction: under Item 5 - Annual Performance
2019/20, the words “seconded by Councillor Mary Staniforth” should read “seconded by
Councillor Mary Campbell”.

4.

Policy and Sustainability Committee Work Programme

The Policy and Sustainability Committee Work Programme for 6 October 2020 was
presented.
Decision
1)

To agree to update the lead officer for items 2 to 6.

2)

To otherwise note the Work Programme.

(Reference – Work Programme 6 October 2020, submitted.)

5.

Policy and Sustainability Committee Rolling Actions Log

(a)

Deputation – Low Traffic Corstorphine
A written deputation was presented on behalf of the Jack Kane Community
Centre in respect of Action 34 – Community Centres and Libraries reopening.
The deputation noted that the Scottish Government had allowed for the
resumption of youth work from 31 August 2020 – they argued that, despite this,
there appeared to be no evidence of urgency occurring from a community centre
perspective. They stated that they felt unfairly disadvantaged to the detriment of
their community.

(b)

Rolling Actions Log

Details were provided of the outstanding actions arising from decisions taken by the
Committee.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 9

Page 3

Decision
1)

To agree to close the following actions:
•

Action 4 - Managing Transition to Brexit in Edinburgh

•

Action 6 (1&2) – West Edinburgh Progress Update

•

Action 7 – City of Edinburgh Council – Motion by Councillor Jim
Campbell – Edinburgh’s Winter Festivals

•

Action 9(3) – Edinburgh Poverty Commission Progress Update

•

Action 18 – Funding of Temporary Accommodation for Homeless People
– motion by Councillor Watt

•

Action 22 – City of Edinburgh Council – Motion by Councillor Rust –
Engagement with Employees

•

Action 23 – Homelessness Services - Use of Temporary Accommodation

•

Action 24 - Re-opening of Public Conveniences

•

Action 27 – Adaptation and Renewal Programme Update

•

Action 33(2&3) – Schools Re-opening - Update

•

Action 35 – Re-opening of public conveniences

•

Action 38 – Internal Audit Annual Opinion for the year ended 31 March
2020

•

Action 39(3) – Adaptation and Renewal Programme Update

•

Action 40(a)(1) – Annual Performance 2019/20

•

Action 40(b)(1&2) - Referral of report to the City of Edinburgh Council

2)

To agree to close Action 21 - Rural Roads Speeds Review (Spaces for People)
– Motion by Councillor Webber as the briefing note was circulated on 2 October
2020.

3)

To agree to close Action 25 - Transport Infrastructure Investment – Capital
Delivery Priorities for 2019/20 as the briefing note was circulated on 5 October
2020.

4)

To agree to leave Action 10 open (City of Edinburgh Council – Motion by
Councillor Main – Recycling in Schools) until the information requested had
been provided.

5)

To request a briefing note on Item 34 – Community Centres and Libraries
Reopening which would provide timescales and answers to the questions raised
by the deputation from the Jack Kane Community Centre.

6)

To otherwise note the Rolling Actions Log.

(Reference – Rolling Actions Log, submitted.)

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 10

Page 4

6.

Business Bulletin

The Finance and Resources Committee Business Bulletin for October 2020 was
submitted.
Decision
To note the Business Bulletin.
(Reference – Business Bulletin 6 October 2020, submitted.)

7.

Local Fire Plan 2020

The Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012 required the Scottish Fire and Rescue
Service (SFRS) to set out a local plan which should set out the main priorities and
objectives for SFRS in the local authority’s area. The Local Fire Plan 2020 for
Edinburgh was submitted for approval.
Area Commander Kenny Rogers was in attendance to speak to the report and answer
questions.
Decision
To approve the Local Fire Plan 2020.
(References – report by the Chief Executive, submitted.)

8.

Police Scotland – City of Edinburgh Division Update

On 30 May 2019 the City of Edinburgh Council agreed that police and fire and rescue
service city-wide plans, policies and performance would be considered under the remit
of the new Policy and Sustainability Committee
An update was provided for the period of April 2020 to June 2020 from Police Scotland
on the City of Edinburgh division.
Chief Superintendent Sean Scott was in attendance to speak to the report and answer
questions.
Decision
To note the report.
(References – Act of Council No. 6 of 30 May 2019; report by the Chief Executive,
submitted.)

9.

Edinburgh Poverty Commission

On 28 June 2018 City of Edinburgh Council agreed to support the launch of a new
independent Edinburgh Poverty Commission and agreed that recommendations
proposed by the commission would be used to inform the implementation of the
Council Change Strategy.
The final report of the Edinburgh Poverty Commission was presented. It was proposed
that the City of Edinburgh Council committed, by December 2020, to agree a

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 11

Page 5

comprehensive programme of cross-Council actions in response to the findings of the
Commission.
Jim McCormick and Zoe Ferguson from the Edinburgh Poverty Commission were in
attendance to speak to the report and answer questions.
Motion
1)

To note the final report published by the Edinburgh Poverty Commission.

2)

To express thanks and gratitude to the independent members of the Edinburgh
Poverty Commission for leading the most comprehensive inquiry into poverty
and its solutions ever conducted in any local authority area in Scotland, and in
particular for the more than 600 hours of volunteer time they had committed to
the work of the Commission.

3)

To express thanks also to the over 70 organisations and 1,000 participants who
took time to attend meetings, workshops, interviews, focus groups, and to submit
the written evidence on which the Commission had based its findings.

4)

To agree that the Council would commit to working towards the aim of ending
poverty in Edinburgh by 2030 as defined by the four targets set by the
Commission aiming that by 2030:
i)

No-one in Edinburgh would need to go without basic essentials they need
to eat, keep clean, stay warm and dry

i)

Fewer than one in people would be living in relative poverty in Edinburgh
at any given time.

iii)

No-one in Edinburgh would live in persistent poverty.

iv)

No-one in Edinburgh would experience stigma due to their income.

5)

To agree that the Council would work with the new End Poverty Edinburgh
citizen group to ensure that the voices of people with experience of poverty
continued to inform the way the Council planned and delivered services.

6)

To agree to consider a comprehensive Council response to the final report of the
Edinburgh Poverty Commission in December 2020. This response would take
the form of a cross-council programme of work with clear commitments to
Council action in the short, medium, and long term, and incorporate clear,
measurable performance indicators.

7)

To agree that the development of this response was supported with additional
scrutiny by the Council’s Adaptation and Renewal All Party Oversight Group.

8)

To agree that, in doing so, the Adaptation and Renewal All Party Oversight
Group would adopt the remit of the Council’s Poverty All Party Oversight Group
and that, in line with proposed membership of that group, the Convener and/or
Vice Convener of the Children and Education Committee would be invited to all
group discussions relating to poverty.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 12

Page 6

9)

To agree that it was unacceptable that over 77,000 people, including one in five
of all children, lived in poverty in Scotland’s capital city.

10)

To understand that this had been the most extensive process of inquiry into
poverty, its causes, consequences and solutions ever undertaken in a Scottish
local authority area.

11)

To agree the significance of this work and the timely need for the Council to
respond in an expedient way to meet the laudable and ambitious target set by
the Commission to end poverty in the city by 2030.

12)

To recommend that a SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant,
Time) approach was taken to map out definite aims until 2030 to ensure that the
target to end poverty in the city could be realised; and to further call for this work
to be underpinned with robust data and evidence throughout to enable a
‘quadruple lock’ on attaining this most ambitious of targets.

13)

To agree that as an immediate first action following the publication, The Council
Leader would write to the appropriate Scottish and UK Government Cabinet
Secretaries to raise issues of relevance for UK and Scottish Government
Policies to take forward the Poverty commissions call to action
recommendations.

-

moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor Day

Amendment 1
1)

To note the final report published by the Edinburgh Poverty Commission.

2)

To express thanks and gratitude to the independent members of the Edinburgh
Poverty Commission for leading the most comprehensive inquiry into poverty
and its solutions ever conducted in any local authority area in Scotland, and in
particular for the more than 600 hours of volunteer time they had committed to
the work of the Commission.

3)

To express thanks also to the over 70 organisations and 1,000 participants who
took time to attend meetings, workshops, interviews, focus groups, and to submit
the written evidence on which the Commission had based its findings.

4)

To express regret that, given the work had been undertaken alongside the
Council, it would take until December 2020 to produce a comprehensive
response to the Commission’s report and to note with concern that no initial
response was available at this stage to even suggest immediate early actions
that could be taken to improve Council services for those most in need.

5)

To therefore agree to instruct the comprehensive report detailed at paragraph
1.6 of the report and that this would include the cost and operational implications
of committing to paragraph 1.4 and 1.5. The report should also outline how
future scrutiny could be focused in public at a Council Committee.

-

moved by Councillor Whyte, seconded by Councillor McLellan

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 13

Page 7

Amendment 2
1)

To note the final report published by the Edinburgh Poverty Commission.

2)

To express thanks and gratitude to the independent members of the Edinburgh
Poverty Commission for leading the most comprehensive inquiry into poverty
and its solutions ever conducted in any local authority area in Scotland, and in
particular for the more than 600 hours of volunteer time they had committed to
the work of the Commission.

3)

To express thanks also to the over 70 organisations and 1,000 participants who
took time to attend meetings, workshops, interviews, focus groups, and to submit
the written evidence on which the Commission had based its findings.

4)

To agree that the Council would commit to working towards the aim of ending
poverty in Edinburgh by 2030 as defined by the four targets set by the
Commission aiming that by 2030:
i)

No-one in Edinburgh would need to go without basic essentials they need
to eat, keep clean, stay warm and dry

i)

Fewer than one in people would be living in relative poverty in Edinburgh
at any given time.

iii)

No-one in Edinburgh would live in persistent poverty.

iv)

No-one in Edinburgh would experience stigma due to their income.

5)

To agree that the Council would work with the new End Poverty Edinburgh
citizen group to ensure that the voices of people with experience of poverty
continued to inform the way the Council planned and delivered services.

6)

To agree to consider a comprehensive Council response to the final report of the
Edinburgh Poverty Commission in December 2020. This response would take
the form of a cross-council programme of work with clear commitments to
Council action in the short, medium, and long term, and incorporate clear,
measurable performance indicators.

7)

To agree that the development of this response was supported with additional
scrutiny by the Council’s Adaptation and Renewal All Party Oversight Group.

8)

To agree that, in doing so, the Adaptation and Renewal All Party Oversight
Group would adopt the remit of the Council’s Poverty All Party Oversight Group
and that, in line with proposed membership of that group, the Convener and/or
Vice Convener of the Children and Education Committee would be invited to all
group discussions relating to poverty.

9)

To note the synergy in some of the actions required to meet the outcomes of the
poverty Commission and the Climate Commission and to request that this was
addressed in the council response and plans going forward.

-

moved by Councillor Main, seconded by Councillor Staniforth

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 14

Page 8

In accordance with Standing Order 22.12, Amendment 2 was accepted as an
addendum to the motion.
Voting
For the motion (as adjusted)
For the amendment

-

12 votes
5 votes

(For the motion (as adjusted): Councillors Aldridge, Kate Campbell, Day, Dickie,
Gloyer, Macinnes, Main, McVey, Munn, Perry, Staniforth and Wilson.
For the amendment: Councillors Cook, Hutchison, McLellan, Rose and Whyte.)
Decision
To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor McVey:
1)

To note the final report published by the Edinburgh Poverty Commission.

2)

To express thanks and gratitude to the independent members of the Edinburgh
Poverty Commission for leading the most comprehensive inquiry into poverty
and its solutions ever conducted in any local authority area in Scotland, and in
particular for the more than 600 hours of volunteer time they had committed to
the work of the Commission.

3)

To express thanks also to the over 70 organisations and 1,000 participants who
took time to attend meetings, workshops, interviews, focus groups, and to submit
the written evidence on which the Commission had based its findings.

4)

To agree that the Council would commit to working towards the aim of ending
poverty in Edinburgh by 2030 as defined by the four targets set by the
Commission aiming that by 2030:
i)

No-one in Edinburgh would need to go without basic essentials they need
to eat, keep clean, stay warm and dry

i)

Fewer than one in people would be living in relative poverty in Edinburgh
at any given time.

iii)

No-one in Edinburgh would live in persistent poverty.

iv)

No-one in Edinburgh would experience stigma due to their income.

5)

To agree that the Council would work with the new End Poverty Edinburgh
citizen group to ensure that the voices of people with experience of poverty
continued to inform the way the Council planned and delivered services.

6)

To agree to consider a comprehensive Council response to the final report of the
Edinburgh Poverty Commission in December 2020. This response would take
the form of a cross-council programme of work with clear commitments to
Council action in the short, medium, and long term, and incorporate clear,
measurable performance indicators.

7)

To agree that the development of this response was supported with additional
scrutiny by the Council’s Adaptation and Renewal All Party Oversight Group.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 15

Page 9

8)

To agree that, in doing so, the Adaptation and Renewal All Party Oversight
Group would adopt the remit of the Council’s Poverty All Party Oversight Group
and that, in line with proposed membership of that group, the Convener and/or
Vice Convener of the Children and Education Committee would be invited to all
group discussions relating to poverty.

9)

To agree that it was unacceptable that over 77,000 people, including one in five
of all children, lived in poverty in Scotland’s capital city.

10)

To understand that this had been the most extensive process of inquiry into
poverty, its causes, consequences and solutions ever undertaken in a Scottish
local authority area.

11)

To agree the significance of this work and the timely need for the Council to
respond in an expedient way to meet the laudable and ambitious target set by
the Commission to end poverty in the city by 2030.

12)

To recommend that a SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant,
Time) approach was taken to map out definite aims until 2030 to ensure that the
target to end poverty in the city could be realised; and to further call for this work
to be underpinned with robust data and evidence throughout to enable a
‘quadruple lock’ on attaining this most ambitious of targets.

13)

To agree that as an immediate first action following the publication, The Council
Leader would write to the appropriate Scottish and UK Government Cabinet
Secretaries to raise issues of relevance for UK and Scottish Government
Policies to take forward the Poverty commissions call to action
recommendations.

14)

To note the synergy in some of the actions required to meet the outcomes of the
poverty Commission and the Climate Commission and to request that this was
addressed in the council response and plans going forward.

(References – Act of Council No. 13 of 28 June 2018; report by the Chief Executive,
submitted.)

10.

Adaptation and Renewal Programme Update

The fifth iteration of regular updates on the Adaptation and Renewal Programme was
provided, as was agreed at the meeting of 28 May 2020. This progress update covered
decisions taken in period 14 August to 13 September 2020, the latest COVID-19
Dashboard and a wider programme update. An update on the planning that was
underway for the 21/22 Budget process was also included.
Decision
1)

To note the latest position with regards to the latest guidance from Government
following the announcement on the 22 September.

2)

To note the decisions taken to date under urgency provisions from 14 August
2020 to 13 September 2020 outlined at Appendix 1 of the report by the Chief
Executive.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 16

Page 10

3)

To note the COVID-19 Response Dashboard outlined at Appendix 2 of the
report.

4)

To note the progress updates for the Adaptation and Renewal Programme and
the milestone chart at Appendix 3 of the report.

5)

To note that a report would be going to Finance and Resources Committee on
29 October with further proposals to deliver a sustainable budget for 2020/21.

6)

To note the four longer term change programmes, which would evolve from the
existing Adaptation and Renewal programme, and the proposal to launch a
VERA exercise.

7)

To note the intention to publish a Business Plan and Workforce Plan at the time
of completing the three-year revenue budget and 10-year capital budget in
February 2021. A new Council Performance Framework would accompany this.

8)

To refer this report to Council for approval of the use of earmarked reserves up
to £14.8m from the Workforce Transformation Fund.

9)

To agree that a briefing note would be provided to members on how officers
undertake traffic modelling.

10)

To agree that concerns regarding planning for the end of term would be raised at
a meeting with the Universities Group and then a briefing would be provided to
members on the outcome of this discussion.

(Reference – Policy and Sustainability Committee of 28 May 2020 (item 4); report by
the Chief Executive, submitted.)

11.

Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Annual
Report

The key findings from the appended City Region Deal Annual Report for 2019/20 were
summarised. The report was published on 31 August 2020 and approved by the City
Region Deal Joint Committee on 4 September 2020.
The City Region Deal continued to be operating successfully and the governance
arrangements facilitated a positive response to challenges associated with Covid-19.
Motion
1)

To note the summary findings of the second annual report for the Edinburgh and
South East Scotland City Region Deal.

2)

To note that targets on how the City Region Deal would integrate delivery on net
zero carbon aims would be incorporated within the Council’s commitment to
become a resilient, carbon-neutral city by 2030.

-

moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor Day

Amendment
1)

To note the summary findings of the second annual report for the Edinburgh and
South East Scotland City Region Deal.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 17

Page 11

2)

To note that targets on how the City Region Deal would integrate delivery on net
zero carbon aims would be incorporated within the Council’s commitment to
become a resilient, carbon-neutral city by 2030.

3)

To note reference in paragraph 4.3.6 to the Benefits Realisation Plan for the
Deal and to agree that a further report would be provided within two cycles
detailing the Plan and how its indicators would be presented to Council to allow
elected members to scrutinise the Plan and ensure it would provide a robust
process for reporting and monitoring delivery of the Deal.

-

moved by Councillor Whyte, seconded by Councillor McLellan

In accordance with Standing Order 22.12, the amendment was adjusted and accepted
as an addendum to the motion.
Decision
To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor McVey:
1)

To note the summary findings of the second annual report for the Edinburgh and
South East Scotland City Region Deal.

2)

To note that targets on how the City Region Deal would integrate delivery on net
zero carbon aims would be incorporated within the Council’s commitment to
become a resilient, carbon-neutral city by 2030.

3)

To note reference in paragraph 4.3.6 to the Benefits Realisation Plan for the
Deal and to agree that a further report would be provided after the City Region
Deal Joint Committee had considered the report detailing the Plan and how its
indicators would be presented to the Policy and Sustainability Committee to
allow elected members to scrutinise the Plan and ensure it would provide a
robust process for reporting and monitoring delivery of the Deal.

(Reference – report by the Chief Executive, submitted.)

12.

Response to Internal Audit Opinion 2020

The approach that the Chief Executive was taking to resolve the weaknesses identified
in the Chief Internal Auditor’s 2020 Internal Audit Opinion was set out. This would be a
comprehensive approach covering the implementation of agreed management actions
to address open Internal Audit findings. Details were provided on governance and risk
management frameworks, operational processes and controls and expected timelines
were identified.
Decision
1)

To note the actions being taken to resolve the weaknesses identified in the Chief
Internal Auditor’s 2020 Internal Audit Opinion.

2)

To note that additional capacity would be provided immediately to bolster
assurance with initial focus on addressing open Internal Audit findings within the
Council.

(Reference – report by the Chief Executive, submitted.)

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 18

Page 12

13.

Appointments to Working Groups 2020/2021

The Policy and Sustainability Committee was required to appoint the membership of its
Working Groups for 2020/21. The proposed membership, structures and remits of each
were detailed in Appendices 1 to 8 of the report by the Chief Executive.
Motion
1)

To agree the re-appointment of members to Working Groups as set out in
Appendices 1 to 8 of the report by the Chief Executive.

2)

To agree the dissolution of the Redford Barracks Working Group and the
Poverty All Party Oversight Group.

3)

To note that Councillor Staniforth had replaced Councillor Miller on the Brexit
Working Group.

-

moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor Day

Amendment
1)

To agree the re-appointment of members to Working Groups as set out in
Appendices 1 to 8 of the report by the Chief Executive.

2)

To agree the dissolution of the Redford Barracks Working Group and the
Poverty All Party Oversight Group.

3)

To review the membership of the West Edinburgh All Party Oversight Group to
reflect the dissolution of Locality Committees and as such that the Convenor /
Vice Convenor of South West and North West Locality positions no longer
existed and that the membership and political balance of the APOG was
representative of the combined Wards covered by the work.

4)

To further agree that the work of the Equalities Working Group, the Sustainability
and Climate Emergency All Party Oversight Group and the Welfare Reform
Working Group had all been subsumed within the cross cutting remit of the
Adaptation and Renewal All Party Oversight Group and that these be dissolved.
Consequently, the remit of the Adaptation and Renewal All Party Oversight
Group should be reviewed to include any necessary additional elements of the
remits of these Groups and the Poverty all Party Oversight Group that were not
covered within the Adaptation and Renewal Programme.

5)

To note that Councillor Staniforth had replaced Councillor Miller on the Brexit
Working Group.

-

moved by Councillor Hutchison, seconded by Councillor Whyte

In accordance with Standing Order 22.12, the amendment was adjusted and accepted
as an addendum to the motion.
Voting
For the motion (as adjusted)
For the amendment

-

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

10 votes
7 votes

Page 19

Page 13

(For the motion (as adjusted): Councillors Kate Campbell, Day, Gardiner, Macinnes,
Main, McVey, Munn, Perry, Staniforth and Wilson.
For the amendment: Councillors Aldridge, Cook, Gloyer, Hutchison, McLellan, Rose
and Whyte.)
Decision
To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor McVey:
1)

To agree the re-appointment of members to Working Groups as set out in
Appendices 1 to 8 of the report by the Chief Executive.

2)

To agree the dissolution of the Redford Barracks Working Group and the
Poverty All Party Oversight Group.

3)

To review the membership of the West Edinburgh All Party Oversight Group to
reflect the dissolution of Locality Committees and as such that the Convenor /
Vice Convenor of South West and North West Locality positions no longer
existed.

4)

To note that Councillor Staniforth had replaced Councillor Miller on the Brexit
Working Group.

(Reference – report by the Chief Executive, submitted.)

14.

Re-opening of Public Conveniences

An update was provided on how the public conveniences which had been reopened in
July 2020 were operating. Information was also provided as requested in recent
decisions taken at committee and the next steps were set out for developing a public
conveniences strategy for Edinburgh.
Motion
1)

To note that the measures put in place were generally working well and that they
were operating effectively.

2)

To note the measures and costs associated with retaining the opening of seven
public conveniences in the city over the winter months (in line with current
COVID-19 guidance).

3)

To refer this report to Full Council for approval of the measures and investment
required to continue with opening seven public conveniences to the end of the
financial year.

4)

To note the approach to developing a public convenience strategy and to
approve commencement of assessment of possible locations for new public
convenience facilities.

5)

To agree that officers would work with Parking officers and ward councillors on
wayfinding signage for public toilets.

6)

To agree to provide a review of facilities within the Community Toilet Scheme.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 20

Page 14

7)

To note that the Executive Director of Place was meeting with the director of
Edinburgh World Heritage and would raise timescales for the Hunter Square
toilets being potentially incorporated into the heritage building at Tron Kirk and
update members on this discussion.

-

moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor Day

Amendment 1
1)

To note that the measures put in place were generally working well and that they
were operating effectively.

2)

To note the measures and costs associated with retaining the opening of seven
public conveniences in the city over the winter months (in line with current
COVID-19 guidance).

3)

To refer this report to Full Council for approval of the measures and investment
required to continue with opening seven public conveniences to the end of the
financial year.

4)

To note the important extended role of libraries in the community toilet scheme
and to regret that to date only 6 libraries were open, further exacerbating the
city-wide issues of having only a limited number of public toilets open and to
request that this was considered in the plans to assess and re-open additional
libraries.

5)

To note the important extended role of leisure centres in the community toilet
scheme and to regret that the phased approach to their re-opening would further
exacerbate the city-wide issues of having only a limited number of public toilets
open and to request that this was considered in the plans to assess and re-open
leisure centres.

6)

To note the important extended role of community centres in the community
toilet scheme and to regret that the phased approach to their re-opening would
further exacerbate the city-wide issues of having only a limited number of public
toilets open and to request that this was considered in the plans to assess and
re-open additional community centres.

7)

To recognise and thank the five private business across the city that had signed
up to the community toilet scheme that were open.

8)

To agree that officers would work with Parking officers and ward councillors on
wayfinding signage for public toilets.

9)

To agree to provide a review of facilities within the Community Toilet Scheme.

10)

To note that the Executive Director of Place was meeting with the director of
Edinburgh World Heritage and would raise timescales for the Hunter Square
toilets being potentially incorporated into the heritage building at Tron Kirk and
update members on this discussion.

-

moved by Councillor Cook, seconded by Councillor Hutchison

In accordance with Standing Order 22.12, Amendment 1 was adjusted and accepted as
an addendum to the motion.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 21

Page 15

Amendment 2
1)

To note that the measures put in place were generally working well and that they
were operating effectively.

2)

To note the measures and costs associated with retaining the opening of seven
public conveniences in the city over the winter months (in line with current
COVID-19 guidance).

3)

To refer this report to Full Council for approval of the measures and investment
required to continue with opening seven public conveniences to the end of the
financial year.

4)

To note the approach to developing a public convenience strategy and to
approve commencement of assessment of possible locations for new public
convenience facilities to be reported in three cycles to committee.

5)

To note that signage to public toilets had not been fully implemented as
requested in the agreed motion and to request that this was discussed with
appropriate ward Councillors and implemented within 3 months.

6)

To note that communication of community facilities to the public was key to the
success of any community scheme and that many of the venues taking part
were unable to do so during a pandemic. Therefore to agree that a revised
Community Scheme, including communications and signage campaign, was
included in the Public Convenience Strategy.

7)

To agree that officers would work with Parking officers and ward councillors on
wayfinding signage for public toilets.

8)

To agree to provide a review of facilities within the Community Toilet Scheme.

9)

To note that the Executive Director of Place was meeting with the director of
Edinburgh World Heritage and would raise timescales for the Hunter Square
toilets being potentially incorporated into the heritage building at Tron Kirk and
update members on this discussion.

-

moved by Councillor Main, seconded by Councillor Staniforth

In accordance with Standing Order 22.12, Amendment 2 was accepted as an
addendum to the motion.
Decision
To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor McVey:
1)

To note that the measures put in place were generally working well and that they
were operating effectively.

2)

To note the measures and costs associated with retaining the opening of seven
public conveniences in the city over the winter months (in line with current
COVID-19 guidance).

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 22

Page 16

3)

To refer this report to Full Council for approval of the measures and investment
required to continue with opening seven public conveniences to the end of the
financial year.

4)

To note the approach to developing a public convenience strategy and to
approve commencement of assessment of possible locations for new public
convenience facilities to be reported in three cycles to committee.

5)

To note the important extended role of libraries in the community toilet scheme
and that to date only 6 libraries were open, further exacerbating the city-wide
issues of having only a limited number of public toilets open and to request that
this was considered in the plans to assess and re-open additional libraries.

6)

To note the important extended role of leisure centres in the community toilet
scheme and that the phased approach to their re-opening would further
exacerbate the city-wide issues of having only a limited number of public toilets
open and to request that this was considered in the plans to assess and re-open
leisure centres.

7)

To note the important extended role of community centres in the community
toilet scheme and that the phased approach to their re-opening would further
exacerbate the city-wide issues of having only a limited number of public toilets
open and to request that this was considered in the plans to assess and re-open
additional community centres.

8)

To recognise and thank the five private business across the city that had signed
up to the community toilet scheme that were open.

9)

To note that signage to public toilets had not been fully implemented as
requested in the agree motion and to request that this was discussed with
appropriate ward Councillors and implemented within 3 months.

10)

To note that communication of community facilities to the public was key to the
success of any community scheme and that many of the venues taking part
were unable to do so during a pandemic. Therefore to agree that a revised
Community Scheme, including communications and signage campaign, was
included in the Public Convenience Strategy.

11)

To agree that officers would work with Parking officers and ward councillors on
wayfinding signage for public toilets.

12)

To agree to provide a review of facilities within the Community Toilet Scheme.

13)

To note that the Executive Director of Place was meeting with the director of
Edinburgh World Heritage and would raise timescales for the Hunter Square
toilets being potentially incorporated into the heritage building at Tron Kirk and
update members on this discussion.

(Reference – Policy and Sustainability Committee of 9 July 2020 (item 11); report by
the Executive Director of Place, submitted.)

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 23

Page 17

15.

Digital and Smart City Strategy

The Digital and Smart City Strategy set out the City of Edinburgh Council’s approach to
the sustainable development and delivery of technology to support the Council and
enable Edinburgh to become a Smart City, covering the period 2020- 2023.
The Digital and Smart City Strategy was submitted for approval.
Decision
1)

To approve the Council’s Digital and Smart City Strategy

2)

To endorse the governance approach and operational reporting of the
implementation plan to the Corporate Leadership Team on a quarterly basis.

3)

To agree to provide an annual report on the Digital and Smart City Strategy.

(Reference - report by the Executive Director of Resources, submitted.)

16.

Employee Exit Arrangements

The Council’s current exit arrangements were considered with reference to the Scottish
Government’s recent reforms on exit payments in the public sector, including the
introduction of an exit cap of £95,000 for certain devolved public sector organisations.
Whilst there was no obligation on Local Authorities to introduce an exit cap, it would be
consistent with current best practice in the public sector in Scotland and reflected best
value for money.
The Council’s employee exit arrangements, which would be subject to the cap,
included lump sum payments for Voluntary Redundancy (VR), Voluntary Early Release
Arrangement (VERA), capped at £30,000 discretionary payments made by the Council
to any local government pension schemes, Payment in Lieu of Notice (PILON) and any
payments due for accrued but untaken annual leave.
This cap would be introduced for all Council employees (including Local Government
employees, craft employees, Chief Officials and Teachers).
Decision
1)

To approve the introduction of an exit cap of £95,000 for all City of Edinburgh
Council employees leaving the organisation, noting this to be in accordance with
best value principles that the Scottish Government had put in place.

2)

To agree that the following elements would be included in the £95,000 exit cap:
•
•
•

•
•

Lump sum payments due under VR exits.
Lump sum payments due under VERA exits which remained capped at
£30,000.
Discretionary payments made by the Council to the pension scheme to either
top up pension, or underwrite actuarial reduction, to allow early access to
pension benefits.
Any PILON.
Payments for accrued but untaken annual leave.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 24

Page 18

(Reference - report by the Executive Director of Resources, submitted.)

17.

Enterprise Risk Management Policy

The Enterprise Risk Management Policy described the Council’s overarching risk
management approach and was supported by a more granular operational risk
management framework that described how the policy would be applied by all Council
directorates and divisions to ensure that the Council was adequately protected, where
possible, from the adverse impacts of unexpected events.
The Policy had been refreshed to reflect the outcomes of the 2019/20 Risk
Management internal audit performed by External Audit that was scrutinised by the
Governance, Risk, and Best Value Committee in August 2020, and was also fully
aligned with the proposed operational risk management arrangements that would be
presented to the Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee at their meeting on 3
November 2020. This Policy superseded the existing policy dated August 2018.
Decision
1)

To review and approve the Council’s updated Enterprise Risk Management
Policy as set out in Appendix 1 of the report by the Executive Director of
Resources.

2)

To refer the report to the Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee for
consideration.

3)

To note that training on the Enterprise Risk Management Policy together with
the Council’s Risk Appetite Statement and the refreshed operational risk
management framework would be provided for elected members after the
Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee meeting on 3rd November 2020.

(References – Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee of 18 August 2020 (item
7); report by the Executive Director of Resources, submitted.)

18.

Council’s Risk Appetite Statement

The Council’s Risk Appetite Statement was set out for approval.
This document should be read together with the Council’s Enterprise Risk Management
Policy which was also submitted for approval to the Policy and Sustainability
Committee of 6 October 2020.
The risk appetite statement included in the report superseded the Council’s existing risk
appetite statement dated 7 August 2018.
Motion
1)

To note that the Council’s attitude to taking risk should be set at the top level
and cascaded down, and that this ‘risk appetite’ could be different across
different services and types of risks.

2)

To note that risk appetite was already set and established in many areas
through governance arrangements; frameworks; policies, existing controls and
schemes of delegation.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 25

Page 19

3)

To approve the Council’s risk appetite presented within the report as a starting
point.

4)

To refer the report to the Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee for
consideration.

5)

To note that training on the Risk Appetite Statement together with the Council’s
Enterprise Risk Management Policy and the refreshed operational risk
management framework would be provided for elected members after the GRBV
committee meeting on 3 November 2020.

-

moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor Day

Amendment
To continue consideration of the report to a further meeting of the Policy and
Sustainability Committee to allow members of the committee and the Governance, Risk
and Best Value Committee to undergo relevant training.
-

moved by Councillor Whyte, seconded by Councillor Cook

Voting
For the motion
For the amendment

-

10 votes
7 votes

(For the motion: Councillors Kate Campbell, Day, Gardiner, Macinnes, Main, McVey,
Munn, Perry, Staniforth and Wilson.
For the amendment: Councillors Aldridge, Cook, Gloyer, Hutchison, McLellan, Webber
and Whyte.)
Decision
To approve the motion by Councillor McVey.
(Reference – report by the Executive Director of Resources, submitted.)

19.

Gender Pay Gap

The Council was currently bound by duties arising from the Equality Act 2010 (Specific
Duties) (Scotland) Regulations 2012, which required the Council to positively eliminate
discrimination and publish gender pay gap information every two years.
An update was provided on the current gender pay gap position and the long-term
measures and actions previously agreed.
Decision
To review and review and note the gender pay gap report which would be published
later in October 2020.
(Reference – report by the Executive Director of Resources, submitted.)

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 26

Page 20

20.

Diversity and Inclusion Strategy Update

An update was provided on the progress made with the Diversity and Inclusion
Strategy and Action Plan approved by the Policy and Sustainability Committee on 1
October 2019.
Decision
To note the progress being made in relation to the Diversity and Inclusion Strategy and
Action Plan since it was approved on 1 October 2019.
(References – Policy and Sustainability Committee of 1 October 2019 (item 4); report
by the Executive Director of Resources, submitted.)

21.

Council Response to the Scottish Parliament’s Call for Views on
the Heat Networks (Scotland) Bill

A summary was provided of the proposed Council response to a call for views made by
the Scottish Parliament’s Economy, Energy and Fair Work (EEFW) Committee on the
Heat Networks (Scotland) Bill.
It was also noted that heating, and the systems and energy used to provide it, were a
crucial aspect of the 2030 net zero target. Heat networks, in combination with a range
of heat and energy generation models, were a key consideration of the work to develop
a 2030 Sustainability Strategy for the city.
Decision
To agree the consultation response.
(Reference – report by the Chief Executive, submitted.)

22.

Concurrent Risks Resilience Planning

The latest position was outlined with regards to the Council’s approach to resilience
planning in response to the current civil contingencies risk landscape, which was being
adapted following lessons learned from Covid-19 and the need to plan for a number of
concurrent risks. This included the introduction of a number of new resilience
documentations and processes that had been developed.
Decision
1)

To note the latest position with regards to resilience planning.

2)

To note the update on resilience planning for concurrent risks.

3)

To refer this report to the Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee.

(Reference – report by the Chief Executive, submitted.)

23.

West Edinburgh Update

An update was provided on recent progress and developments including the spatial
study for West Edinburgh to maximise inclusive and sustainable growth. The output
from Phase 1 of the study was now complete and was provided in Appendix 1 of the

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 27

Page 21

report. The report also explained that Phase 2 of the study would be developed
alongside the preparation of the proposed City Plan 2030 and provided an update on
the infrastructure needed to support planned growth in this area.
Motion
1)

To note the progress made to date in delivering infrastructure improvements in
the West Edinburgh area.

2)

To note the progress made in discussions with Edinburgh Airport Ltd and the
current position on the new link road.

3)

To note the findings of the Phase 1 report of the West Edinburgh study on
inclusive and sustainable growth.

4)

To agree the approach for Phase 2, to develop a vision for West Edinburgh and
recognise the importance of aligning this with the preparation of the proposed
City Plan 2030, and to refer the report to Council to authorise the Executive
Director of Place to enter into this contract.

-

moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor Day

Amendment
1)

To note the progress made to date in delivering infrastructure improvements in
the West Edinburgh area.

2)

To note the progress made in discussions with Edinburgh Airport Ltd and the
current position on the new link road.

3)

To note the findings of the Phase 1 report of the West Edinburgh study on
inclusive and sustainable growth.

4)

To note that the minute of the West Edinburgh APOG on 23rd September 2020
had not been circulated to all ward Members and accept this was an
unintentional oversight given the membership changes following the abolition of
Locality Committees.

5)

To agree to continue the deliberations around Phase 2 for one cycle.

-

moved by Councillor Hutchison, seconded by Councillor Webber

Voting
For the motion
For the amendment

-

10 votes
7 votes

(For the motion: Councillors Kate Campbell, Day, Gardiner, Macinnes, Main, McVey,
Munn, Perry, Staniforth and Wilson.
For the amendment: Councillors Aldridge, Jim Campbell, Gloyer, Hutchison, Mowat,
Webber and Whyte.)
Decision
To approve the motion by Councillor McVey.
(Reference – report by the Executive Director of Place, submitted.)
Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 28

Page 22

24.

Recycling and Waste Collection in Schools

In response to a motion by Councillor Main to the City of Edinburgh Council on 6
February 2020, a report was provided on recycling and waste collection in schools.
Motion
1)

To note the changes proposed to improve recycling provision in schools.

2)

To note the impact of COVID-19 on the introduction of additional recycling
services in schools,

3)

To note that any additional FM cost could be contained within budgets for
2020/21 and that any future resource requirement would be considered in the
context of wider, COVID related, additional cleaning costs for 2021/22.

4)

To agree to consider food waste recycling receptacles in schools as broken
down in Appendix 2 and provide an update to members.

-

moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor Day

Amendment 1
1)

To note the changes proposed to improve recycling provision in schools.

2)

To note the impact of COVID-19 on the introduction of additional recycling
services in schools,

3)

To note that any additional FM cost could be contained within budgets for
2020/21 and that any future resource requirement would be considered in the
context of wider, COVID related, additional cleaning costs for 2021/22.

4)

To welcome the intention to introduce a more comprehensive recycling service
for council schools, including the collection of recycled materials in classrooms

5)

To request that the current proposal not to locate any recycling bins in any
school corridors was reconsidered and that placing at least one mixedpackaging recycling bin, for example near the entrance to every school, was
considered.

6)

To note that food and drinks, including school milk, was prepared and/or
consumed in classrooms, staffrooms, corridors and outside in areas on a daily
basis, and to agree that Appendix 2 service for a typical school would be revised
to take account of this.

7)

To request that a report on the progress of the introduction of the new service
was brought back to committee in six months.

8)

To agree to consider food waste recycling receptacles in schools as broken
down in Appendix 2 and provide an update to members.

-

moved by Councillor Main, seconded by Councillor Staniforth

In accordance with Standing Order 22.12, Amendment 1 was accepted as an
addendum to the motion.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 29

Page 23

Amendment 2
1)

To note the changes proposed to improve recycling provision in schools.

2)

To note the impact of COVID-19 on the introduction of additional recycling
services in schools,

3)

To note that any additional FM cost could be contained within budgets for
2020/21 and that any future resource requirement would be considered in the
context of wider, COVID related, additional cleaning costs for 2021/22.

4)

To agree to consider food waste recycling receptacles in schools as broken
down in Appendix 2 and provide an update to members.

-

moved by Councillor Mowat, seconded by Councillor Webber

Voting
For the motion (as adjusted)
For the amendment

-

12 votes
5 votes

(For the motion (as adjusted): Councillors Aldridge, Kate Campbell, Day, Gardiner,
Gloyer, Macinnes, Main, McVey, Munn, Perry, Staniforth and Wilson.
For the amendment: Councillors Jim Campbell, Hutchison, Mowat, Webber and
Whyte.)
Decision
To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor McVey:
1)

To note the changes proposed to improve recycling provision in schools.

2)

To note the impact of COVID-19 on the introduction of additional recycling
services in schools,

3)

To note that any additional FM cost could be contained within budgets for
2020/21 and that any future resource requirement would be considered in the
context of wider, COVID related, additional cleaning costs for 2021/22.

4)

To welcome the intention to introduce a more comprehensive recycling service
for council schools, including the collection of recycled materials in classrooms

5)

To request that the current proposal not to locate any recycling bins in any
school corridors was reconsidered and that placing at least one mixedpackaging recycling bin, for example near the entrance to every school, was
considered.

6)

To note that food and drinks, including school milk, was prepared and/or
consumed in classrooms, staffrooms, corridors and outside in areas on a daily
basis, and to agree that Appendix 2 service for a typical school would be revised
to take account of this.

7)

To request that a report on the progress of the introduction of the new service
was brought back to committee in six months.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 30

Page 24

8)

To agree to consider food waste recycling receptacles in schools as broken
down in Appendix 2 and provide an update to members.

(References – Act of Council No. 13 of 6 February 2020; report by the Executive
Director of Place and the Executive Director of Resources, submitted.)

25.

Policies – Assurance Statement – Legal and Risk

To ensure that Council policies reflected current legislative requirements and best
practice, all Council directorates and policy owners were required to review their
policies on an annual basis.
A number of policies were presently under review.
Decision
To note the update in relation to the Council policies detailed in the report and that work
was ongoing to update some of the policies to ensure that they reflected current
legislative requirements and best practice and were fit for purpose.
(Reference – report by the Executive Director of Resources, submitted.)

26.

Edinburgh’s Christmas and Edinburgh’s Hogmanay – Contract
Terms and Open Book Audit

In response to a motion by Councillor Jim Campbell to the City of Edinburgh Council on
21 November 2019 on Edinburgh’s Winter Festivals, the findings of an open book audit
were outlined, carried out by Council officers, for Edinburgh’s Christmas and
Edinburgh’s Hogmanay. The terms and conditions within the contract and tender
specification in relation to permission were highlighted.
Decision
1)

To note the findings of the open book audit undertaken by officers.

2)

To note the Terms and Conditions of the contract to deliver Edinburgh’s
Christmas and Edinburgh’s Hogmanay that related to bringing the Council into
disrepute, and obtaining necessary consents.

3)

To agree to provide a briefing note for all councillors with a response from Legal
on who took the decision that the reputational issue referred to in paragraph
4.10 was not considered to be a material breach nor grounds for termination and
how this decision was reached.

4)

To agree to provide figures from the annual review on the number of attendees
at Edinburgh’s Christmas and Hogmanay festivities.

(References – Act of Council No. 14 of 21 November 2019; report by the Executive
Director of Place, submitted.)

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 6 October 2020

Page 31

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

Work Programme
Policy and Sustainability Committee
10 November 2020
Routine /
Executive

Lead officer

Directorate

Progress
updates

Expected date

1

Council Asbestos
Policy

Annual Review

Routine

Robert Allan

Resources

Annual

June 2021

2

Council Fire
Safety Policy

Annual Review

Routine

Robert Allan

Resources

Annual

June 2021

3

Council Health
and Safety Policy

Annual Review

Routine

Robert Allan

Resources

Annual

December
2020

4

Council Water
Safety Policy

Annual Review

Routine

Robert Allan

Resources

Annual

June 2021

5

Council Smoke
Free Policy

Annual Review

Routine

Robert Allan

Resources

Annual

December
2020

6

Gaelic Language
Plan 2018-22

Monitoring Report

Executive

Eleanor Cunningham

Chief
Executive

Annual

November
2020

7

Edinburgh
Biodiversity Action
Plan 2019-21

Annual Update

Executive

Caroline Peacock/Susan
Falconer

Place

Annual

February 2021

Agenda Item 5.1

Purpose/Reason

Page 33

Title / description

8

Title / description

Purpose/Reason

Routine /
Executive

Lead officer

Directorate

Progress
updates

Expected date

Welfare Reform

Quarterly Update

Routine

Sheila Haig

Resources

Quarterly

December
2020

6 monthly

November
2020

Older People Joint
Inspection
Progress report
Improvement Plan

Executive

Marian Gray

Chief Officer,
Edinburgh
Health and
Social Care
Partnership

10

Energy
Management
Policy for
Operational
Buildings - Annual
Report.

Progress report

Executive

Peter Watton

Resources

Annual

December
2020

11

Policy Assurance
Statement –
Customer

Annual report

Executive

Katy Miller

Resources

Annual

November
2020

12

Policy Assurance
Statement –
Strategy and
Communications

Annual report

Executive

Gavin King

Chief
Executive

Annual

December
2020

13

Policy Assurance
Annual report
Statement Human Resources

Executive

Katy Miller

Resources

Annual

November
2020

9

Page 34

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 10 November 2020

Page 2 of 3

Title / description

Purpose/Reason

Routine /
Executive

Lead officer

Directorate

Progress
updates

Expected date

14

Policy Assurance
Statement - Legal
and Risk

Annual report

Executive

Nick Smith

Resources

Annual

October 2021

15

Contact Centre
Performance

Update report

Executive

Nicola Harvey

Resources

Quarterly

December
2020

16

Chief Social Work
Officer’s Annual
Report

Annual report

Executive

Jackie Irvine

Communities
and Families

Annual

December
2020

17

Diversity and
Inclusion Strategy

Annual update

Executive

Katy Miller

Resources

Annual

October 2021

18

Police Scotland
Update

Annual plan

Executive

Gavin King

Chief
Executive

Annual

May 2021

19

Fire and Rescue
Service

Annual plan

Executive

Gavin King

Chief
Executive

Annual

October 2021

20

Carbon Impact of
the Council’s
International
Travel

Annual Report

Executive

Paula McLeay/Gavin King

Chief
Executive

Annual

Autumn 2021

(HR)

Page 35

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 10 November 2020

Page 3 of 3

Policy and Sustainability Committee Upcoming Reports

Report Title

Appendix 1

Directorate

Lead Officer

DECEMBER 2020

Page 36

Adaptation and Renewal

Chief Executive

Engagement Through Adaptation and Renewal

Chief Executive

Accounts Commission: Local Government in Scotland – Overview 2020

Chief Executive

Edinburgh’s Economy Strategy

Place

Short Term Lets

Place

Welfare Reform – Update

Resources

Sheila Haig

Contact Centre Performance

Resources

Nicola Harvey

Council Health and Safety Policy

Resources

Robert Allan

Council Smoke Free Policy

Resources

Robert Allan

Policy Assurance Statement – Strategy and Communications

Chief Executive

Gavin King

Page 37

Energy Management Policy for Operational Buildings – Annual Report

Resources

Chief Social Work Officer’s Annual Report

Communities and
Jackie Irvine
Families

Covid-19 Impact on Care Homes in Edinburgh

EHSCP

Annual Performance 2019/20 – Revised Targets for Emissions Reduction

Chief Executive

Council response to the Poverty Commission

Chief Executive

Chris Adams

Local Police Plan - Implications of the Covid-19 emergency

Chief Executive

Gavin King

Sustainability and Climate Action Programme update

Chief Executive

Paula McLeay

Best Value Assurance Report

Chief Executive

Hayley Barnett

Edinburgh Biodiversity Action Plan 2019-21

Place

Caroline
Peacock/Susan
Falconer

Re-opening of Public Conveniences

Place

Tourism and Hospitality Sector Recovery Plan – Follow Up

Place

Peter Watton

Judith Proctor

FEBRUARY 2021

Consultation Planning Report

Place

Page 38

Rolling Actions Log
Policy and Sustainability Committee
10 November 2020
No

1

Page 39

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

04.10.16

Business Case for
the Management
Transfer of
Secondary School
Sports Facilities to
Edinburgh
Leisure – Progress
Report

That an update report be
submitted to Committee in 6
months.

Chief Executive
(for Communities
and Families)

Ongoing

Actual
completion
date

Comments

Update 9 July 2020
With the instigation of
the Covid-19
lockdown and other
measures in place,
the transfer of the two
schools was put on
hold on the 25th
March 2020.

Agenda Item 5.2

The last 2 schools to
transfer WHEC and
Leith Academy will
not do so until
Edinburgh Leisure is
back up and running
and they are able to
be transferred.

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

Comments

Update 25 June
2020
To agree that a final
report be submitted to
Committee.
2

01.02.18

Page 40

City of Edinburgh
Council Motion by
Councillor Mowat –
Edinburgh’s
Christmas and
Hogmanay
2017/18
(Agenda for 1
February 2018)

3

07.08.18

Participation
Requests

Council requests that the
review of the contract for
Edinburgh’s Christmas and
Hogmanay should recognise
that the implementation of this
contract cuts across many
council functions and services
and should be considered at
the Corporate Policy and
Strategy Committee.

Executive
Director of Place

Spring 2021

To agree to receive a report
setting out proposals for the
Council’s policy on
participation requests within
two cycles of the conclusion of
the Westbank Street Outcome
Improvement Process as set
out in paragraph 3.5 of the

Chief Executive

November
2020

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

This contract is in
place until Winter
Festival 2022. The
review of the contract
will be presented to
Policy and
Sustainability
Committee.

10
November
2020

Recommended for
Closure
Information is
provided on the
Business Bulletin for
this meeting.

Page 2 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Executive
Director of Place

December
2020

Actual
completion
date

Comments

report by the Chief Executive.
4

06.06.19
(Housing and
Economy
Committee)

Edinburgh
Economy Strategy
– Annual Progress
Report

Page 41

1)

Calls for research and
analysis on the current
economy and the
economic challenges for
Edinburgh as a result of
this target.

2)

Agrees that this research
and analysis will inform a
review of the Edinburgh
Economy Strategy in
order to develop an
outcome based strategy
for Edinburgh to meet
these commitments,
taking into account jobs
that will emerge from the
need to meet the net
zero carbon target,
sectoral analysis of
carbon footprint and the
support, collaboration
and leadership that the
council will need to
provide to move us

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

It has been agreed
that there will be a
new business plan
submitted and the
Economic Recovery
working group
workplan has been
approved which
includes a refreshed
economic strategy

Page 3 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

Comments

towards a more
sustainable economy.
5

21.11.19

City of Edinburgh
Council – Motion
by Councillor Lang
– Use of Schools
as Polling Places

Page 42

(Minute of 21
November 2019)

To request a report to the
Policy and Sustainability
Committee within three cycles
for subsequent referral to the
full Council, on the current use
of schools as polling places as
well as the opportunities to
reduce or eliminate their use in
time for the 2021 Scottish
Parliament and 2022 local
government elections.

Chief Executive

Update 10
November 2020
Due to the
forthcoming byelection and covid-19,
it is probable that a
review of all polling
places will be
required going
forward to next year
elections.
Update 6 October
2020
This will now be
reported to the
meeting of the full
Council in November
2020
Update – 11 June
2020

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Page 4 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

Comments

Page 43

The Review of Polling
Arrangements across
the city has now been
completed with a
number of proposed
changes. This
included a review of
all the schools
currently used as
polling venues. It is
possible to replace 10
of the current 35
primary schools with
new venues that offer
better facilities and or
are better located with
sufficient capacity. In
each of the other 25
schools there are no
alternative venues.
The next stage is
public consultation. It
is intended to report
finally around
August/September to
allow these
Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Page 5 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

arrangements to be
used for the
publication of the new
register on 1
December. Before
that the proposals are
being shared
informally with
councillors for their
comment. It is
proposed that the
protocol is maintained
under which an inservice training day is
aligned with all
scheduled polling
days to minimise
overall disruption

Page 44
6

Comments

06.02.20

City of Edinburgh
Council – Motion
by Councillor Main
– Recycling in
Schools

To request:
a)

Executive
Director of
All council services
Resources /
involved, including
Executive
Schools, Estates: Facilities Director of Place
Services and Catering
Service, and Waste
Services work together to

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

April 2021

Update - 6 October
2020
Report to Committee
– agreed to leave
open until the
information requested
had been provided.
Page 6 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

review and provide fit for
purpose recycling services
in each of our schools to
be completed before the
start of the 2020/21
academic year within
policy and current
budgets, and reporting any
financial challenges in
doing so to the report
requested.

Page 45
7

Action

b)

25.02.20

Filming in
Edinburgh 2019

Update – 11 June
2020
Following discussion
with Councillor Main it
has been agreed that
this report will be
deferred to
September 2020, to
enable the relevant
service areas to
prioritise work to
support schools reopening and to
incorporate lessons
learned arising from
the Covid-19
lockdown period.

A report to the Policy and
Sustainability Committee
outlining the service
provided for each school
at the start of the 2020/21
Academic Year and
including plans for a
Carbon Neutral Edinburgh
2030.

To agree to a further report
Executive
being submitted to the
Director of Place
Committee to include costs as
well as income in a full scrutiny
of processes comparing

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Comments

November
2020

Recommended for
Closure
Report on the agenda
for this meeting
Page 7 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

Edinburgh’s results with cities
that charged for the use of
public space for filming in
order to make
recommendations on future
Council policy in this area.
8

Page 46

Leadership
Neighbourhood
Advisory Panel Alliance - Grant
- 31 March
Funding Payment
2020

To agree that a report would
be taken to the Housing,
Homelessness and Fair Work
Committee detailing how long
grant funding continue for and
the exit strategy.

Comments

Update 6 October
2020
To be reported to
Committee in
November 2020.
Executive
Director of Place

January 2021

Update 6 October
2020
To be included in the
Housing,
Homelessness and
Fair Work Committee
business bulletin for
14 January 2021
meeting.
Update 20 August
2020
To be reported to
Housing,
Homelessness and
Fair Work Committee

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Page 8 of 32

No

9

Date

Report Title

Leadership
Consultation
Advisory Panel Planning Report
- 23 April 2020

Page 47

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

To recognise that COVID-19
was likely to have lasting
impacts on the use of the City
Centre and to request that the
APOG consider how to invite
contributions from residents,
businesses and stakeholders
to inform a wider consultation
on events and use of public
spaces in the City Centre and
beyond with an early outline to
be given in the report to Policy
and Sustainability Committee.

Executive
Director of Place

January 2021

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Actual
completion
date

Comments

Update 10
November 2020
A stakeholder
engagement page for
the Public Spaces
Management Plan is
now live and will
remain so until 23
November 2020. The
‘home page’
describes and links to
4 ‘challenges’ that are
hosted on the
collaborative
engagement tool
Dialogue. The 4
‘challenges’ are:

Page 9 of 32

•

Public Space
Management
Plan Key
Principles and
Guidelines

•

Area

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

Comments

Conditions
•

Application
process for
Organisers

•

Community
Engagement

Page 48

The link to the site is
here:
https://consultationhu
b.edinburgh.gov.uk/sf
c/b24acf90
Update 6 October
2020
Item included in
business bulletin to
Culture and
Communities
Committee of 15
September with
further report
scheduled for early
2021.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Page 10 of 32

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

10

14.05.20

Local Police Plan

To request an update report in
6 months’ time on a full
assessment being made of the
implications of the Covid-19
emergency addressing the
risks and mitigation identified
for Edinburgh, any public
feedback that might alter
priorities and any altered
national Police priorities and
that these be worked into an
updated, dynamic plan.

Police Scotland

December
2020

28.05.20

Decisions Taken
under Delegated
Power and
Operational
Decision Making Covid-19

1)

Chief Executive

9 July 2020

Page 49

No

11

To call for a short report
in three cycles fully
detailing the decisions
made so far, and
providing options to reopen community
centres as part of
Adaption and Renewal,
to allow access to
volunteers from
community centre
management
committees to operate

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Actual
completion
date

Comments

9 July 2020

CLOSED

Page 11 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Chief Executive
(for Communities
and Families)

November
2020

Chief Executive
(David Hoy)

November
2020

Actual
completion
date

Comments

food parcel distribution,
where an agreed plan of
how they will operate in
a safe and socially
distant manner can be
put in place.
2)

To agree to an interim
members’ briefing on the
progress of 1) above.

Page 50

12

28.05.20

Outcome Report of
the Short Life
Working Group to
Examine
Communities and
Families Third
Party Grants

To provide guidance for
members on how to guide the
organisations that would be
changing or closing as a result
of an unsuccessful application
for funding.

13

09.07.20

Tourism and
Hospitality Sector
Recovery Plan –
Follow Up

Notes the importance of
Executive
Business tourism to the City’s
Director of Place
hospitality sector and the
importance of business tourism
in helping many of Edinburgh’s
sectors access the global

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

February
2021

Update 10
November 2020
An update will be
provided in the
Committee’s
Business Bulletin in
Page 12 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

market;

Page 51

14

Actual
completion
date

Comments

December 2020

Notes this would require
additional engagement with
industry and key partners to
fully develop a long-term
approach and agree that this
should be reported back to the
Policy and Sustainability
Committee, including how the
organisational structure will
operate throughout the City.
25.06.20

Adaptation and
Renewal
Programme
Update

To request that the Chief
Officer of the Health and Social
Care Partnership provide a
report to Committee, at an
appropriate time when
information was available,
containing, but not limited to,
the following:

Chief Officer,
Edinburgh Health
and Social Care
Partnership

December
2020

a) An explanation for the
disproportionately high
number of Edinburgh
Covid-19 deaths that had
occurred in care homes;
Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Page 13 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

b)

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

Comments

Details of the number of
care home Covid-19
deaths where the
deceased had previously
been in hospital;

Page 52

c)

An explanation for the
disproportionately high
number of Edinburgh
Covid-19 deaths in relation
to the number of nonCovid-19 deaths;

d)

Understanding why the
number of Edinburgh care
homes showing a
suspected case of Covid19 deaths continued to
increase;

e)

The steps taken by the
Partnership, or the Public
Health Advisory Board, to
address the issues
brought out by a) and c) in
relation to future

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Page 14 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

Comments

outbreaks: and
f)

15

25.06.20

Page 53
16

09.07.20

The issues raised with the
Edinburgh IJB and NHS
Lothian about minimising
the impact of future
outbreaks across
Edinburgh.

South East of
Scotland Regional
Transport
Transition Plan

Requests that a business
Executive
bulletin item, Members’ briefing Director of Place
or report are brought forward
as appropriate as progress is
made in conjunction with other
partners to update Council as
outlined in the report by the
Executive Director of Place

End 2020

Reform of
Transport Arm’s
Length External
Organisations

To agree to receive a report in
two cycles on the
recommended approach to
reform of the Transport ALEO
which will include an
evaluation of the impact of the
proposed integration on
delivery of 2030 Carbon
Neutral Edinburgh targets and

12 November
2020 – to
Transport
and
Environment
Committee

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Executive
Director of Place

Recommended for
closure
This is included in the
Business Bulletin for
Committee on 10
November 2020.

Recommended for
closure
This report will go to
Transport and
Environment
Committee on 12
November 2020.

Page 15 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Chief Executive

December
2020

To agree that planning
Chief Executive
for a green recovery
and the Council net zero
by 2030 carbon target
will be integrated into
the Adaptation and
Renewal Programme
including all future
significant operational or
financial proposals that
will form the basis of a

December
2020

Actual
completion
date

Comments

on equalities (the initial
equalities impact assessment)
and a timetable for the creation
of a new plan for public
transport as covered in 4.21 of
the report by the Executive
Director of Place.
17

Engagement
Through
Adaptation and
Renewal

That officers consider the
resumption of non-essential
consultation activity as part of
the Adaptation and Renewal
programme and provide an
update to committee on next
steps in September

23.07.20

Council Response
to Edinburgh
Climate
Commission and
Sustainability
Programme
Update

1)

Page 54

23.07.20

18

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Due to the evolving
situation with covid-19
papers on the
council’s approach to
consultation have
been delayed.

Page 16 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

Comments

new council business
plan. An update on
progress will be
provided in October.
2)

Page 55
19

20

23.07.20

23.07.20

To agree that a
Chief Executive
summary of the
sustainability
programme activity and
progress towards the
carbon target will be
provided before the start
of the new financial
year.

Spaces for People
- Additional
Contract Waiver
for Material Orders
and Contract
Service

To agree to provide a briefing
note for the committee on the
price changes of traffic
management products

Executive
Director of Place

Public Realm
CCTV Update

To request an update on the
Public Realm CCTV upgrade
project progress in six months’
time

Chief Executive
(for Communities
and Families)

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

March 2021

November
2020

Update 10
November 2020
A note on this will be
circulated in advance
of Committee.

January 2021

Update 10
November 2020
A report is to be
submitted to the
Page 17 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

Comments

Culture and
Communities
Committee in January
2021
21

06.08.20

Review of Political
Management
Arrangements

Page 56
22

06.08.20

Schools Reopening - Update

To request a briefing in
September clarifying the
process for a possible phased
reduction in Committee
activity, as described in 4.9 of
the report by the Chief
Executive. This briefing should
make clear to Committee how
any decisions would be taken,
who would take those
decisions, and under what
circumstances.

Chief Executive

To agree that a further update
be provided for the next
committee meeting on 20
August 2020.

Executive
Director for
Communities and
Families

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

10 December
2020

Update 6 October
2020
A report will be
submitted to the
meeting of the full
Council on 10
December 2020

20 August
2020

13 October
2020

Recommended for
closure
Report was submitted
to the Education,
Children and Families
Committee on 13
October 2020

Page 18 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

23
(a)

06.08.20

Community
Centres and
Libraries
Reopening

1)

To call for a report in
two cycles to the Policy
and Sustainability
Committee with further
details as set out below:

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Executive
Director for
Communities and
Families

November
2020

Actual
completion
date

Comments

Recommended for
closure
Report on the agenda
for this meeting.

Page 57

i) specifically on the reopening of libraries in
Edinburgh setting out
clearer timescales for
opening, learning
from other local
authorities which are
more advanced in reopening of libraries
and details, including
financial, of services
impacted by library
closures.
ii) outlining services
directly or indirectly
impacted by the
closure of
Community Centres
or Libraries, detailing
any alternative or
Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Page 19 of 32

No

Date

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

To request a further
report with a review and
update of the current
position to the relevant
committee before
November 2020, to
include details and
rational for future
reductions in access or
opening.

Executive
Director for
Communities and
Families

November
2020

To request a briefing note on
which would provide
timescales and answers to the

Executive
Director for
Communities and

Actual
completion
date

Comments

innovative ways that
have been used (or
are being planned) to
maintain continuity of
services that would
otherwise have been
lost. This should
include any projected
financial
consequences of the
alternative service
provision.

Page 58
23
(b)

Report Title

2)

06.10.20

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Recommended for
closure
Report on the agenda
for this meeting.

October
2020

Recommended for
closure

Page 20 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action Owner

questions raised by the
deputation from the Jack Kane
Community Centre.

Families

To instruct the Chief Executive
to report to Committee in two
cycles providing a

Chief Executive

Expected
completion
date

24

06.08.20

Accounts
Commission: Local
Government in

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Actual
completion
date

Comments

Since the last meeting
of the Policy and
Sustainability
Committee the Jack
Kane Centre
Management
Committee presented
a deputation to the
Education Children
and Families
Committee on the 13
October 2020. An
action was agreed
that Council officers
respond to the
Management
Committee and copy
to Education, Children
and Families
Committee members
and that action is now
complete

Page 59

Action

December
2020

Page 21 of 32

No

Date

Page 60

Report Title

Action

Scotland Overview 2020

comprehensive assessment of
how the Council was
addressing the
recommendations outlined in
the Key Messages section of
the report and suggesting any
further actions that could be
taken to address these in order
that Councillors could
scrutinise and prioritise work to
improve the Council in these
areas.

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

Comments

The report to provide an officer
assessment of the sources of
information, training and
guidance available to
Councillors to help them
answer the questions set out
for them in the report in order
that these could be assessed
and debated by Elected
Members in public at
Committee with a view to
improving scrutiny of the
Council’s performance and to
help engender a culture of
Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Page 22 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Requests a review of the
international strategy in
autumn to include information
on the how relationships can
support the Council’s
Equalities Framework.

Chief Executive

November
2020

1)

Executive
Director of Place

Actual
completion
date

Comments

continuous improvement
25

06.08.20

Recommended for
closure
Report on the agenda
for this meeting

Motion by
Councillor Day Equality and LGBT
+ Rights

Page 61
26

Motion by
Councillor
Staniforth - The
City's Relationship
with Krakow

(see minute of 6
August 2020)

20.08.20

Adaptation and
Renewal
Programme
Update

To agree to provide
details of when the
leaflet was designed
and printed with
reference to D181.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

November
2020

Update 10
November 2020
An update on this will
be circulated in
advance of
Committee.

Page 23 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

2)

27
(a)

To agree to provide a
briefing note on the
traffic data at
Morningside Station.

Expected
completion
date

Executive
Director of Place

Annual
Performance
2019/20

To request that revised targets Chief Executive
for emissions reduction,
specifying the annual
increments required to achieve
net zero by 2030, are brought
forward as a matter of
urgency.

December
2020

25.08.20

Referral of report
to the City of
Edinburgh Council

To further welcome the Policy Chief Executive
and Sustainability Committee
decision to agree the proposal
by Green Councillors that
revised targets for carbon
emissions reduction,
specifying the annual
increments required to achieve
net zero by 2030 and requests
that these incremental targets
are brought forward to

December
2020

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Actual
completion
date

Comments

September
2020

Recommended for
closure
Briefing issued on 25
September 2020

20.08.20

Page 62
27
(b)

Action Owner

Page 24 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

Comments

November
2020

Recommended for
closure

committee before the end of
this year.
28

Local Government
Benchmarking
Framework
2018/19 Edinburgh
Overview

To request a further report
setting out a wider review of
the data available to seek and
implement best practice
examples from colleague
Councils (not limited to
Scotland) and foster anew
continuous improvement
culture within the Council, and
the scope of this report to be
discussed at the APOG in
order to clarify with officers
how this would be brought
forward.

Chief Executive

December
2020

20.08.20

Spaces for People
Initiative –
Response to
Motion

1)

Executive
Director of Place

October 2020

Page 63

20.08.20

29

To agree to an update
to Committee on the
work regarding Local
Champion Networks.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

A business bulletin
update has been
prepared for this
Committee on 10
November 2020.

Page 25 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

2)

Page 64

30

20.08.20

Update on
Edinburgh's
Christmas and
Edinburgh's
Hogmanay
2020/2021

1)

2)

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

To agree to a briefing
Executive
note regarding the
Director of Place
Dublin specific example
on what area of Dublin
the study was relating to
and details of the
measures that had been
put in place.

End 2020

To agree an update
report on how local
business can get
involved in the
Christmas and New
year festivals

Executive
Director of Place

December
2020

To agree to a full risk
assessment being
carried out which will
consider operational,
reputational risks with a
particular focus on risks
to public health which
will be reported back to
Committee in two

Executive
Director of Place

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Actual
completion
date

Comments

Update 10
November 2020
A note on this will be
circulated in advance
of Committee

December
2020

Update 10
November 2020
On 1 October 2020 it
was announced that
Edinburgh’s
Christmas will move
online in 2020 to
reflect the current
national restrictions in
response to COVID19.
Discussions are ongoing on the
arrangements for
Edinburgh’s

Page 26 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

cycles.
3)

Page 65

To note paragraphs
4.22-4.25 of the report
outlining how events will
operate within health
guidance; recognises
that current guidance
may change between
now and late November
and that the report
confirms significant
work is required to
finalise detailed
planning including
possible crowd control;
therefore seeks a
further report with that
detail by mid-November
to allow for proper
scrutiny and to assure
the committee that
participants and
observers will be able to
enjoy Christmas and
Hogmanay events in a

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Actual
completion
date

Comments

Hogmanay
Executive
Director of Place

December
2020

Page 27 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

Comments

safe and secure way.
31

25.08.20

City of Edinburgh
Council – Motion
by Councillor
Webber –
Pavements and
People

Page 66

(minute of 25
August 2020)

To further request additional
Executive
engagement with Lothian
Director of Place
Buses, Living Streets
Edinburgh, Guide Dogs
Scotland, Spokes RNIB and
the Access Panel to explore
any additional actions and to
report back to the Policy and
Sustainability Committee at the
earliest opportunity

End 2020

There will be an
update in the
Business Bulletin for
the Transport and
Environment
Committee in
November 2020 on
this item

32

06.10.20

Police Scotland –
City of Edinburgh
Division Update

Chief Superintendent Sean
Scott to provide further detail
on measures taken by Police
Scotland to ensure the good
road behaviour of cyclists.

Chief Executive

December
2020

33

06.10.20

Adaptation and
Renewal
Programme
Update

1)

Executive
Director of Place

November
2020

To agree that a briefing
note would be provided
to members on how
officers undertake traffic
modelling.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Update 10
November 2020

Update 10
November 2020
A note on this will be
circulated in advance
of Committee

Page 28 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

2)

Action Owner

To agree that concerns Executive
regarding planning for
Director of Place
the end of term would
be raised at a meeting
with the Universities
Group and then a
briefing would be
provided to members on
the outcome of this
discussion

Expected
completion
date
December
2020

06.10.20

Edinburgh and
South East
Scotland City
Region Deal
Annual Report

Notes reference in paragraph
Chief Executive
4.3.6 to the Benefits
Realisation Plan for the Deal
and agrees that a further report
be provided after the City
Region Deal Joint Committee
has considered the report
detailing the Plan and how its

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Comments

Update 10
November 2020
As discussed at
Committee,
Universities are
awaiting guidance
from the Scottish and
UK Governments on
plans for the end of
this term and the start
of next. Once these
are available, officers
will discuss with
University partners
and Elected Members
will be updated once
plans are in place.

Page 67
34

Actual
completion
date

Spring 2021

Page 29 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

To review the membership of
the West Edinburgh All Party
Oversight Group to reflect the
dissolution of Locality
Committees and as such that
the Convener / Vice Convener
of South West and North West
Locality positions no longer
exists.

Chief Executive

December
2020

Notes the approach to
developing a public
convenience strategy and
approves commencement of
assessment of possible
locations for new public
convenience facilities to be
reported in three cycles to

Executive
Director of Place

Actual
completion
date

Comments

indicators will be presented to
the Policy and Sustainability
Committee to allow elected
members to scrutinise the Plan
and ensure it will provide a
robust process for reporting
and monitoring delivery of the
Deal
35

06.10.20

Page 68
36

06.10.20

Appointments to
Working Groups
2020/2021

Re-opening of
Public
Conveniences

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Update 10
November 2020
A report is to be
submitted to the
Council in December
2020.

23 February
2021

Page 30 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Actual
completion
date

Comments

14 October
2020

Recommended for
closure

committee.

37

06.10.20

Requests that a report
on the progress of the
introduction of the new
service is brought back
to committee in six
months.

Executive
Director of Place

April 2021

2)

To agree to consider
food waste recycling
receptacles in schools
as broken down in
Appendix 2 and provide
an update to members

Executive
Director of
Resources

April 2021

1)

To agree to provide a
briefing note for all
councillors with a
response from Legal on
who took the decision
that the reputational
issue referred to in
paragraph 4.10 was not
considered to be a

Executive
Director of Place

Page 69

Recycling and
1)
Waste Collection in
Schools

38

06.10 20

Edinburgh's
Christmas and
Edinburgh's
Hogmanay Contract Terms
and Open Book
Audit

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

This briefing note was
circulated on
14/10/2020.

Page 31 of 32

No

Date

Report Title

Action

Action Owner

Expected
completion
date

Executive
Director of Place

November
2020

Actual
completion
date

Comments

material breach nor
grounds for termination
and how this decision
was reached.
2)

Page 70

To agree to provide
figures from the annual
review on the number of
attendees at
Edinburgh’s Christmas
and Hogmanay
festivities

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Rolling Actions Log – 10 November 2020

Recommended for
closure
The annual
performance for
Edinburgh’s Winter
Festivals was
published on 26
September 2020 http://www.edinburgh
schristmas.com/imag
es/uploads/Annual_R
eport_Final_for_wesbi
te_compressed.pdf

Page 32 of 32

Agenda Item 6.1
Business bulletin
Policy and Sustainability Committee
10.00am, 10 November 2020
Virtual – via Microsoft Teams

Page 71

Policy and Sustainability Committee
Convener:

Members:

Contact:

Councillor Adam McVey

Councillor Adam McVey
(Convener)

Jamie Macrae,
Committee Officer

Councillor Cammy Day (ViceConvener)
Councillor Robert Aldridge
Councillor Kate Campbell
Councillor Nick Cook
Vice Convener: Councillor
Cammy Day

Councillor Neil Gardiner
Councillor Gillian Gloyer
Councillor Graham Hutchison
Councillor Lesley Macinnes
Councillor Melanie Main
Councillor John McLellan
Councillor Rob Munn
Councillor Ian Perry
Councillor Alex Staniforth
Councillor Susan Webber
Councillor Iain Whyte
Councillor Donald Wilson

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Page 2 of 9

Page 72

Louise Williamson,
Assistant Committee
Officer

Recent news

Background

Participation Requests
Since the provision for participation requests under the
Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act came into force on
April 2017, the Council has embedded a robust and
systematic process to ensure these are managed effectively
in line with the legislation. This process was agreed by the
Corporate Policy and Strategy Committee in March 2017.
The process ensures a single point of contact for all
enquiries and includes ongoing support for service lead
officers.
To date, the Council has received a total of 7 requests, all of
which have been handled as per the agreed process. 5 were
accepted, 1 was refused and 1 did not proceed. Two of the
requests were multiple applications from separate groups
wishing to influence a similar outcome. This level of take up
is similar across Scottish Local Authorities.
The Council’s approach to the Westbank Portobello PR is
cited as an example of good practice within a recent
evaluation of PR commissioned by the Scottish
Government. A link to the full evaluation report and case
study is included here
A recent review sought feedback from stakeholders on their
experience of the process and about the support they
received. Feedback was positive with some suggestions for
improvement. These included the need for greater clarity
around the role of the stakeholder and what is expected of
them and the need for engagement activity that has already
taken place at community level to inform any outcome
improvement process. These findings will be used to
improve the support provided to enable the effective
application of the agreed process moving forwards.
We will continue to publish on an annual basis details of all
requests received and those in progress to ensure elected
members are kept fully informed and updated on this
activity.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Page 3 of 9

Page 73

Contact:
Garry Sneddon, Senior
Policy and Insight Officer
garry.sneddon@edinburg
h.gov.uk

Edinburgh Biodiversity Partnership delivery update for
2019
The Edinburgh Biodiversity Partnership (EBP) has delivered
a varied and successful programme of biodiversity
improvement and strong community engagement across the
city through Local Biodiversity Action Plans (LBAP) since
2000. Delivery of the Edinburgh LBAP helps the Council to
meet its statutory duty to further the conservation of
biodiversity. The Partnership is currently chaired by the
Royal Botanic Garden Edinburgh, with facilitation and
governance support provided by the Council. The
Partnership has around 40 member organisations from
statutory agencies and national nature conservation
organisations such as RSPB, to local environmental and
conservation bodies.
This summary highlights the key activities and outcomes
delivered in 2019 by the EBP. Further information is
available in the annual report for 2019, circulated to
stakeholders and available online. The full report shows
how the work of the EBP links to key Council work
programmes and strategies, and how the Edinburgh Local
Biodiversity Action Plan helps to meet Scottish and
international targets for biodiversity conservation.
The report further outlines the relationship between action
for biodiversity, the natural environment and the Council
declaration of a climate emergency. A resilient natural
environment is a key component in the response to climate
change and helps to mitigate and adapt to the predicted
impacts on the city. Vegetation stores carbon, absorbs air
and water pollution, provides shading and cooling against
predicted urban overheating, slows water run-off and
flooding in predicted increased rainfall. These benefits are in
addition to the well understood health, wellbeing and
amenity benefits of nature and greenspaces.
Work is underway to strengthen Planning policy and
guidance on green infrastructure and city resilience, in
preparation for the City Plan 2030. Strong links exist with
the climate and ecological emergency, Zero Carbon 2030,
Edinburgh Adapts and the Edinburgh Biodiversity
Partnership. The new cross-council Green Infrastructure
Working Group and Edinburgh Adapts Steering Group offer

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Page 4 of 9

Page 74

For further information
please contact Caroline
Peacock on
caroline.peacock@edinb
urgh.gov.uk

opportunities to deliver work which achieves multiple
benefits for climate and biodiversity resilience.
Key Achievements of the Edinburgh Biodiversity
Partnership in 2019
The annual review highlights some of the outcomes and
actions from the past year delivered by the Partnership.
Further information about the overall action programme and
aims is available from the Edinburgh Biodiversity Action Plan
2019-2021.
Public engagement and volunteering opportunities continue
to be well supported by the Partnership. CEC Parks and
Greenspace, Historic Environment Scotland, Water of Leith
Conservation Trust and Edinburgh and Lothian Greenspace
Trust have collectively delivered a large programme of yearround activity and practical site management for biodiversity.
Support and advice to the Friends of Greenspace groups
has continued and there is a significant amount of practical
conservation work by community groups in the Council’s
parks, allotments and cemeteries. New contacts with
Friends of Newington Cemetery resulted in biodiversity
advice principles being implemented at the Scottish
Cemetery in Kolkata.
Much of the species conservation activity within the
Edinburgh Local Biodiversity Action Plan is delivered by
volunteer expert groups. One of these, the Edinburgh
Natural History Society celebrated its 150th anniversary in
2019. Starting life as the Edinburgh Naturalists’ Field Club,
the Society continue to contribute expert knowledge and
ecological data for Edinburgh. The expertise within these
types of specialist Partner organisations provide the basis
for citizen science projects, public engagement and
underpins the data used by Council services relating to
ecological management and decision making.
2019 saw the opening of the re-developed Saughton Park.
After receiving Heritage Lottery Funding in 2016 the park
has been transformed into a fantastic greenspace for the
local community and beyond. The gardens have been
regenerated and there is now a physic garden, rose garden
as well as offices, meeting rooms and a café. The park is
home to an array of wildlife from butterflies and moths to
solitary bees, ladybirds and many species of birds.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Page 5 of 9

Page 75

Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal
Annual Report 2019-20
The ESES City Region Deal’s second Annual Report was
published in August 2020, approved by the City Region Deal
Joint Committee in September 2020, and noted by Policy
and Sustainability Committee in October 2020.
The report covered the time period August 2019 to July
2020 and showed that good progress was made across the
Deal’s programmes and projects. £54.7 million of
Government money was drawn down in the 2019/20, with
£53.61 million on Capital projects and £1.06 million on the
Revenue programme.
The annual report also demonstrated that the Governance
structure, established to manage City Region Deal activity,
helped the partnership to respond quickly to the COVID-19
pandemic with some effective interventions. Four examples
are detailed in the report: a new COVID-19 jobs portal; a
new Health and Social Care Skills Gateway Proposition;
Contribution to the Report on the Advisory Group for
Economic Recovery; and the development of a Regional
Transport Transition Plan. These all have strong links with
ongoing activity through City Region Deal projects, and are
pertinent examples of how the partnership, that normally
monitors City Region Deal activity, can work together to
deliver added value alongside the delivery of the Deal
projects.
Elected Member Oversight Committee
On 12 March 2020, a paper was submitted to the City of
Edinburgh Council with a recommendation for Council to
appoint two members on the Elected Member Oversight
Committee to oversee the development of the Regional
Growth Framework (RGF) and interim Regional Spatial
Strategy (iRSS). The EMOC will comprise twelve
councillors, from the six local authorities representing a fair
regional spread, together with representatives from the
regional Higher/Further Education consortium and the
Regional Enterprise Council. The City of Edinburgh Council
appointed Cllrs McVey and Day as its two representatives
on the EMOC.
In September 2020, the City Region Deal Joint Committee
approved a supplementary agreement to the Minute of
Agreement for the Joint Committee, which was required to
Policy and Sustainability Committee – Page 6 of 9

Page 76

allow the Elected Member Oversight Group to be formed.
The report was ratified by the City of Edinburgh Council in
October 2020.
Transport Transition Group
Under the Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Deal
Transport Advisory Board a specific sub group, The South
East Scotland Transport Transition Group, was established
in June 2020 specifically to develop and oversee the
transition out of emergency lockdown implemented to put in
place measures that would address the challenges
presented by increasing demand for public transport
services at a time when the capacity of those services is
severely reduced by social distancing requirements. The
group would develop a regional Transport Transition Plan
which would contribute to the National Transport Transition
Plan published on 26 May 2020.
Potential measures required to support key regional busbased movements were set out in a report to the City
Region Deal Joint Committee on 7 August. The Joint
Committee noted the arrangements for developing the Plan
and approve the proposed transport transition measures and
interventions for the city region. It authorised the Transport
Transition Plan Group to prepare a collective bid by all of the
regional local authority partners for submission to Scottish
Government for funding from its Bus Priority Fund. Local
approval for the measures is also required.
Led by the City of Edinburgh Council, the region secured
£1.2 million for measures through the Bus Priority Rapid
Deployment fund on 1 September, as detailed in a report to
Transport and Environment Committee on 1 October An
additional £0.6 million has been committed subject to
additional information being provided. The significant
measures affecting the City of Edinburgh within this were
taken to Transport and Environment Committee for approval
on 12 November. A report detailing all measures will be
taken to the City Region Deal Joint Committee on 3
December for approval.
Amongst proposals are the introduction or extension of bus
lanes including on the A90 citybound between Cramond Brig
and Barnton and on the A89 eastbound approach to
Newbridge, various signalling improvements for smoother
flow of traffic and enhanced bus stops at key locations. The
awarded funding must be drawn down by the end of March
Policy and Sustainability Committee – Page 7 of 9

Page 77

2021. It is understood that hard monitoring data and
evidence of positive outcomes achieved will be required for
all interventions and that addition ‘soft’ data will also be
beneficial. A Monitoring and Evaluation framework is also
being developed by the Transport Transition Group.
The City Region Deal’s Transport Appraisal Board continues
to meet; and one of its key areas of focus is to put in a
comprehensive regional bid into the Scottish Government’s
£500 million Bus Priority Fund that was announced in the
2019/20 Programme for Government.
Forward Plan
The next City Region Deal Joint Committee meeting is
scheduled for 4 December 2020. The following items will be
considered:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Standing Orders
Sheriffhall update – Transport Scotland
Transport Transition Plan – Bus Priority Rapid
Deployment Measures
City Region Deal Progress Report
Integrated Regional Employability and Skills
Programme update
Regional Growth Framework Update
Benefits Realisation Plan – Implementation Plan

Small Business Champions Network
Since 28 July 2020, the following Small Business
Champions Networks have been established:
10 external and 1 internal Business Champions Networks
(BCN) have been established.
The external areas are:
-

Portobello
Queensferry
Morningside/Bruntsfield/Tollcross
Old Town
Greater Grassmarket
Stockbridge
Leith/Leith Walk
Gorgie/Dalry
Corstorphine
Southside

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Page 8 of 9

Page 78

These were chosen to coincide with the ‘Town centres’ used
for planning purposes, as also included in the funding
application to Scotland’s Towns Partnership for the Shop
Local project, and also included areas where Business
Improvement Districts had previously been in place but now
no longer so. There are already established relationships
with existing BIDs in West End and City Centre.
Forthcoming activities:

Policy and Sustainability Committee – Page 9 of 9

Page 79

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.1

Policy and Sustainability Committee

10.00am, Tuesday, 10 November 2020
Adaptation and Renewal Programme
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

1.

Recommendations

1.1

Note the Council’s latest Covid-19 position following the most recent guidance from
Government.

1.2

Note the decisions taken to date under urgency provisions from 13 September to 30
October 2020 outlined at Appendix 1.

1.3

Note the Covid-19 Response Dashboard outlined at Appendix 2.

1.4

Note the findings of the Cumulative Integrated Impact Assessment of CIMT’s
decisions between 15 May to 15 September 2020.The findings will be used to
inform the A&R Programme. Further information is at Appendix 3.

1.5

Note the update on VERA and Flexible Work following Council approval of the use
of reserves on 15 October 2020.

1.6

Note the proposal for initial budget engagement to commence on 11 November.

1.7

Note that a report went to Finances and Resources Committee on 29 October with
further proposals to deliver towards a sustainable budget for 2020/21.

Andrew Kerr
Chief Executive
Contact: Gillie Severin, Strategy and Communications
E-mail: Gillie.Severin@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 3493

Page 81

Policy and Sustainability Committee

Adaptation and Renewal Programme
2.

Executive Summary

2.1

Edinburgh continues to respond to the Covid-19 global pandemic. This has required
changes to everyday life for all residents, businesses and city partners. It also
continues to fundamentally change how the Council operates.

2.2

As agreed at the Policy and Sustainability Committee on 28 May 2020, the
Adaptation and Renewal Programme provides regular Committee updates. This is
the sixth report to Committee on progress and covers decisions taken in period 13
September to 30 October 2020, the latest Covid-19 Dashboard and a wider
programme updates. It includes a progress update on the VERA and Flexible
Working exercise and recommends extending this to Heads of Service and
potentially other Grades if required and appropriate.

2.3

This report also responds to a motion calling for a further cumulative Integrated
Impact Assessment (IIA) to be carried out on decisions taken by the Council
Incident Management Team (CIMT) in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. The
cumulative assessment covers the period 15 May to 15 September 2020.

2.4

Finally, this report sets out an approach to budget engagement both in the
immediate and ahead of the budget setting process which will be presented to
February Council.

3.

Background
Responding to Covid-19

3.1

The Council continues to respond to the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic, while
maintaining critical services and progressing Council priorities. The Council also
continues to expand key frontline service delivery in line with government and public
health guidance and subject to sufficient resource and budget being available. This
is to ensure the Council continues to manage the pandemic across the city working
with a wide range of partners and is prepared for further waves or local outbreaks.
2

Page 82

The Council will follow Scotland’s Strategic Framework, which includes a five-level
framework of protection from the spread of Covid-19. Every area of Scotland will fall
into one of five tiers depending on the local rate of infection.
3.1.1 Level 0 – Nearly Normal
Indoor meetings allowed – maximum eight people from three households. Fifteen
people from five households can meet outdoors.
3.1.2 Level 1 – Medium
Six people from two households can meet indoors and outdoors.
3.1.3 Level 2 - High
No indoor meeting with other households. Six people from two households can
meet outdoors and in hospitality settings. Pubs permitted to sell alcohol indoors only
with a main meal – and time restrictions may apply.
3.1.4

Level 3 – Very High

Alcohol sales not permitted indoors or outdoors. Restaurants may be able to remain
open under strict conditions.
3.1.5 Level 4 – Lockdown
Closer to a full lockdown of the type the UK went into at the end of March, with nonessential shops being forced to close. Some outdoor meeting still allowed. Schools
will stay open.
3.2

On 2 November 2020 the Edinburgh local authority area commenced these new
arrangements in tier three. Edinburgh does have an improving position in terms of
the data but public health officials recommended tier three to ensure that this
position is maintained before restrictions could be lessened. This will be reviewed
weekly and if the improving position continues then it is likely that Edinburgh will be
moved to a lower tier. The detail of the restrictions in each tier will also be part of
the review process which for example could mean a change in the opening hours
for hospitality.

3.3

The framework does provide enhanced guidance on what Council services should
be open and gives greater clarity on the level of restrictions or measures that
accompany these services being re-commenced.

3.4

The changes to Council services have so far been limited as the current approach
by the Council is in line with tier three. Major changes to Council services such as
either buildings open with no protective measures or alternatively enforced closure
are only applied with tier zero and one or tier four. Schools for example remain
open throughout all five tiers and within tiers 2 and 3 apply enhanced protective
measures.
3

Page 83

3.5

Commencing services is covered later in the report and the Council is undertaking
an exercise to review its current use of buildings and look at service resumption
under the new framework. This will identify how services can resume safely.
Decisions on service resumption that are outside the agreed budget envelope set
by Council will continue to be taken to the appropriate Committee and the Council
for decision.
Governance

3.6

Edinburgh continues its work to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic with CIMT
taking decisions to protect public health and mitigate the effects of ongoing
protective measures as well as supporting the return to business as usual.

3.7

The AZETS 2019/20 Annual Report to the Council and the Controller of Audit found
that Edinburgh responded promptly and effectively in its political management
arrangements to the Covid-19 crisis.

3.8

The Adaptation and Renewal programme continues to guide officer decision
making. It consists of five officer working groups which report into a single
programme board at the Corporate Leadership Team. The Adaptation and Renewal
programme board meets weekly and its governance continues to be used to
oversee the Council’s overall response to Covid-19. Following the departure of the
Executive Director of Communities and Families, the Chief Executive will
temporarily assume the position of Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) for the Life
Chances Officer Working Group.

3.9

The Political All-Party Oversight Group (APOG) provides additional scrutiny,
oversight and feedback which contributes to the development of options for the
Policy and Sustainability Committee. The APOG last met on the 27 October with
Poverty and Prevention next steps as the substantive item. An overview of the 10year programme of change was discussed with the action of further discussion
within Group meetings to support development of the overall strategy and plan. The
APOG also received updates on the Scottish Government’s Covid-19 Scotland’s
Strategic Framework, the budget position and the timeline to February budget.
Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA)

3.10

The Council uses an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) to meet the requirements
of the Equality Act 2010, human and children’s rights conventions, Fairer Scotland
Duty 2018 and the Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009.

3.11

The IIA process aligns with the Council’s wider Equality, Diversity and Rights
Framework 2017 – 2021, a review of this is also underway. The incorporation of
equality, rights, economic and carbon impact assessments as an integral part of its
decision-making process enables the Council to meet its public sector equalities
4

Page 84

duties, including by identifying and addressing any unintended consequences of its
decisions.
3.12

The purpose of a cumulative IIA is to consider the combined impact of a connected
set of decisions, including unintended consequences. It is required in relation to the
Council’s budget as, although setting the budget is a single decision, the budget
itself comprises a number of individual budget proposals. Although a cumulative
impact assessment is normally only required on the Council’s budget, the
exceptional circumstances presented by the Covid-19 pandemic and associated
requirement for urgent financial and other decisions by CIMT mean that a
cumulative impact assessment is being carried out.

3.13

The first cumulative IIA of CIMT decisions covered those taken between 18 March
to 14 May 2020 and was reported to Committee in June 2020. The decisions during
this crisis phase were taken with the intention of protecting citizens and staff in line
with public health guidance, and of mitigating the impact of lockdown. The report
described the range of service enhancements and supports that the Council had
introduced to mitigate against adverse impacts, including enhancing advice and
benefit support capacity and accessibility and the provision of digital devices to
young people known to services.

3.14

A key finding from the cumulative assessment of the first set of decisions was the
challenge of digital exclusion across all groups, a finding which also emerged
across Scotland. In response, the Scottish Government and SCVO have led the
development of a programme, “No One Left Behind”, which is aimed at identifying
ways to address digital exclusion. Evidence published in September 2020 by the
Scottish Government shows that older people and young people experiencing
socio-economic disadvantage are most like to be affected. As a result of more
services moving online due to Covid-19, there is the risk of widening the gap in
digital inequality.

3.15

The report also described the growing recognition that the risks and impacts of the
virus are not shared equally. The rates of infection and death, as well as the
economic and social effects of Covid-19 vary markedly between groups in the
population, reflecting underlying health and social inequalities. Older people and
people experiencing or vulnerable to poverty are among groups at higher risk of
adverse impacts. It also noted that the lockdown and associated measures, and the
longer-term socioeconomic impact have the potential to reproduce and intensify
existing inequalities.

5

Page 85

4.

Main report
COVID-19 Dashboard

4.1

The Covid-19 dashboard (Appendix 2) provides the latest position about key data
relating to the pandemic. Content for the dashboard continues to be kept under
review based on the emerging situation and any feedback received.
Decisions taken from 13 September to 30 October 2020

4.2

A full list of decision taken under urgency provisions by the Chief Executive in
consultation with the Leader and Deputy Leader from 13 September to 30 October
2020 is at Appendix 1. Matters requiring a decision under urgency powers by the
Chief Executive are discussed at CIMT which continues to meet twice a week or at
CLT which also meets weekly.

Update on Voluntary Early Release Arrangement (VERA) and Flexible Work
Options
4.3

On 15 October 2020, Council approved the use of the allocated workforce
transformation reserve for a targeted VERA exercise. Following that approval, on 19
October colleagues within Grades 10-12 (excluding colleagues within the Edinburgh
Health and Social Care Partnership and Teachers) were invited to express an
interest in VERA or to consider reducing their hours through the existing Flexible
Work Options policy.

4.4

On 2 November 2020, Grade 9 colleagues (excluding colleagues within the
Edinburgh Health and Social Care Partnership and Teachers) will be invited to
express an interest in VERA or reducing their hours through the Flexible Work
Options policy.

4.5

Further, it is proposed that the current VERA exercise will be extended to include
Heads of Service, such that they too are invited to be considered for VERA from 9 th
November 2020.

4.6

No further commitment has been made by the Corporate Leadership Team at this
stage to open up VERA to other groups of staff, however, in light of the ongoing
financial challenges this will be kept under review and, this may be a required step.
The Flexible Work Options Policy remains open to all staff to consider applying for
amended working arrangements under, subject to the requirements of the Council.

Adaptation & Renewal Programme Updates
Service Operations Working Group
6

Page 86

4.7

The Service Operations Working Group has worked to bring essential services back
into operation and supporting the most vulnerable citizens. Throughout the
pandemic the Council has been trying to balance the need to continue to provide
critical services to residents whilst keeping staff safe and following national
guidance. The need to do this at the current time is particularly acute as cases of
Covid-19 are rising across the city. There are also challenges around re-opening
services to Pre-Covid-19 levels in a safe way given the financial cost of Covid-19 to
the Council.

4.8

All Services resumed to date have been managed within Scottish Government and
Public Health Scotland guidance and consider other associated guidance issued by
bodies such as COSLA. As further services reopen if there is a need for additional
budget and Facilities Management resource, then these matters will be brought
back to the Policy and Sustainability committee.

4.9

The full-year cost increase of re-opening the first six libraries in September was
c.£200k per annum. Officers are preparing plans for the re-opening of the following
libraries in line with the plan that was approved by the Policy and Sustainability
Committee on 6 August:
• Drumbrae (North West Edinburgh)
• Craigmillar (North East Edinburgh)
• Wester Hailes (South West Edinburgh), with a replacement of Currie Library if
Wester Hailes cannot be safely re-opened due to the ongoing construction
works at Westside Plaza.
• Gilmerton (South East Edinburgh)

4.10

Given that this next tranche of re-opening will also cost in the region of a further
£200k. Officers must consider the workforce availability within the wider FM service
to support existing operations, particularly in school settings, and ensure that the
re-opening of the additional libraries will not present a risk to the priority of
maintaining a fit for purpose cleansing regime in our schools. Subject to approval,
officers are working to an indicative opening date of the 14 December, but this may
vary for each library.

4.11

A Wellbeing Board is being established to oversee and co-ordinate the workstreams
to ensure there is coherent vision and outcomes for Wellbeing which will feed into
the Council Business Plan. Data gathering exercises are underway for services.
The approach seeks to understand current service including the geographic
locations, core and additional service offerings, demands, trends, synergies with
external and internal partners. Next steps will be to explore opportunities bring
forward coherent opportunities for change.

7

Page 87

Public Health Advisory Working Group
4.12

This officer working group brings together the City of Edinburgh Council, NHS
Lothian and the Edinburgh Health and Social Care Partnership (EHSCP) colleagues
to ensure the effective communication and implementation of national advice
concerning public health.

4.13

The role of the Officer Working Group is to interpret and ensure the practical
application of the national advice in the Edinburgh context, working closely with
experts across the Council in our Environmental Health, Health and Safety and
Resilience teams.

4.14

Work is underway to understand the implications of the new tiered approach and
how the current service delivery and resumption plans align to these restrictions.

4.15

The group continues to support the Council in the Test and Protect work and
ensures the links to the other working groups are made as appropriate. As the virus
continues to fluctuate within the community across the Lothians, the group will be
involved with planning for reductions in service delivery. This will include how to
support the requirement to step back up support for the most vulnerable groups as
we move through the tiered system.

4.16

Further work is underway to collaborate with colleagues to support the Poverty &
Prevention change programme. Findings and lessons learned will be evaluated
from the 3 Conversations approach used by the Health and Social Care teams and
contributed to the future approach.

Economic Recovery Working Group
4.17

The Economic Recovery Programme seeks to ensure Edinburgh’s economy
survives the time of Covid-19 and adapts, so that people, businesses and
communities can thrive in the future. Due to the size and complexity of the remit,
the programme was divided into the following workstreams to deliver the Economic
Recovery vision:
•
•
•
•
•
•

4.18

Sustainable Economy Recovery
Investment and Development
Employability
Business support and Resilience
Our Future Cultural Capital
Innovation

The revised City Economy Strategy is in early development, with an Interim report
due to be issued in December, followed by the publication of the refreshed strategy
in March 2021.
8

Page 88

4.19

Priority outputs and achievements to date:
Create a safe and sustainable environment for offices, shops, education
institutions, and transport providers to work.
• Ready Set Go project (set up to support local businesses) continues to engage
and support City businesses to assist with recovery. The Council’s social media
reach through this project has been over 400,000 with over 50,000 direct
communications with businesses ranging from Covid-19 Business Advice, Table
and Chairs and licensing
Accelerate the building of affordable homes across the city, and sustainable
regeneration
• The Council’s affordable new build home construction programmes including
Craigmillar and Fountainbridge are back up and running in a Steady state
operation (physical distancing can be maintained and/or with PPE use)
Design and deliver a successor to the Edinburgh Guarantee
• The Council is actively engaging with leaders in the employability and skills
sector about how we support people back into jobs and positive destinations and
calling on key employers to partner with us on this. The launch of this is planned
for early November
Work with the organisations that make Edinburgh a global cultural capital to
re-think their programmes & ways of working to adapt to a changed operating
environment.
• To date we have released the Strategic Partners cultural grants to re-purpose
these resources towards crisis impact mitigation and planning actions going
forward
• Re-purposed the new arts & health project fund resources to a resilience fund to
be allocated via agreement by the Chief Executive and the Council Leaders.
• Progressed and awarded the Diversity and Inclusion Fund to ensure that the
allocated project resources would still go out to the sector’s artists and
practitioners to facilitate on-going creative development (projects being
deliverable in the Covid-19 environment)

4.20

Next steps require work to be undertaken to review the original scope of this
programme and an updated programme will be developed.
Change, People and Finance Working Group

4.21

The programme is made up of the following four workstreams: Change Strategy
and Finance; Digital and Smart City; People and Culture; and, Political and
Operational Governance. The delivery of agreed working group outcomes remains
on track and is progressing at pace. The current status of each workstream is
detailed below.

9

Page 89

4.22

The Change Strategy and Finance workstream is currently focussing on the
delivery of an in year balanced revenue budget and planning for the 2021 revenue
budget, as well as a refreshed ten-year Capital Budget Strategy. Risk is reducing in
relation to the attainment of a balanced in-year budget for 2020/21, although
significant uncertainties and pressures in key areas such as homelessness remain
and committing significant reserves to offset the loss of income and increased
expenditure the Council has faced this year has already been required. Additionally,
the increased savings requirements for 2021/22 will need to be addressed in the
business and budget planning process leading up to February’s Council budget
setting meeting. In parallel, and linked with this, a governance approach is being
finalised that will ensure a delivery focus is maintained to support the achievement
of a greater proportion of approved, pre-approved and new tactical and strategic
change proposals.

4.23

The Digital and Smart City workstream is currently developing a five-year
roadmap that will detail current and new initiatives to be progressed that align, and
support delivery of the outcomes agreed in the Digital and Smart City Strategy that
was approved at Policy and Sustainability Committee on 6 September 2020. There
are a number of significant digital initiatives in delivery and new initiatives being
progressed that are key to realisation of the strategy, including Phase 1 of the
Smart City Operations Centre, Phase 2 of Customer Digital Enablement and a
business case is being prepared in relation to 1:1 devices as part of our digital
learning and digital inclusion.

4.24

The People and Culture workstream is progressing a number of initiatives,
including delivery of the Scottish Local Government Living Wage consolidation as
part of the ‘Your Total Reward’ Project. Mobilisation activities are progressing in
advance of entry to the consultation phase of the project. Other initiatives being
taken forward within this project are development of a new People Strategy 20202024, the “Purpose Led Organisation” and ongoing essential learning and
development for employees.

4.25

Political and Operational Governance focus is currently on review and
developing operational governance enhancements, including delivery of a ‘best
assurance model’ for the Council, mobilisation of resource to support Directorates
implement open Internal Audit actions and progressing analysis activities in relation
to CLT decision making. In terms of Political Management arrangements, a report
will be prepared in relation to the near-term arrangements for Executive
Committees, including options for a ‘blended’ approach to delivery of these.

Life Chances
10

Page 90

4.26

The Life Chances Programme is made up of four workstreams all delivering against
the vision to make Edinburgh a fair and inclusive city with equal opportunities for all,
where all citizens benefit from the success of the city and no one is left behind.
The current status of each project/workstream is below:

4.27

The Immediate Support workstream delivered a close report at the beginning of
October, however, formal meetings will be stood up again in-line with the additional
restrictions placed by Scottish Government and a need to resume support to those
effected by Covid-19. An elected member briefing was issued on 19 October
detailing progress on this workstream and further discussions are taking place with
EVOC.

4.28

The Digital Learning & Teaching have been responding to immediate device
provision to schools and procurement of a mobile device management solution. A
1st draft of 1:1 business case was presented to the workstream for discussion and
next draft will be worked on and presented at the beginning of November. The
digital tools project is also underway.

4.29

The Poverty & Prevention workstream had an outline proposal for the Council’s
response to the Poverty Commission considered and endorsed by CLT at the
beginning of October. The APOG similarly considered these proposals on 27
October and have been offered individual group briefings. Officers are in the
process of engaging with relevant teams and stakeholders to further develop – in
particular, proposals around prevention and a new approach to service delivery.
The Prevention proposal is split into three areas (1) A new Service model for how
the council supports citizens. (2) A Whole system change collaborating with and
shaping the future workforce to deliver the preventative approach (3) Establishing a
new relationship with the 3rd sector to include how the Council contracts
commissions services. A full response to the Commission will be brought to Policy
and Sustainability Committee for consideration in December.

4.30

The Edinburgh Learns 4 Life workstream is progressing well and have agreed a
vision which is to create a world-class learning city where everyone is empowered
to develop their skills, knowledge, creativity and relationships with people and
places. To create an environment of collaboration that inspires connections through
learning for life. The next phase for the workstream is developing the outputs and
outcomes which they will present to the Officer Working Group in the coming
weeks.

11

Page 91

Cumulative Integrated Impact Assessment – Decisions taken from 15 May to
15 September 2020
4.31

During the period 15 May to 15 September, CIMT took 138 decisions (appendix 3a)
which are the subject of this report. In contrast to the types of decisions taken up to
June, which related to protecting citizens and staff and mitigating the impact of the
partial lockdown, the decisions taken in the second phase tended to relate to
continuing mitigation activities and the return to business as usual.

4.32

Of the 138 decisions, 30 were considered by Heads of Service to need an IIA. Of
the remaining 108, 22 related to mitigating the effect of the protective measures, 37
related to the return to business as usual (with no change to the previous
arrangements), 34 to administration and governance and the remaining 15 on a
range of topics from arrangements for staff continuing to work at home, to the
temporary use of a building.

4.33

Details of the cumulative assessment are provided in appendix 3b. The
predominant finding is the ongoing challenge of digital exclusion, as information and
resources are increasingly being made available online, including booking in
advance for visits to venues.

4.34

The restart of debt recovery activities is being mitigated by extending the period of
repayment and supported through signposting for help and advice, but this still has
the potential to increase stress and anxiety for people experiencing poverty

4.35

The reopening of a range of Council venues, resources and services will have a
positive impact on wellbeing, including opportunities for leisure and access to
greenspace for the general population. The partial resumption of services to support
young people who have been looked after and or who live in prioritised areas of
deprivation are also likely to have a positive impact on wellbeing. However, for all of
these reinstated services, the health protection measures in place to limit virus
transmission have resulted in reduced capacity. This may impact on people who do
not have access to the internet or phones to check access arrangements in
advance and those who do not live in the prioritised areas.

4.36

Due regard to the equality, rights, environment and economic impacts has been
given to the set of Covid-19 decisions. Council officers will use these findings and
the wider body of evidence to continue to inform the Adaptation and Renewal
Programme and the response to the Edinburgh Poverty Commission’s final report
so that equalities and rights are built in from the outset.

Budget Engagement Proposals

12

Page 92

4.37

Work is progressing on both closing the budget gap for this financial year and
preparing for the February budget. As with previous years, engagement forms a
central part of this work. This year presents a new context and timescale pressures
for the budget process. As such, a different approach to budget engagement has
been proposed below which first makes best use of the information sources already
available while recognising the necessary restrictions that result from the Covid-19
pandemic.

4.38

The following information sources are especially relevant:
4.38.1 The outputs and deliberations of the Poverty Commission. The Commission’s
work involved extensive, pre-Covid-19 face-to-face contact with individuals
currently experiencing poverty, poverty experts, and those who had
experienced poverty in the past. The Commission was especially concerned
with how the behaviour of city partners and the delivery of services could
reduce the incidence of poverty in Edinburgh.
4.38.2 The results of the 2020 joint-survey between the Council and the NHS. This
survey will interview 1,000 Edinburgh residents by telephone and is due to
conclude fieldwork in December 2020. The survey focuses on personal
experience of the coronavirus pandemic including use of Council and NHS
services, and preference for the future delivery of those services, including
by online methods and at collocated estates.
4.38.3 Feedback from previous years’ budget engagement from qualitative
engagement activities where residents have been asked to consider their
general priorities in the context of the Council’s overall spending, and have
considered specific choices relevant to the adaptation and renewal
programme

4.39

In addition to these previous information sources, it is proposed that the Council
launches an online survey to run from 11 November to 10 December 2020. This
engagement exercise will ask open questions about citizen’s experience of services
and prioritisation of outcomes in the context of a Covid-19 climate emergency. This
engagement will include targeted communications to representative groups through
EaRN and general support on Council social media. Efforts will be made to target
and promote the engagement to key groups including those who may be harder to
reach.

4.40

Analysis of existing information sources and the results of the engagement exercise
will be reported together to Finance and Resources Committee in January.

13

Page 93

5.

Financial impact

5.1

The financial impacts arising from this report are dealt with in the monitoring report
to Finances and Resources on 29 October.
Planning is underway to open an additional 4 Libraries as outlined in Section 4.9. It
is projected that this next tranche will also cost an additional £200k of revenue.

6.

Stakeholder/Community Impact

6.1

Stakeholder and community impacts are outlined in the cumulative impact
assessment (included as Appendix x).

7.

Background reading/external references

7.1

The evidence table in the cumulative impact assessment (included as Appendix 3)
provides links to sources.

7.2

Adaptation and Renew Programme Update, Policy and Sustainability Committee,
25 June 2020

8.

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Decisions taken from 13 September – 30 October 2020
Appendix 2 - Covid-19 Response Dashboard
Appendix 3a – Decisions covered under the Cumulative IIA
Appendix 3b – Cumulative Integrated Impact Assessment

14

Page 94

Ref.

D220

D221

APPENDIX 1_Decisions taken to date

Date

Spaces for People projects - Brunstane Primary School,
Craigentinny Primary School, Hermitage Park Primary School,
14/09/2020
Lorne Primary School, Parsons Green Primary School layouts
approved.
Service Adaptation Proposal C57 - Drug Treatment and Testing
18/09/2020
Order Service

D222

Service Adaptation Proposal C62 - Public Safety – inspecting
venues

18/09/2020

D223

Service Adaptation Proposal C66 - Engagement Locations for
Bin Review

18/09/2020

D224
D225
D226

Service Adaptation Proposal C67 - Resumption of requests for
organised running and orienteering activities
Service Adaptation Proposal C68 - Business Support Shared
Services – NE Locality Office 2 staff part time within office
building.
Service Adaptation Proposal C69 - Waste and Cleansing Staff
Return to Depot Offices

18/09/2020
18/09/2020
18/09/2020

D227

Service Adaptation Proposal C71 - Adult Learning Support
work for vulnerable groups across city

18/09/2020

D228

Service Adaptation Proposal C72 - ASL resource storage and
staff access to NE Locality Office

18/09/2020

D229

School meal provision from after October break

18/09/2020

D230

Walk Through Testing Centre at Usher Hall – paper approved;
members briefing to be issued

21/09/2020

D231

Proposal to Fund a Welcome Centre for Edinburgh’s Rough
Sleepers

21/09/2020

D232
D233

D234

D235

Service Adaptation Proposal - C80 Essential Driver Training
and CPC Training
Service Adaptation Proposal - Community access to secondary
school sport facilities - approved in principle subject to
confirmation of the projections for booking numbers and costs.
Service Adaptation Proposal - Re-start access to 3G and grass
pitches within the school estate for clubs with access to their
own changing facilities – agreed subject to risk assessments
being completed and that changing rooms and toilets should
not open
Elected Member Briefing on Libraries – agreed to issue with
addition of explanation of rationale for some libraries not

25/09/2020
28/09/2020

28/09/2020

28/09/2020
15

Page 95

opening due to space constraints and other council services
using buildings
D236

Update on temporary staff (libraries) – agreed to extend the
contracts to 3 January 2021

28/09/2020

D237

Service Adaptation Proposal - C76 – Face-to-Face Training
where essential

02/10/2020

D238

Service Adaptation Proposal - C83 – Gate 55 covid-19 testing
centre proposal

02/10/2020

D239

Use of School Sites for Flu Vaccination Drive Through
Programme – agreed to use of 2 sites (+ action A364)

02/10/2020

D240

Letter to Parents and Carers communication approved subject
to changes discussed.

02/10/2020

D242

Data Collation process for Test and Protect

05/10/2020

D241

Letters to Parents and Carers - approved

05/10/2020

D242
D243

D244

D245

D246

D247

D248

D249
D250

Service Adaptation Proposal - C70 – October holiday provision
for children with a disability and C74 – Resumption of holiday
care for primary aged children (agreed by CLT)
Edinburgh Flu Vaccination Delivery Plan. To promote flu
vaccinations to all Council staff that are eligible.
Service Adaptation Proposal C77 – Resumption of Community
Based Adult learning – Granton Recovery Programme.
Approved subject to discussing the reopening of adult learning
services.
Early Years Partner Providers – Critical childcare payments
Spaces for People Scheme Reviews - Silverknowes Road
North and Warriston Road – CIMT approved (Note 19/10:
Warriston Road not progressed as it is to be included in report
to T&E Committee)
Spaces for People Scheme Review – Victoria Street - to agree
that this would be taken to Transport and Environment
Committee for approval.
To continue free school meal provision as experienced earlier
in the year, including payment for the October, Christmas and
February holidays. Parent/carers would receive a retrospective
payment during next week for the October holiday.
Extra-curricular activities FAQs – agreed to issue subject to
amendment at 6a wording on volunteers
Spaces for People Scheme Review – Cammo Walk – CIMT
approved

07/10/2020
09/10/2020

09/10/2020

09/10/2020

16/10/2020

23/10/2020

21/20/20

26/10/2020
30/10/2020
16

Page 96

APPENDIX 2 - High Level Overview - Key Indicators

Impact on services

Week 42 - 12/10/2020-18/10/2020

Scottish Welfare Fund
The arrows in this section represent the change (increase ▲ or decrease ▼) from previous week

751
8

162

▲

Total Number of Grants
Applied for

£ 207,473

£39.1k

▲

Total number of applications by week

Total Amount of Grant Funds
Applied For

Crisis Grant

205

800

538

85

▲

Crisis Grant Application
Volumes

£ 100,708

£22.2k

▲

Crisis Grant Application Funds
Applied For

600

400

Community
Care Grant

205

538

74

▲

Community Care Grant
Application Volumes

£ 100,692

£12.9k

▲

Community Care Grant
Application Funds Applied For

200

0
Crisis and
Community
Care

30

8

3

▲

Crisis and Community Care
Grant Application Volumes

£

6,072

£4.0k

▲

Crisis and Community Care
Grant Application Funds
Applied For

32

July

33

34

35

36

37

Aug

38

39

40

Sep

Page 97

vulnerable contacts
last week

Sickness absence % across the Council

4.0%

vs last week

▼

-0.5%

Covid-19* related absence % across the Council

1.3%

vs last week

▼

0.0%

*Covid-19 absence includes the following categories:
COVID-19 - Can't return from travel
COVID-19 - Self isolating
COVID-19 - Care for a dependant
COVID-19 - Sick / infected
COVID-19 - School or office closure
COVID-19 - Shielding

538
8%

6%

538

4%

Recorded footfall in Council Resilience Centres

2%

▲

18

0%

34

35

36

vs last week

37

38

39

40

41

#N/A

Sickness absence

42
Aug

Covid-19 absence

41
Oct

HR

Contacts - Local Assistance Team and Contact Resilience Centres

160

31

42

Impact on services

Week 42 - 12/10/2020-18/10/2020

High Level Overview - Key Indicators
Adult Protection Contacts

Communities and families - Child Protection

60

2019

35

2020

33

40

36

2020

25
20

30

15
10

20

Adult
Protection
Contacts

2019

30

50

Number of Child
Protection Interagency
Discussions

10

0

30

31

32

33

July

*Figure for week 31 has been reviewed

34

35

36

37

Aug

38

39

40

41

Sep

42

5
0

30

31

32

33

July

34

35

36

37

Aug

38

39

40

Sep

Oct

Oct

HSC

118

504

Delayed discharges

175

Domiciliary waiting list

525

150
125

500

100
75

475

50

Page 98

25

450

31

0

30

31

32

33

July

34

35

36

37

Aug

38

Sep

39

40

41

42

32

33

July

34

35

36

37

Aug

38

39

40

41

Sep

42

Oct

Oct

Homelessness

Total number of new presentations (weekly average)
125

Total number of new presentations (weekly average)
vs last week
-6
▼
vs last year
-15
▼

77

2019

2020

100
75

50
25

Number of families in B&B
vs last week
vs last year

12

4
-10

▲
▼

0
30

31
July

32

33

34
Aug

35

36

37

38
Sep

39

40

41
Oct

41

42

42

Impact on services

Week 42 - 12/10/2020-18/10/2020

High Level Overview - Key Indicators

Covid-19

46,715

cases tested positive in Scotland

7,614

cases tested positive in NHS Lothian

4,695

cases tested positive in Edinburgh

2,609

patients who tested positive have died in Scotland

501

patients who tested positive have died in NHS
Lothian

269

patients who tested positive have died in
Edinburgh

Source: Public Health Scotland

Last update: 17/10/2020

Updates:

- The cumulative figures are now extracted from Public Health Scotland open data,
published daily.

Covid-19 deaths by setting in Scotland
30

25

- The figure for patients who tested positive and have died in Edinburgh is now made
available by PHS open data.

25
20
20

- The Covid-19 deaths by setting in Edinburgh is no longer published by NRS.

15

Page 99

- The data used to feed the charts in this page in now published monthly and uses a wider
definition of Covid-19 deaths, including all where Covid-19 was mentioned on the death
certificate.

10

8

7

7

6

5

10

38

39

5

3

5

11

2

0
30

31

32

33

July

34

35

36

37

Aug

Care Home

40

Sep

Home/ Non-institution

Hospital

41

42

Oct

Other institution

Total Covid deaths

Values shown for figures over 25

Total number of deaths in Edinburgh

Total number of deaths in Scotland

120

105

100

80
60

1400

73

64

64

64

63

73

105

75

69

73

74

69

73

70
70

73

65

63

65

63

1200
81

1000

78

73

1013

800

950

980

974

1035

1011

1035

958

1040

1042

1016

1022

1048

1046

1029

941

923

922
1051

919

1050
1174

1056

1040

600

40

400

20

200

0

1

0

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

3

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

July

Total Covid deaths

Aug

Sep

Total non-Covid deaths

Source: National Records of Scotland (NRS)

Oct

Total Edinburgh

8

7

5

3

6

7

2

5

11

10

20

25

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

0

0
42

July

Total Covid deaths

Aug

Sep

Total non-Covid deaths

Oct

Total Scotland

42

Impact on services

Week 42 - 12/10/2020-18/10/2020

High Level Overview - Key Indicators

Traffic Level - Weekly comparator
Source: Arterial Route
SCOOT Detector

Queensferry Rd / Clermiston Rd

London Road / Meadowbank Terrace

Vehicles per hour (daily mean)

Vehicles per hour (daily mean)

1200

600

1000

500

800

400

600

300

400

200

200

100

0

0
Mon

Tues

Wed

Thu

Fri

Sat

Sun

Page 100

Queensferry Road / Clermiston Road North
London Road / Meadowbank Terrace
Ferry Road / East Fettes Avenue
Morningside Station
Dalkeith Road / Blacket Avenue
Salamander Street / Seafield Place

Morningside Station
Vehicles per hour (daily mean)*

Thu

Fri

Sat

Sun

Thu

Fri

Sat

Sun

400

600
300

500
400

200

300
200

100

100
0
Mon

Tues

Wed

Thu

Fri

Sat

Mon

Sun

Tues

Wed

*Technical fault at Morningside out detector is being investigated

2019 - Week 42 commencing on 07/10/19

2019 Outbound

Wed

Vehicles per hour (daily mean)

0

2019 Inbound

Tues

Ferry Road/ East Fettes Avenue
700

6 traffic signal sites:

Mon

Dalkeith Road/ Blacket Avenue

Salamander Street/ Seafield Place

Vehicles per hour (daily mean)

Vehicles per hour (daily mean)
700

500

600

400

500

2020 - Week 42 commencing on 12/10/20

300

400

200

300
200

2020 Inbound
2020 Outbound

100

100

0

0
Mon

Tues

Wed

Thu

Fri

Sat

Sun

Some data is missing for week 42 due to outages in sensors across the city

Mon

Tues

Wed

Thu

Fri

Sat

Sun

Impact on services

Week 42 - 12/10/2020-18/10/2020

High Level Overview - Key Indicators

Traffic Level - Annual comparator
2019 and 2020 Traffic Levels shown at Daily Peak in each month

Sourc
e:

Source: Arterial Route
SCOOT Detector

Queensferry Rd / Clermiston Rd

London Road/ Meadowbank Terrace

Vehicles per hour (peak day) *
1400

Vehicles per hour (peak day)
600

1200

500

1000

400

800

300

600

200

400

100

200

0

0
Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Jan

Dec

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

* No Mar-Jul 2019 inbound data for Queensferry Rd / Clermiston Rd

6 traffic signal sites:

Page 101

Queensferry Road / Clermiston Road North
London Road / Meadowbank Terrace
Ferry Road / East Fettes Avenue
Morningside Station
Dalkeith Road / Blacket Avenue
Salamander Street / Seafield Place

2019

Sep

Peak around 1050 vehicles per hour

2019

Sep

Peak around 400 vehicles per hour

2020

Sep

Peak around 900 vehicles per hour

2020

Sep

Peak around 400 vehicles per hour

Ferry Road/ East Fettes Avenue

Morningside Station

Vehicles per hour (peak day)
800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0

Vehicles per hour (peak day)
600

Jan

Feb

Mar

500
400
300
200
100

0

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

2019 Inbound

2019

Sep

Peak around 550 vehicles per hour

2019

Sep

Peak around 300 vehicles per hour

2019 Outbound

2020

Sep

Peak around 550 vehicles per hour

2020

Sep

Peak around 350 vehicles per hour

Dec

2020 Inbound
2020 Outbound

16/3/20 - Non-Essential Travel
guidance
23/3/20 - Effective Lockdown

Dalkeith Road/ Blacket Avenue

Salamander Street/ Seafield Place

Vehicles per hour (peak day)
600

Vehicles per hour (peak day)*
800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0

500
400
300
200

29/5/20 - Move to Phase 1 of
easing lockdown

100
0

19/6/20 - Move to Phase 2 of
easing lockdown

Key dates

10/7/20 - Move to Phase 3 of
easing lockdown

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

*No data available for August 2019 - Inbound

2019

Sep

Peak around 450 vehicles per hour

2019

Sep

Peak around 500 vehicles per hour

2020

Sep

Peak around 350 vehicles per hour

2020

Sep

Peak around 650 vehicles per hour

Dec

Appendix 3a_ Decisions covered under the Cumulative IIA
Ref.
D85

Approved decisions
Community council grants recommendations approved

Date
18/05/2020

D86

Letter of comfort for Edinburgh Leisure approved

18/05/2020

D87

Free School Meals - Continue for next period until end of May
and then come back to CIMT.
Standing down Temporary Mortuary approved

18/05/2020

Approved - HR Case Management recommencement. CIMT
approved. KM will start the conversation with Unions.
Approved - payment of £160,000 to EVOC for the period to
8th June
Approved – Access to schools approved for 1 day a week
and full-time access granted from 5th June.

19/05/2020

Approved Decision – (CIMT & DIMT) From next week (w/c
25/05) Directorate IMT’s will be stood down and only have
CIMT. Directors will still hold SMT weekly meetings. H&SC IMT
will still operate on daily basis
Free School meals will be paid for the next two weeks (1st 2
weeks of June).
Approved Decision - Decision on Spaces for People schemes:
Warriston Road
Approved Decision - Decision on Spaces for People schemes:
Stanley Street/Hope Street
Approved Decision – Reopening of HWRCs

21/05/2020

Approved + action – (Working from Home) Briefing paper was
approved, with the detailed process for equipment to be
developed and factored into the communications SM
Approved - Spaces For People – Old Dalkeith Road and
Crewe Road South - Note from project team considered by AK,
PL and GB. Decision taken to implement both schemes now
that the consultation has taken place.
VIP Service for Urgent Coronavirus Enquiries – to continue the
service for a further 4 weeks and to discuss with Group
Leaders on Thursday.
Free School Meals – to pay for free school meals until end of
term (29 June)
Parking Permit Extensions – agreed to not extend parking
permits; agreed to take report on Strategic Review of Parking
to Policy and Sustainability Committee
Plant Sale at the Inch Nursery – agreed to proceed with plant
sale

26/05/2020

D88
D89
D90
D91
D92

D93
D94
D95
D96
D97

D98

D99

D100
D101

D102

18/05/2020

19/05/2020
19/05/2020

25/05/2020
26/05/2020
26/05/2020
26/05/2020

29/05/2020

01/06/2020

01/06/2020
01/06/2020

01/06/2020

17

Page 102

01/06/2020

D106

Parks and Greenspace Recommencement – agreed to
recommence grounds maintenance work across the city
Summer Embargo (on road works, usually done over the
festival period) – agreed to cancel the Summer Embargo in
2020
Permission to conduct marriage and civil partnership
ceremonies in specific circumstances (as in report)
Return to Work Plan – Roads Operations (as in report)

D107

Re-opening of car parks at beauty spots and city parks

04/06/2020

D108

04/06/2020

D112
D113

External Transport Providers – Supplier Relief Payments for
C&F & H&SC
City Chambers will be used for marriage and civil partnership
ceremonies (see D105)
Working Remotely during the Covid-19 outbreak: 3 decisions
re Payment of a working from home working allowance;
Collection and distribution of existing equipment from places of
work; and Purchasing of additional equipment resulting from
Display Screen Equipment (DSE) assessments.
Office staff working from home at least until October schools
break with final discussions re wording of communications on
Wednesday – LR/SM/MP to discuss (action A313)
Re-opening of Nicolson Sq. Gardens
To fund EVOC for this week and to review on Friday

D114

To pay free school meals until end of June.

08/06/2020

D115

Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (to proceed with
furloughing relevant staff). decision made in consultation with
Leader and Depute Leader to apply for support under the
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme for identified staff groups
in Cultural Services, Corporate Catering and Outdoor
Education
North Cairntow - Site Office Amenities (to be added to the list
of essential buildings identified for critical cleaning).
Agreed to the re-opening of non-essential construction sites.

10/06/2020

Agreed to getting back up and running the parking operations
in the phased way set out in the report.
Agreed to pay the Childminder payments for the next 3 months
(approx. £50k)
Agreed to pay EVOC to end of this week with an exit strategy
to be considered at CLT on Wednesday
Agreed to recommence debt recovery action from July as set
out in briefing note. Briefing to be circulated to members on this
Approved report recommendations in COVID 19 – Commercial
Property Investment Portfolio Update Report.

12/06/2020

D103
D104

D105

D109
D110

D111

D116
D117
D118
D119
D120
D121
D122

01/06/2020

04/06/2020
04/06/2020

08/06/2020
08/06/2020

08/06/2020

08/06/2020
08/06/2020

10/06/2020
12/06/2020

12/06/2020
15/06/2020
15/06/2020
15/06/2020
18

Page 103

D123
D124
D125

D126
D127
D128

D129
D130
D131
D132

D133
D134
D135
D136

D137
D138
D139

D140
D141

D142
D143

To pay for free school meals until 1 July as directed & to check
what other local authorities are doing
Agreed to proceed with Spaces for People Project as set out in
report
to proceed with the purchase of face coverings for staff (at cost
of £40k for 20k coverings to be contained within existing
budgets)
Spaces for People Project Approval (note: not proceeding with
South Bridge and George IV Bridge at this time.)
approved approach in Streamlined Permissions for Business
Using Outdoor Space briefing note.
approved next steps in Implication of the Government’s
PHASE 2 COVID-19 route map for public parks and green
spaces briefing
Garden Aid – to apply discount for the missed grass cuts at
cost of approx. £12k from existing budget
To make a further payment to EVOC of £40,000 for 22 June –
29 June for food distribution
To suspend the £50k Grant Application process indefinitely

15/06/2020

CLT decision - Early Years partner providers – Critical
childcare payments May 2020 - To approve the May payments
to partner providers in line with the process previously agreed
by CIMT on 02/04/20
agreed approach to considering supplier requests for
contractual relief
Spaces for People: Maybury Road

24/06/2020

Council Resilience Centres – approved proposal in report
Food Fund and Free School Meals Funding – agreed
recommendations – note that new FSM applications would not
be backdated to March
Customer - Customer Contact & Transactions – approved
proposal in report
South Queensferry Registration Office – proposal for birth
registrations approved
Financial impact of parking suspensions – agreed in principle
with losses to be minimised through design and to review midsummer.
agreed to not apply 3.3% uplift to Homelessness Third Sector
Provider
Allow East Princes Street Gardens to be used for queuing for
Waverley Station on conditions that there is no cost to the
Council and to be used only when necessary
Approved re-opening of Bonaly upper car park in principle and
to take to Service Ops Group on Wednesday 08/20
To issue large employers survey

26/06/2020
26/06/2020

15/06/2020
19/06/2020

19/06/2020
19/06/2020
19/06/2020

19/06/2020
19/06/2020
22/06/2020

26/06/2020
26/06/2020

26/06/2020
26/06/2020
29/06/2020

29/06/2020
03/07/2020

03/07/2020
03/07/2020
19

Page 104

D144

D145
D146

D147

D148
D149
D150

D151
D152

D153

D154

D155

D156

D157
D158

D159

to allow specific out of hours staff (e.g. social care, contact
centre) to use the back entrance to access Waverley Court
from the car park, providing they continue to sign in and out at
reception.
Spaces for People project – Cockburn Street and Victoria
Street.
Filming for fundraising campaign on Calton Hill was approved,
it is a confidential and private filming event which aims to raise
funds for “NHS Charities Together”.
Agreed to acceptance of new Queensferry High School and
handover can go ahead with final payment once handover
complete.
Supplier Relief – Stair Cleaning Service – to approve the June
2020 payment to the contractor.
Early Years partner providers – critical childcare payments to
be made for June 2020.
To agree to proceed with electrostatic cleaning for schools at
cost of approx. £60k, subject to consideration by the Public
Health Advisory Group.
Family Viewings t be allowed at Edinburgh City Mortuary.

06/07/2020

Taxi Licensing – to recommence services at Taxi Examination
Centre at Murrayburn, note that this location may be subject to
change at a later date
Lauriston Castle Café Concession - approved to reopen the
café concession with a new operator in the Gardens of the
Castle.
Application from the Edinburgh Art Festival to host an open-air
art installation in The Meadows during August 2020, approved
as deemed acceptable by Parks.
Grindlay Street Office re-opening proposal approved with
desks in CRCs where needed, to be agreed with Locality
Manager.
Visits by Police to those Shielding which the Council have
received no communications from was agreed, to double check
welfare of these citizens.
Health and Social Care Disabilities short breaks – Firrhill
Respite Centre - to use building for
Spaces for People Projects: Comiston Road, Corstorphine,
Dundee St – Fountainbridge, Ferry Road, Gorgie/Dalry, Great
Junction Street, Meadow Place Road, Morningside, Orchard
Brae Roundabout, Portobello, Stockbridge and Wester Hailes
Road
Learning Estate Capital Projects – approved recommendations

13/07/2020

06/07/2020
10/07/2020

10/07/2020

13/07/2020
13/07/2020
13/07/2020

13/07/2020

13/07/2020

13/07/2020

15/07/2020

15/07/2020

17/07/2020
17/07/2020

17/07/2020

20

Page 105

D160

Operational and Technical non-office-based teams at Cultural
Venues – to allow access to staff to undertake essential
contractor and maintenance related work
Places for People Projects - Bruntsfield and Tollcross
(discussed at CLT meeting and approved Leader and Deputy
Leader)
Family and Household Support Service Group 1 service
adaptation proposal – resumption of work

20/07/2020

D163
D164

to issue the Schools FAQs document
Asset Management Works Programme Restart

24/07/2020
27/07/2020

D165

27/07/2020

D168
D169

Suspension of Temporary Contract Standing Orders (CSOs) approved, subject to GK confirming if a report is required to go
the Policy and Sustainability Committee to reinstate the CSOs.
Supplier Relief – North Sighthill Mixed Tenure Housing
Development (Engie Regeneration)
Free Schools Meals – Final Payment for Period 7 August 2020
to 11 August 2020
Coronavirus (COVID-19): Deferral of Licensing Fees
Spaces for People Approvals : Road names

D170

Home to School Transport – COVID-19

31/07/2020

D171
D172

Exit from Additional Temporary Accommodation
VIP Process for Urgent Coronavirus Enquiries

31/07/2020
31/07/2020

D173

to proceed with spending on schools recruitment subject to
confirmation from Hugh that the costs are covered

03/08/2020

D174

Early Years Payments – Critical Childcare Provision

03/08/2020

D175
D176

Jack Kane Community Centre Opening Request
Magdalene Community Centre Opening Request

07/08/2020
07/08/2020

D177

07/08/2020

D178

Homelessness and Housing Support, providing Homeless
Prevention and Temporary Accommodation Service from 5
Council Resilience Centres
Film Edinburgh

D179

Food Distribution and Free School Meal Funding Update

07/08/2020

D180

approved release of WhatsApp for elected members and CLT
in line with risk assessments (agreed 06/08 by AK/SM)

07/08/2020

D181

Spaces for People Project Approval - East Craigs Low Traffic
Neighbourhood;
Early Years Partner Providers – Critical childcare payments
June 2020
Provider Sustainability Payments – agreed to make payments
in paper and report future payments to CIMT

10/08/2020

D161

D162

D166
D167

D182
D183

22/07/2020

24/07/2020

27/07/2020
31/07/2020
31/07/2020
31/07/2020

07/08/2020

10/08/2020
10/08/2020
21

Page 106

D184

to continue with SCDI membership from Econ Dev budget

10/08/2020

D184

to continue with SCDI membership from Econ Dev budget

10/08/2020

D185

No Recourse to Public Funds – Legal Position - agreed report
for HHFW committee and that it should be public

14/08/2020

D186

Rapid Rehousing Transition Plan – agreed report for HHFW
committee
Homelessness Services – Update - agreed report for HHFW
committee
Service Adaptation Proposal - Criminal Justice Social Work
Unpaid Work
Service Adaptation Proposal - Planning and building standards
(note that this will be reviewed at later date on whether service
continues to operate from this location)
Service Adaptation Proposal - Throughcare and aftercare,
looked after children
Service Adaptation Proposal - Homelessness & Housing
Support Advice Shop
Service Adaptation Proposal - Scottish Chamber Orchestra
Pre-Recording at Lauriston Castle for Doors Open Day

14/08/2020

Service Adaptation Proposal - Operation Unicorn – agreed to
hold approval for meeting in the event it is required but to
review at the time if necessary, regarding guidance on use of
buildings
Agreed to approve civic event for Riding of the Marches
(included in Service Adaptation Proposal - City Officers 14/08)
subject to confirmation that guidance will be followed and
approval by Andrew Mitchell and Bob Allan
Policy & Sustainability Committee meeting dates from Sept –
agreed to option 1; LR to confirm if these meetings fit with A&R
programme reporting
Spaces for People Project Approval – Kings Place

14/08/2020

Service Adaptation Proposal – City Art Centre and Cultural
Venues
Service and Adaptation Proposal – Reinstatement of Essential
Face-to-Face Learning and Development

21/08/2020

Service Adaptation Proposal – Resumption of outdoor,
including detached, Youth Work
Service Adaptation Proposal – Sandy’s Community Centre
Service Adaptation Proposal – Goodtrees Neighbourhood
Centre
Spaces for People Project Approval – Seafield Street and
Arboretum Place

21/08/2020

D187
D188
D189

D190
D191
D192
D193

D194

D195

D196
D197
D198
D199
D200
D201
D202

14/08/2020
14/08/2020
14/08/2020

14/08/2020
14/08/2020
14/08/2020

17/08/2020

17/08/2020

17/08/2020

21/08/2020

21/08/2020
21/08/2020
21/08/2020

22

Page 107

D203
D204

D205
D206
D207
D208
D209
D210
D211
D212
D213
D214
D215
D216

D217
D218

D219

D220

D221

Agreed to change from daily to weekly Covid-19 situation
reports for vulnerable and shielding enquiries
Agreed to proceed with service adaptation proposals for Face
to face social work with children and families, Additional Staff
for Housing Service within Council Resilience Centres and
Refugee and Migration Team, subject to use of buildings which
are currently in use only; to review capacity of CRCs and come
back if there are any issues meaning other buildings would be
required to open for services to resume
Re-opening of sport pitches leased directly from the City of
Edinburgh Council
Early Years partner providers and childminders – Critical
childcare payments July and August 2020
Hosting the Annual Field and Garden of Remembrance
Ceremony, Princes Street Gardens 2020
Children’s Entertainment Area Concession – Straiton Place
Park, Portobello
Lauriston Castle BBC Documentary Filming Request for 7 day
Access W/C 7 September 2020
C64 Edinburgh Flu Programme, West Princes Street Gardens
Spaces for People proposals: Pennywell Road, Buccleuch
Street, Causewayside
Health Protection Powers (COVID)
Reopening of Libraries paper
Service Adaptation Proposal - C63 - Elections
Service Adaptation Proposal - C60 – Customer - 6 Desks to
support Housing Property
Community Access to Schools – Briefing note to Elected
Members (would be updated to include information on rising
Covid-19 cases)
Spaces for People Project Proposal – Queensferry High
School
Briefing Note – Library Adaptation and Renewal 4 September
2020 (would be circulated after AK’s meeting with Cllr Wilson
today)
CIMT and CLT decision logs would be taken to the Risk Forum
to ensure decisions are implemented and the Operations
Managers would oversee them.
Spaces for People projects - Brunstane Primary School,
Craigentinny Primary School, Hermitage Park Primary School,
Lorne Primary School, Parsons Green Primary School
Spaces for People projects - Brunstane Primary School,
Craigentinny Primary School, Hermitage Park Primary School,
Lorne Primary School, Parsons Green Primary School

24/08/2020
24/08/2020

28/08/2020
28/08/2020
31/08/2020
31/08/2020
31/08/2020
04/09/2020
04/09/2020
04/09/2020
04/09/2020
07/09/2020
07/09/2020
07/09/2020

11/09/2020
11/09/2020

11/09/2020

14/09/2020

14/09/2020

23

Page 108

Appendix 3b:

Section 4 Integrated Impact Assessment
Summary Report Template
Each of the numbered sections below must be completed
Interim report

Final report

(Tick as appropriate)

1.
Title of proposal
COVID-19 Related Council Decisions Cumulative Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA)
2.
What will change as a result of this proposal?
138 decisions were taken by the Council Incident Management Team (CIMT) for the
period 15 May 2020 to 15 September 2020. During this period, the majority of decisions
shifted from mitigating the impact of lock-down, towards supporting a return to business as
usual. Of the 138 decisions, Heads of Service determined that 30 required an IIA, and
these are included in the cumulative IIA reported here.
The 30 decisions requiring an IIA related to:
• D115: Placing employees on furlough, in accordance with the terms of the UK
Government’s Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS)
• D121: Restart suspended debt recovery activity
• D136: Food Fund and Volunteer Edinburgh Network
• D171: Exit from Additional Temporary Accommodation
• D188: Reopening of Unpaid Work workshops to service users
• D190: Throughcare and Aftercare Service
• D199: Resumption of outdoor, including detached, Youth Work
• D213: Reopening of Libraries – first phase
A composite IIA covering the following Council Incident Management Team (CIMT)
decisions was carried out for the following decisions which relate to people’s access to the
public realm and to cultural venues:
• D101: Parking Permit Extensions – agreed to not extend parking permits; agreed to
take report on Strategic Review of Parking to Policy and Sustainability Committee
• D105: Permission to conduct marriage and civil partnership ceremonies in specific
circumstances (as in report)
• D128: Approved next steps in Implication of the Government’s PHASE 2 COVID-19
route map for public parks and green spaces briefing

24

Page 109

•
•
•

D141: Allow East Princes Street Gardens to be used for queuing for Waverley
Station on conditions that there is no cost to the Council and to be used only when
necessary
D178: Service Adaptation Proposal - Culture - Film Edinburgh
D197: Service Adaptation Proposal – City Art Centre and Cultural Venues

A composite IIA was also carried out for 16 decisions related to Spaces for People (Ds 94,
95, 98, 124, 126, 134, 144, 158, 161, 169, 181, 196, 202, 211, 217, 221)

3.

Briefly describe public involvement in this proposal to date and planned
None – emergency measures taken by the CIMT

4.

Is the proposal considered strategic under the Fairer Scotland Duty?
Yes. Socio-economic impacts are included in each IIA

5.

Date of Cumulative IIA
6 and 13 October 2020

6.

Who was present at the Cumulative IIA? Identify facilitator, Lead Officer,
report writer and any partnership representative present and main
stakeholder (e.g. NHS, Council)

Name

Job Title

Eleanor Cunningham
Ruth Baxendale

Lead Policy Officer
Senior Policy and Insight
Officer
Planning and
Commissioning Officer
Senior Policy and Insight
Officer
Senior Policy and Insight
Officer
Senior Policy & Insight
Officer
Transactions Team
Manager

Sarah Bryson
Ciaran McDonald
Fiona MacLeod

Garry Sneddon
Kate Stevenson

7.

Date of IIA
training
May 2018
IIA Trainer

IIA Trainer
December 2019
May 2018

26 August 2020

Evidence available at the time of the Cumulative IIA

25

Page 110

Evidence

Available – detail source

Data on
populations in
need

Covered in individual IIAs

Data on service
uptake/access

As above

Data on socioeconomic
disadvantage e.g.
low income, low
wealth, material
deprivation, area
deprivation.

As above

As above - N/A for
cumulative IIA

Data on equality
outcomes

As above

As above - N/A for
cumulative IIA

Research/literature
evidence

Yes – range of sources on the
impact of COVID19 e.g. Public
Health England, COVID19:
understanding the impact on BAME
communities, June 2020

The infection rate, health
outcomes, economic and
social effects of the virus
vary enormously, reflecting
underlying health and social
inequalities.

Improvement Service: Poverty,
Inequality and COVID-19;
Edinburgh Poverty Commission:
Poverty and Coronavirus in
Edinburgh – Final Report
September 2020

Covid-19 (Impact on Equalities and
Human Rights): Scottish Parliament

Page 111

Comments: what does the
evidence tell you with
regard to different groups
who may be affected?
N/A for cumulative IIA. The
purpose of the cumulative IIA
is to consider whether any
impacts arise as a result of
the cumulative effect of
smaller impacts identified
within individual IIAs. These
individual IIAs have
considered the appropriate
evidence in relation to the
corresponding IIAs on Covid19 related Council decisions.
As above - N/A for
cumulative IIA

Groups at higher risk of
adverse impact include: older
people (digital exclusion,
loneliness), young people,
women and certain BAME
groups; children and young
people (impact on education
and employment); females
(domestic abuse; lone
parents, more likely to have
26

Evidence

Available – detail source

Equalities and Human Rights
Committee 28 May 2020; Inequality
and Covid-19, Institute for Fiscal
Studies, 30/04/2020

COVID-19 the impacts of the
pandemic on inequality, Institute for
Fiscal Studies, June 2020
The Impacts of COVID-19: An
Overview of the Research to Date,
Improvement Service, updated July
2020

Coronavirus (COVID-19): Scottish
Government equality and Fairer
Scotland impact assessment, July
2020
Scottish Government, Coronavirus
(COVID019) impact on equality –
researchhttps://www.gov.scot/public
ations/the-impacts-of-covid-19-onequality-in-scotland/, September
2020
COVID-19 Shielding Programme
(Scotland) Impact and Experience
Survey, September 2020

Page 112

Comments: what does the
evidence tell you with
regard to different groups
who may be affected?
taken on domestic and caring
responsibilities in the home
following service closures;
BAME women are also at
risk of domestic abuse and
additionally face technology,
language and literacy
barriers); people with
disabilities or long term
conditions; people in or near
poverty (re access to ICT,
financial cushion via savings,
access to shops, access to
green space); LGBT groups,
who already experience
higher levels of loneliness
and poor mental health and
young gay men have a
higher risk of suicide; people
in insecure and poor
housing, in shared
accommodation, or who are
homeless; refugees and
asylum seekers.

COVID-19 evidence
gathered for the Scottish
Government’s Equality
Impact and Fairer Scotland
Duty Assessment, July 2020,
which are relevant to the IIAs
include:
Poverty: greater risk for
women, disabled people,
minority ethnic people, lone
parents and children and
young people; people on low
incomes are at a greater risk
of digital exclusion. Mental
health has worsened
substantially as a result of
COVID-19, in particular,
27

Evidence

Available – detail source

Joseph Rowntree Foundation,
Briefing: Poverty in Scotland 2020
Digital and Smart City Strategy
reported to Policy and
Sustainability, October 2020

https://scvo.org.uk/digital

Comments: what does the
evidence tell you with
regard to different groups
who may be affected?
young adults and
women/pregnant women,
single parents, older people,
children and young people.
Public transport is usually
used more by socioeconomically disadvantaged
people, young people,
women, disabled people and
minority ethnic people.
Playgrounds and gardens:
opening of these areas will
benefit younger people and
families with children and
older people.
Registration offices: reduce
backlogs; provide
reassurance to new parents;
provide parental
responsibilities and rights to
unmarried fathers and
second female parents who
are not in a registered
relationship and allow more
marriages and civil
partnerships to take place.

Office for National Statistics 2019
publication “Exploring the UK’s 2
digital divide.

Digital equality – SCVO Confidence, skills, access
and affordability may prevent
people from being online.

The lived experience of food
insecurity under Covid-19 (Food
Standards Agency), July 2020

Office for National Statistics
2019 publication “Exploring
the UK’s”digital divide.

Health and mental health
challenges (diagnosed and
undiagnosed); up to 70% of those in
Shielded and Vulnerable Group
were experiencing chronic health

Evidence that socioeconomic
status and household income
are strong determinants of
whether people have the
knowledge, skills and
28

Page 113

Evidence

Available – detail source

issues prior to Covid-19; with 65%
long-term mental health issues.

The lived experience of food
insecurity under Covid-19 (Food
Standards Agency), July 2020

Comments: what does the
evidence tell you with
regard to different groups
who may be affected?
confidence to access public
services online
Some sections of the
population were subject to
unmet need by way of
limitations around food
options and availability,
including;
Provision of Halal,
intolerances (lactose),
vegan/vegetarian.
Social, economic and
behavioural Impact of Covid19 on food insecurity;
• Elimination of social food
sharing - many had
previously counted on
meals with others (e.g. a
family Sunday roast) to
stretch their weekly food
budgets
• Struggling to afford
supermarket delivery fees
• Reduced access to
‘budget’ shops and not
being able to ‘bargain
shop’ - the inability to
reliably access preferred
supermarkets increased
costs
• Increased competition for
‘value’ and ‘budget’
brands - cheaper items
were often already taken
by others, leaving only
expensive branded items
• Price increases by shops
which charged more for
basics when Covid-19 hit
29

Page 114

Evidence

Available – detail source

Public/patient/client Covered in individual IIAs
experience
information

Comments: what does the
evidence tell you with
regard to different groups
who may be affected?
As above - N/A for
cumulative IIA

Evidence of
inclusive
engagement of
people who use
the service and
involvement
findings

As above

As above - N/A for
cumulative IIA

Evidence of unmet
need

See above –
Research/literature / evidence

See above –
research/literature evidence

Good practice
guidelines

Covered in individual IIAs

As above - N/A for
cumulative IIA

Carbon emissions
As above
generated/reduced
data
Environmental data As above
Risk from
cumulative impacts

As above - N/A for
cumulative IIA

Information on impacts for each set
of decisions provided by the
relevant Heads of Service have
been used to undertake this
cumulative impact assessment.

As above - N/A for
cumulative IIA
Information on impacts for
each set of decisions
provided by the relevant
Heads of Service have been
used to undertake this
cumulative impact
assessment.

Other (please
specify)
Additional
evidence required

8.

In summary, what impacts were identified, and which groups will they affect?

Equality, Health and Wellbeing and Human Rights

Affected populations

Positive
30

Page 115

Extended repayment schedule for people who are in debt
to the Council, as well as signposting, will help to mitigate
against poverty. Arrangements with the third sector to
provide food to address food insecurity and food poverty
was a mitigating action which has benefitted a wide range
of groups known to be at risk of poverty or vulnerability.
Moving on arrangements for people who had been rough
sleeping and in temporary accommodation were provided
with transfers to alternative accommodation.

People at risk or
experiencing poverty or
vulnerable through
frailty, ill health or
complex needs,
including people in
ethnic minorities through
provision for specific
dietary requirements e.g.
halal meat.

The phased reopening of facilities including libraries,
cultural venues, playgrounds and greenspace will provide
opportunities for people including: access to the internet,
national entitlement cards and hearing aids through
libraries; crisis support from the Throughcare and
Aftercare team; access of outdoor youth work activities
and contact with youth workers targeted at people in
prioritised areas of deprivation; access to culture and
leisure opportunities and green space; opportunities to be
married or have a civil partnership ceremony in certain
circumstances.

Young people who have
been looked after;
people at risk of or
experiencing poverty,
including digital
exclusion; people with
mental health issues;
older people, people with
disabilities; families;
couples.
All people; older people;
people with disabilities;
children and young
people

•

The temporary measures put in place during the
Covid-19 crisis through the Spaces for People
initiative provide space for people to exercise, to
travel safely around the city and for people to shop
and to reduce risk to people who use the road to
travel or exercise.

Negative
The phased reopening of the libraries has prioritised
larger buildings where social distancing is easier, in line
with public health advice, but this meant that libraries in
areas of deprivation have not yet been reopened. This is
intended as the priority for the next phase but has the
effect of delaying ready-access to people who are more
likely to be digitally excluded or to rely on public
transport.
Online booking and appointment systems in place in
venues may disadvantage people without access to the
internet.

People at risk of or
experiencing poverty,
people with caring
responsibilities,
health/mental health
issues, domestic abuse
and debt. People with
young families.
People at risk of or
experiencing poverty;
older people; children
and young people

Information on sources of support and access criteria e.g. People from black and
minority ethnic groups
for food, and for changes to provision may not reach
31

Page 116

people who are digitally excluded, have low levels of
literacy or those whose use of English is limited.
The Spaces for People initiatives might present barriers
to older people who are frail or people who are disabled
who rely on car access and parking near to their
destination. There is also a risk of tripping hazards which
might affect, in particular, people with poor vision
(mitigating actions have been included in the IIA).
Environment and Sustainability including climate
change emissions and impacts
Positive
Increased use of public transport and active travel and
the reduction in the use of Council buildings and library
vans reduces carbon emissions.

People with disabilities
and older people

Affected populations

All

Negative
The phased reopening of buildings will be accompanied
by an increase in water, energy for heating and lighting
and materials including paper.

Economic including socio-economic disadvantage
Positive
There are benefits to the Council through increased
income as services resume on a partial basis, including
parking charges, library charges and retail sites in venues
including the City Art Centre and recovery of debts.
Businesses may benefit from increased foot fall through
safer extended pavements through the Spaces for
People.

Affected populations

Council service users
(through more financially
sustainable council)
Businesses
People at risk of or
experiencing poverty

Businesses out with the city centre may benefit from
increased custom as those working from home shop and
use other services locally.
The range of online materials developed and expanded
through the lockdown period in library services are free to
use.

32

Page 117

Negative
Resumption of actions to recover debt, albeit mitigated
through extended repayment period may have an
adverse impact on people at risk of or experiencing
poverty
There may also be a negative impact on businesses
through the parking restrictions introduced through
Spaces for People.

Businesses
People at risk of or
experiencing poverty

9. Is any part of this policy/ service to be carried out wholly or partly by contractors
and if so, how will equality, human rights including children’s rights,
environmental and sustainability issues be addressed?
•

Creating Safe Spaces for Walking and Cycling (Spaces for People) - The
majority of actions in the plan will be carried out by in-house Council services.
Where contractors are used, as part of the Council’s procurement process due
regard is required to be given to all equalities and right, environmental and
sustainability impacts when undertaking work on behalf of the Council.

•

Network Rail are responsible for all arrangements and rights assessments for
East Princes Street Gardens.

•

NSL are responsible for delivering the parking service in line with the Council’s
contract with them. This is monitored on an on-going basis.

•

Mimi’s are responsible for the catering within the City Art Centre and any
associated impacts.

•

Bethany and Streetwork partly staffed and funded the Care Shelter along with
Scottish Government and Council funding. Streetwork provided staff for the
Cairn and was funded by Council and the Scottish Government.

•

Food Distribution Network created and delivered in partnership with EVOC,
including 27 individual third sector organisations and Volunteer Edinburgh.
Partnership approach to addressing equality, human right, including socioeconomic disadvantage, environmental and sustainability issues is described
above.

10. Consider how you will communicate information about this policy/ service
change to children and young people and those affected by sensory
impairment, speech impairment, low level literacy or numeracy, learning
difficulties or English as a second language? Please provide a summary of the
communications plan.
33

Page 118

The majority of decisions were communicated using existing means including using
interpretation services where English is not an individual’s first language.
For example, the City Art Centre used e-communications, social media, press
releases and changes for ceremonies were communicated through the Council
website and National Records Office (NRS).
All employees placed on furlough were notified in writing and through line
management structures. If individuals required additional support, managers will have
ensured that those colleagues had read and understood the information and engaged
the Council’s Interpretation and Translation Services if necessary.
Network Rail are responsible for all communications for East Princes Street Gardens.
Creating Safe Spaces for Walking and Cycling (Spaces for People) – a
communications plan is being developed.
Information about the food distribution was also communicated through Edinburgh
Voluntary Organisation Council (EVOC).

11. Is the policy likely to result in significant environmental effects, either positive
or negative? If yes, it is likely that a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) will
be required and the impacts identified in the IIA should be included in this.
Not applicable as these are short-term measures, taken during the respond phase.
12. Additional Information and Evidence Required
If further evidence is required, please note how it will be gathered. If
appropriate, mark this report as interim and submit updated final report once
further evidence has been gathered.
As noted above, these decisions relate to decisions taken during the respond phase.
Learning from their implementation, including the adverse impacts identified and
summarised above, and through service area debriefing sessions.
13. Specific to this IIA only, what recommended actions have been, or will be,
undertaken and by when? (these should be drawn from 7 – 11 above) Please
complete:

34

Page 119

Specific actions (as a result of
the IIA which may include
financial implications, mitigating
actions and risks of cumulative
impacts)
The Adaptation and Renewal
Programme Boards should
consider lessons learned from this
cumulative IIA as part of its
consideration of wider service
reform and endeavour to ensure
equalities is mainstreamed
throughout Council’s recovery
plan.
A national expert advisory board
on Social Renewal has been
established to drive progress
towards a fairer, more equal
Scotland in the wake of the
coronavirus pandemic. We will
reflect on emerging findings and
build these into our future work on
poverty and inequality.

Who will take
them forward
(name and job
title

Deadline for Review
progressing date

SROs for the
Adaptation and
Renewal
Programme

In line with
Adaptation
and
Renewal
Programme

In line with
Adaptation
and
Renewal
Programme

SROs for the
Adaptation and
Renewal
Programme

In line with
Adaptation
and
Renewal
Programme

In line with
Adaptation
and
Renewal
Programme

14.

Are there any negative impacts in section 8 for which there are no identified
mitigating actions?
No.

15.

How will you monitor how this proposal affects different groups, including
people with protected characteristics?

The Adaptation and Renewal Programme will have oversight of monitoring activities.
16.

Sign off by Head of Service
Name

17.

Date

Publication
Completed and signed IIAs should be sent to
strategyandbusinessplanning@edinburgh.gov.uk to be published on the IIA directory
on the Council website www.edinburgh.gov.uk/impactassessments

35

Page 120

Agenda Item 7.2
Policy and Sustainability Committee

10am, Tuesday 10 November 2020

Short Window Improvement Plan Progress Update
Item number
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

1.

Recommendations

That the Committee note 1.1

the update on progress towards delivery of the Council’s Sustainability Short
Window Improvement Plan, and that future updates on specific actions will be
reported to the appropriate Council Committee,

1.2

timeline for development of a 2030 sustainability strategy for the city, including a
report outlining high-level priorities to be brought to Committee in December,

1.3

the development of a Carbon Scenario Tool and phased approach to roll-out, and

1.4

that a proposed approach to reporting on the Council’s 2030 net zero target will be
brought to Committee in December, ahead of the first progress report on the 2030
target, due in March 2021.

Andrew Kerr
Chief Executive
Contact: Paula McLeay, Policy and Insight Senior Manager
E-mail: paula.mcleay@edinburgh.gov.uk| Tel: 07903 721805

Policy and Strategy Committee – 6 October 2020Page

121

Page 1

Report

Short Window Improvement Plan Progress Update
2.

Executive Summary

2.1

This report provides a summary of progress on delivering the sustainability
improvement actions set out in the Council’s sustainability Short Window
Improvement Plan (SWIP), which was agreed by Committee in October 2019.

2.2

The SWIP comprises 37 actions, including 8 priority actions, which cut across 14
service areas. Of these 37 actions:
•

9 are complete, with future delivery and reporting arrangements in place

•

13 are making good progress, with minimal delays solely due to unavoidable
Covid impacts

•

15 are facing slightly more significant delays, but with mitigation/management
actions in place

2.3

Further detail on progress, the impact of Covid, carbon impact, and next steps are
provided at Annex A.

2.4

The SWIP details improvement actions which are in addition to the Council’s core
sustainability activity. An update on that wider sustainability programme was
provided to Committee on 23 July, and will be followed by reports to December
Policy and Sustainability Committee outlining the approach to development of a
2030 sustainability strategy for the city, and for reporting on the 2030 net-zero
target.

2.5

The report also provides an update on the development of a Carbon Scenario Tool,
designed to support tracking progress towards the Council’s 2030 target, and to
provide information on the carbon and other impacts of major projects, in order to
support Council decision-making.

3.

Background

3.1

In May 2019, the Council set an ambitious target for the city to become net-zero by
2030. As part of the sustainability programme which was subsequently developed,
the Policy and Sustainability Committee agreed a ‘Short Window Improvement Plan’
(SWIP) in October 2019. The plan looked across the work of the Council and
identified a set of actions which the Council could initiate within a short timeframe, in
order to immediately improve the organisation’s approach to sustainability.

Page 122

3.2

As such, the SWIP represents additional action on sustainability which
complements the mainstreaming of the carbon target into major programmes
already underway and in development across the organisation. These wider
programmes were described in the sustainability programme update provided to
committee on 23 July and include – decarbonising transport; city development;
sustainable urban regeneration; housing; citizen engagement; and innovation
through participation in the Climate KIC Healthy Clean Cities Deep Demonstrator
programme.

3.3

This wider activity will help inform the Council contribution to a city-wide 2030
sustainability strategy which is currently being developed with partners. The
strategy will draw on the Council’s programme of sustainability-focused
engagement with citizens and partners, including a Youth Summit held in February
2020, the launch of Edinburgh Talks Climate (an online citizen dialogue which will
continue into autumn 2021), and a civil society online engagement event held in late
summer 2020. Further engagement is planned over the coming months and as part
of formal consultation on the sustainability strategy.

3.4

Following agreement of a draft strategy by P&S Committee in the new year, public
consultation on a draft strategy will take place in spring/summer 2021 ahead of the
final strategy being formally launched in autumn 2021 to coincide with CoP26 being
hosted in Scotland. An update on the strategy’s development, including outline
strategic priorities informed by the Carbon Scenario Tool, will be brought to
Committee in December.

3.5

The strategy will guide Council and city partner action on climate change in pursuit
of the net-zero by 2030 ambition. A proposed approach to tracking progress on the
2030 target, including baseline scope and reductions trajectories to 2030, will be
brought to Committee in December, ahead of the first progress report on the new
target due in March 2021. A timeline for the strategy’s development is provided at
Annex B.

4.

Main report
Short Window Improvement Plan

4.1

The SWIP comprises 37 actions, which cut across all 14 of the Council’s major
service areas. Within those 37 actions, eight high impact actions were identified
across the programme, covering transport, housing, procurement, education and
tourism.

4.2

Of the 37 actions:
•

9 of the commitments are complete, with future delivery and reporting
arrangements in place (RAG blue)

•

13 are making good progress, with minimal delays solely due to unavoidable
Covid impacts (RAG green)

•

15 are facing slightly more significant delays, but the plan identifies
mitigation/management actions in place (RAG amber)

Page 123

•
4.3

0 are delayed and require immediate intervention (RAG red)

A full description of all 37 improvement actions, along with updates on progress and
RAG ratings, are detailed at Annex A.
High Impact SWIP actions

4.4

4.5

Eight SWIP actions were identified as high priority. Of those eight:
•

2 are complete, with future delivery and reporting arrangements in place (RAG
blue)

•

3 are making good progress, with minimal delays solely due to unavoidable
Covid impacts (RAG green)

•

3 are facing more significant delays, but with mitigation/management actions in
place (RAG amber)

•

0 are delayed and require immediate intervention (RAG red)

Significant progress has been made across high-impact actions in relation to
sustainable housing, procurement, engaging young people and city mobility. Detail
on progress towards those, and all other SWIP actions, is provided at Annex A.
This report focuses where there have been particular challenges and a summary of
progress towards high-impact actions rated as amber is given below.
Transport
4.5.1

(T4) Expand and accelerate measures to reduce pollution and improve air
quality (RAG amber)
The expansion and acceleration of pre-Covid plans has been significantly
impacted by the pandemic. Open Streets events were cancelled altogether
this summer. Plans for resuming events in the future have been developed
and are being kept under review. In the interim, Spaces for People will deliver
temporary improvements to public realm and active travel routes in response
to Covid 19, these measures will be kept under review and may become
permanent. Further acceleration and/or expansion of City Centre
Transformation projects will require significant external funding and the
development of associated business cases.
Progress has been made in relation to Low Emissions Zones and the Council
is working with Scottish Government and other partners to develop a LEZ,
which will be reported to T&E Committee. The Council has also been
successful in securing the full £450K revenue grant for Smarter Choices,
Smarter Places, which will deliver a programme of projects focusing on
behaviour change, active travel, and reducing single occupancy car use.

4.5.2 (T6) Expand and accelerate provision of electric vehicle charging
infrastructure, beginning with Council facilities (RAG amber)
Phase 1 of the Electric Vehicle (EV) On-Street Charger Project will see a
total of 66 chargers installed. These include rapid, fast and slow chargers,
located across 14 hubs within the city. The Council was successful in
securing £2.3m of funds through Transport Scotland for May 2019-2021 to

Page 124

support this expansion. To mitigate delays to the project which were
compounded by Covid, the Council acted to secure accrual agreement,
ensuring the funds are available over a longer three-year period. The project
is now entering the procurement and installation phase, with a procurement
plan in place and the market being engaged in Autumn/Winter 2020.
Phase 2 of the project identified a need for a further 145 on-street chargers.
The size, type of charger and locations will be subject to a feasibility study
and rolled out line with our City Mobility Plan. The Council will also explore
options for future transport infrastructure, including mapping, designing and
exploring a business case for public and private sector investment in city
wide EV infrastructure - sited to support a ‘to, not through’ approach to
private vehicles as part of an integrated public transport network. Future
updates will be provided to the T&E Committee.
Tourism
4.5.3 (Tr17) Finalise a new tourism strategy for Edinburgh to focus on a
sustainable approach to the visitor economy (RAG amber)
The Council endorsed a new tourism strategy in January 2021, which
includes “our environment” as one of its five core themes. In response to the
Covid pandemic and associated lockdown, a Tourism and Hospitality Sector
Recovery Plan was approved by Committee in June 2020, and recovery
continues to be the main concern of the sector. Implementation of the
Tourism strategy agreed in January will be impacted as a result; however, in
June the Committee also approved a recommendation that the recovery of
tourism must be in line with the Council’s 2030 climate target. The work the
Council carries out in this sector will focus on supporting a fair and green
recovery from Covid, with this being overseen through the Council’s
Adaptation and Renewal Programme.
Remaining 29 SWIP actions
4.5.4 In addition to the eight high-impact SWIP actions described above, a further
29 relate to additional activities across planning, transport, housing,
energy/operational estate, education, culture, economic development, waste
and recycling, greenspace, biodiversity, exemplar organisation, and
communities and partners.
4.5.5 Of these 29: 7 are complete (blue), 10 are making good progress (green), 12
are experiencing more significant delays (amber), and 0 require immediate
intervention (red). Full details for each action and progress towards it are
provided at Annex A and progress is summarised by theme below.
4.5.6 Planning: Good progress has been made, including the completion and
approval of a new Design Guide, and Choices for City Plan 2030 scheduled
to be presented to Committee in December 2020.
4.5.7 Transport: Replacement of diesel vehicles with electric vehicles is delayed by
approximately 6 months, but over 50 electric vans and cars have been added
to the Council fleet, and additional procurement is underway.

Page 125

4.5.8 Housing: Review of the City Deal skills programme proposals to deliver lowcarbon construction skills is complete, with anticipated positive impacts on
employability and upskilling.
4.5.9 Energy/Operational Estate: Target buildings are being identified for
installation of solar PV hardware during the 2021 works programmes, and
funding is in place to assess the feasibility of deep energy retrofit in the
Council’s operational estate. In addition, Passivhaus energy efficiency
standards have been formalised as a design requirement, and several
Passivhaus projects are under development. Progress on climate adaptation
of the operational estate has slowed due to Covid 19.
4.5.10 Education: The replacement of water coolers in schools with plumbed-in
drinking water has been slowed due to Covid while contractors were
furloughed.
4.5.11 Arts, Culture, Festivals: A draft protocol is being developed for culture venue
owners to ensure greater emphasis on sustainability, and all Strategic
Partner funding agreements for 2020/21 include Carbon Management Plan
commitments.
4.5.12 Economic Development: Plans are in place to ensure further development of
partnerships for businesses in the sustainability and circular economy
sectors, and mainstreaming of sustainability in conferences and conventions
industry post-Covid.
4.5.13 Waste & Recycling: Phase 1 of Communal Bin Enhancement is expected to
roll-out in January 2021, with completion expected early 2022. Business
Gateway continue to support Edinburgh Social Enterprise Network to
promote community repair and refurbishment services.
4.5.14 Parks, Greenspace & Cemeteries: The Thriving Greenspaces project
anticipates launching final consultations and reporting to Committee between
January-May 2021.
4.5.15 Biodiversity/Green Infrastructure: A Local Development Spatial Plan that will
enhance ecological networks for carbon sequestration and a new biodiversity
policy for the LDP are being developed for December 2020. A draft Water
Management Vision is due to be presented to T&E Committee in November
2020.
4.5.16 Organisational: A Carbon Scenario Tool, which enables carbon footprinting of
major projects, has been developed and is in testing. Ongoing
communication and engagement to raise staff awareness of sustainability
issues and support more sustainable choices in both professional and
personal life is in place. Action to progress towards paperless working and to
remove single use plastics from Waverley Court has been progressed and
will be re-visited as post-Covid working practices allow.
4.5.17 Communities & Partners: With the exception of participatory budgeting,
(which will be reviewed as part of the Adaptation & Renewal Programme), all
actions are on track with minor delays due to Covid, or complete.

Page 126

Strategic challenges
4.6

The SWIP actions show progress across the board, despite some being impacted
by service restrictions, re-direction of staff capacity, or other challenges related to
the impact of the Covid pandemic and associated lockdown on the Council and its
partners. Areas which remain challenging include:
4.6.1 Tourism – moving from adaptation and renewal, to full implementation of the
new Tourism Strategy (developed prior to Covid)
4.6.2 Procurement – moving from the new sustainable procurement strategy to
shifts in purchasing behaviour within the changed operating environment
presented by Covid
4.6.3 Planning – ensuring changes within planning guidance lead to sustainability
improvements within the post-Covid development context
4.6.4 Organisational change – ensuring ‘leading by example’ improvements, such
as paperless working and reducing single-use plastics, can be maintained
within the new working environments emerging post-Covid
4.6.5 Mainstreaming sustainability – developing the tools and capacity to ensure
sustainability is mainstreamed throughout all that the Council does

4.7 These challenges will be addressed through both the Council’s Adaptation and
Renewal Programme and action at the individual service level, and will require the
balancing of issues including best value, carbon impact, sustainable economic
growth and tackling inequalities. Mainstreaming sustainability will be supported by
the development of a ‘Carbon Scenario Tool’ designed to support greater
consideration of sustainability issues within key Council decisions and described in
the remainder of this report.
Carbon Scenario Tool (CST)
4.8 The Council has worked with Edinburgh Centre for Carbon Innovation to develop a
‘Carbon Scenario Tool’ which will support city-wide and Council-specific emissions
footprinting, enabling tracking towards the Council’s 2030 target with the first
progress report against the new target due in March 2021.
4.9 The tool will also support greater consideration of sustainability issues within key
Council decisions by providing data on the carbon consequences of different
proposed projects or programmes, and where possible, assessing their impact on
other factors such as air quality - allowing for greater transparency and comparison
between different options.
4.10 The tool generates a dashboard report which can show a range of different
indicators, including but not limited to :
4.10.1 Embodied carbon – the amount of carbon generated in the creation or
construction of project components (be they houses, cars or other
infrastructure)
4.10.2 Capital cost – the total capital cost associated with the project
4.10.3 Operational carbon – the amount of carbon the project will generate over a
year and the cumulative impact of this by 2030

Page 127

4.10.4 Other sustainability indicators – these are graded positive or negative
judgements based on available information; they are not currently quantified
using more specific metrics due to the difficulty in considering for example,
air quality indicators and measures of poverty, in a way which supports
meaningful relative comparisons
4.11

Additional items which can be featured in the dashboard include annual energy and
travel cost savings, and the contribution of individual carbon reduction projects to
the city-wide and/or Council emissions.

4.12

The CST is currently at the testing stage and officers have applied it to elements of
the SWIP, focusing on retro-fit of Council-owned housing initially, to generate
sample outputs as an example of what the tool can generate. These have been
shared with the Climate Emergency and Sustainability APOG through a briefing on
the CST, with the same briefing currently being offered to political groups.

4.13

Officers from across the Council are working together to refine both the data which
is input to the tool and the outputs which are produced. This will include making
improvements to data visualisation to ensure outputs are useable within a range of
contexts and will have maximum impact in terms of supporting improved decisionmaking.
Roll out and use of CST

4.14

Going forwards, not all activity will lend itself to being processed through the tool, as
it requires particular datasets to be able to generate results and will also be limited
by staff capacity. The tool is currently at the development and testing stage;
however we envision it being used across future major developments on a phased
basis, ultimately improving the information available to Committees when
considering major development proposals.

4.15

Projects will be selected based on the following criteria, and processed subject to
officer capacity and resources:
•

Council’s own projects as a priority

•

Large budget spend

•

Potential large carbon impact on city-wide emissions

•

Strategic impact / wider ramifications for the city

•

Concrete projects that can provide sufficient levels of details

4.16

The Carbon Scenario Tool will also support aggregation of different project or
programme scenarios to enable longer-term scenario planning for plotting and
monitoring trajectories towards net zero targets. This capability will increase over
time, as more projects and data are input.

4.17

The tool also supports both city-wide and organisation-specific footprinting and
scenario planning, and the Council is currently leading work with the Scottish Cities
Alliance and Scottish Government to consider roll-out of the Edinburgh tool to other
Councils and ultimately other public and private sector partners. This work will also
be of vital importance to Scottish Government in understanding the local action
necessary to ensure delivery of the national 2045 net zero target, and officers are

Page 128

discussing the potential for Scottish Government to provide financial support to help
refine and further develop the tool for wider use.

5.

Next Steps

5.1

Actions in the SWIP that are marked as Complete or on track to deliver will be
mainstreamed into ‘business as usual’ within Council activities and reported on
through established arrangements.

5.2

Future updates on specific actions will be reported to the appropriate Council
Committee.

5.3

The Carbon Scenario Tool will be developed further and introduced on a phased
basis across major developments, subject to prioritisation criteria and officer
capacity.

5.4

Further reports on the development of a 2030 sustainability strategy for the city, and
on the approach to reporting on the 2030 net-zero target will be brought to
Committee in December.

6.

Financial impact

6.1

There are no financial impacts arising from this report. Any financial impacts of
individual SWIP actions are being considered by the relevant service area on a
case-by-case basis.

7.

Stakeholder/Community Impact

7.1

Consultation has taken place with all major Council departments in compiling this
report, with services areas giving due consideration to public sector equalities
duties in the preparation of improvement actions.

7.2

This report has been assessed in respect of the three elements of the Climate
Change (Scotland) Act 2009 Public Bodies Duties. In summary, the proposals in
this report will help improve social justice, economic wellbeing and environmental
good stewardship.

8.

Background reading/external reading

8.1

Policy and Sustainability Committee, 25 October 2019 - Short Window Improvement
Plan

8.2

Policy and Sustainability Committee, 23 July 2020 – Council response to Edinburgh
Climate Commission and Sustainability Programme Update

Page 129

9.

Appendices

9.1
9.2

Annex A - Short Window Improvement Plan Progress Report
Annex B – Sustainability Strategy Development Timeline

Page 130

Annex A –City of Edinburgh Council Sustainability Short-window Improvement Plan
RAG rating key:
Project/task making good progress. Any delays minimal and solely due to unavoidable Covid impacts. The project is back underway and expected to deliver

Amber

Project/task facing slightly more significant delays, but with mitigation/management actions in place.

Red

Project/task delayed and requires immediate intervention. Mitigation actions not yet in place

Blue

Project / task completed. Future delivery and reporting arrangements in place.
Detail

Update October 2020

Covid
Impact

The Council is reviewing development plan
policies and current plan approach to base the
approach to development planning on carbon
minimisation. This includes assessment of
carbon reduction opportunities, sustainable
buildings
design,
adaptation,
green
infrastructure and sustainable drainage,
renewable energy, transport, housing and other
land uses.

•

Development plan policies are under review, and are
due to be presented to Planning Committee in
December 2020.

•

The current approach to spatial delivery of housing,
economic development and travel is being reviewed
through the development of City Plan 2030.

Reporting
on
consultation
responses
delayed due
to Covid.

•

Consultation on Choices for City Plan 2030 ran for
slightly longer than originally planned – from Jan 2020
to April 2020. It included proposals for delivering netzero carbon buildings, active travel and public transport
aligned with the City Mobility Plan (with the objective of
creating a city where no citizen needs to own a car) and
an objective of a sustainable city which supports
everyone’s physical and mental wellbeing.

CO2e

RAG
Status

Improvement priority

Impact

Green

Resource
Requirements /
Next steps

Planning

Page 131

P1.
Strengthen
the
local
•
development plan policies in
favour of sustainable growth,
including the need for mitigation of
carbon emissions, adaptation to
the effects of unavoidable climate
change, and ensuring spatial
choices
favour
sustainable
locations
and
sustainable
communities
•

•

The current approach to spatial delivery of
housing and economic development, and
approach to travel will be also be reviewed to
ensure a sustainable growth pattern.
Changes to development plan policies or
approach will be consulted on through the main
issues report ‘Choices for City Plan 2030’
consultation will run from Dec to Feb 2020.

•

A report on consultation responses was prepared for the
Planning Committee in August 2020. The Choices for
City Plan 2030 is now expected to be presented to
Committee in December 2020.

H

SWIP action due
for
completion
when
consultation
responses go to
Committee
in
December 2020
and development
plan
policies
have
been
reviewed
in
December 2020.

Future delivery
through activity
and reporting on
City Plan 2030

P2. Review the Edinburgh
Design Guidance to ensure
sustainability is at the heart of
the
Council’s
stated
expectations for the design of
new developments.

The Council is due to review the Edinburgh
Design Guidance by December and will take this
opportunity to strengthen the guidance provided
on climate change actions to reduce energy
demand, promote walking, cycling and other low
carbon travel choices and minimise the risk of
flooding events by:
Strengthening requirements on the use of
coastal erosion and flood risk data (where
relevant)
Revising guidance on the water environment to
take into account updated national guidance
on sustainable urban draining systems (SUDs)
Reviewing street design and connectivity
standards for active travel modes

Page 132

Strengthen guidance in relation to public
transport improvements and standards for new
development relationship with public transport
networks to support a shift towards ‘car-free’
urban spaces
Further options for strengthening the guidance
will continue to be explored by Officers before
being brought before the Planning Committee
for consideration

A review of the Edinburgh Design Guidance was carried out,
with the guidance being revised and strengthened in key
areas including energy, infrastructure and resilience, in line
with the SWIP improvement priority areas.
The second draft Design Guide was approved by Planning
Committee on 29 January 2020.

M
SWIP
action
completed.

Transport and Mobility
T3. Continue to make public
•
transport and active travel
choices the natural choice to
get around the city through
•
investment in infrastructure,
new demand led mobility
solutions, and through new
incentives to manage travel
demand

The Council will promote integrated ticketing
between all public transport modes (including
cycle hire).

Page 133

The Council will prioritise within the City Mobility
Plan, the development of partnerships to deliver
strategically located transport hubs that link
sustainable and shared transport modes (such as
car clubs, bike-sharing, etc.) on a neighbourhood
level to close transport gaps and provide ‘last mile’
solutions that complement the existing transport
network.

Consultation on the City Mobility Plan (CMP) took place
between January and April 2020 and focused on strategic
priorities of enhancing public transport, people friendly
streets, new developments and managing demand.
Consultation results and key messages were reported to the
Council’s Transport and Environment Committee on 01
October 2020.
The CMP aims to improve integration of public transport,
including through contactless payment across all modes of
public transport and across all operators. One of the
proposed policies states:
• Ensure smart contactless payment is enhanced and
made more flexible and seek its introduction across all
public transport and operators. We will also encourage
the introduction of flexible fares, including child and group
concessions, off peak and point to point options.
The Council was awarded £455,000 for Smarter Choices,
Smarter Places 2020-2021, programme delivery is now
underway on a range of projects to encourage behaviour
change towards active and sustainable travel and reducing
single occupancy car use.
The Council has also worked with partners on a strategic
study on the feasibility of mobility hubs in the SEStran
region, published in March, which identifies potential
locations (and types) of mobility hubs as well as making
recommendations for partnership working and identification
of funding sources. SESTrans have developed a draft
strategy for mobility hubs. The Council has undertaken a
large-scale public engagement exercise and tested the
favourability of major transport initiatives like integrated

Delay
to
Transport
Scotland’s
Strategic
Transport
Projects
Review

M

Publication of the
final City Mobility
Plan is expected in
Q1 2021.

Additional
resources will be
required to develop
transport hubs.

transport hubs, with 78% of the 1,800 respondents being in
favour and 8% opposed.
The main issues report for the next local development plan,
Choices for City Plan 2030, is being developed in parallel
with the City Mobility Plan. It includes proposals for new
transport infrastructure that will support city growth,
including neighbourhood mobility hubs incorporating a
range of sustainable and shared transport options.
T4. Expand and accelerate
•
measures to reduce pollution
and improve air quality
through projects identified in
the city centre transformation
programme and the emerging
•
City Mobility Plan

Page 134

•

•

The Council has committed to an ambitious
programme of transformation across the city
centre. The first key phase of which is
implementing active travel-based projects which
will have an impact on pollution and air-quality.

The Council was awarded the full £450K revenue grant
funding for 2020-21 toward the Smarter Choices, Smarter
Places (SCSP) programme which will deliver a range of
projects to encourage behaviour change towards active and
sustainable travel and reducing single occupancy car use.

Improving on this position the Council will produce
a plan to accelerate the Open Streets programme,
expanding to every Sunday as soon as possible.

The Council agreed to work with Scottish Government and
partners to develop a Low Emission Zone (LEZ) scheme in
Edinburgh, which would see emission reductions through
vehicle engine controls. Updates, including indicative
implementation timelines, will be reported to the Council’s
Transport and Environment Committee.

The Council will also explore opportunities to
accelerate other projects under the CCT umbrella,
including Low Emissions Zones, which would have
the biggest impact on pollution and air quality, to
The Council’s Spaces for People project is delivering public
deliver within 7 years, instead of 10.
realm and active travel route improvements to all town
In connection with this work, the Council will centres in response to Covid. This is a temporary response to
explore opportunities to expand relevant assist minimise Covid 19 public health risks and help protect
transformation projects and approaches to other and support local businesses. These measures will be
town centres in the city area on a phased basis, monitored and kept under review and may form part of
subject to the availability of funding.
permanent arrangements in the future.
As part of the Granton Waterfront red development, the
Council intends to create neighbourhoods that have public
transport, active travel and green infrastructure built into the
fabric of the development.

Cancellation
of
Open
Streets
events
this
summer

Delay
to
development
of
CCT
acceleration
business
case(s)

M
/
H

Further acceleration
and/or expansion of
CCT would require
significant external
funding and the
development of
associated business
case(s).

T5. Accelerate the transition
•
to electric vehicles within the
Council’s fleet as part of the
Council Fleet review, and
explore ways to reduce and
•
rationalise Council vehicle use
into the future.

The Council has increased its electric fleet
vehicles from 25 in 2018, to 42 at present. A
further 29 are due to be commissioned in October.
This will take the Council’s total electric fleet to 71.
The Council is currently taking forward a fleet
review, which aims to deliver a 100% electric car
fleet by 2020, and a 100% electric van fleet by
2022/23.

•

Agreement with trades unions on the installation of
EV charging points in mobile trade workers’
homes is required to deliver the 2022/23, and has
begun.

•

The Council will seek to bring forward trades’
union discussions, with a view to accelerating
delivery of the 2022/23 target.

Page 135
T6. Expand and accelerate
•
provision of electric vehicle
charging
infrastructure,
beginning
with
Council
facilities and expanding to
exploration
of
potential
•
partnerships in other locations
with
public
transport
connections on a ‘parkcharge-ride’ basis.
•

The Council has approved an EV Action Plan for
increasing the provision of EV charging
infrastructure as well as e-mobility options. The
first phase will provide 66 on-street charging
points through 14 hubs across the city.
A business case for accelerating and/or expanding
the planned programme will be developed. This
will scope the potential for expansion and/or
acceleration of EV infrastructure already planned,
identify the level of resource required and consider
any external funding that could be secured.
The Council will enter into discussions with
relevant public, private, commercial and retail
sector organisations who have suitable space

Implementation of removal of diesel is currently being taken
forward. The Council actively replacing smaller vehicles
with electric vehicles, with various vehicle and charging
point procurement exercises are underway, in addition to
the delivery of 20 electric vans and 32 electric cars.

Delivery of
vehicles
delayed by
up to 6-7
months due
Fleet are deploying these as rapidly as possible to to Covid.
departments.
Implementa
tion of tool
The electric road sweeper has been delivered, and fleet are
for
looking at the next round of switched on fleets funding to
rationalising
source vehicles in the van/large van category. Viable
the
fleet
alternative for heavy trucks are being explored, however this
(Telematics
will be impacted by availability and technological
) has been
developments, including the extent to which manufacturers
delayed by
move to hydrogen vs electric.
up to 10
months.
Covid has seen increased been demand for vehicles to
meet service requirements, and it is not clear how long this
demand will be in place for. Some of this demand is being
met with “spot hires” that are petrol or diesel vehicles.
The objective is still to remove all diesel cars within the
owned fleet (with the exception of the Civic cars) before the
end of 2020, however there is likely to be some slippage
due to the need to meet Covid-related demand increases
over the shorter-term.

H

The Council was successful in securing £2.3m of funds
through Transport Scotland for May 2019-2021 to support
this expansion. To mitigate delays to the project which were
compounded by Covid, the Council acted to secure accrual
agreement, ensuring the funds are available over a longer
three-year period.

H

Phase
1
initially
delayed;
now
entering
procuremen
t/installation
Phase 1 of the project (66 chargers, including rapid, fast and phase.
slow chargers) is now entering the procurement and
installation phase, with a procurement plan in place and the
market being engaged in Autumn/Winter 2020. An action HCI Skills
plan has been developed with Scottish Power Energy Gateway
Network (SPEN), to ensure roll-out of the project meets the initially
needs of stakeholders, with Transport Scotland recognising delayed.
this as good practice which will now be promoted across all

Acceleration of the shift
to electric vans would
require earlier access to
the 2022/23 capital
programme.
EV prices have
been
on
a
downwards
trend,
so
purchasing
vehicles earlier
may come at
greater cost. This
will be monitored,
and
business
cases developed
if required

Consideration
of
Phase 2 funding,
scope and delivery
options.

Further
development
beyond Phase 2 will
consider financing
models and be
taken
forward
through
Climate

close to public transport connections, about the
scope to develop additional EV infrastructure on a
partnership basis.

Local Authority/SPEN work programmes.

College
A business case developed by the Energy Saving Trust tutors now
in
identified the potential for a further 145 on-street chargers trained
which could be taken forward as Phase 2 of the project, delivery
subject to the identification of funding.
Aligned to the City Mobility Plan delivery programme, the
Council will also explore options for future transport
infrastructure, including mapping, designing and providing a
business case for funding city wide EV infrastructure which
will set out options for levering investment from private and
public-sector partners. This will focus on EV infrastructure
within the wider context of the City Mobility Plan and
ensuring EV expansion helps support a ‘to, not through’
approach to vehicular traffic within Edinburgh.

Page 136

Initial research on international best practice is being used
to inform future direction of expanding the EV infrastructure
in Edinburgh.
To support the expansion and acceleration of EV charging
infrastructure, plans are in place for HCI Skills Gateway FE
partners (Edinburgh College, Borders College and Fife
College) to deliver 526 training places in relevant skills over
the next three years.
Over the longer term, this work will also support transport
planning to respond to changes to travel habits as a result
of longer-term increases in home-working and active travel
post-Covid.

KIC tests of change,
connected
to
relevant
City
Mobility
Plan
workstreams.

Future updates
will be brought to
the
Transport
and Environment
Committee

Housing
H7. Review City Deal skills
•
programme proposals to
ensure they deliver support to
train designers, builders and
installers in the skills needed
for implementing low-carbon
heating, energy and water
efficiency, ventilation and
thermal
comfort,
and
•
property-level flood resilience
in both new build and retrofit

Page 137

•
H8.
Embed
exemplar
sustainable development and
low carbon energy solutions
across the Council’s new
build housing programme

•

•
•

The Council is working with City Region Deal
(CRD) Partners, through the Housing and
Construction (HCI) Skills Gateway component of
the Integrated Regional Employability and Skills
programme, to develop the skills required within
the region to deliver CRD housing and
infrastructure projects. This will be developed to
emphasise low-carbon and sustainability skills.
This gateway will also pilot new ways of multistakeholder working that will help increase
inclusion and sustainability outcomes.

The Council’s house building programme is
progressing a number of significant mixed use,
mixed tenure developments on Council owned
sites including Powderhall, Meadowbank, and
Fountainbridge. At Fountainbridge, the plans
include a proposed district heating system and the
Council will continue to refine and explore this
energy solution
The Council will also seek further opportunities
across those sites to develop and implement
appropriate energy strategies that reflect the
•
Council’s ambitions on becoming carbon neutral.
The regeneration of Granton Waterfront has also
embedded sustainability as part of the design
principles and will address climate adaptation in a
variety of ways, including by dealing with flood risk
and drainage through green roofs and rain
•
gardens and creating a new coastal park to help
•
manage the current coastal erosion. There will

Pilot content for a new Timber Technology Engineering &
Design Pathway (Timber TED) is in development to
improve employability through upskilling participants in
sustainable construction. This aligns with the Edinburgh
Housing Demonstrator project (below) with pathway
implementation scheduled for September 2021.
Edinburgh Napier University will conduct post-occupancy
and building evaluation research for the Edinburgh
Housing Demonstrator (EHD) Programme. EHD will
demonstrate that a new business model based on
collaborative
procurement,
whole-life
costings,
development pipeline and greater standardisation can
transform the productivity and performance of affordable
housing development. That new business model will be
proven on an initial tranche of 1000 affordable homes
designed to achieve net zero carbon and zero emissions.
A new design brief is now in place for achieving net zero carbon
across the remaining house building programme.
Proof of concept for this new net zero carbon design brief will
be tested at Western Villages and in parallel with the
Edinburgh Homes Demonstrator (EHD) Project. The EHD
will test a new approach to design, procurement and
construction alongside the need for the homes to be net zero
carbon, initially in Edinburgh but with an ambition to expand
this across the City Region.
Sustainability and low carbon design will also be embedded
across all developments to complement the fabric first design
guide for homes. This will include (as a default) low/minimum
parking, active travel prioritisation, biodiversity enhancements
and climate adaptation via advanced sustainable urban
drainage (SUD)’s schemes.
The Council is currently procuring a development partner for
Fountainbridge, and commenced a similar process for
Meadowbank. At the pre-development stage, the

Delay
to
Further
Education
programmes
planned for
early March.
Courses will
resume from
October
2020.

M

SWIP
action
complete.
Edinburgh
Napier will report
outcomes
in
January 2021.

H

•
•

SWIP action complete
A
Housing
Sustainability Update
outlining the specific
approaches
to
sustainability and net
zero carbon that will be
embedded across the
Council’s
existing
housing stock and new
build housing was
report to the Housing,
Homelessness and Fair
Work Committee on the
5 November.
Future implementation
through the Council’s
Sustainable Housing

•
•

Page 138

H9. Continue to develop low
•
carbon energy solutions for
existing housing properties
which reduce energy demand
and accelerate the use of
renewable energy, through
targeted
retrofit
in
consultation with tenants.
•

•

also be a series of spaces promoting biodiversity
creating ecological corridors.

development partner will review and refresh the current
options appraisal for the low carbon heating solution.

Council Officers will review guidance and
•
specification for homes to be developed through
the Council’s house-building programme to take
account of the Council’s sustainability objectives.
This will set out the options available for further
reducing carbon emissions in new build properties,
including Passivhaus, and will consider the
financial implications, maintenance and tenant
•
behaviours that are required.

Granton has been selected as one of four ‘tests of change’
within the Council’s European-funded Climate KIC
programme. The Council is currently working with design
partners to scope the potential for testing new financial
models which secure greater community wealth and public
health and wellbeing outcomes, as part of the sustainable
development approach in Granton.

•
The Council, in partnership with Changeworks, is
applying for approx. £500k in funding from the
Scottish Government’s Decarbonisation Fund with
a further £500k in match funding from the Capital
Investment Programme This will support the
retrofitting of rooftop solar PV and battery storage
across 112 properties, which will bring this group
of properties up to EESSH standard and the
aspirational EESSH2 standard.

The Council was successful in securing £500k in funding
from the Scottish Government’s Decarbonisation Fund.
This will support the installation of combined solar PV and
battery storage across 112 Council homes in the Kirkliston
area. A pilot install is now live within a currently void
property to allow residents to see the live installation and
how it will look in their homes.

The Council is currently in receipt of £3.6m in
funding from the Home Energy Efficiency
Programme for Scotland Area Based Scheme
(HEEPS-ABS) which helps to unlock larger mixed
tenure schemes where a mix of social and private
sector properties are involved. As part of the 201920 programme approx. 1200 properties will be
targeted for a range of energy efficiency upgrade
retrofit works and the total leveraged funding will
be approx. £8.8m.
In addition, the Council will also invest in
retrofitting a range of energy upgrades across a
further 2448 properties. Once completed this will
result in 15,714 Council properties meeting the
Energy Efficient Standard for Social Housing
(EESSH) or approximately 78% of the Council’s
existing housing stock.

As part of the 2019-20 programme approx. 707 properties will
be targeted for a range of energy efficiency upgrade retrofit
works and the total leveraged funding will be approx. £4.4m.
A 10-year whole-house retrofit strategy is being developed to
identify options for advanced whole-house energy retrofit
standards to be applied across existing Council homes.

Strategy, reporting to
the HHFW Committee
•

Delay to the
2019-20
HEEPS:ABS
programme.
Now
back
underway.

H

Launch of a 10-year
Sustainable Housing
Strategy in 2023

Energy/Operational Estate

•
En10. Develop a spend-tosave proposal to expand and
accelerate installation of solar
PV on all appropriate Councilowned buildings.

Install solar PV on all new build Council properties
based on right sizing for projected electrical load
and availability of roof space. This will result in an
overall increase to solar PV in new build
properties.

•

To install right sized solar PV as standard as part
of any suitable roof replacement works. This will
align Solar PV works with roof warranties and
should also reduce installation costs.

•

To run a programme of solar PV installations
across the existing buildings on suitable roofs that
are less than 5 years old

Following Council approval for the allocation of former CEEF Delays
to
funding, £100k of funding is now in place to support works as a
development and delivery of Solar PV in the Council’s result
of
operational estate.
Covid-19
means
Target buildings are being identified for the 2021 works
opportunities
programmes, and outline proposals will be developed to
for 2020 are
inform application to the SALIX fund and to determine a route
limited
but
to market.
focus will be
Solar works will be aligned to the asset management works given to 2021
works
programme.
programme
Investigative works are required on existing buildings to
establish structural suitability and availability of grid
connections.

M

Investigative works
on existing buildings

Additional finance and resource will be required to support
project delivery. The main source of funding will be SALIX.
However, as SALIX is based on ROI, £100k of additional
funding has been secured that will be used to supplement
SALIX and cover project development.

Page 139

En11. Carry out a targeted
• The Council has currently agreed to a feasibility•
energy efficient retrofit of the study into the costs of deep retrofitting a typical
Council’s operational buildings building within the Council estate. It is proposed
that officers commission a feasibility study into a
deep energy efficiency retrofit (e.g. EnerPhit) of •3
key building archetypes (Pre-1919, 1965-1985 &
2006-2017)

•
•

This would include a review of options to integrate
•
SALIX funding with Asset Management Works
programme for 2020/21.
The ISO50001 energy management standard will
be used to track, review and report on progress of
energy efficiency measures across asset
management works and target year on year
improvement in line with Council objectives.

Following Council approval for the allocation of former
CEEF funding, £100k of funding now in place to support
research into the feasibility of deep energy retrofit in the
Council’s operational estate
Discussions are underway on project resource and
governance and engagement has been undertaken with
external partners to establish opportunities for
collaboration.
Key deliverables and project outputs to include:
• Deep energy retrofit feasibility research, informing
Council on impact and associated cost of deep energy
retrofit
• Upskilling of condition surveyors to include energy
retrofit opportunities
• Inclusion of targeted energy efficiency works within

Pressure on
resources

M•

There is a lack of
capital
budget
specifically
focussed on energy
retrofit, so external
complimentary
funding routes are
under investigation.
Additional resources
could be identified by
drawing
down
funding through the
Scottish
Government’s 50/50
match funding offer.

future asset management works programme
• Budget for training internal staff on retrofit standards
(i.e. Enerphit)
•

Previously initiated works programmes may require
further works within lifespan to deliver more extensive
investment in energy efficient retrofit

•
En12. Raise awareness of the
potential
impacts
of
unavoidable climate change
and carry out a targeted risk
assessment of the Council’s
operational buildings

The Council will work with partners to increase
knowledge and awareness of the potential impacts
of climate change on the city’s buildings.

Page 140

As part of this work, a targeted risk assessment
will be carried on those buildings currently
considered to be most at risk from flooding and
other impacts of climate change. This will include
establishing how well they may withstand different
types of climate impacts, and what mitigating
actions could be taken.

A workshop on climate adaptation of Council operational Delay to risk
estate for key officers in Property and Facility Management is assessment
planned to take place in October 2020.
schedule.
Completion
Key outputs and deliverables will include:
will not be
• Model Council at risk buildings to understand current and fully possible
future climate impacts
until access is
• Identifying Council buildings most at risk, detailing climate to buildings is
impact and mitigation measures.
restored.
• Raising awareness and knowledge of impacts of climate
change on Council estate and measures to alleviate them,
• Extrapolating findings to determine appropriate actions for
Council’s operational estate including any alignment with
Council new build and retrofit projects.
• Flood prevention/mitigation strategy for operational
buildings.

L

Funding
sources
and
potential
partners will be
scoped to help
determine
and
model impacts on
Council’s
operational estate
Any mitigating actions
to be undertaken may
require
additional
resources and will be
considered on a case
by case basis.

Any mitigating actions to be undertaken may require additional
resources and would be considered on a case by case basis.
En13. Commit to Passivhaus
•
Standard as the default
standard for all Council
newbuild
across
the
operational estate.

•

The Council currently applies BREAAM standards
to larger new build projects, with a target of
achieving at least ‘very good’ for every project.
This standard includes a requirement to meet a
wide range of environmental criteria to ensure the
project limits its environmental impact and
maximises sustainability during construction and
operation. For smaller-scale newbuild projects,
elevated energy performance certificate ratings
are targeted.
To go further, the Council will adopt the
Passivhaus Certified Standard as the preferred

• 5 Passivhaus projects are under development (1 high
school, 3 primary schools and 1 archive store)
• New professional services framework will have a
Passivhaus specialist lot
• Scottish Futures Trust (SFT) have set an energy target
for new build with Passivhaus determined as best
option for delivery.
• BREEAM is no longer a targeted standard for new
buildings, with funding diverting to achieving
Passivhaus Standards

H

Passivhaus
to
be
formalised as design
requirement,
and
consideration given to
Passivhaus Plus.
Existing Passivhaus
projects to progress
through design stages.
This policy shift may
have cost implications

option
for
all
new
build
entering
feasibility/business case stage across the
Council’s operational estate (schools/care homes
etc) to ensure that buildings are delivered to a
rigorous energy and comfort standards.
•

Any variation beneath this requirement would
need to be clearly justified from an environmental
perspective and brought back to the Council’s
Planning Committee.

that need to be
assessed on a case by
case basis.

Key deliverables and outputs include:
• Council commitment to Passivhaus Standard for all new
builds
• Delivery of Passivhaus new builds as standard
• Internal staff trained and experienced in delivery of
Passivhaus

Procurement

Page 141

o
Pr14. Review, revise and
rename
the
Council’s
o
Commercial and Procurement
Strategy with sustainable
procurement as a central
theme, alongside the delivery
of savings and Best Value, so
as to become a Council
‘Sustainable
Procurement
o
Strategy’

o

o

o

Key aims of a new Sustainable Procurement
Strategy would include:
embedding the consideration of the statutory
sustainable procurement duty requirements
before the Council buys anything, to improve the
social, environmental and economic wellbeing of
the local authority area.
To use procurement criteria or documentation to
require that suppliers consider their own supply
chains, and increase the delivery of carbon
reduction and local community benefits across all
procurement activity. As far as possible this would
include at point of renewal of contract as well as
within new contracts.
to provide support and challenge to Directorates to
deliver Council commitments including, where
appropriate, supplier de-carbonisation and an
increase in the use of fairly-traded goods
set out the factors, including Best Value and
carbon impact, the Council will take into
consideration when deciding whether to procure
goods and services, or provide them in-house.
The Council will engage with its stakeholders to
develop the new strategy and will approach Zero
Waste Scotland to support and collaborate with
the Council on this activity. The Council will also

A new Sustainable Procurement Strategy for 2020-2025
was developed in line with SWIP improvement priorities
and approved by Finance and Resources Committee in
March 2020, with the specific aim to
ensure Council
procurement “deliver opportunities that help address the
climate change challenge and a circular economy agenda”.
This five-year strategy, will have its first annual review in
2021 and data recorded against it will be reported to
Committee in 2021.
The Council’s Contract Standing Orders are being revised
to require that all contractual arrangements support the
Council’s Sustainable Procurement Strategy, subject to
approval of the new standing orders by Committee in
December 2020.

Procurement criteria is being used where relevant in the
tender process to specify or evaluate tenders’ contribution
to the Council’s net-zero target.

The Council are working with Scotland Excel and other
local authorities as part of the Procurement and Climate
Change Forum which aims to work collaboratively to
develop tools to help use the £12.6 billion of annual public
procurement spend to support Scotland’s climate

M

SWIP
action
complete

Revised Contract
Standing Orders
being submitted
to Committee for
approval
December 2020.

Further reporting
through
scheduled
procurement
data reports to
Committee,
beginning
in
2021

Subsequent
purchasing may
have
resource
implications.

engage with Scotland Excel and the Scottish
Government as it seeks to further develop and
improve current activity around sustainable
procurement

emergency response.

Education
Ed15 Begin a programme of
support for schools and
develop
opportunities
for
further
consultation
and
collaboration
with
pupils,
teachers, and parents on what
more can be jointly done to
help reduce the city’s carbon
footprint and support a more
sustainable future.

Acknowledging that many schools, teachers and
pupils are active in this area, the Council will
develop a consolidated list of all actions and
supporting materials to share and promote actions
that can be taken to help reduce the city’s carbon
footprint. Emphasis will be given to those
proposals which could also save schools and
parents money.

Page 142

The Schools Finance Board will consider
sustainability as a standing item, in particular
looking at sustainable procurement practice and
how to support improvement.
The Councils will engage through Youth Talk and
Young Edinburgh Action as well as the
forthcoming pupil council network to develop a
young Edinburgh sustainability plan. This work will
be started as part of the ‘Youth Summit’ being
•
planned for December.
The Council will work with a number of key
empowerment groups, to support schools to
develop a holistic approach to sustainability. In the
first instance the Council will seek to work with
•
Herriot Watt University to support early adopting
school clusters.

The Schools Finance Board now have sustainability in
place as a standing item.
A Youth Climate Summit took place on 28 February 2020,
with delegates from eight secondary schools in Edinburgh.
A primary event originally due to take place in summer 2020
is now being planned for early 2021.
The Council has also launched Edinburgh Talks Climate
which started a new phase of engagement and
collaboration with citizens, including young people around
climate change.
The Edinburgh Learns Sustainability Steering Group will
use the output from the two summits to guide the
development of a Young Edinburgh Sustainability Plan.
Progress has stalled because the lead for Herriot Watt is no
longer available. An alternative contact is being sought.
Engagement through established groups has been
impacted by Covid. Online engagement through Edinburgh
Talks Climate is currently supporting work across the three
SWIP
areas
identified
(food
sustainability/food
growing/living landscapes).
Key improvement measures to date include:
•

A business case will be developed for adoption of
the Soil Association’s Food for Life school awards
as a mechanism to drive change through the
action required to meet the awards criteria.

reduction of red meat and processed food in school
menus; vegetarian Mondays; from April 2020, more
plant-based menus.

•

The Council will also use established groups to
engage with pupils, parents and education
colleagues on:

inclusion of funding growing kitchens and breakfast
clubs within community benefits section of Brake
Brothers contract

•

Agreement to establish a schools sub-group of the
Edible Edinburgh Sustainable Food Partnership

• Potential to further increase the sustainability of

•

Cancellatio
n / delay of
face-to-face
events/traini
ng (now rescheduled
or being redesigned for
on-line
delivery)
Covid safety
requirement
s impacting
on speed of
removal of
single use
plastics

Delay
to
Soil
Association
Food
for
Life award
business
case

L

Primary School Youth
Climate Summit early
2021
Development of Young
Edinburgh
Sustainability
Plan
(subject to replacement
Herriot Watt capacity)
Audit will be used to
prepare a list of actions
that all schools need to
take to be more
sustainable in their
practice – and to save
schools and parents
money. To be done by
end September 2020.

An analysis of
the
actions
needed to meet
Food For Life
Silver status is
expected to be
completed
by
Soil Association
in October 2020.

the school menu

•

• Expanding the food-growing capacity within
school grounds

• Increasing ‘living landscapes’ / greenwalls within
school grounds

•

Eco-schools training (originally planned for April 2020) is
being re-designed for on-line delivery
Work to update schools active travel plans will now
commence, following a delay due to prioritisation of
emergency travel plans during lockdown

The Council will work with schools to minimise car
dependency for staff and students by updating
school travel plans.

Ed16 Take action to support
•
•
The Council will develop a plan to expand and
a 100% shift away from plastic
accelerate
the
replacement
of
watercoolers
with
water cooler use within
plumbed in water fountain provision within
schools.
schools.

Page 143

•

A new contract is now in place with Waterlogic, under the
SXL Framework which offers free installation of plumbed-in
solutions (subject to certain plumbing and Health and
Safety requirements). The contract for rental would include
6-monthly maintenance of the plumbed in water fountains
at a comparable cost to the current bottled solutions.
Plumbed-in water coolers have been installed in Leith
Academy, who report cost savings and the benefit of freeing
up space currently used to store water coolers.
Detailed assessment of sites may reveal water supply being
over 10m from installation. This would not be viable and the
overall impact on progress will be considered on a case-bycase basis.

Furlough of
Waterlogic
staff
and
delay
to
schools
installation
timeline.

On 21 January 2020, the Council endorsed a new tourism
strategy for the city. The strategy was developed in
partnership with the TSIG and ETAG and has “our
environment” as one of its five core themes.

Delay
to
strategy
action
planning and
APOG
/
working group
meetings

L

•

•

Identification of a
Contract Manager
from within C&F to
oversee the plumbed
in solution.
Expansion of provision
may have resource
implications, depending
on chosen rate of
acceleration.

Tourism
Tr17. Finalise a new tourism
•
strategy for Edinburgh (with
associated
delivery
programme) to focus on a
sustainable approach to the
visitor economy.

•
The Council will work through the Tourism
Strategic Implementation Group (TSIG) and
Edinburgh Tourism Advisory Group (ETAG) to
develop the Tourism 2030 Strategy, and to ensure
the future strategy supports the aims of the
•
developing Sustainable Edinburgh 2030 Strategy
and the national and local carbon targets that have
been set.

•

The alignment of the Council Tourism agenda and
the sustainability programme will be considered by
the Elected Member Working Group of Tourism
and Communities and Sustainability and Climate
Emergency All-Party Oversight Group

•

The Council’s commitment to be carbon neutral by

The Tourism Strategic Implementation Group (TSIG) is a
partnership between the Council, the tourism sector, and
national agencies. Most recently membership of the SIG
has been expanded to include representatives from
Edinburgh World Heritage and the Old Town Community
Council. The TSIG is also responsible for overseeing the
development and implementation of action plans to
support delivery of the strategy. The action planning
process has been paused as the sector responds to the
impact of the pandemic on the sector and Elected Member
/ APOG meetings were similarly affected.

Development
of
a
sustainable
visitor pledge
put on hold
during
lockdown.

M

The strategy can be
developed
within
existing resources.
Any
resource
implications
flowing from its
delivery will be
considered
by
the
Council’s
Finance
and
Resources
Committee
as
appropriate.

2030 will be reflected in the Council policy
•
statement on Tourism
•

The Council will explore with city tourism partners
the potential to develop a sustainable visitor
pledge, encouraging visitors to see themselves as
‘temporary residents’ with a responsibility towards
the city, and promoting sustainable modes of
transport, recycling, and energy use.
•

On 11 June 2020 a report on the Tourism and Hospitality
Sector Recovery Plan was considered and Committee
approved a new recommendation that the recovery of
tourism and hospitality in Edinburgh must be in line with
the Council’s 2030 climate target, and that the Council
carries out all work in this sector on the basis of achieving
a net zero carbon city.
At the national level, a tourism strategy was also published
in early 2020, but recovery plans have dominated the
national attention. A Scottish Tourism Recovery Taskforce
was established to focus on: recovery, investment and
stimulating demand, and is due to report in October 2020.

Page 144

Arts, Culture and Festivals
A18. Agree a protocol with• all The Council will ensure all Strategic Partner
cultural agencies to move to funding agreements for cultural agencies include a
becoming carbon neutral
carbon management plan as a condition of grant
•

This will include ensuring all funding agreements
contain an Environmental Policy that includes a
commitment to setting a target date for becoming
carbon neutral.

•

These new measures will be adopted for all future
agreements from 20/21 onwards.

Page 145
•

New green funding arrangements to be agreed as part of
Council budget for 2021/22.
All Strategic Partner funding agreements 20/21 include
Carbon Management Plan commitments
Council agreed to a one-off contribution of £55,000 to
Edinburgh’s tourism and hospitality sector recovery plan,
subject to activities being aligned to the Council’s priority of
net zero carbon by 2030.
Anticipated deliverables are:
• Protocol between large owners (UoE and CEC) and
operators with explicit carbon-neutral/sustainability
recommendations as part of use of venue.
• Funding is sourced and secured for operators to further
incentivise carbon-neutral/sustainable activities
• City Centre Mobility plan that will help promote transport
initiatives to festivals organisers for active / sustainable
travel.
• Examples of good practice by cultural partners to be
provided for Public Bodies Duty Report.
• Strategic partners continue to monitor and report on their
Carbon Management Plans
• Event producers to be encouraged to prioritise research
and use of sustainable/improved power systems and
supplies

Update to T&E H •
Committee on
Greening the
Fringe
was
delayed due to
COVID-19.
An update will
be provided by
November
2020.

Draft protocol being
developed for culture
venue owners to
ensure
greater
emphasis
on
sustainability as part
of use.

Economic Development
The Council will develop and deliver a Business
Support Programme for the sustainability sector
with a focus on sustainable growth ambition

Ec20.
Promote
circular
•
economy approaches and
associated opportunities for
business across Edinburgh

Collaborate with Zero Waste Scotland, FSB, CBI
and Edinburgh Chamber of Commerce on new
approaches to embedding circular economy
principles in Council practices

Page 146

Ec19.
Develop
specific
•
support packages for private
and social businesses in the
sustainability sector through
•
business gateway, and, work
with
the
chamber
of
commerce, FSB and CBI, on• a
new approach to sustainability
for
the city’s business
community.

•

•

The programme will include the allocation of a •
dedicated business adviser to support the sector
The Council will market and promote the
programme to sustainability/business sector, and
collaborate with Edinburgh Chamber of
Commerce, FSB, CBI and other key partners to
deliver this new approach

Business Gateway are working in partnership with
Circular Edinburgh, referring clients that have identified
sustainability projects and that are looking for advice and
information in this area.
Continued partnership support to ESEN (Edinburgh
Social Enterprise Network) and directly to social
enterprise sector businesses via Business Gateway e.g.
Eco Larder who opened Edinburgh’s first package free
grocers and eco-friendly delivery service Nov 19 and
currently seeking a second shop unit to expand in
Edinburgh

The Council is:
• working in partnership with Edinburgh Chamber of
Commerce on delivery of a programme of support on
Circular Edinburgh to over 200 businesses to embed
general sustainability best practice e.g. recycling of
waste to create new products, reframing products into
Identify and implement new approaches to
services to encourage repair over replace
promoting circular economy practices in
Edinburgh businesses
• participating in Scottish Business Sustainability
Partnership forum where various business support
organisations with sustainability related services
(Business Gateway, SEPA, ZWS, EST, SE) meet to
network, discuss best practice. The outcome has been
the creation of a formal inter-organisational sustainability
referral scheme.

Project
has been
suspende
d due to
Covid
disruption.
Further
work
is
needed to
reassess
and take
next steps.

M

This
has
been
picked
up
by
Adaptation
and
Renewal as part of
the
Council's
approach to a green
economic recovery.

Collaboratio
n
with
partners
paused in
light
of
Covid
disruption,
but planned
for renewal
in Autumn
2020.

M

Actions
in
development
include next steps
for implementation
of
Sustainable
Procurement
Strategy,
and
commitments
on
circular
economy
practices.

Ec21. Explore the potential•to
develop
a
sustainability
pledge for conferences and
conventions being held in
Edinburgh

•

The Council will work with Marketing Edinburgh,
the Edinburgh International Conference Centre
and other key stakeholders to identify
opportunities for organisers of conferences and
conventions to work with the Council to make a
positive contribution to the city’s strategic
sustainability aims.

The activities of Marketing Edinburgh are being
transitioned in-house into the Council and officers are
working with the industry on the future of business tourism
in Edinburgh. Officers will ensure that sustainability is
mainstreamed within this work.

Progress
paused
during
Covid
disruption
and
uncertainty
over future
planning for
conference
markets.

L

Planned
reengagement with
partners to take
place in late
2020/early 2021.

Communal Bin Enhancement paper was approved at T&E
committee on 27th Feb 2020.

Delay
to
original
schedule

L

Programme
of
phased introductions
from January 2021,
subject
to
T&E
Committee approval
in November

This will include developing a suite of opportunities
for organisers and delegates to support
sustainable economic, social and environmental
activities within the city, as part of a focus on
realising economic, environmental and social
benefits.

Waste and Recycling

Page 147

W22. Significantly expand
•
recycling capacity in the city
through the redesign of
tenemental
recycling
arrangements
to
favour
•
recycling
capacity
over
residual waste

Against a backdrop of nationally falling recycling
rates the Council will look again at how it can
reverse this trend in Edinburgh particularly in
respect of tenemental recycling.
To take this forward the Council has completed an
audit of Council bin provision. Plans for new
layouts of communal bin arrangements and route
collections on a ward by ward basis are currently
being progressed

Socially distanced community engagement has been
taking place at selected locations, while the Council’s
website has been updated to provide further information.
Subject to approval by the Transport and Environment
Committee, the revised roll out programme will see the
first phase commerce in January 2021, with completion of
all phases by spring 2022.
Potential risks include difficulties measuring performance
in future. Bin lorries not equipped to weigh bins, so CEC
unable to collect data about individual locations and
contractors cannot split data about materials collected
between different collections
The Deposit Return Scheme (to be launched in July 2022)
will affect tonnages collected; it is forecasted that up to
80% of the bottles will be returned to retailers to collect the
deposit.

Initial CEC funding
of £2.5 million over
three years in place;
Council
officers
proactively
engaging with Zero
Waste Scotland to
investigate
additional funding.

•
W23. Increase support to
citizens
to
reduce
consumption
and
re-use
goods as a first line of action
before recycling.

Continued partnership support to ESEN (Edinburgh Social
Enterprise Network) and directly to social enterprise sector
businesses via Business Gateway.
Organisations
supported will include social enterprises providing
community repair and refurbishment services, equipment
sharing and repair and re-use education.

Current
L
economic
climate
challenging
but
CEC
supporting
social
Discussions are ongoing with Circular Edinburgh enterprises
Programme about approaches to community organisations through
in the recycling/circular economy sector.
Business
Gateway.
Edinburgh Talks Climate on-line citizen dialogue is being
used to promote ‘reduce, re-use, re-cycle’ information and
resources as part of the Council’s sustainability
communication and engagement activity.

The Council has secured £899,500 from the
National Lottery Heritage Fund and the National
Trust, to deliver a Thriving Green Spaces Project
to develop bold and innovative financial and
management solutions for the city’s greenspaces.
The Council will expand the Thriving Green
Spaces project to include quantifying the
contribution green spaces make to addressing
environmental issues, such as climate change,
biodiversity loss and air pollution. Work will also be
undertaken to identify the shared health and other
benefits that could be realised through making
more and better use of greenspaces.
The Council will formulate a long-term vision and
strategy for maximising the positive environmental
and social impacts of the city’s greenspaces. This
will be supported by an action plan for delivery
over the next 30 years.
The project will be underpinned by a widespread
and comprehensive public communications and
engagement programme, which will also inform
the Council’s approach to climate change.

Upcoming milestones:
Jan – Oct 2020 - communications and engagement
activities to raise awareness and encourage citizen
participation
Mar – Oct 2020 - analyse and develop ideas, solutions etc
with partners and citizens
Oct – Dec 2020 – collate proposals from all the work strands
and develop outline strategy for consultation and feedback
Jan – May 2021 – develop detailed proposals, launch final
consultation and feedback sessions and take to Committee

ESEN
currently
developing website
to host the new
training
directory
which will promote
environmental impact
(expected launch in
Autumn 2020).

and

Page 148

Parks,
Greenspace
Cemeteries

Work with Edinburgh Social Enterprise Network
and EVOC to support and promote local
organisations providing community repair and
refurbishment services, equipment sharing
services, and repair and re-use education.

•
Pk24. Expand the Thriving
Green Spaces project to
ensure it looks to align to
Edinburgh’s emerging 2050
City Vision and contributes•to
our wider sustainability goals;
and maximise the consultation
opportunities to inform the
Council’s approach to Climate
Change.

•

•

Delay
to M
planned
engagement
activities may
impact
on
other planned
milestones
and lead to
slippages.

Information gathering
is progressing with
communications and
engagement activities.
The
Council
is
exploring extension of
project to complete
analysis
and
development
of
proposals dependent
on sponsor’s funding
extension.

Biodiversity/
Infrastructure

Green

•
B25. Increase the use of
green infrastructure within
new and existing Council
developments in order •to
increase
biodiversity,
•
permeability and cooling
effects in the City

Page 149

•
•

B26. Seek to agree a
working relationship with
Scottish
Water
for
sustainable management of
drainage systems for the
City.

The Council will establish a working group to further Initial meeting of the Green Infrastructure Working Group Slight delay H
the understanding of the benefits of, and practical (GWIG) was held in February 2020.
to
GIWG
implications for, green infrastructure development
operation
and retrofit.
Remit and priorities for Group are being established in line
with City Plan 2030 design policies on green and blue
Once established, the Green Infrastructure Working infrastructure and green infrastructure projects development.
Group (GIWG) would identify opportunities for the Key outputs will be a policy on Green Infrastructure and
use of green infrastructure and nature-based delivery of 4-5 green infrastructure projects/actions.
solutions within new and existing infrastructure
projects, within existing project budgets
Using updated design guidance, all new planning
applications are scrutinised for the use of green blue
The Council will commit to considering opportunities infrastructure such as green roofs and raingardens. A new
within new infrastructure projects, and to retrofitting Water Management Strategy and new Surface Water
suitable green infrastructure into appropriate Guidance will both introduce the new standard of attenuating
existing sites
nuisance storms by the use of green infrastructure on the
site.
The Tree Canopy target for providing shade and to increase
biodiversity being is being studied for LDP policy, due
December 2020. A new biodiversity policy for LDP is in
preparation, due December 2020.
The Council will develop a new way of working
•
Section 7 Legal Agreement with Scottish Water was Slight delay to M
with Scottish Water that makes maintenance adopted at committee 27/02/2020.
activities, now
liabilities clearer and prevents inefficient 3-pipe
•
resolved.
systems. This will include setting up a legal
•
Scottish Water, SEPA and CEC are developing a Water
agreement for each site whereby Scottish Water Management city wide strategy to tackle fluvial, pluvial and
has liability for underground assets, and the sea level rise and increase in intensity of rainfall.
Council has liability for the above ground Implementation of the strategy will be through the
landscape which will be factored.
Edinburgh and Lothians Strategic Drainage Partnership.
This partnership links the Council to adjacent councils for a
The council will work with Scottish Water to more strategic approach to water management.
ensure that their new work on opportunities to
improve the combined sewer network and
•
The Edinburgh Sustainable Rainwater guidance is in
surface water network for climate adaptation are preparation and covers principles and factsheets on SUDs
built into in all policy, projects and council work.
including surface water issues in heritage areas, in airport

The
GWIG
are
agreeing actions to fit
in with City Plan green
infrastructure priorities.

The
draft
Water
Management Vision is
to be agreed by
Transport
and
Environment
Committee
in
November 2020.

restricted areas and raingardens in roads.
The council will publish guidance on Surface
Water Management techniques and factsheets
to ensure climate adaptation on all new
developments and guidance on retrofitting SUDs
to existing developments.
•
B27. Enhance the ecological
networks
for
carbon
sequestration

The Council will retain and extend vegetation along
active travel routes in areas where this would not
impede movement, in order to enhance biodiversity
and carbon sequestration capacity.

The Planning department, as part of the Local Development
Spatial Plan have initiated the Green Blue network project
due to start 1/10/2020, funded by SUSTRANS/ SEPA/CEC.
This
project
will
bring
together
open
space/biodiversity/ecosystems
services/active
travel/flooding/sewer flooding information into a spatial
green blue network for the city linked to a new green
infrastructure policy. The project will identify strategic
locations of ‘missing links’ that will improve city cooling
effects and ecological networks, permeability and water
attenuation by developing green blue infrastructure
projects. The Spatial Plan is due in December 2020. All
other aspects due to complete in October 2022.

M

Outputs from Green
Blue network to be
taken
into
consideration during
development of next
Active Travel Action
Plan (ATAP 2020-30)
and through planning
consent
of
new
developments.

The Council will invite expert partners to advise on
and co-produce council guidance and training to
improve the understanding and skills across the
organisation which are needed to support
meaningful sustainability impact assessments and
reporting.

A ‘Carbon Scenario Tool’ has been developed in
partnership with the University of Edinburgh to support
sustainability impact assessment and reporting. The tool
enables carbon footprinting at a city, Council, and project
level and is being applied to major Council projects on a
phased basis.

Phased application of
Carbon Scenario Tool
to
key
future
development
proposals, in-line with
prioritisation criteria.

Training will also be provided for elected members.
Council report authorisation systems and guidance
will be reviewed to ensure reports are not authorised
for submission without appropriate consideration of
carbon impacts and sustainability.

Sessions for political groups have been offered in October.

The Council Sustainability Board will take
responsibility for collectively assessing the quality of
sustainability reports by receiving a quarterly highlevel review of key reports. The Corporate
Sustainability Team will provide support for selfassessment and continuous improvement.

The Sustainability Programme Board has not met due to
prioritisation of Adaptation and Renewal activity during
Covid. The Carbon Scenario Tool will be applied to key
future development proposals, in line with prioritisation
criteria, with outputs being included in Committee reports
where relevant.

Delay
to M
original
timeline due
to
Covid
impacting on
recruitment of
Europeanfunded team
and
suspension of
Sustainability
Programme
Board during
Covid.

•

Page 150

Organisational
•
O28.
Implement
an
exemplar
approach
to
evaluating and reporting on
the sustainability impact of
Council
decisions
in
committee reports.
•
•
•

•
•

Work has begun to review and update guidance on
environmental assessment tools for projects / decisions not
suitable for processing through the Carbon Scenario Tool.

•
O29. Improve sustainability
across Council facilities,
beginning with Waverley
Court and focusing initially
on catering supply chains,
food waste and single-use
plastics.

The Council will identify opportunities to remove
single use plastics within Council operations, taking
a phased approach to catering and food waste
beginning with replacing watercoolers and plastic
bottles with plumbed in supplies within Waverley
Court.

Catering supply food chains are all managed through
Scotland Excel and sustainability features heavily as part of
the tender process – suppliers are asked as part of the
tender about local sourcing and local supply chains.
Waverley court has plumbed in water coolers in every tea
point and staff are encouraged to use this in the first
instance; our water supplier has switched to cans or cartons
of water to increase sustainability.

Increase in L
single-use
plastics due
to infection
control
requirement
s.

Prior to lockdown a trial was started with a local company
to collect and recycle coffee cups from the canteen and
discounts were offered to those bringing their own cup /
food containers.

Page 151

•
O30. Deliver an accelerated
reduction in the use of paper
and scope the sustainability
impacts of further shifts
towards paperless working
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Council has set up a Paperless Strategy Significant investment has been made in both the physical
Working Group, which is supporting services to and technological infrastructure of the Council’s Print and
reduce print volumes and accelerate the shift to Mail operations to support paperless working. In 2019/20
paperless working, for example through increasing there was good progress made, notably:
the use of digital alternative to physical posting.
• reduction in the use of colour printing ink, and paper in
copiers – reduced by 17% - 6.9 million pages and now
Where paper must be used, the Council is using
using recycled paper as default.
recycled paper (with the exception of libraries as
• A reduction in manually produced letters and a move to on
customers are paying for this service).
line production, meaning many less vans picking up mail to
be posted.
The Council will now work to identify suitable
•
Scanning of incoming mail has also meant less van
sustainable options for envelopes and bring forward
deliveries
of mail across the city, as mail can be delivered
a replacement programme.
Electric vehicles being phased in.
The
Council
will
promote
paperless
working/recycled paper among all relevant staff
groups, highlighting the carbon and waste
implications of non-recycled paper, as part of work
to highlight the contribution staff can make to
achieving our 2030 carbon target.

Covid
has L
accelerated
the use of
electronic
media in lieu
of paper in
many
processes.

It is anticipated that
coffee cup recycling is
will resume after staff
return
to
Waverly
Court.
Action to reduce food
waste
will
be
considered following
staff return to Waverley
Court.
This policy shift may
have cost implications
that need to be
assessed on a case by
case basis
SWIP
action
complete

•
O31.
Build
colleagues’
awareness of carbon issues
and provide development
•
opportunities for them •to
learn
more
and
act
independently

•
•

The Council will identify and gather high-quality
digital resources to create an online bank of
information on carbon and sustainability issues.

The Edinburgh Talks Climate website was launched in July
2020 to ensure people have useful information which helps
and encourages them to make more sustainable choices.
The site has weekly themes to help people find tips, share
ideas, inspire others, and take local action on subjects such
as food, travel, energy, sustainable living and plants and
wildlife.

This will be promoted through engagement and
communications activity with colleagues, to raise
awareness of digital resources and help colleagues
identify opportunities for carbon reduction at work
and at home

Edinburgh Talks Climate has been promoted to staff, with
the twin aims of raising staff awareness of sustainability
issues and encouraging sharing of learning on ways to
tackle climate change and act more sustainably through
everyday choices staff make in their personal and
professional lives.

This work will support the identification of long-term
information or development needs, which could be
the subject of a future business case

Delay
to L
original
timeline due
to impact of
Covid
on
recruitment of
ClimateKICfunded
sustainability
team

SWIP action complete

Majority of air M
travel for CEC
business
suspended in
2020

A full report on CEC’s
international travel and
related
carbon
emissions
will
be
produced in Autumn
2021.

Ongoing: promotion of
sustainability
issues
via Edinburgh Talks
council social media
channels, and through
staff
newsletters,
managers updates and
Chief Executive Vlogs

Page 152

A programme of staff communication and engagement was
launched in September 2020 and includes:
•
Online resources including sustainability information
and training opportunities, hosted on the Council
intranet
•
Improved sustainability information on the Council’s
external website
•
Information for staff promoting the Council’s net zero
ambition
•
2 CECiL modules on sustainability within the
programme of online training for new Council employees
• Other digital resources and information on carbon and
sustainability issues which will be expanded over time.

•
O32. Support colleagues to
use more sustainable travel
modes
for
personal,
commuting and business
•
travel.

•

The Council currently has a well-developed
programme to promote and support sustainable and
active travel among staff, to support both carbon
reduction and health and wellbeing outcomes.
The Council will undertake additional promotional
activities to raise awareness among staff of the
environmental, economic and health benefits of
switching to more sustainable forms of transport,
and of the supports available to them through the
Council and other city partners.
The Council will develop a forward plan for the Bike
to Work scheme, including what activities,
engagement and communication will be delivered to

•
•

•
•

Low carbon, electric and active travel are themes within
the staff engagement programme outlined at SWIP action
O32 above.
The ride to work scheme has been actively promoted
during our wellbeing and benefits roadshows, previously
held in localities throughout the city and now virtually. In
addition, our Orb content, communications continue to
promote the scheme and an increase to the limit from
£1000 to £3000.
4,000 colleagues targeted for the face-to-face sessions,
with 150 signed up to the first remote session. Further
virtual roadshows are in plan.
Business Travel Guidance was reviewed and approved

Delay
to
reporting on
air travel and
related
emissions.

•

•
O33. Actively promote the
Council’s commitment to
sustainability within staff
recruitment advertisements
o
and
other
materials
o
promoting the Council as an
employer.

Page 153

Communities
Partners

help support colleagues begin and/or increase their
use of cycles for personal, commuting and/or •
business travel
The Council will strengthen relevant travel policies
to ensure that staff minimise the use of air travel
particularly for domestic travel and report on this as
part of the sustainability programme

by CLT in June 2018.
The guidance outlines the importance of using the most
efficient mode with a focus on minimising the
environmental impact of the journeys made.

The Council will review existing templates and
guidelines for advertising vacancies and creating
other materials promoting the Council as an
employer, to identify opportunities to:
promote the Council’s commitment to sustainability
communicate the Council’s ambition for Edinburgh
to be carbon neutral by 2030 and highlight the
Council’s commitment to supporting staff to become
carbon literate.

A sustainability-focused recruitment campaign promoting
the Council’s 2030 net zero ambition was delivered over
late summer as part of work to fill European-funded
sustainability posts.

There is a coalition commitment to allocate 1% of
budget using participatory budgeting.
Work currently in progress to develop a participatory
budgeting framework to achieve a shift from current
grants-based approach to mainstreaming.
As part of our approach to participatory budgeting,
the Council will seek out budget lines that present
opportunities to contribute to the sustainability
outcomes of the organisation.

A Participatory Budgeting (PB) Officers Group has
developed a framework for considering PB activity, taking
account of mainstream, grant and commissioning budget
opportunities. From the initial budget lines identified from
this process work is planned to develop proposals for
implementing PB in a number of services areas.

The Council then updated its core MyJobScotland
information to ensure detail on its sustainability
commitments are reflected in all advertisements.

Council
L
recruitment
activity
severely
impacted in
earlier stages
of the Covid
outbreak.

SWIP action complete

and

•
C34. Seek out Budget lines
that present opportunities •for
sustainability
focused
participatory budgeting
•

•
C35. Write to all ALEOs
asking for them to adopt the•
2030 target and to work with
the Council to develop an
action
plan
for
implementation
and•
indicating the Council’s
intent to review service level
agreements to reflect this

Engagement with ALEOs will be carried out via the
Governance Hub.
The Council will work with ALEOs to signpost them
to resources for calculating their carbon footprint
and developing a plan for working towards
becoming carbon neutral
The Council will engage all its ALEOs, which
include:
• Edinburgh Leisure

A broader review of PB will now be carried out as part of the
Adaptation and Renewal Programme, to be considered as
part of the budgetary process. Within this context, specific
consideration will be given to identifying opportunities for
activity to address the 2030 target.
A session was held pre-Covid with the governance hub to
raise awareness of this workstream. The Governance Hub
members had also asked for further engagement on
sustainability issues as it was a major objective for many of
their Boards as well as the Council. Council agreed in
spring 2020 to review its corporate working approach and
associated documentation with its ALEOs which would
include service level agreements (SLAs).

M

Delay
original
timeline

to

Review
ALEOs
paused

of M
was

Review
Participatory
Budgeting

of

Council’s
Corporate
Governance team to
ensure that the 2030
target is an integral
part of the Council’s
objective setting in its
SLAs.

request.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Lothian Buses
Transport for Edinburgh
Edinburgh Trams Ltd
Capital City Partnership
Marketing Edinburgh
Capital Theatre’s Trust
EICC

The future of Edinburgh’s transport ALEO is currently under
consideration and officers have begun work to develop a
suitable SLA that reflects the Council’s commitments to
sustainability and poverty. This will set the standard for all
Council ALEO SLAs moving forward.
This approach will require engagement with the ALEOs on
the setting of sustainability objectives which would include a
plan to work towards becoming carbon neutral. Further
engagement with ALEOs is planned in October 2020.

Pension fund investments in fossil fuel extraction not
only contribute to climate change, but increasingly
carry the risk of stranded assets
The Council will consider and report on the risks of
stranded assets arising from investment in
hydrocarbons as soon as is practicable
The Council will then seek to work with the other
employers within Lothian Pension Fund to consider
a programme of divestment from such activities

An initial meeting with Lothian Pension Fund (LPF) took
place in September 2020 to explore how this workstream
interacts with LPF’s Responsible Investment policy, its legal
and regulatory objectives and how the Council can take this
forward with the fund, employers and members.

•
C37.
Respond
to
SG
consultation on the role of
Public Bodies in tackling
climate change and seek•
membership of the national•
high ambition group

The High Ambition Climate Network (HACN) offers
an opportunity to collaborate across and learn from
other public bodies who have set or are considering
setting similar targets to Edinburgh.

A comprehensive response to the SG consultation on the
role of Public Bodies in tackling Climate Change was
approved by the Council’s P&S Committee on 26th
November 2019 and submitted to SG thereafter.

The Council will gain from these relationships and
contribute to a national effort to tackling the impact
of climate change at the same time as promoting the
work and reputation of the Council.

The establishment of a national High Ambition Climate
Action Group by Scottish Government has stalled due to
Covid.

Page 154

•
C36. Work with the other
employers and members
within Lothian Pension Fund
•
to seek a wholesale shift
away from investment in
hydrocarbons.
•

Delay
to H
planned date
for
initial
meeting.
Now
resolved.

In the interim, CEC are working with Scottish Government
through the Scottish Cities Alliance and will seek
involvement in any HACN which may be established
following publication of the Scottish Government’s updated
Climate Change plan in December 2020.

Scottish
E
Government
establishment
of the HACN
has stalled

Further
work
to
analyse
the
most
effective ways that the
Council can promote
divestment
of
hydrocarbons by LPF.

SWIP
completed.

action

The
Council
will
continue
to
seek
further opportunities to
engage with Scottish
Government
and
uptake these as they
become available.

Sustainability Strategy
Development Timeline

Annex B

20202 Q4

Q1 2021

Q2 2021

Q3 2021

Q4 2021

WORKSTREAMS

OCT

NOV

DEC

JAN

FEB

High-level priorities

APRIL

MAY

Quarterly City Partner
Meeting

First City Partner
meeting

DEVELOPME
NT &
DRAFTING

MARCH

JUNE

JULY

Quarterly City Partner
Meeting

AUG

SEP

Quarterly City
Partner Meeting

OCT

NOV

COP26

Strategy outline
Consultation draft to Committee

Page 155
EVIDENCE,
INSIGHT &
MONITORING

Consultation draft
Re-draft

Public Consultation

Insight and data analysis

Stocktake

Climate Risk Assessment / Adaptation priorities
2030 Target Report

KPI development

Primary Youth
Summit
Strategy Consultation

COMMUNICAT
ION & CITIZEN
ENGAGEMENT

Staff engagement

Feed into final Sustainability Strategy
Phase 2 engagement activities

‘Edinburgh Talks Climate’ on-line citizen dialogue

Publication

DEC

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.3
Policy and Sustainability Committee

10.00am, Tuesday, 10 November 2020

Public Bodies Climate Change Duties Report 2019/20
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

1.

Recommendations

Recommends that Committee
1.1

considers and approves the City of Edinburgh Council Public Bodies Climate
Change Duties Report 2019/20, for submission to the Scottish Government on 30
November 2020;

1.2

notes that as part of the Council’s new approach to sustainability agreed on 14 May
2019 an ambitious new target for the city and Council to be net zero by 2030 was
set. This new target will be reflected in future reporting on the Council’s public
bodies duties; and

1.3

further notes that the baseline and trajectory for reaching net zero by 2030 will be
set out in a report to Committee in December.

Andrew Kerr
Chief Executive
Contact: Fiona Macleod, Senior Policy and Insight Officer,
E-mail: fiona.macleod@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 3513

Page 157

Report
Public Bodies Climate Change Duties Report 2019/20
2.

Executive Summary

2.1

This report seeks Committee’s approval of the Council’s statutory report for 2019/20
on compliance with the Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 Public Bodies Climate
Change Duties (PBCCD), for submission to the Scottish Government on 30
November 2020.

2.2

The Act requires the Council to report against its emissions reduction target. In
2011 the Council set a target of achieving a 42% reduction in its operational
corporate emissions by 2020/21 from a 2005/2006 baseline, in line with Scottish
national targets. Carbon emissions since 2005/06 have reduced by 60%. This
means that the Council has now achieved and surpassed the 42% target and a year
early.

2.3

This 60% reduction in emissions is mainly due to the large reduction in Council
waste going to landfill, following the waste reprocessing facilities at Millerhill
becoming fully operational in 2019/20.1.

2.4

Going forward the Council’s PBCCD submission will report on progress towards
meeting the Council’s new target of becoming net zero by 2030, agreed by
Committee in May 2019. The first progress report on this new target is due in March
2021 and a report outlining the proposed approach including baseline scope, and
reductions trajectories to 2030, will be brought to Committee in December.

3.

Background

3.1

The City of Edinburgh Council is a ‘Major Player’ under the terms of the Climate
Change (Scotland) Act 2009 and has a legislative duty to submit an annual report
on what it is doing to meet the statutory Public Bodies Climate Change Duties
(PBCCD). This report must be submitted to Scottish Government by 30 November
each year and will cover the most recently completed financial year.

3.2

The Public Bodies Climate Change Duties Report has seven sections.
3.2.1 Part 1: Organisational Profile

1

As our PBCCD return shows (Appendix 1) the emissions generated from turning waste into energy through
burning and the anaerobic digestion of food waste into energy are significantly lower than the emissions
generated from landfill waste. Diverting waste to Millerhill has had a more positive carbon impact overall
compared to the waste going to landfill.

2

Page 158

3.2.2 Part 2: Governance, Management and Strategy in relation to climate change
3.2.3 Part 3: Corporate Emissions, Targets and Projects
3.2.4 Part 4: Adaptation to the impacts of climate change
3.2.5 Part 5: Procurement actions and achievements regarding climate change
3.2.6 Part 6: Data Validation and sign-off Declaration by a senior person
responsible for climate change
3.2.7 Part 7: Reporting on Wider Influence
3.3

The first six parts apply to the Council’s own carbon emissions reduction, climate
change adaptation and sustainable procurement activities. Part seven is not a
statutory requirement and is being reported on for the first time this year. It is
envisioned the information provided here will be expanded and improved over
future reporting cycles.

3.4

Integrated Joint Boards (IJBs) are required to complete a climate change report
under the Climate Change (Duties of Public Bodies: Reporting Requirements)
(Scotland) Order 2015. This is the fourth year that the IJB will report. In practice,
the IJB simply reports that carbon emissions are generated and reported as part of
the Council and NHS activity, through which the Health and Social Care Partnership
delivers its services. IJB emissions are therefore effectively reported by the sum of
the relevant parts of both the Council and Lothian NHS PBCCD reports.

4.

Main report
Organisational profile and governance

4.1

Parts one and two of the report detail the Council’s organisational profile and
climate change governance and management arrangements. It describes the
political decision-making structures, including the role of the Policy and
Sustainability Committee and Climate Emergency and Sustainability APOG, along
with relevant high-level strategic and operational structures across the Council.
Progress made in the 2019/20 financial year has been detailed, as well as detailing
measures that are planned in the year ahead.
Council emissions

4.2

Part three of the report covers the Council and Edinburgh Leisure’s own carbon
emissions. The overall reduction in these combined carbon emissions since
2005/06 is 60%. This represents a very significant reduction in our emissions,
surpassing the Council set target of achieving a 42% reduction in emissions by
2020/21.

4.3

There has been a 36% reduction in Council and Edinburgh Leisure carbon
emissions since last year. In 2018/19 our carbon footprint was 121,396, dropping to
77,278 in 2019/20. One of the reasons for this successful reduction is a 97%
reduction in Council waste going to landfill from 2018/19, following Millerhill waste
3

Page 159

processing facilities becoming fully operational in 2019/20. While there have been
concerns raised about carbon emissions from burning waste at plants like Millerhill,
these are off-set by the positive impact of energy generation – both through direct
production of electricity for the grid and the planned potential use of the waste heat
for heating. As shown by our PBCCD data, diverting waste to Millerhill has more
positive carbon impact overall compared to the waste going to landfill.
4.4

Stationary emissions, which cover emissions from energy use (electricity, natural
gas and other fuels, as outlined in the below graph) now make up 75% of the
Council’s carbon emissions footprint. Emissions from landfill waste, recycling and
waste to energy recovery make up 8%, transport 16% and water supply and
treatment make up 1%.

The City of Edinburgh Council Carbon Footprint 2019-2020
Car, Taxi, Rail & Flights Water - Supply & Treatment
(Transport)
1%
2%
Fleet Vehicles Fuel
(Transport)
14%

Landfill, recycling &
energy recovery (Waste)
8%

Natural Gas (Stationary)
39%

Grid Electricity
(Stationary)
35%

4.5

Gas Oil & LPG
(Stationary)
1%

Key points relating to this year’s footprint include:
4.5.1 The combined carbon footprint associated with gas and electricity
consumption has decreased by 7% since 2018/19. This figure includes
Edinburgh Leisure run properties. Consumption of electricity has decreased
by 5% since last year.
4.5.2 The greening of the grid has resulted in the carbon factor for electricity
reducing by 11% between 18/19 and 19/20. This has contributed significantly
to the reduction in emissions associated with electricity use. It is likely that
this pattern will continue in future years as the grid continues to decarbonise.

4

Page 160

4.5.3 Reductions in street lighting electricity consumption as a result of the LED
upgrade programme accounted for more than half of the overall reduction to
electricity use. Further reductions are attributable to energy efficiency
improvements and increased generation of electricity through combined heat
and power plant. Property closures during March 2020 will also have had a
modest impact on 19/20 electricity use. Carbon reductions associated with
property closures will be more significant in 2020/21.
4.5.4 As the Council’s gas use is predominantly required to meet thermal demand
in buildings, its use is proportional to the severity of the weather in any given
year. 2019/20 was marginally (circa 4% in terms of space heating metrics)
colder than 2018/19. There has been a modest increase in gas use of 1%,
which corresponds with the colder weather and increased opening hours of
Edinburgh Leisure facilities. As with electricity, efficiencies have been
realised through improvements in plant and fabric use across the Council’s
estate.
4.5.5 This is the fourth year of Edinburgh Community Solar Cooperative (ECSC)
solar panels being operational on Council and Edinburgh Leisure buildings.
The amount of renewable energy generated during the year was 1.4 million
kWh, an 8% increase on last year. ECSC have launched Phase 2 of their
project with solar panels being installed on an additional 6 Council and
Edinburgh Leisure buildings with Council officers exploring how this can be
increased further. .
4.5.6 There has been a 97% reduction in the tonnage of municipal waste sent to
landfill since last year following the diverting in 2019/20 of an additional
79,145 tonnes of Council waste to Millerhill recycling and processing
facilities. In total, 107,276 tonnes of Council waste were diverted from landfill
to Millerhill in 2019/20. The energy recovery facility at Millerhill coming online
means that waste which was previously treated as landfill is now used as a
resource, so that energy is generated. This replaces emissions elsewhere in
the energy supply industry and provides for the reuse of waste heat from the
combustion process as the surrounding area develops. The facility also
removes and recycles metals from the residual waste stream which provides
a further environmental benefit.
4.5.7 The Council’s transport footprint has increased by 25% from last year.
Transport now accounts for 16% of the Council’s overall emissions. This
includes emissions from fuel consumed by council fleet vehicles and staff
mileage. There has been a 26% increase in passenger usage of fleet
vehicles since last year. The Council is increasing its electric fleet vehicles
year on year and this will lead to a reduction in transport emissions going
forward.
4.5.8 The carbon footprint associated with water is 736 tonnes, which is about 1%
of the Council’s total carbon footprint.
5

Page 161

4.6

The overall reduction in carbon emissions since the baseline year of 2005/06 is
60%. This means that the Council has reached and surpassed its previously set
target of a 42% reduction in emissions by 2020/21. The Council has set a new
target of net zero emissions by 2030 and future reporting will be set against this
new target. The first progress report on this new target is due in March 2021 and a
report outlining the proposed approach including baseline scope, and reductions
trajectories to 2030, will be brought to Committee in December.

4.7

Questions 3e to 3j of Appendix 1 relate to carbon reduction projects. The projects
described in this section have been provided by Property and Facilities
Management and Edinburgh Leisure. Active energy management of the Council’s
operational estate is a key focus across Property and Facilities Management.
Through the short window improvement plan, three key areas have been identified
including the commitment for Council new builds to achieve Passivhaus standards,
the investigation of deep energy retrofit for the Council’s estate and the expansion
of solar PV across Council buildings.
Climate Change Adaptation and Procurement Sections
4.7.1 Part 4 of the PBCCD Report covers the Council’s climate change adaptation
activity. The return shows a large increase in adaptation activity across the
Council, with climate risk and adaptation being embedded across a range of
Council services, polices and plans. This includes embedding of adaptation
into planning policy and processes, development and implementation of
green infrastructure and nature-based solutions to climate-related impacts,
the establishment of Edinburgh Drainage Partnership to identify and reduce
flood risk and manage water in the city, integration of climate change risks
and adaptation responses into Edinburgh’s Biodiversity Action Plan, work to
identify risks and protect Edinburgh’s World Heritage Site, historic buildings
and our coastal communities, and integration of adaptation into Council and
citywide resilience planning processes. A citywide Edinburgh Adapts Steering
Group works to mainstream climate change adaptation across the city and
oversee implementation of the Edinburgh Adapts Climate Change Action
Plan (2016-2020). Adaptation will be a key component of the city-wide 2030
Sustainability Strategy which is currently being developed, with formal
consultation planned for spring 2021.
4.7.2 Part 5 of the PBCCD Report covers the Council’s sustainable procurement
activity. The Council’s Commercial and Procurement Services Division
continues to evidence that sustainability is firmly embedded in procurement
policies and contract activity. A new five year Sustainable Procurement
Strategy was launched in March 2020. Procurement activity is contributing to
the Council’s compliance with climate change duties in relation to
construction, housing, public transport, active travel and waste activities,
among others.

6

Page 162

5.

Financial impact

5.1

There are no financial impacts arising from this report.

6.

Stakeholder/Community Impact

6.1

Consultation has taken place with Commercial and Procurement Services,
Planning, Flood Prevention, Corporate Property, Waste Services, Environment,
Resilience and Edinburgh Leisure in compiling this report.

6.2

This report has been assessed in respect of the three elements of the Climate
Change (Scotland) Act 2009 Public Bodies Duties. In summary, the proposals in
this report will help improve social justice, economic wellbeing and environmental
good stewardship.

6.3

Equality and rights are a key component of the Council’s CCPBD report to Scottish
Government and are underpinned by principles including being inclusive, engaging
and sustainable.

7.

Background reading/external references

7.1

Public Bodies Climate Change Report 2018/19

7.2

Public Bodies Climate Change Report 2017/18

7.3

Public Bodies Climate Change Report 2016/17

8.

Appendices

Appendix I – Public Bodies Climate Change Report 2019-20 to the Scottish Government

7

Page 163

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
TABLE OF CONTENTS

Required
PART 1: PROFILE OF REPORTING BODY
PART 2: GOVERNANCE, MANAGEMENT AND STRATEGY
PART 3: EMISSIONS, TARGETS AND PROJECTS
PART 4: ADAPTATION
PART 5: PROCUREMENT
PART 6: VALIDATION AND DECLARATION

Recommended Reporting: Reporting on Wider Influence

Page 164

RECOMMENDED – WIDER INFLUENCE
OTHER NOTABLE REPORTABLE ACTIVITY

1

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

PART 1: PROFILE OF REPORTING BODY
1(a) Name of reporting body
City of Edinburgh Council

1(b) Type of body
Local Government

1(c) Highest number of full-time equivalent
staff in the body during the report year

Page 165

14,759

1(d) Metrics used by the body
Specify the metrics that the body uses to assess its performance in relation to climate change and sustainability.
Metric

Unit

Value

Comments

Population size
served

population

524,930 NRS for 19/20 reporting https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-bytheme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates/mid-2019

1(e) Overall budget of the body
Specify approximate £/annum for the report year.
Budget

Budget Comments

£1,032,000,000 This is net of fees and charges for services provided.

2

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
1(f) Report year
Report Year

Report Year Comments

2019/20 Financial (April to March)

1(g) Context
Provide a summary of the body’s nature and functions that are relevant to climate change reporting.

Page 166

The Council has a property portfolio comprising 604 operational buildings (this excludes investment buildings i.e. those owned by the Council
and operated as shops, pubs etc as these premises are not used for the discharge of public duties but includes 32 PPP/DBFM school buildings).
As a local authority, the City of Edinburgh Council is responsible for providing a range of public services, including education, social care, roads
and transport, economic development, housing and planning, environmental protection, waste management, cultural and leisure services. As a
public body, Integration Joint Boards (IJB) are required to prepare reports on compliance with climate change duties. Discussions are ongoing
between the City of Edinburgh Council, the Edinburgh IJB and NHS Lothian to ensure double accounting of emissions has not occurred.

3

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

PART 2: GOVERNANCE, MANAGEMENT AND STRATEGY
2(a) How is climate change governed in the body?
Provide a summary of the roles performed by the body’s governance bodies and members in relation to climate change. If any of the body’s
activities in relation to climate change sit outside its own governance arrangements (in relation to, for example, land use, adaptation, transport,
business travel, waste, information and communication technology, procurement or behaviour change), identify these activities and the
governance arrangements.
The Council set a new ambitious target of becoming carbon neutral by 2030. Sustainability and climate emergency action are being championed
within the Council and across the city through a significant programme of corporately led activity.
The Council's Policy and Sustainability Committee provides the political leadership. A Sustainability and Climate Emergency All Party Oversight
Group (APOG) and Sustainability Programme Board co-ordinate actions across the Council, drive programme implementation, provide officer and
elected member leadership and oversight and support the development of a new 2030 Sustainability Strategy.

Page 167

The APOG comprises the Convener and Vice Convener of the Policy and Sustainability Committee, the Council’s Sustainability Champion and an
elected member from each of the other political groups.
The Sustainability Programme Board is chaired by the Council’s Chief Executive and includes the Executive Director of Place as Senior
Responsible Officer for Sustainability and Heads of Service for the Council’s key service areas, including planning, transport, parks and
greenspace, property and facilities management, housing, procurement, finance and corporate function.
An Adaptation and Renewal Programme is being established as the Council’s response to the coronavirus outbreak. This programme aims to
ensure Edinburgh’s recovery from COVID-19 is a fair and green recovery, with sustainability, poverty alleviation and well-being as its core
objectives. A Programme Board co-ordinates the activity and an All-Party Oversight Group (APOG) provides political scrutiny and oversight of the
Programme.

4

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
2(b) How is climate change action managed and embedded by the body?
Provide a summary of how decision-making in relation to climate change action by the body is managed and how responsibility is allocated to the
body’s senior staff, departmental heads etc. If any such decision-making sits outside the body’s own governance arrangements (in relation to, for
example, land use, adaptation, transport, business travel, waste, information and communication technology, procurement or behaviour change),
identify how this is managed and how responsibility is allocated outside the body (JPEG, PNG, PDF, DOC)
The Strategy and Communications Team in the Chief Executive's Division lead on the corporate response to Government on carbon mitigation,
climate change adaptation and sustainability initiatives, including development of corporate strategies and action plans and engagement activities.
The Director for Place is the Council’s Senior Responsible Officer for Sustainability and leads at a strategic level on Council services relating to
housing, energy and water management, waste services, transport, planning, and parks. Sustainability is being embedded across the city through
major programmes such as the Council’s City Mobility Plan, City Centre Transformation Programme and the development of the Council’s new
local development plan, City Plan 2030. The Director of Resources is responsible for procurement, asset management and ICT.

Page 168

A Sustainability Programme Board has been established that aims to co-ordinate actions across the Council, drive programme implementation,
provide officer oversight of actions arising out of the Sustainability Programme and the Short Window Improvement Plan. The Programme Board
will lead the development of a 2030 Sustainability Strategy on behalf of the organisation with accountability for progress to the Policy and
Sustainability Committee.
Behavioural change and citizen engagement activity is coordinated by the Insight and Communications teams within Strategy and
Communications division and activity in this area will grow over coming years.
The Council is co-sponsor of the newly formed Edinburgh Climate Commission, which brings together key organisations and actors from across
the city, from the private, public and third sectors. The Commission aims to act as an enabler, working to accelerate action and impact on climate
change in the city, and provide independent, expert and authoritative advice.
2(c) Does the body have specific climate change mitigation and adaptation objectives in its corporate plan or similar document?
Objective

5

Doc Name

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
The Edinburgh 2050 City Vision sets out a long term vision for the future of Edinburgh and has been developed
following the broadest citizen engagement ever undertaken by the Council. The City Vision values – fair (inclusive,
affordable, connected), thriving (green, clean, sustainable), welcoming (happy, healthy, safe) and pioneering (culture,
data, business) – reflect a positive ambition based on citizens’ aspirations for the city. The City Vision consultation
found that what residents consider most important is for Edinburgh to be clean, green, sustainable and litter-free.
People want to live in a city where they know the air is clean and that there are plenty of green spaces for them to
enjoy.

2050 Edinburgh City
Vision

Committing to carbon neutrality is one way in which organisations can embed the 2050 Edinburgh City Vision
principles into their work and play their part in making Edinburgh the place our citizens want it to be in 2050. The
Council is working with wider city partners to create a coalition of communities across city stakeholders committed to
delivering on the city vision principles and supporting one another in embedding these within their own strategies and
values. The 2050 City Vision will inform the development of a 2030 Sustainability Strategy for the city.

Page 169

Council Commitments related to a better environment and transport systems that work for all:
17. Guarantee 10% of the transport budget on improving cycling in the city
18. Improve Edinburgh’s air quality and reduce carbon emissions. Explore the implementation of low emission zones
19. Keep the city moving by reducing congestion, improving public transport to rural west Edinburgh and managing
roadworks to avoid unnecessary disruption to the public
25. Increase recycling to 60% from 46% during the lifetime of the administration

City of Edinburgh
Commitments

Vision: Edinburgh in 2020 will be a low carbon, resource efficient city, delivering a resilient local economy and vibrant
flourishing communities in a rich natural setting. Objectives for 2020. Edinburgh will:
• reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 42% by 2020
• adapt to the unavoidable impacts of climate change in partnership with key stakeholders and local communities
• maintain a good quality of life for all its citizens while consuming minimum resources
• be a leading knowledge, demonstration and development centre for sustainable development
• have a new trademark – the “Sustainable City” – attracting visitors, industry and investors
• have created significant new employment opportunities in low carbon and green technologies
• have preserved and enhanced its biodiversity, landscape and coastal environments

Sustainable Edinburgh
2020 strategic
framework

6

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
One of the 5 strategic aims is "a resilient city" and the two relevant outcomes are:
- our built and natural environment is protected and enhanced
- Edinburgh is a low carbon, connected city with transport and infrastructure that is fit for the future

Programme for the
Capital: The City of
Edinburgh Council
Business Plan 2017-22

2(d) Does the body have a climate change plan or strategy?
If yes, provide the name of any such document and details of where a copy of the document may be obtained or accessed.
Sustainable Energy Action Plan 2015-2020
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk//download/downloads/id/6756/sustainable_energy_action_plan_easy_read.pdf
[Second] Carbon Management Plan 2015/16-2020/21; adopted September 2015;
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/directory_record/683821/carbon_management_plan_20152016_-_20202021

Page 170

Resilient Edinburgh Climate Change Adaptation Framework 2015-2020; adopted October 2014;
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/download/1256/resilient_edinburgh
Edinburgh Adapts Climate Change Adaptation Action Plan 2016-2020; adopted August 2016
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/8506/edinburgh_adapts_climate_change_action_plan_2016-2020
Edinburgh Adapts Our Vision 2016-2050
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/8507/edinburgh_adapts_our_vision_2016-2050

2(e) Does the body have any plans or strategies covering the following areas that include climate change?
Topic area

Name of Document and Link

Time
period
covered

Adaptation

Resilient Edinburgh Climate Change Adaptation
Framework

2014 - 2020

Edinburgh Adapts Our Vision 2016-2050

2016 - 2020

7

Comments

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

Business travel

Edinburgh Adapts Climate Change Action Plan 20162020

2016 - 2020

Business Travel and Accommodation Guidance

Published
August
2018

The Council’s Business Travel and
Accommodation Guidance recognises that there
is a need to travel to carry out Council business
but states that travel outside the UK should on
principle, only be taken in exceptional
circumstances. Carbon impact is currently
considered as part of the overall cost benefit
assessment.
Within this process, the Council must be clear;
that the business travel is necessary; the type of
transport used is the most efficient; and that we
have tried to minimise the environmental impact.

Page 171

The guidance further states that the Council will
always seek to make sustainable transport
choices by prioritising low emission modes of
transport. This mean that in addition to an
assessment of cost and journey times, C02
emissions are quantified and considered when
choosing the type of transport.
Staff Travel

8

Active Travel Action Plan

2016 - 2020 As an employer, we have: a bike to work scheme;
established an allowance for cycling on Council
business; produced a policy on the use of bikes
by employees including the use of pool bikes;
invested over £60k in active travel facilities such
as showers, lockers and cycle parking in Council
buildings; and supported a number of cycle
initiatives including bike breakfasts. We will
encourage our partners to undertake similar
measures and work to increase uptake of the
CFE awards among local businesses. Cycle
Friendly Schools and the STARS programme:

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
This is a national award scheme run by Cycling
Scotland that recognises the wide range of work
schools do to promote and encourage cycling and
to make their schools cycle friendly. Schools are
encouraged to apply when they become part of
the I-bike scheme and we now have over 40
schools subscribed.
Energy efficiency

Energy Management Policy for Operational Buildings

2013 - 2020 Revised Energy Management Policy which brings
the policy in line with ISO50001 (2018). The
policy is applicable to all the Council’s operational
buildings and activities.

Fleet transport

Electric Vehicle Action Plan

Approved
Dec 2017

Sets out the Council’s approach to the
development of Electric Vehicles.

Fleet Renewal Programme

Page 172

Information and
communication
technology
Renewable energy

Sustainable Energy Action Plan

2015 - 2020 Increase the use of renewables in both the
domestic and non-domestic sectors and
encourage innovation in adopting new
technologies. This includes an assessment of the
Council’s estate for renewable energy potential
and installation.

Sustainable/renewable Sustainable Energy Action Plan
heat

2015 - 2020 Increasing the amount of energy generated by
renewables is one of strategic outcomes of the
SEAP.

Waste management

Waste and Recycling Strategy

2010 - 2025

Waste Prevention Strategy

Adopted
2005

Resource Use Policy
Adopted
2000

9

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Water and sewerage

Water Management Policy

Adopted
2006

Land Use

Asset Management and Property Strategy

Published
2015

Other (state topic area Local Development Plan
covered in comments)
Edinburgh Design Guidance
City Plan 2030

Published
2016

A new partnership to enhance water management
across Edinburgh and the Lothians has been
launched in 2018. Scottish Water, Scottish
Government, SEPA and local authorities across
the region have joined forces to plan for future
growth and changes in climate that impact on
how the area’s waste water and surface water is
processed.

The section on caring for the environment has a
section on flood prevention.
The Design Guidance supports the Local
Development Plan. It was reviewed in 2018.

Page 173

The Council has started to prepare the next local
development plan for Edinburgh ‘City Plan 2030’.
The consultation ‘Choices for City Plan 2030’
identified and set out ways to address changes
required to support climate change adaptation,
including improvements and changes required to
planning policies and supplementary guidance.
Following consideration of the consultation
responses received the Council is now preparing
a Proposed Plan version of the City Plan 2030
with the intension that it is reported to Committee
for approval at the end of the year prior to being
placed on deposit for the formal period of
representations.
Other (state topic area Edinburgh City Centre Transformation Strategy
covered in comments)

10

Place-based strategy to improve the public realm
and transform Edinburgh’s city centre into a
pedestrian and cycling friendly zone, well
connected by public transport and reduced car
traffic.

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Other (state topic area City Mobility Plan – draft for consultation
covered in comments)

Ten year mobility and transport strategy that aims
to decarbonise Edinburgh’s transport system by
2030 through transforming the way people, goods
and services travel around the city.

Other (state topic area Edinburgh Biodiversity Action Plan 2019-2021
covered in comments)

This is the fifth edition of the plan. It includes
actions on carbon sequestration and adaptation

2(f) What are the body’s top 5 priorities for climate change governance, management and strategy for the year ahead?
Provide a brief summary of the body’s areas and activities of focus for the year ahead.
Develop a new Sustainability Strategy for the city to 2030 to achieve Edinburgh's target of being carbon neutral by 2030.

Page 174

Develop the next phase of Edinburgh Adapts through a climate change risk assessment of the city and ensuring the new Sustainability Strategy
for the city sets out a strategic response to the unavoidable impacts of climate change, supported by an Edinburgh Adapts action plan.
Work with the newly established Edinburgh Climate Commission and city stakeholders to achieve a citywide commitment to a carbon neutral and
climate resilient Edinburgh by 2030.
Work towards achieving a green economic recovery for the city through the Council's newly established Adaptation and Renewal Programme.
This will include a refreshed economy strategy and a new council business plan due in early 2021.
Mainstream sustainability into all the Council's services, functions and activities.

2(g) Has the body used the Climate Change Assessment Tool(a) or equivalent tool to self-assess its capability / performance?
If yes, please provide details of the key findings and resultant action taken.
Yes. The recommendations of the independent audit of Council activity on climate change and sustainability by the Edinburgh Centre for
Carbon Innovation at the University of Edinburgh are being implemented as the Council develops a comprehensive programme of activity to
tackle climate change and work sustainably. As part of its European-funded Healthy Clean Cities sustainability programme, the

Council has been working with Edinburgh Centre for Carbon Innovation and the University of Edinburgh to develop a ‘Carbon
Scenario Tool’ to support the city’s 2030 net zero target. The tool has been developed to support city-wide and Council-specific

11

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
emissions footprinting, enabling tracking towards the Council’s 2030 target with the first progress report against the new target
due in March 2021.
The tool will also support greater consideration of sustainability issues within key Council decisions by providing data on the
carbon consequences of different proposed projects or programmes, and where possible, assessing their impact on other factors
such as air quality - allowing for greater transparency and comparison between different options.

2(h) Supporting information and best practice
Provide any other relevant supporting information and any examples of best practice by the body in relation to governance, management and
strategy.

Page 175

In May 2019, the Council declared a Climate Emergency and set a target for the city to become carbon neutral by 2030. This has placed
sustainability and climate change at the centre of Council strategic and policy discussions. The Council is taking forward a series of citywide
initiatives to reduce emissions and adapt including a new city mobility plan which aims to decarbonise Edinburgh's transport system by 2030, and
an ambitious £2.5 billion investment programme over the next ten years to build and improve Council homes and deliver on Council commitments
on affordable housing and net zero carbon. Consultation on the Council's new local development plan, City Plan 2030, includes a proposal that all
new development should be zero carbon and set out ways to address the changes required to support climate change adaptation.
The City of Edinburgh Council is the only UK city that was successful in being selected as a Healthy Clean Cities Deep Demonstration (HCCDD)
site. Funded through a partnership between EIT and the Climate Knowledge Innovation Community, the HCCDD programme works with 15 other
European cities who are recognised as having a high degree of ambition in relation to sustainability and a commitment to innovation to change
whole systems and trigger transformation to a net zero and resilient future.
An independent Edinburgh Climate Commission has been established and is co-sponsored by Council and the Edinburgh Centre for Carbon
Innovation. and the Commission will work with city partners to provide independent and expert advice and challenge, to galvanise partnership
action to achieve a carbon neutral and well adapted city by 2030.

12

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
PART 3: EMISSIONS, TARGETS AND PROJECTS
3a Emissions from start of the year which the body uses as a baseline (for its carbon footprint) to the end of the report year
Reference Year

Year

Baseline carbon footprint 2005/06

Scope1 Scope2 Scope3 Total

Units Comments

192,911 tCO2e This baseline was chosen following Carbon Trust Standard
accreditation.

Page 176

Year 1 carbon footprint

2006/07

0 tCO2e

Year 2 carbon footprint

2007/08

0 tCO2e

Year 3 carbon footprint

2008/09

0 tCO2e

Year 4 carbon footprint

2009/10

0 tCO2e

Year 5 carbon footprint

2010/11

171,568 tCO2e

Year 6 carbon footprint

2011/12

163,744 tCO2e

Year 7 carbon footprint

2012/13

165,454 tCO2e

Year 8 carbon footprint

2013/14 35,794 56,859 40,077 132,730 tCO2e First year of using the RES Carbon Footprinting Tool & Project
(CFPR) Tool

Year 9 carbon footprint

2014/15 40,624 64,158 39,283 144,065 tCO2e Used the CFPR tool

Year 10 carbon footprint 2015/16 40,285 50,973 58,611 149,870 tCO2e Used the CFPR tool
Year 11 carbon footprint 2016/17 39,405 44,587 55,413 139,405 tCO2e Used the CFPR tool
Year 12 carbon footprint 2017/18 40,067 38,054 73,221 151,342 tCO2e Used the CFPR tool
Year 13 carbon footprint 2018/19 39,307 29,259 52,830 121,396 tCO2e Used the CFPR tool. There has been a minor data collection
issue with one site. The 2018/19 data has been adjusted
slighted to reflect this.
Year 14 carbon footprint 2019/20 41,689 25,073 10,664 77,426 tCO2e Used the CFPR tool

13

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

3b Breakdown of emission sources

Page 177

Emission source

Scope

Grid Electricity
(generation)

Scope 2

98,092,969 kWh

0.25560 kg CO2e/kWh

25,072.4 Council buildings including Edinburgh
Leisure

Grid Electricity
(transmission
&amp; distribution
losses)

Scope 3

98,092,969 kWh

0.02170 kg CO2e/kWh

2,128.6 Council buildings including Edinburgh
Leisure

Natural Gas

Scope 1

163,684,786 kWh

0.18385 kg CO2e/kWh

30,093.4 Council buildings including Edinburgh
Leisure

Gas Oil

Scope 1

2,862,109 kWh

0.25676 kg CO2e/kWh

734.9 Council buildings including Edinburgh
Leisure

LPG

Scope 1

1,245,504 kWh

0.21447 kg CO2e/kWh

267.1 Council buildings including Edinburgh
Leisure

Diesel (average
biofuel blend)

Scope 1

4,053,668 litres

2.59411 kg CO2e/litre

10,515.7 This is Council Fleet vehicles and
Edinburgh Leisure vehicles

Petrol (average
biofuel blend)

Scope 1

35,188 litres

2.20904 kg CO2e/litre

77.7 This is Council Fleet vehicles

Average Car Unknown Fuel

Scope 3

14

Consumption Units
data

5,301,810.4 km

Emission
factor

Units

0.17710 kg CO2e/km

Emissions Comments
(tCO2e)

939.0 This reflects travel by staff using their
own vehicles

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

Page 178

Taxi (black cab)

Scope 3

1,975,595.58 passenger
km

0.21176 kg CO2e/passenger
km

418.4 These are not Council owned vehicles

Taxi (regular)

Scope 3

3,005,052 passenger
km

0.15018 kg CO2e/passenger
km

451.3 These are not Council owned vehicles

Refuse Municipal
to Landfill

Scope 3

2,777 tonnes

586.51380 kg CO2e/tonne

Mixed recycling

Scope 3

74,568 tonnes

21.35400 kg CO2e/tonne

Organic Food &
Drink AD

Scope 3

9,716 tonnes

10.20390 kg CO2e/tonne

99.1 Sent for anaerobic digestion at Biogen
Millerhill, so that it is both recycled and
produces energy

Refuse Municipal
/Commercial
/Industrial to
Combustion

Scope 3

118,148 tonnes

21.35380 kg CO2e/tonne

2,522.9 Total unrecycled waste which was
previously landfilled now sent to FCC
Millerhill reprocessing plant and turned
into energy

Water - Supply

Scope 3

746,991 m3

0.344 kg CO2e/m3

257.0 Council buildings including Edinburgh
Leisure

Water - Treatment Scope 3

677,121.9 m3

0.708 kg CO2e/m3

479.4 Council buildings including Edinburgh
Leisure

15

1,628.7 All Council waste sent to landfill –
includes household waste & waste from
council buildings. Council waste now
being diverted from landfill to Millerhill
waste to heat and waste to energy
reprocessing facilities following
Millerhill becoming fully operational in
2019/20
1,592.3 All Council collected waste that is
recycled excluding food waste

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Rail (national rail)

Scope 3

589,860 passenger
km

0.04115 Kg CO2e/passenger
km

24.3 Information is provided by Council
travel provider

Domestic flight
(average
passenger)

Scope 3

165,660.6 passenger
km

0.25493 Kg CO2e/passenger
km

42.2 Information is provided by Council
travel provider

Short-haul flights
(average
passenger)

Scope 3

225,547 passenger
km

0.15832 Kg CO2e/passenger
km

35.7 Information is provided by Council
travel provider

Long-haul flights
(average
passenger)

Scope 3

230,612 passenger
km

0.19562 Kg CO2e/passenger
km

45.1 Information is provided by Council
travel provider

3c Generation, consumption and export of renewable energy

Page 179

Provide a summary of the body's annual renewable generation (if any), and whether it is used or exported by the body.

Technology

Solar PV

Solar thermal

3d Targets

16

Renewable Electricity

Renewable Heat

Total
Total
consumed
exported
by the
(kWh)
organisation
(kWh)

Total
Total
consumed
exported
by the
(kWh)
organisation
(kWh)

1,094,998

288,996

0

60,330

Comments

0 kWh reflects energy generated onsite,
used onsite and exported to the grid
0 kWh reflects energy generated onsite and
subsequently used onsite

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
List all of the body's targets of relevance to its climate change duties. Where applicable, overall carbon targets and any separate land use, energy
efficiency, waste, water, information and communication technology, transport, travel and heat targets should be included.
Name of
Target

Type of
Target

Corporate

percentage

Page 180

Corporate Net absolute
Zero target

17

Target Units

Boundary/scope of Year
Baseline Units of Target
Progress
Target
used as figure
baseline completion against
baseline
year
target

42 tCO2e
Other (please specify 2005/06
reduction in comments)

100 tCO2e
Other (please specify 2019
reduction in comments)

Comments

192,911 tCO2e

2020/21

60%
reduction,
surpassing
42% target by
18%

Original
baseline not
calculated using
RES carbon
foot printing
tool. Scope of
target:
buildings, travel,
infrastructure
and waste

120,881 tCO2e

2030

77,426

Council set a
citywide net
carbon zero
target of 2030.
This will also be
the Council’s
target going
forward

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
3e Estimated total annual carbon savings from all projects implemented by the body in the report year
Total

Emissions Source

158 Electricity

Total estimated Comments
annual carbon
savings (tCO2e)
62 Revised Council Energy Management Policy (2018) bringing the
policy in line with ISO50001 (2018). Policy aims to minimise, manage
and promote responsible energy use. Continued focus on investment
and management of Council’s Building Energy Management
Systems, and RE:FIT, SEEP and SALIX projects.

Page 181

The conversion of approximately 54,000 street lights across
Edinburgh to energy efficient lanterns, is ongoing. The programme
will deliver a sustained reduction in electricity consumption, energy
costs and carbon use as well as reducing lantern maintenance,
replacement and waste disposal costs. Works started in June 2018
and, once complete, will deliver a significant reduction in associated
electricity consumption. The full upgrade is programmed to be
complete by 31 May 2021. Street Lighting is the largest contributor of
unmetered consumption, with street lighting representing 17.4% of
total reportable emissions this is expected to be reduced significantly
with the new energy efficient lanterns.
Natural gas

97 SALIX project and BEMS upgrade programme

Other heating fuels
Waste

18

There has been a 97% reduction in the tonnage of municipal waste
sent to landfill since last year following the diverting in 2019/20 of an
additional 79,145 tonnes of Council waste to Millerhill recycling and
processing facilities. In total, 107,276 tonnes of Council waste were
diverted from landfill to Millerhill in 2019/20. The coming online of the
energy recovery facility at Millerhill means that waste which was
previously treated as landfill is now used as a resource, so that
energy is generated.

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Water and sewerage

Travel

Page 182

Fleet transport

19

The Council’s City Centre Transformation programme and City
Mobility Plan aim to encourage a shift to more sustainable travel
modes including delivering cycling infrastructure and public transport
improvements. Funding has been awarded and some active travel
projects have been delivered. A large scale public engagement
exercise has been undertaken on the Plan. An EV Action Plan for
increasing the provision of EV charging infrastructure as well as emobility operations is now in implementation stage and will provide 66
on-street charging points located across 13 city sites. Phase 2 of the
project has identified the need for a further 145 on-street chargers.
The size, type of charge and locations will be subject to a feasibility
study and rolled out in line with the City Mobility Plan.
The Council has a vehicle fleet of 1,098 vehicles in total. (including
796 Light Fleet and 302 Heavy vehicles). The Council has
increased its electric fleet vehicles from 25 in 2018 to 42 at present.

Air Quality

Work has been undertaken to develop a Low Emission Zone for
Edinburgh, including impact assessment analysis, traffic and air
quality modelling, and public and stakeholder engagement. The
Council is looking to introduce LEZs, in association with the Scottish
Government’s timeline for implementation, between February and
May 2022.

Green Infrastructure

The Council is undertaking a programme of work on green
infrastructure development and retrofit, in order to enhance
biodiversity, sequestor carbon, improve air quality and adapt to the
impacts of climate change. This includes secured funding of
£899,500 to deliver a Thriving Green Spaces Project whose aims
include addressing environmental issues such as climate change.

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Property Estate

The Council is investing significantly in its property estate through the
asset management works programme. Through call-offs from the
Housing Assessment Management (HAM) framework work has been
carried out for boiler replacements, controls upgrades, lighting
replacements, window replacements and roof replacements
particularly across the school estate. Whilst the primary focus of
these works remains the improvement in the condition of the
Council’s buildings, there has been a consequential benefit on energy
efficiency from these works. From an energy management
perspective, there is a continued focus on investment and
management of the Council’s Building Energy Management Systems.

3f Detail the top 10 carbon reduction projects to be carried out by the body in the report year
Provide details of the 10 projects which are estimated to achieve the highest carbon savings during report year.

Page 183

Project
name

Funding
source

First
full
year of
CO2e
savings

Are these Capital
savings cost (£)
figures
estimated
or
actual?

134 PJ:
BEMS
2020/21 Estimated 44,161.83
Assembly Upgrade
Rooms - programme
BEMS
upgrade
122 PJ:
SALIX
Edinburgh
Bus
Station Internal
Lighting
Upgrade

20

2020/21 Estimated

59,330.4

Operational Project Primary
Estimated
cost
lifetime fuel/emission carbon
(£/annum) (years) source saved savings per
year
(tCO2e/annum)

Estimated Behaviour Comments
costs
Change
savings
(£/annum)

12.2 Natural Gas

28

3,628

BEMS
Upgrade
programme

7.4 Grid
Electricity
(generation)

19

8,048

SALIX
Programme

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

Page 184

140 PJ:
Oakland
School BEMS
Upgrade

BEMS
2020/21 Estimated
Upgrade
programme

76,601

34.8 Natural Gas

17

2,201

BEMS
Upgrade
programme

139 PJ:
Canal
View
Primary
School BEMS
Upgrade

BEMS
2020/21 Estimated
Upgrade
programme

35,000

22.3 Natural Gas

12

1,572

BEMS
Upgrade
programme

141 PJ:
BEMS
2020/21 Estimated
Flora
Upgrade
Stevenson programme
Primary
School BEMS
Upgrade

43,417

29.9 Natural Gas

11

1,451

BEMS
Upgrade
programme

132 PJ:
SALIX
Waverley
Court Toilet
Lighting
Upgrade

2020/21 Estimated

19,561

4 Grid
Electricity
(generation)

11

4,837

SALIX
Project

138 PJ:
Hillwood
Primary
School BEMS
upgrade

BEMS
2020/21 Estimated
Upgrade
programme

27,700

27.3 Natural Gas

8

1,016

BEMS
Upgrade
programme

125 PJ:
Inch View
Care
Home -

Council
‘Spend to
Save’
budget

2020/21 Estimated 19,772.34

5.6 Grid
Electricity
(generation)

8

3,501

Spend to
Save
project

21

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Internal
Lighting
Upgrade
103 PJ:
BEMS
2019/20 Estimated
Jewel
Upgrade
House Old programme
People's
Home BEMS
Upgrade

Page 185

131 PJ:
SALIX
Waverley
Court Stairwells
& Plant
Room
Lighting
Upgrade

43,200

42.4 Natural Gas

8

1,081

BEMS
Upgrade
programme

2020/21 Estimated 31,924.38

10.9 Grid
Electricity
(generation)

7

2,917

SALIX
Project

3g Estimated decrease or increase in the body's emissions attributed to factors (not reported elsewhere in this form) in the report
year
If the emissions increased or decreased due to any such factor in the report year, provide an estimate of the amount and direction.
Total

Emissions source

0.00 Estate changes

Service provision

22

Total estimated annual
emissions (tCO2e)

Increase or
decrease in
emissions

Comments

Decrease and
Increase

The closure of Leith Victoria swim centre for 6 month
refurbishment contributed to the decrease. There was
an increase in consumption at the Royal Commonwealth
Pool due to reduced CHP performance and increase in
customer numbers.

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Staff numbers

Increase

Staff numbers have increased between 2018/19 and
2019/20 reporting (14,611 in 2018/19 to 14,759 in
2019/20)

Other (specify in
comments)

Decrease

The continuing roll-out of the Council’s LED street
lighting programme across the city

3h Anticipated annual carbon savings from all projects implemented by the body in the year ahead
Total

Source

0.00 Electricity

Saving

Comments

Page 186

Following Council approval for the allocation of former CEEF funding, £100k of funding
is now in place to support development and delivery of Solar PV in the Council’s
operational estate. Target buildings are being identified for the 2021 works programmes,
and outline proposals will be developed to inform application to the SALIX fund and to
determine a route to market. Solar works will be aligned to the asset management
works programme. Funding is now in place to support research into the feasibility of a
deep energy retrofit of the Council’s operational estate.
The Council will adopt the Passivhaus Certified Standard as the preferred option for all
new build entering feasibility/business case stage across the Council’s operational
estate (schools/care homes etc). 5 Passivhaus projects are under development (1 high
school, 3 primary schools and 1 archive store). A new professional services framework
will have a Passivhaus specialist lot and the Scottish Futures Trust (SFT) have set an
energy target for new build with Passivhaus determined as best option for delivery.
Edinburgh Leisure will undertake an LED lighting upgrade in the Edinburgh International
Climbing Arena and pool pump upgrades in two of their swim centres. CHP is planned
for two of their leisure centres.

Natural gas

23

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Other heating fuels
Waste

An audit of Council bin provision was completed and plans for new layouts of communal
bin arrangements and route collections ward by ward are currently being progressed. A
contract is in place to install water fountains in Council schools to reduce plastic water
cooler use.

Water and sewerage

The Council, Scottish Water and SEPA are developing a Water Management city wide
strategy to tackle fluvial, pluvial and sea level rise and increase in intensity of rainfall.
Implementation of the strategy will be through the Edinburgh and Lothians Strategic
Drainage Partnership. This partnership links the Council to adjacent councils for a more
strategic approach to water management. This will also help to reduce emissions
through more efficient water management and reduced wastage.

Travel

Page 187

The Council’s City Centre Transformation programme and City Mobility Plan aim to
encourage a shift to more sustainable travel modes including delivering cycling
infrastructure and public transport improvements. Additional promotional activities will
be undertaken to raise staff awareness of the benefits of switching to more sustainable
transport forms and of the support available to do so. Relevant travel policies will be
strengthened to ensure staff minimise the use of air travel, particularly for domestic
travel. An EV Action Plan for increasing the provision of EV charging infrastructure as
well as e-mobility operations has been approved. The first phase will provide 66 onstreet charging points through 14 hubs across the city. Phase 2 has identified a need
for a further 145 on-street chargers. The Council will explore options for future transport
infrastructure. Over the longer term, this work will also support transport planning to
respond to changes to travel habits as a result of longer-term increases in homeworking and active travel post-Covid.

Fleet transport

24

•

The Council has a vehicle fleet of 1,098 vehicles in total. (including 796 Light Fleet and
302 Heavy vehicles). The Council has increased its electric fleet vehicles from 25 in
2018 to 42 at present. A further 29 are due to be commissioned. This will take the
Council’s total electric fleet to 71. The Council is currently taking forward a fleet review,
which aims to deliver a 100% electric car fleet by 2020, and a 100% electric van fleet by
2022/23.

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Other (specify in
comments)

The Council have established a working group to further the understanding of the
benefits and practical implications of green infrastructure development and retrofit. As
part of the Thriving Green Spaces project the Council is working with the Scottish
Wildlife Trust and other partners to develop an Ecological Coherence Plan (ECP) for
Edinburgh. The ECP will identify opportunities and interventions comprising nature
based solutions (NbS) to enhance the habitat network in Edinburgh to allow species to
migrate and adapt to climate change. The ECP will also map supply and demand of
several key ecosystem services within Edinburgh (e.g. flood regulation, air purification,
health benefits etc.) and will aim to identify opportunities for green infrastructure with
multiple benefits for both people and nature

3i Estimated decrease or increase in the body's emissions attributed to factors (not reported elsewhere in this form) in the
year ahead

Page 188

If the emissions are likely to increase or decrease due to any such factor in the year ahead, provide an estimate of the amount and
direction.
Total

Emissions source

0.00 Estate changes

Service provision

Staff numbers
Other (specify in
comments)

25

Total estimated
Increase or
annual emissions decrease in
(tCO2e)
emissions

Comments

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
3j Total carbon reduction project savings since the start of the
year which the body uses as a baseline for its carbon footprint
If the body has data available, estimate the total emissions savings
made from projects since the start of that year ("the baseline year").
Total

Comments
The organisation has not quantified this therefore
ongoing project specific detail is not available for the
years since the 2005/06 baseline year.

A carbon scenario tool has been developed to
support city-wide and Council-specific emissions
footprinting, enabling tracking towards the
Council’s 2030 target with the first progress report
against the new target due in March 2021.

Page 189

The tool will also support greater consideration of
sustainability issues within key Council decisions
by providing data on the carbon consequences of
different proposed projects or programmes, and
where possible, assessing their impact on other
factors such as air quality - allowing for greater
transparency and comparison between different
options. It will be applied to major Council projects
on a phased basis in future years.

26

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
3k Supporting information and best practice
Provide any other relevant supporting information and any examples of best practice by the body in relation to its emissions, targets and
projects.

The Council was one of the first in Scotland to set a net zero target of 2030. A sustainability programme is being developed to achieve this
target. The Council was also selected as only of only 15 European cities to become a, Healthy Clean Cities Deep Demonstrator. This will unlock
EIT Climate-Kic funds and expertise to support wholesale transformation that delivers healthy places to live while reaching net-zero emissions.

Page 190
27

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
PART 4: ADAPTATION
4(a) Has the body assessed current and future climate-related risks?
If yes, provide a reference or link to any such risk assessment(s).
An initial risk assessment was done through completion of a Local Climate Impact Profile followed by verification through Council
Committee reporting and meetings with Council departments and affected services.
The Resilient Edinburgh Climate Change Adaptation Framework 2014-2020 took a risk-based approach to assessing Edinburgh's
vulnerability to weather-related risks and predicted climate change impacts; identified city services and sectors that may be affected and
presented high level actions to address the most significant risks identified. A separate document contained the evidence base on which
the Framework was built.

Page 191

The Edinburgh Adapts Action Plan 2016-2020 was approved by Council Committee in August 2016, endorsed by the Edinburgh
Sustainable Development Partnership in September 2016 and launched in December 2016. The high-level climate risks identified in the
Resilient Edinburgh Framework are being addressed through implementation of the Action Plan.
Weblink: http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/download/1256/edinburgh_adapts.
The Council’s resilience risk register (which includes those risks related to climate change) is reviewed on a quarterly basis as part of the
Resilience service’s risk management procedure. This procedure is aligned with the Council’s risk strategy.

4(b) What arrangements does the body have in place to manage climate-related risks?
Provide details of any climate change adaptation strategies, action plans and risk management procedures, and any climate change
adaptation policies which apply across the body.
The climate-related risks identified in the Resilient Edinburgh Framework are being addressed through the delivery of the actions in the
Edinburgh Adapts Action Plan. A Steering Group comprising the Council, the city’s universities, heritage organisations, greenspace and
biodiversity groups, and Adaptation Scotland, are providing governance and oversight for the plan.
The Council’s Resilience service drives and manages the Council’s Resilience Management Programme and is the focus for the Council’s
resilience activities. The Resilience service is responsible for ensuring the Council complies with its statutory emergency planning and
business continuity obligations as stipulated by the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and other relevant legislation; this work is carried out in
conjunction with designated Resilience Coordinators and Resilience Specialists from each Council service area / key function together with
stakeholders, other responders and partner organisations. In addition, the Resilience service oversees and supports community resilience
initiatives such as the Edinburgh Resilience Project, which aims to understand and help mitigate community resilience risks.

28

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

The Edinburgh Local Development Plan (LDP) has specific measures dealing with climate change adaptation. It aims to promote
development in sustainable locations and enhance the city’s green network by encouraging land management practices which capture,
store and retain carbon, and prevent and manage flood risk. This includes managing surface water drainage, treatment and flood risk
through sustainable urban drainage, providing amenity and biodiversity benefits. Climate change adaptation considerations are embedded
into strategies for green and blue networks as well as into wider land use planning decisions through forest and woodland strategies, Local
Development Plan and supplementary planning guidance. The Council has started to prepare the next local development plan for
Edinburgh ‘City Plan 2030’. The consultation ‘Choices for City Plan 2030’ identified and set out ways to address changes required to
support climate change adaptation, including improvements and changes required to planning policies and supplementary guidance.
Following consideration of the consultation responses received the Council is now preparing a Proposed Plan version of the City Plan 2030
with the intension that it is reported to Committee for approval at the end of the year prior to being placed on deposit for the formal period of
representations.

Page 192

Edinburgh Sustainable Rain Water Guidance is in development and will be completed by summer 2021. It provides guidance on principles
of rainwater management and factsheets relating to detailed elements of the SUDs management train including design, construction and
maintenance guidance and how to undertake adaptation within the historic core of Edinburgh and in areas with airport restrictions. This
should provide consistent guidance for any new developments across and outwith the council for adapting to climate change with respect to
water, which will have biodiversity benefits. The council has been working with all interested parties (SW, SEPA, HES, SNH) to ensure
their views are embedded in the guidance.
The council has been working with SEPA and Scottish Water to create a Water Management Strategy for Edinburgh that will influence all
new developments, policy and increase awareness and understanding of climate change and risk with respect to water , and the
multifunctional benefits for biodiversity and place-making of storing and managing water above ground.
Edinburgh has Flood Prevention Schemes in place on the Braid Burn and Water of Leith. These schemes are designed for a 1 in 2 00-year
event and include an allowance for climate change. Undeveloped areas of land fulfil an important flood function and should be allowed to
flood to protect built-up areas from floodwater. These are shown on the Edinburgh Local Development Plan Proposals Map as areas of
importance for flood management. There are also robust inspection regimes in place for watercourses, coastal defences and reservoirs.
These inspections help inform and prioritise planned maintenance work. In the event of flooding the Council provides an emergency
response and there are always two members of staff on standby to co-ordinate activities. Action Packs have been prepared which detail
where temporary defences should be deployed. Sandbags, pallet barriers and pumps are stored and are to be utilised in the event of
flooding. A limited number of sandbags are stored at various fire stations throughout the City and these are available to the public.
The Council is a signatory to the Central Scotland Green Network and is working in partnership with neighbouring authorities and other
stakeholders to support a range of projects. Edinburgh’s Local Biodiversity Action Plan for 2019-2021 includes a number of climate related
risks and actions. A Green/Blue network project has been initiated and will bring together active travel, Scottish Water, all sources of

29

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
flooding, ecological and open space information from the Ecological Coherence plan and Open space strategy into a multi-functional
blue/green network across the city. This will help mitigate climate change and promote walking/cycling by identifying missing links and
opportunities for water attenuation and biodiversity enhancements. The council has been working with SW, SNH and SEPA.
The Council’s Parks and Greenspaces Strategy aims to conserve natural habitats and wildlife. Climate change adaptation considerations
are embedded into strategies for green and blue networks as well as into wider land use planning decisions through forest and woodland
strategies, Edinburgh’s Local Development Plan and supplementary planning guidance. Species Action Plans, site management plans and
other conservation strategies ensure that risks from adverse climate change have been identified, future changes in these pressures are
assessed; that these are being explicitly addressed wherever possible incorporating adaptation measures. Green infrastructure and green
networks are promoted in new developments and awareness raised of the relationship between the built and natural environments and
issues such as climate change.

Page 193

Since 2014 Edinburgh’s Parks & Greenspace Service has led the Edinburgh Landscape Programme, working in partnership with Scottish
Wildlife Trust, the Royal Botanic Garden Edinburgh, Edinburgh & Lothians Greenspace Trust amongst other partners. This programme
involves naturalising areas of the Council’s green estate utilising relaxed mowing regimes, planting sustainable shrubs and sowing a variety
of floral meadows. Whilst the primary aim of this programme is to increase biodiversity and improve the health of our greenspaces it does
also positively impact on climate change and helps mitigate the effects of rainfall run-off for example as well as the obvious reduced
pollution impact of a reduction in machinery use on our sites.

4(c) What action has the body taken to adapt to climate change?
Include details of work to increase awareness of the need to adapt to climate change and build the capacity of staff and stakeholders to
assess risk and implement action.
The Edinburgh Adapts Climate Change Adaptation Action Plan contains over 100 actions that are being implemented by a wide range of
organisations across the city. These include cross-cutting actions that can be incorporated into other strategies and plans to raise
awareness of the need to adapt, build capacity to assess risk and implement action. The Action Plan has just completed its fourth year of
implementation.
Externally, the Resilience Service represents the Council on the Multi-Agency Risk Group established by the Lothian and Borders Local
Resilience Partnership, which feeds into the risk assessment processes of the East of Scotland Regional Resilience Partnership. The range
of risks addressed by these partnerships includes extreme weather related emergencies. Internally, the Resilience Service chairs the
Council Resilience Group that oversees the Council’s Resilience Management Programme, which includes identifying and addressing risks
through preparing and maintaining contingency measures to mitigate their effects. High-level risks are escalated within the Council, as
appropriate.

30

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
The Edinburgh Local Development Plan aims to promote development in sustainable locations and enhance the city’s green network by
encouraging land management practices which capture, store and retain carbon, and prevent and manage flood risk. This includes
managing surface water drainage, treatment and flood risk through sustainable urban drainage, providing amenity and biodiversity benefits.
The Edinburgh Design Guidance raises awareness of climate change at the outset of the document and in the detailed chapters through
promoting green infrastructure and sustainable building design. This document was reviewed in 2018 and includes more on clima te change
adaptation, SUDs and water management.
The Council has started to prepare the next local development plan for Edinburgh ‘City Plan 2030’. The consultation ‘Choices for City Plan
2030’ identified and set out ways to address changes required to support climate change adaptation, including improvements and changes
required to planning policies and supplementary guidance. Following consideration of the consultation responses received the Council is
now preparing a Proposed Plan version of the City Plan 2030 with the intension that it is reported to Committee for approval at the end of
the year prior to being placed on deposit for the formal period of representations.

Page 194

The Council works in partnership with neighbouring local authorities, SEPA and Scottish Water and has prepared a Local Flood Risk
Management Plan (LFRMP) for the Forth Estuary Catchment which outlines strategies and identifies areas vulnerable to flooding from all
sources and potential mitigation measures and actions. This plan was published in June 2016 and can be found at
www.edinburgh.gov.uk/info/20045/flooding. An interim report published in 2019 details progress made in delivering actions of the flood risk
management plan. This can be found at: www.edinburgh.gov.uk/flooding/local-flood-risk-management-plan.
The council has been working with SEPA and Scottish Water to create a Water Management Strategy for Edinburgh that will influence all
new developments, policy and increase awareness and understanding of climate change and risk with respect to water , and the
multifunctional benefits for biodiversity and place-making of storing and managing water above ground.
The Council has been working with the University of Glasgow's coastal research team to identify and raise awareness of the risks to
Edinburgh's coast from climate change and look at ways to alleviate them. This has resulted in a new coastal park being created as part of
the regeneration of Granton Waterfront to help manage the risks from sea level rise and coastal erosion.
Edinburgh Living Landscapes launched in November 2014. The initiative is led by the Council's Parks and Greenspace service in
partnership with the Scottish Wildlife Trust, Royal Botanic Garden Edinburgh, Edinburgh and Lothian Greenspace Trust and Green Surge. It
advocates the development of an ecosystem approach to the management of the Council’s open space estate in order to realise the
benefits to both biodiversity and public amenity. It aims to create resilient green networks to deliver a healthy, accessible and attractive
environment..
Edinburgh’s Biodiversity Action Plan 2019-2021 includes actions on adapting to climate change within site management plans, conservation
plans and species action plans as appropriate. This not only raises awareness but also involves risk assessment, adaptation measures and
any carbon capture.

31

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

4(d) Where applicable, what progress has the body made in delivering the policies and proposals referenced N1, N2, N3, B1,
B2, B3, S1, S2 and S3 in the Scottish Climate Change Adaptation Programme(a) ("the Programme")?
(a) This refers to the programme for adaptation to climate change laid before the Scottish Parliament under section 53(2) of the
Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 (asp 12) which currently has effect. The most recent one is entitled “Climate Ready Scotland:
Scottish Climate Change Adaptation Programme” dated May 2014.
Objective

Objective Theme
reference

Page 195

Understand
N1
the effects of
climate
change and
their impacts
on the natural
environment.

Natural
Environment

Policy /
Proposal
reference

Delivery progress made

N1-8

Potentially Vulnerable Areas have been
highlighted and the risk assessed in relation to
Flood Risk which has been reported in the Local
Flood Risk Management Plan (LFRMP).
Scottish Water have completed the sewer
integrated catchment study for most of
Edinburgh, the results of this will be used to start
preparing surface water management plans.
SEPA in collaboration with local authorities have
introduced Objectives Target Areas (OTA’s)
which further identifies and reviews specific
areas at flood risk within the PVA’s.

N1-10

Scottish Government commissioned the Scottish
Flood Defence and Asset Database. SEPA
published flood maps to help understand areas
potentially affected by flooding.
The Council maintains GIS records of existing
assets in relation to culverted watercourses.

32

Comments

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Support a
N2
healthy and
diverse natural
environment
with capacity
to adapt.

Natural
Environment

N2-2

Edinburgh's Local Development Plan aims to
enhance the city's green network by
encouraging land management practices which
capture, store and retain carbon and prevent
and mange flood risk. Furthermore, through
various policies, the LDP aims to protect,
promote and enhance the wildlife, recreational
landscape and access value of the green
network. The Council has started to prepare the
next local development plan for Edinburgh ‘City
Plan 2030’.

The Edinburgh Design
Guidance planning policy
has been updated and
includes guidance on green
and blue infrastructure
requirements in new
developments. Climate
change adaptation
information has been
promoted through internal
training workshops.

Page 196

The Council has updated the Edinburgh Design As well as improving the
Guidance, which contribute to promoting green visual and biodiversity
infrastructure in planning.
amenity of these sites, these
changes, specifically the less
The Council is delivering the Local Development frequently cut relaxed grass
areas, will slow rainwater
Plan Action Programme (2020 version) which
sets out a number of green infrastructure actions run-off and help lock-up
carbon in soils, reducing
which can help mitigate the impact of climate
change. Projects which are underway in 2019/20 CO2 release. It will also
mean a reduction in
include:
operational fuel consumption
and associated pollutants.
- Leith Western Harbour Central Park creation of new 5.2ha public parkland
- South East Wedge Parkland (Little
France Park) – creation of new public
park of approx. 45ha to provide multifunctional parkland and woodland. Part
of wider green network with links to
Niddrie Burn Parkland
- Gogar Burn - Diversion of Gogar Burn to
reduce flood risk, improve water quality
and enhance biodiversity

33

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
The Council has 90 floral meadows across the
city, 21 perennial and 69 annual. Three areas
(Little France Park, along John Muir Way and
Cramond Foreshore) will have meadows or
sustainable planting added in 2021 as part of the
Biodiversity Challenge Fund (delayed one year
due to COVID).
A total of 105 hectares of greenspace
incorporate Living Landscape features (the
Council manages 858 hectares of Standard
Amenity Grass (SAThG)) which equates to 13%
of our amenity grasslands).

Page 197

In January 2020 Council Committee approved
the report “Edinburgh: Million Tree City”,
supporting an ambition to reach a target of one
million trees by 2030. This ambition will involve
the planting of 250,000 new trees across the
urban environment. These additional trees will
provide a nature-based solution to the impacts
of climate change by improving air quality,
cooling the urban environment, intercepting
rainwater, and protecting and enhancing
biodiversity. An Action Plan to implement this
ambition is currently being finalised.
As part of the Thriving Green Spaces project the
Council is working with the Scottish Wildlife
Trust and other partners to develop an
Ecological Coherence Plan (ECP) for Edinburgh.
The ECP will identify opportunities and
interventions comprising nature based solutions
(NbS) to enhance the habitat network in
Edinburgh to allow species to migrate and adapt

34

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
to climate change. The ECP will also map
supply and demand of several key ecosystem
services within Edinburgh (e.g. flood regulation,
air purification, health benefits etc.) and will aim
to identify opportunities for green infrastructure
with multiple benefits for both people and nature.
The Council continues to manage INNS
(invasive non-native species) where they occur
on their land.

N2-11

The Local Development Plan identifies Local
Nature Reserves and Local Nature Conservation
Sites to protect biodiversity at the local level.
The plan includes policies relating to a range of
biodiversity designations. LDP and Council
guidance also recognise the value and potential
of biodiversity outwith designated areas and sets
out key principles for enhancing habitat and
ecosystems.

Page 198

N2-7

The Council will continue to
work with partners such as
the Water of Leith
Conservation Trust to
The Edinburgh Biodiversity Action Plan 2019-21 manage INNS along the
section on invasive species addresses habitat
Water of Leith and seek to
and genetic resilience and being ‘plant smart’ in work at a catchment scale
terms of biosecurity and plant choice and
level through the RBMP area
source. Invasive species can be native or non- partnerships. The Council’s
native, although attention has focussed on non- Natural Heritage Service
native. The Council continues to work on
continues to work with
management of INNS on its land.
volunteers and Friends
groups to carry out practical
work on eradication of INNS.

The Ecological Coherence Plan will be
embedded into the Council’s new Green/Blue
Network project which will feed into the LDP.

35

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
N2-20

The Flood Risk Management Strategy and Plan
for the Forth Estuary have been published which
will aid in understanding the risks associated
with coastal flooding.
City of Edinburgh Council officers continue to
have input into the Forth Estuary Forum where
such issues are discussed, and action plans
developed.

Page 199

The Edinburgh Biodiversity Action Plan 20192021 will ensure that appropriate emphasis is
placed on the Firth of Forth Special Protection
Area when dealing with conservation projects.
The EBAP also incorporates the action to
identify opportunities to ensure that biodiversity
data is collected in advance of regional marine
planning.
Understand
the effects of
climate
change and
their impacts
on buildings
and
infrastructure
networks.

36

B1

Buildings and B1-13
infrastructure
networks

The Forth Estuary Flood Risk Management
Strategy and the Forth Estuary Local Flood Risk
Management Plan was published in June 2016.
To review the progress made in delivering
actions of the flood risk management plan an
interim report was developed and published in
June 2019.
The Council has published an “Assessment,
inspection, clearance and repairs schedule”
which can be found at
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/info/20045/flooding

The Assessment, inspection,
clearance and repairs
schedule will be revised
annually (April)

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
B1-19

The Council is working in partnership with
Scottish Water, East and Midlothian Councils to
evaluate flood risk and consultants were
commissioned to undertake an integrated
catchment study. The sewer integrated
catchment study is now complete for Edinburgh,
results to be analysed.

Guidance states: An
integrated approach to the
drainage of surface water
arising from impermeable
surfaces such as roofs and
roads that takes account of
all aspects of the drainage
systems and produces longThe Council has published an “Assessment,
term and sustainable actions
inspection, clearance and repairs schedule”
that will ensure they are
which can be found at
resilient to the changing
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/info/20045/flooding climate.

Page 200

The Assessment, inspection,
clearance and repairs
schedule will be revised
annually (April).
Increase the
resilience of
buildings and
infrastructure
networks to
sustain and
enhance the
benefits and
services
provided.

37

B3

Buildings and B3-2
infrastructure
networks

A flood map published by the Scottish
Environment Protection Agency shows some
areas on Edinburgh’s waterfront potentially at
medium to high risk of coastal flooding, taking
into account climate change.

Advice on sustainable flood
risk management is ongoing
through planning
applications. Advice on
SUDs is still progressing
subject to arrangements for
The Local Development Plan does not prevent the signing of Section 7
development in such locations but will require all agreements.
proposals to consider and address any potential
Advice on sustainable flood
risk of flooding through flood risk assessments
risk management concerning
and surface water management plans. The LDP
fluvial, coastal and pluvial
also states that flood risk from water flowing
(overland) is ongoing
over land during heavy rainfall should be
through all planning
avoided by the use of SUDs. All development
applications. The long term
requires a Surface Water Management plan.
maintenance of the SUDS
This includes an assessment of risk from
overland flow which is addressed by the use of schemes (up to the 1:30
level) is currently under
SUDs and attenuation on site up to the 1:200
discussion with Scottish

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
plus 40% climate change allowance. Certain
developments are required to be protected to
1:1000 plus 40% climate change allowance.
The Edinburgh Design Guidance gives advice
and clear information in order to guide
applicants towards a design process that fully
incorporates sustainable flood risk management
and SUDS from the outset.
B3-3

The Council published its first Open Space
Strategy in 2010, informed by an Open Space
Audit (2009) and accompanied by 12
Neighbourhood Open Space Action Plans. This
has been updated with Open Space 2021 – a
revised open space strategy for Edinburgh.

Page 201

The 2021 Strategy takes a coordinated
approach to protecting and developing the city's
network of open space, helping to deliver
Edinburgh's contribution to the development of
the Central Scotland Green Network.
The Strategy is aligned with the Local
Development Plan and co-ordinates with related
strategies, including those for parks and
gardens, allotments, play, sport facilities, active
travel, climate change adaptation and
biodiversity.

38

Water and subject to
arrangements for the signing
of the Section 7 agreements.

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
B3-6

The Council was awarded £3.6m in HEEPS:ABS
funding in 2019/20 to deliver free insulation to
private homes across the city. The programme
has targeted mixed tenure of areas with high
levels of fuel poverty, containing suitable homes
for solid wall insulation, and in areas in the
bottom 25% of the Scottish Indices of Multiple
Deprivation (SIMD). The programme includes
projects at Dumbiedykes; Muirhouse; Westburn;
Drylaw; West Mains and Sighthill along with two
wider internal and hard to treat cavity wall
insulation projects. Nearly 1200 households will
be warner and easier to heat as a result of the
2019/20 HEEPS:ABS programme.

Page 202

The Council has been awarded an additional
£3.6m of HEEPS:ABS funding for 2020-21 with
an application for further funding of £487k as
part of the HEEPS:ABS Special Projects
Application. In total this funding will help a
further 747 households across the city.

39

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
B3-7

71% of Council homes currently meet the
EESSH standard.
Projects to install measures to improve energy
efficiency have been delayed due to Covid 19.
Projects to install external measures are
restarting. However, heating upgrades continue
to be on hold. The Council anticipate a pass
rate of around 75% by the December 2020 and
85% by the end of the 2021/22 financial year.

Page 203

The EESSH 2 standard, which will come into
effect in 2032, will require significantly more
complex solutions. The Council is preparing a
whole house retrofit strategy. Phase 1 will be a
2-year programme to assess the feasibility of
this option and establish design principals.
B3-8

The Council complies with the Scottish Housing
Quality Standard (SHQS).
The Council continue to have abeyances
relating to door entry systems in mixed tenure
blocks. Progress has been made addressing
this issue during the current year. This work will
continue over the next 12 months.

Increase the
S2
awareness of
the impacts of
climate
change to
enable people
to adapt to
future extreme
weather
events.

40

Society

S2-5

The Edinburgh Community Resilience Pilot
Project was completed in June 2017. The
community resilience groups that were
established in two Community Council areas as
part of this project continue to operate and
enhance their resilience.
A second phase of the above project has been
scoped, with the aim of extending community
resilience to include and align: local

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
communities, local businesses and Responder
organisations. If project funding is successful, it
is anticipated this project will commence in
spring 2020.
Information and advice regarding flooding,
severe weather and business continuity is
published on the Council website.
The Council participates in the preparation and
monitoring of a Community Risk Register for the
Lothian and Borders area.

Page 204

4(e) What arrangements does the body have in place to review current and future climate risks?
Provide details of arrangements to review current and future climate risks, for example, what timescales are in place to review the climate
change risk assessments referred to in Question 4(a) and adaptation strategies, action plans, procedures and policies in Question 4(b).

41

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Current and future climate risks are being assessed through the Edinburgh Adapts Climate Change Adaptation Action Plan 2016-2020. The
2030 Sustainability Strategy will define the high-level strategic direction for adaptation post 2020 that will be taken forward through the
development of the next Edinburgh Adapts action plan.
In terms of the Council’s internal resilience arrangements, risk assessments are monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis through the
Council Resilience Group and through the Council’s contribution to the Lothian and Borders Local Resilience Partnership, risk assessment
is a continual process. Current assessments are reviewed on an annual basis, as new information emerges or following any significant
incident or exercise. The Resilience service regularly reviews the Council’s Severe Weather Resilience Arrangements in conjunction with a
range of specialist colleagues.
Edinburgh’s Strategic Development Plan is the South East Scotland Plan (SDP 1) was approved in 2013. A new Strategic Development
Plan (SDP 2) was prepared for the Edinburgh City Region, along with an assessment of housing need and demand (HNDA 2), but th is plan
was rejected by the Scottish Ministers in 2019 on transport grounds. Following approval of the new Planning (Scotland) Act 2019 there is no
requirement to prepare a new Strategic Development Plan. National Planning Framework 4 is expected to be approved in late 202 1.

Page 205

A study to ascertain the impact of siltation on the Water of Leith Basin was completed in February 2017 a study report was produced that
demonstrates that it is not anticipated that the Water of Leith will flood out of bank at the Water of Leith Basin, until approximately the 1 in
200-year flood event. The 1 in 200 year event, is a flood event that statistically has a 0.5 percent likelihood of occurrence in any year. As
the risk of flooding is low/medium it is not intended to provide defences or dredge this stretch of the Water of Leith to manage flooding. The
levels of silt will be visually inspected during the annual river inspections. If it is found there is significant change a further survey could be
undertaken.
The Niddrie Burn flood study to ascertain the effects of potential flooding is nearly complete.
The Water of Leith is currently being remodelled to provide a better understanding of flood defences and levels using the most up to date
standards.
Building on existing and new flood risk studies including the Integrated catchment studies, the Flood Prevention Team will continue to
develop Surface Water Management Plans to improve knowledge and assess current and future flooding risks for the city. This will enable
further consideration of potential mitigation opportunities going forward.
The Edinburgh Biodiversity Action Plan for 2019-21 incorporates climate change actions and will review current and future risks to
biodiversity and greenspace.

42

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
4(f) What arrangements does the body have in place to monitor and evaluate the impact of the adaptation actions?
Please provide details of monitoring and evaluation criteria and adaptation indicators used to assess the effectiveness of actions detailed
under Question 4(c) and Question 4(d).
Monitoring and evaluation of the impacts of adaptation actions will be assessed through the Edinburgh Adapts Climate Change Adaptation
Action Plan 2016-2020.
The Council monitors the impact of the Local Development Plan policies on the physical and environmental characteristics of the area,
including those related to climate change. This is reported in a statutory Monitoring Statement which will inform the next Local Development
Plan. The Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) assesses the impact of plans, programmes and strategies on environmental factors
including climatic factors. Monitoring the significant environmental effects for any unforeseen adverse environmental effects is a statutory
requirement within the 2005 Act.
Biodiversity actions are monitored through the Edinburgh Biodiversity Action Plan 2019-2021. Annual reports for 2018 and 2019 are
available at www.edinburgh.gov.uk.

Page 206

4(g) What are the body’s top 5 priorities for the year ahead in relation to climate change adaptation?
Provide a summary of the areas and activities of focus for the year ahead.
1. Work in partnership to develop high-level strategic adaptation actions in response to a city-wise climate resilience risk assessment in
the 2030 Sustainability Strategy and begin development of an Edinburgh Adapts Action Plan to take forward these actions.
2. Work with colleagues to embed adaptation into the Council’s next Local Development Plan (‘City Plan 2030’) and associated planning
guidance, to ensure adaptation influences the future development of the city and that the opportunities identified are delivered. This will
include the development of an Ecological Coherence Plan and work through the Edinburgh Living Landscapes programme and
partnership.
3. Work in partnership through the Edinburgh Adapts Steering Group and wider partnership to continue to implement the Edinburgh
Adapts Climate Change Adaptation Action Plan 2016-2020 and a Vision for a Climate Ready Edinburgh. Work with the Edinburgh
Biodiversity Partnership to deliver the climate change adaptation actions in both the Edinburgh Biodiversity Action Plan 2019-21 and the
Edinburgh Adapts Action Plan.
4. The Edinburgh Community Resilience Pilot Project was completed in June 2017. A second phase of the project has been scoped with
the aim of extending community resilience to include local communities, local businesses and Responder organisations. Funding is
being sought and if successful, it is anticipated the project will commence in spring 2020.

43

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

5. Work with the Edinburgh and Lothians Drainage Partnership (SEPA and Scottish Water) to identify opportunities for nature-based
solutions to combined sewer or road flooding using parks and greenspaces.

4(h) Supporting information and best practice
Provide any other relevant supporting information and any examples of best practice by the body in relation to adaptation.
The Council worked with pilot areas within the city as part of the Edinburgh Community Resilience Project, seeking to enhance
communities’ abilities to respond to and recover from resilience incidents. Whilst the pilot has now been completed, the community
resilience groups established as part of the pilot continue to operate and build resilience.
A new project has been scoped in relation to community resilience, to involve local communities, businesses and Responder agencies and
funding is being sought.

Page 207

The Council along with SEPA, other local authorities in the Forth Estuary and Scottish Water have developed a Local Flood Risk
Management Plan. The Plan has identified flooding from rivers, coast and overland flow to prioritise work at the national level.
The Council has been working with Scottish Water to scrutinise the sewer network and how it interacts with flooding from other sources.
The Niddrie Burn River Restoration Project included construction of building platforms so future proofing development against flooding in
the area.
The Council are procuring flood studies to provide better knowledge and understanding of flood risk from watercourses throughout the City.
In accordance with the new climate change guidance provided by SEPA, the Council shall be raising the climate change allowance to 40%
for all new planning applications to further future proof Edinburgh from flooding. The implementation of this is to be finalised.

44

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

PART 5: PROCUREMENT
5(a) How have procurement policies contributed to compliance with climate change duties?
Provide information relating to how the procurement policies of the body have contributed to its compliance with climate changes duties.
Sustainable Procurement Strategy
The Council introduced a new five year Sustainable Procurement Strategy (the Strategy) in March 2020. The Strategy places
sustainability at the heart of the Council’s procurement programme for the next five years, to ensure that the Council’s considerable
spending power is used to promote those economic, environmental and social outcomes that support growth, and simultaneously assist
the Council in addressing the challenges that the city is facing.

Page 208

The Strategy was informed by internal and external consultation, by the Council’s strategic commitments, and also by the developing local
and national policy framework that now gives greater recognition to the important role that public sector procurement has in assisting the
Council deliver its key outcomes such as the Council’s target to become a zero-carbon city by 2030.
The Council’s procurement activity also directly supports the delivery of Council services, and key Council projects and initiatives, such as
the delivery of new Certified Passivhaus housing and schools, replacement of more energy efficient street lighting, improved public
transport and cycling initiatives and a collaborative House building framework with emphasis on highly energy efficient homes.
Sustainable Procurement Policy
The Council has also had a comprehensive Sustainable Procurement Policy in place since 2012. The sustainable procurement policy and
objectives are addressed within every procurement plan, which is at the start of each procurement process. Thus, the policies build
awareness and are discussed with stakeholders. There is also a mandatory sustainability risk assessment of procurement projects as part
of the individual procurement plan which is a practical tool to ensure compliance with climate change duties (available on request).
The Sustainable Procurement Policy also informs the Council’s terms and conditions of contract. For example, in schedule 8 section 1.1g
a duty is placed on service providers to assist the Council on climate change.
The Commercial and Procurement team also use sustainability as selection and award criteria and seek to constantly evaluate processes
that minimise the impact of the procurement for example in construction off-site fabrication, use of electric vehicles and use of local
suppliers to reduce transport emissions are encouraged and scored accordingly.
The Policy has 4 main Outcomes
Outcome 1: the social and economic benefits from our procurement are maximised

45

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Outcome 2: the environmental impacts are minimised and the environmental benefits maximised from our procurement
Outcome 3: Edinburgh has a more sustainable supply chain
Outcome 4: sustainable procurement is embedded within the Council
The following are some of the specific examples that sit under these outputs: - (please note this is just a selection)
-

Page 209

-

Minimise carbon based energy use
minimise waste and consumption
specify goods and materials made with a high content of recycled material and/or goods
achieve a minimum sustainability performance of BREEAM ‘Very Good’ rating, and aspire to BREEAM ‘Excellent’ rating, when
procuring new buildings and refurbishing old buildings. [BRE Environmental Assessment Methodology], where applicable.
specify the most energy efficient goods, services and works
ensure that vehicles we purchase, lease or hire have low emissions of greenhouse gases and air pollutants.
procure timber and timber-based goods from verifiable sustainable sources that evidence clear chains of custody in line with the
Council’s Purchasing Policy for Sustainable Timber and Timber Products
The use of Government Buying Standards
The use of Community Benefits – this is reinforced on the requirement in Contract Standing Orders to consider the inclusion of
community benefits in all procurements over £50,000.

5(b) How has procurement activity contributed to compliance with climate change duties?
Provide information relating to how procurement activity by the body has contributed to its compliance with climate changes duties.
Construction
Appointment of specialist design team to deliver three new primary schools to Certified Passivhaus standard
A contract for a multi-disciplinary design team was awarded via the Crown Commercial Services Framework. The Council’s ambitious zero
carbon city target by 2030 will require a step change in the Council’s approach to new building design and delivery across the whole operational
estate, including learning and teaching. The first non-domestic buildings, schools, in Scotland delivered to the Certified Passivhaus Standard
will be a key part to addressing a low carbon future. The Council is planning three new double stream Primary Schools with Ea rly Years
facilities. These are located within major new housing developments and expected to be completed in 2022.
New Build Housing Framework Agreement
The development of House Build framework to support the delivery of new affordable homes. The framework will allow the Council to deliver
highly energy efficient homes and test practical design and construction solutions to achieving the Council’s ambition to be a net zero carbon

46

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
authority with many of the contractors having constructed homes to platinum standard (equivalent to net zero carbon). The ant icipated value
of the Framework Agreement (between £250 million and £400 million), reflects both the scale of the Council’s own ambitions in relation to
affordable housebuilding and the potential affordable housing delivery requirements of our city region partners. The Framework may be utilised
by named city region partners delivering affordable housing within the region.
Public Transport and Active Travel
One of the key drivers of the £400m to be invested in the City’s public transport and active travel infrastructure has been the urgent need to
cut carbon emissions. As part of this programme the following procurements have recently been delivered.
Trams

Page 210

The City of Edinburgh Council utilising the Utility Regulations for the first time successfully awarded Contracts for the extension of the Tram
line from York Place to Newhaven. The extension is intended to support economic, financial and environmental outcomes across the
City. The approval for the estimated £128m contracts was provided by Council in March 2019. To mitigate the impact to businesses the
Council worked with Sustrans and Cargo bikes to help implement an environmentally friendly delivery service.
Active Travel and Local Development Transport Action Plans:
The Council’s programme of investment in walking and cycling required the procurement of
•
•
•
•
•
•

Consultants under the Scotland Excel Engineering and Technical Consultancy Services Framework to provide specialist expertise
including piloting a new approach to programme management for the active travel programme being rolled out throughout the city
including
delivery of the City Centre West to East Cycle Link and Street Improvements Project. The network is principally aimed at making
cycling a realistic travel choice for people who do not feel confident riding a bike on streets with significant levels of motorised traffic
improvements to encourage walking and cycling from Meadows to George Street (engagement and preliminary design)
installation on-street cycle racks
cycling improvement schemes across City via Transport & Infrastructure (T & I) Framework
procurement of new Bus Station Information hardware and software management system, and a new Content Management System
for on-street Real Time Passenger Information

Council Fleet
The Council is reviewing its current fleet to ensure that it is appropriate for the service delivered, ensuring that the vehicles are the correct
type and well suited to their tasks, and increasing the fuel efficiency of all vehicles but particularly the larger vehicles. The Council is also
actively replacing smaller vehicles with alternatively powered vehicle where this is possible. Some examples of vehicles procured are as
follows:

47

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Electric Low Floor Welfare Buses
The Council has a commitment to improving air quality around the city. To meet this requirement procurement assisted in procuring 3 low
floor accessible minibuses within the Passenger Transport area of the Council to replace older and unreliable vehicles. With a match funding
grant provided by the Scottish Government, the Council was able to purchase 3 electric low floor accessible minibus vehicles for the same
cost of their diesel equivalents.
The replacement vehicles will produce 9kg of CO2 per working day (this will improve as electricity supply moves to more renewable sources)
compared to 26kg per working day of a current diesel vehicle. These vehicles are the same design as their diesel counterparts and have
proven popular with the vulnerable adults and children who use these services. It has also been found that electric vehicles, with their lack
of noise, can be particularly beneficial for carrying passengers who have complex needs, such as autism. Electric vehicles produce no NOx
or exhaust particulate matter, both of which have an impact on human health
Lease of electric vehicles – a number of electric cars and vans have been leased to supplement the Council’s fleet.
Electrical Vehicle Charging Phase 1 Project Management Support via SXL Framework

Page 211

Manage Print Services – Lot 1 Multi-Functional Device (MFD) Contract
The City of Edinburgh Council has a requirement for printing through its offices and sites. Currently this is provided by a centralised Contract
across the Council’s estate to ensure operational efficiency and compatibility within the IT network. The primary goal of Lot 1 is the delivery of
holistic print services across the organisation which meets the demands of the user base through the provision of a number of hardware and
software productions and the supply of associated supporting products and materials. The Providers were asked to include an approach to
environmental sustainability, including management of their carbon footprint relating to this Contract.
Quality evaluation included evaluation of energy usage and the contract priced in electricity use of the machines and evaluated this as part of
the “whole life cost”. The new machines will use biodegradable ink and cartridges must be recycled and recycled paper is standard.
Flood Prevention - Edinburgh Sustainable Rain Water Management Design (SUDs)
The Council has been working with Scottish Water, SEPA and Scottish Natural Heritage on the Edinburgh Sustainable Rain Water
Management Design guidance project (SUDs) in order to ensure the project encompasses their requirements. Consultants were procured to
assist with specialist design work. Completion of the project provides an opportunity to streamline the process of designing all future SUDs
by producing formal design guidance which will form part of the Edinburgh Design Guidance. This will send a clear and consistent message
to developers about the standards required. Future work will enable the views of heritage bodies to be further explored and ensure the
guidance reflects their issues.

48

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
SUDs will have positive sustainability impacts as the project provides an understanding as to how the climate change impacts of increased
rainfall and increased intensity of rainfall can be addressed in a way that is more sustainable. The current methods of using underground
pipe systems have greater maintenance liabilities and are unable to take the predicted water intensity and volumes. The Design Guidance
therefore aims to maximise the benefits for biodiversity, amenity and health of people who live and work in the city.
The project has been shortlisted for a national award (one of four) in the Landscape Planning areas of expertise.
Energy Efficient Street Lighting Programme

Page 212

The conversion of approximately 54,000 street lights across Edinburgh to energy efficient lanterns, is ongoing. The programme will deliver a
sustained reduction in electricity consumption, energy costs and carbon use as well as reducing lantern maintenance, replacem ent and
waste disposal costs. Works started in June 2018 and, once complete, will deliver a significant reduction in associated electricity
consumption. The full upgrade is programmed to be complete by 31 May 2021. Street Lighting is the largest contributor of unmetered
consumption, with street lighting representing 17.4% of total reportable emissions this is expected to be reduced significantly with the new
energy efficient lanterns.
Council Estate – Housing Asset Management Framework (HAM)
The Council is investing significantly in its property estate through the asset management works programme. Through call-offs from the HAM
framework work has been carried out for boiler replacements, controls upgrades, lighting replacements, window replacements and roof
replacements particularly across the school estate. Whilst the primary focus of these works remains the improvement in the condition of the
Council’s buildings, there has been a consequential benefit on energy efficiency from these works. From an energy management
perspective, there is a continued focus on investment and management of the Council’s Building Energy Management Systems.
Waste
Receipt and Processing of Dry Mixed Recyclables
Scotland Excel’s Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) was use to procure a provider for the Treatment and Disposal of Recyclable and Residual
Waste.

5(c) Supporting information and best practice
Provide any other relevant supporting information and any examples of best practice by the body in relation to procurement.

49

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Miscellaneous
The Council’s Commercial and Procurement Services(CPS) is engaging with the Scottish Government’s Sustainability Team and Zero
Waste Scotland to look at embedding the circular economy in Council practices.
CPS are also working with Scotland Excel and other local authorities as part of the Procurement and Climate Change Forum which aims to
work collaboratively to develop tools to help use the £12.6 billion of annual public procurement spend to support Scotland’s climate
emergency response.
In addition to contracting activity, CPS supported the promotion of Fair Trade goods and the importance of supply chain sustainability by
hosting a Fair Trade event during Fairtrade Fortnight in February 2020, a successful event with 12 stalls and around 130 attendees at
Waverley Court.

Page 213
50

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
PART 6: VALIDATION AND DECLARATION
6(a) Internal validation process
Briefly describe the body’s internal validation process, if any, of the data or information contained within this report.
Validation energy checks done by Council's Carbon and Utility Officer. Annual energy review report delayed due to
COVID-19..
6(b) Peer validation process
Briefly describe the body’s peer validation process, if any, of the data or information contained within this report.
Report considered by Policy and Sustainability Committee

Page 214

6(c) External validation process
Briefly describe the body’s external validation process, if any, of the data or information contained within this report.
Validation of energy consumption data through Council's Carbon and Utility Officer checks.
6(d) No validation process
If any information provided in this report has not been validated, identify the information in question and explain why it has not been validated.

6e - Declaration
I confirm that the information in this report is accurate and provides a fair
representation of the body’s performance in relation to climate change.
Name

51

Role in the body Date

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
RECOMMENDED – WIDER INFLUENCE

Q1 Historic Emissions (Local Authorities only)
Please indicate emission amounts and unit of measurement (e.g. tCO2e) and years. Please provide information on the following components
using data from the links provided below. Please use (1) as the default unless targets and actions relate to (2).
(1) UK local and regional CO2 emissions: subset dataset (emissions within the scope of influence of local authorities):
(2) UK local and regional CO2 emissions: full dataset:
Select the default target dataset
Subset
Table 1a - Subset

Page 215

Sector

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Units Comments

Total
Emissions

3244.01 2949.41 3062.23 2777.85 2944.86 2854.07 2422.09 2329.17 2220.54 2,125.3 2103.71 ktCO2

Industry and
Commercial

1412.47 1249.28 1311.59 1175.65 1270.56 1218.73 943.23 870.98 793.34 739.03 741.83 ktCO2

Domestic

1158.6 1037.84 1100.63 970.81 1057.77 1023.13 861.34 830.44 784.05 737.68 728.26 ktCO2

Transport total

672.96 662.29 650.01 631.39 616.53 612.21 617.52 627.75 643.15 648.55 633.62 ktCO2

Per Capita

7.10

6.40

6.50

5.80

6.10

5.90

4.90

4.70

4.40

4.10

4.10 tCO2

Waste

tCO2e

LULUCF Net
Emissions

ktCO2

Other (specify
in 'Comments')

52

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

Q2a – Targets
Please detail your wider influence targets
Sector

Description

Type of
Target
(units)

Page 216

Baseline Start
value
year

Target Target Saving in Latest
Comments
saving / End latest year Year
Year measured Measured

Citywide The Sustainable Energy
tCO2e
Action Plan (SEAP) aimed
to reduce carbon
emissions across the city
through five programmes.
These are energy
efficiency, district heating,
renewables, resource
efficiency and sustainable
transport.

2005

2015

42%

2020

Citywide In 2019 Council agreed to tCO2e
set a citywide net zero
target of 2030.

2019

2021

Net
zero

2030

35.9%

2018

Q2b) Does the Organisation have an overall mission statement, strategies, plans or policies outlining
ambition to influence emissions beyond your corporate boundaries? If so, please detail this in the box
below.
The Council declared a Climate Emergency and set a citywide target of net zero carbon emissions by 2030. A
new Sustainability Strategy is in development which will define the high level strategic actions to achieve this
target.

53

Reporting on the SEAP will
continue until 2022 due to the two
year lag in BEIS carbon emissions
dataset reporting.

The Council is working with the
Edinburgh Climate Commission
and wider city partners to secure
sign-up to the 2030 net zero
target. A Carbon Scenario Tool is
being developed that will support
the development of sector targets
to achieve net zero.

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Q3) Policies and Actions to Reduce Emissions
Secto Start
r
year for
policy /
action
imple mentati
on

Year
that
the
polic
y/
actio
n will
be
fully
imple
ment
ed

Citywi 2021
de

2030

Annu
al
CO2
savin
g
once
fully
imple
ment
ed
(tCO2
)

Latest
Year
measur
ed

Saving Status
in
latest
year
measur
ed
(tCO2)

Metric / Delive During
indicato ry
project /
rs for
Role policy
monitori
design and
ng
implementat
progres
ion, has ISM
s
or an
equivalent
behaviour
change tool
been used?

Page 217

In
tCO2e
Enabl
developm reduction er
ent

Please
Value of
give
Investm
further
ent (£)
details of
this
behaviou
r change
activity

A number
of
citywide
engagem
ent
activities
have
been held
on
behaviour
change

Please provide any detail on data sources or limitations relating to the information provided in Table 3
A ‘Carbon Scenario Tool’ has been developed in partnership with the University of Edinburgh to support
sustainability impact assessment and reporting. The tool enables carbon footprinting at a city, Council, and
project level and is being applied to major Council projects on a phased basis. This will enable the Council to
improve this information over time.
Q4) Partnership Working, Communication and Capacity Building.
Please detail your Climate Change Partnership, Communication or Capacity Building Initiatives below.

54

Ongoi
ng
Costs
(£/
year)

Primary
Comment
Funding
s
Source for
Implementat
ion of
Policy /
Action

A new
Sustainabi
lity
Strategy is
in
developm
ent.

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
Descript Action
ion

Climate
Change
Partners
hip

The
Climate
Commiss
ion for
Edinburg
h was
launched
in
February
2020 to
offer
independ
ent
advice,
expertise
and
challeng
e to the
city to
support
accelerat
ed action
on
tackling
climate
change.

Page 218

Key
Action
Type

55

Organisati
on's
project
role

Lead
Private Public
Organisat Partners Partners
ion (if not
reporting
organisati
on)

To
Co-sponsor Other Cocatalyse
Sponsor is
action,
the
challeng
Edinburgh
e
Centre for
decision
Carbon
makers
Innovation
in the
at the
city and
University
convene
of
stakehol
Edinburgh
der
critical to
the
accelera
ted
respons
e that is
needed
to meet
the 2030
target.

Scottish
Power,
Shepherd
and
Wedderb
urn,
Hilliam
Research
and
Analysis,
CCG
(Scotland
) Ltd ,
Green
Tourism
Certificati
on
Program
me,
Scottish
Widows

City of
Edinburgh
Council,
Changewo
rks,
Scottish
Futures
Trust,
Sustrans,
Edinburgh
Centre for
Carbon
Innovation
at
University
of
Edinburgh

3rd
Outputs
Sector
Partners

Commen
ts

Space &
Broomho
use Hub,
2050
Climate
Group,
Living
Rent

In its first
year, the
Commissi
on aims
to
address
key
challenge
s in the
city. The
Commissi
on will
also act
as a
forum
where
organisati
ons can
exchange
ideas,
research
findings,
informatio
n and
best
practice
on carbon
reduction
and
climate
resilience.

'Forward,
Faster,
Together:
Recommenda
tions for a
Green
Economic
Recovery in
Edinburgh'
report

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

Page 219
56

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

OTHER NOTABLE REPORTABLE
ACTIVITY
Q5) Please detail key actions relating to Food and Drink, Biodiversity, Water, Procurement and Resource Use in the table
below.

Page 220
57

Key Action
Type

Key Action Description Organisation's Project
Role

Impacts

Comments

Food and
Drink

Edible Edinburgh cross- The Council chairs the
sectoral citywide
partnership and provides
partnership working to
the secretariat for it.
make Edinburgh a
sustainable food city.

Edinburgh was the second
Scottish city to be awarded the
Sustainable Food Places
Bronze award. The partnership
is now working towards
achieving Silver accreditation.

Edible Edinburgh has a
Sustainable City Food Plan and
works to promote healthy,
sustainable food.

Biodiversity

Citywide partnership
working to protect and
enhance biodiversity and
habitats across
Edinburgh. The breadth
of groups represented
include Council
departments,
government agencies,
national and local
environmental charities,
volunteer conservation
bodies and community
groups.

Fifth edition of the Edinburgh
Biodiversity Action Plan (20192021) continues work to make
Edinburgh a greener city with
more opportunities for wildlife,
enabling people to engage with
nature. The Plan aims to raise
awareness of the rich
biodiversity in Edinburgh,
encourage partners and others
to take positive action to
protect and enhance the city’s
natural environment, provide
co-ordination and
communication between
partners and others to further
conservation action and
influence other plans, policies
and strategies relating to
Edinburgh. It incorporates
actions to sequester carbon

Fulfils Council statutory
obligation on how it is fulfilling it
biodiversity duty and is
contributing to meeting national
biodiversity targets.

The Council is a lead
member of the
partnership and provides
the secretariat.

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council
and adapt to the impacts of
climate change.
Water

An Edinburgh Drainage The Council is a lead
Partnership has been
member of the
established. Scottish
partnership.
Water, Scottish
Government, SEPA and
local authorities across
the region have joined
forces to plan for future
growth and changes in
climate that impact on
how the area’s waste
water and surface water
is processed.

Section 7 Legal Agreement
with Scottish Water was
adopted on 27 February 2020.
•

Page 221

The Council, Scottish Water
and SEPA are developing a
Water Management city
wide strategy to tackle
fluvial, pluvial and sea level
rise and increase in intensity
of rainfall. Implementation of
the strategy will be through
the Edinburgh and Lothians
Strategic Drainage
Partnership. This
partnership links the Council
to adjacent councils for a
more strategic approach to
water management.

Q6) Please use the text box below to detail further climate change related activity
that is not noted elsewhere within this reporting template
The Council along with the Edinburgh Centre for Carbon Innovation is supporting
Edinburgh Talks Climate online engagement platform to facilitate conversation around
the climate emergency, share and exchange ideas around sustainability and encourage
behavioural change. This will help inform the content of the 2030 Sustainability Strategy
and work towards achieving the citywide 2030 net zero target.

58

Public Sector Climate Change Duties 2019-2020 Summary Report:
City of Edinburgh Council

Page 222
59

Agenda Item 7.4

Policy and Sustainability Committee

10.00am, Tuesday, 10 November 2020

International Framework Update
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

1. Recommendations
It is recommended that the Policy and Sustainability Committee
1.1

Note the response received to a letter from the Lord Provost to the Mayor of
Krakow on issues relating to equalities and LGBTQ+ rights

1.2

Agree for City of Edinburgh Council equalities officers to approach Krakow
Council officials with an invitation to engage sharing of best practice in
promoting LGBTQ+ equalities in both cities

1.3

Agree that a refresh of the Council’s International framework be undertaken to
ensure that international engagement activity meets the needs of the city
during a period of renewal from recession, and is carried out in support of
agreed equalities outcomes.

Andrew Kerr
Chief Executive
Contact: Nick Langan, Senior Policy Officer
E-mail: nick.langan@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 3670

Page 223

1

Report

International Framework Update
2. Executive Summary
2.1

The report outlines next steps towards ongoing refresh of the Council’s
approach to international engagement to be undertaken during 2021.

2.2

In doing so, the report responds to two motions made to the Policy and
Sustainability Committee in August 2020 by Cllr Staniforth and Cllr Day on the
role of the Council’s international strategy in supporting equalities outcomes.

2.3

The report outlines the positive response received to a letter from the Lord
Provost to the Mayor of Krakow on issues relating to equalities and LGBTQ+
rights.

3. Background
3.1

In August 2019 the Policy and Sustainability Committee approved a new
framework of principles to guide future international engagement and activity
by City of Edinburgh Council. The framework notes that international activity
should clearly:
3.1.1 Support the strategic aims of the Council;
3.1.2 Support identified challenges and opportunities for the city;
3.1.3 Be delivered in partnership to ensure high impact and value for money;
and
3.1.4 Be carried out in alignment with the international priority work of key
partners.

3.2

In support of this approach, the framework incorporated the establishment of a
new International Edinburgh Group of partners and stakeholders. This group
aimed to facilitate sharing of information on international activities and
approaches across partners who face many of the same issues and
opportunities.

Page 224

2

3.3

In August 2020 agreed two motions relating to the role of Council international
activity in supporting equalities outcomes. These included a motion by
Councillor Staniforth on the city’s relationship with Krakow, which asked for
contact with Krakow to determine the City’s position regarding reports of the
wider ‘LGBT‐free zone’ in that region and for a short report detailing options
for further action to support the LGBTQ+ community there.

3.4

In addition, Committee also agreed a motion by Councillor Day which
requested that a review of the Council’s international framework be
undertaken to include information on the how relationships can support the
Council’s Equalities Framework.

4. Main report
4.1

Edinburgh commands huge international attention. It is the capital of Scotland
and seat of the Scottish Parliament, with a huge programme of investment
and development and a worldwide reputation for its cultural activity.

4.2

Foreign owned businesses employ an estimated 48,000 people in Edinburgh,
approaching one in five of all jobs in the city. Edinburgh is also home to
people who either emigrated to this country or are first or second descendent
generations of immigrants. 16% of the city population are non-British
nationals, compared to 6.6% in Scotland overall. Edinburgh also has the
largest population of EU nationals in Scotland.

4.3

Historically, Edinburgh has been aligned with twin and partner cities based on
mutually strategic priorities and civic duties within the Lord Provost’s office.
Edinburgh is twinned with 9 cities worldwide and has 3 other partner cities
with varying degrees of engagement through the Lord Provost office and
within the other Council services.

4.4

Edinburgh and Krakow have a history of agreements of cooperation and
partnerships since 1995. Over the last 3 years there has been 8 exchange
visits between Edinburgh and Krakow. A new 5-year partnership agreement
between Edinburgh and Krakow was signed in 2019 and supports a range of
sectoral interests in both cities.

4.5

In 2020 news reports stated that the Lesser Poland Voivodeship, of which
Krakow is part, has declared itself an ‘LGBT free zone’. In response to this,
the Lord Provost wrote to the Mayor of Krakow seeking clarification on
Krakow’s stance and expressing our concern around equalities.

4.6

In return, the Lord Provost received a positive response indicating that the city
of Krakow (as an independent decision-making body under the Constitution of
the Republic of Poland) will not be adopting this free zone and has informed
the Krakow citizens through their Equality Council.

Page 225

3

5. Next Steps
5.1

To follow up on recent Krakow engagement and ensure that wider Council
international activity can be carried out in support of agreed equalities
outcomes, it is proposed that:
5.1.1 City of Edinburgh Council equalities officers approach Krakow Council
officials with an invitation to engage in a seminar looking at best
practice in promoting LGBTQ+ equalities in both cities.
5.1.2 In line with Councillor Day’s motion, and in view of the changing
international context within which the city is operating, a refresh of the
Council’s International Framework is carried out to ensure that
international activity aligns with equalities outcomes, and meets the
needs of the city throughout recovery and renewal during the Covid-19
pandemic and related economic recession.

5.2

Towards the second of these actions, preparatory work already underway has
included officer engagement with Scottish Government colleagues on best
practice approaches to embedding equalities issues in international
engagement activity.

5.3

A session of the International Edinburgh Group was also held in October 2020
to re-engage with partners on international activity, and to begin work towards
understanding partner’s engagement plans and priorities for the coming year.

6. Financial impact
6.1

Actions in this report can be taken forward within existing agreed budgets.
Any additional impacts arising will be considered as part of future reports to
Policy and Sustainability Committee.

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
7.1

The International Edinburgh Group represents key stakeholders and partners
in international activity across the city. Initial engagement with this group has
begun and will be continued throughout delivery of the actions outlined in this
report.

8. Background reading/external references
8.1

Edinburgh International Activity Report, August 2019

8.2

Motion by Councillor Staniforth - The City's Relationship with Krakow, August
2020

Page 226

4

8.3

Motion by Councillor Day - Equality and LGBT + Rights, August 2020

9. Appendices
None

Page 227

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.5
Policy and Sustainability

10.00am, Tuesday, 20 November 2020

Gaelic Language Plan 2018-22 - Monitoring Report
Executive
Wards - all
Council Commitment 36

1.

Recommendations

1.1

The Committee considers and approves the second statutory annual progress
report on the Council’s Gaelic Language Plan 2018-22, as required by Bòrd na
Gàidhlig, and due to be submitted to the Bòrd by 7 December 2020.

Andrew Kerr
Chief Executive
Contact: Eleanor Cunningham, Lead Policy Officer
E-mail: eleanor.cunningham@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 553 8220

Page 229

Report
Gaelic Language Plan 2018-22 - Monitoring Report
2.

Executive Summary

2.1

This report provides an overview of the Council’s statutory annual monitoring report,
summarising progress with the implementation of its Gaelic Language Plan 201822, which is due to be submitted to Bòrd na Gàidhlig by 7 December 2020.

3.

Background

3.1

The Council published its second Gaelic Language Plan on 6 December 2018,
following approval by Bòrd na Gàidhlig. The plan covers the period 2018-22 and is
structured around three priority areas: sustainable future, confident speakers and
encouraged arts and culture.

3.2

The Gaelic Implementation Group (GIG) comprises Elected Members, Council
officers and representatives from the Gaelic community. It oversees progress with
the implementation plan at its quarterly meetings. In accordance with the Council’s
agreed approach to political management during the Covid-19 crisis, this working
group is currently suspended. The officer group, which meets between the formal
meetings to drive progress across the scope of the plan, has continued to support
activity over the lock-down period.

3.3

The Gaelic Language (Scotland) Act 2005 requires relevant public authorities to
provide a report on progress on all commitments in their Gaelic Language Plan on
an annual basis if requested by Bòrd na Gàidhlig. The Bòrd have advised us that
the second monitoring report for the Council’s current plan is due on 7 December
2020. Section 8 below contains links to the Council’s current Gaelic Language Plan
(2018-22) and the annual report for 2018-19.

4.

Main report

4.1

Bòrd na Gàidhlig provided a template for annual monitoring reports in 2019. It has
three sections: primary indicator data (8 items); narrative updates on national Gaelic
Language Plan priorities and specific local authority functions and finally, a selfassessment section, using red-amber-green coding for 24 descriptors of practice
and arrangements.

Page 230

4.2

This report uses internal monitoring and reporting processes for all but two of the
items in the Bòrd’s template (both are data items). Approximations or descriptions
have been used to answer these.

4.3

Appendix 1 shows the completed monitoring report, which uses information from
across Council service areas including Education, Chief Executive’s Division,
Economic Development and Culture.

4.4

The appointment of a Corporate Gaelic Development Officer (CGDO), funded for
one year by Bòrd na Gàidhlig and the Scottish Government, has helped to drive and
embed action across the scope of the plan, and to build effective partnership
working with a range of organisations in the city including the National Library of
Scotland, the National Galleries of Scotland, University of Edinburgh, Visit Scotland,
Edinburgh Local Mòd and Newbattle Abbey College.

4.5

Bòrd na Gàidhlig’s template covers the period 2019-20. As this is the Council’s
second progress report on the 2018-22 plan, the progress report covers activity
since April 2019 to the end of September 2020.

4.6

Key developments since April 2019 in Education and in embedding Gaelic and
Gaelic culture are summarised below.

4.7

Progress in Education includes:
4.7.1 Significant expansion of staffing for Gaelic Medium Education (GME),
particularly in James Gillespie’s High School, which now has GME staff for
Science, Media/Drama and Support for Learning
4.7.2 A more rounded and effective transition from primary to secondary school,
enabled by the increased staffing capacity and as evidenced by pupil
feedback
4.7.3 Targeting professional development to effectively support the increasing
number of pupils as well as strengthening existing capacity.
4.7.4 Scottish Government-funded digital equipment has allowed initial
engagement with the Esgoil network to connect with other GME settings to
support curriculum expansion and career long professional learning (CLPL)
4.7.5 The council’s commitment to ensuring that the views, ideas and concerns of
our pupils can be heard and responded to effectively remains strong. Pupil
councils operate in both settings and we have a pupil representative at
regular Gaelic Implementation Group meetings.

4.8

Progress in embedding Gaelic within the Council and across the city have been led
by the CGDO, who took up post in late December 2019. Activities have included:
4.8.1 Providing opportunities for colleagues to learn the language through lunch
and learn sessions and the development of an e-learning module
4.8.2 Working with museums and galleries to develop Gaelic resources and
exhibitions, including a bilingual Gaelic exhibition with, for the first time,
Gaelic as the lead language

Page 231

4.8.3 Supporting future career opportunities for Gaelic pupils including a new
leadership programme for females and an initiative where senior pupils
support volunteer guides to include Gaelic language in public tours and to
train as Young Gaelic Tour Guides
4.8.4 Beginning to develop Gaelic as part of the City’s tourism offer with a
programme of work underway with Mercat Tours and Invisible Cities to
develop Gaelic content for their tours
4.9

The Council has also made progress with the wider elements of the plan, including
increasing staff awareness through a series of items on Newsbeat and support to
the Gaelic Hub Development Group from Economic Development.

4.10

Our assessment of progress against the 24 descriptors is that 18 are in place
(green), compared with 14 last year, with the remaining six being in progress
(amber). Four of these relate to actions which relate to communications and are
being considered as part of the development of a communications plan; one relates
to public meetings and the final one is the normalisation of Gaelic plan
commitments within the structures of the public authority over time. These action
areas will be considered by the Officer Working Group in the first instance and
discussed with members of the Gaelic Implementation Group.

5.

Next Steps

5.1

Following approval by Committee, the monitoring plan will be submitted to Bòrd na
Gàidhlig for their consideration.

5.2

Funding has been secured to extend the CGDO post by three months and work is
underway to explore options for longer term funding.

5.3

Work will continue on implementing the commitments made in the four-year plan,
with reporting on year three due in December 2021.

6.

Financial impact

6.1

The Corporate Gaelic Development Post is fully funded from external sources. All
other actions are taken forward within existing approved service budgets.

7.

Stakeholder/Community Impact

7.1

The Gaelic Implementation Group contributed to the development of the current
Gaelic Language Plan and until the Covid-19 crisis, received regular progress
reports on the implementation of the Plan. This arrangement will continue when
working groups resume.

7.2

Members of the Group have been sent a draft copy of the annual progress report
for information.

Page 232

7.3

The monitoring report (appendix 1) includes a description of the positive impact on
equalities through the diversification of the population attending the primary school,
Bun-sgoil Taobh na Pàirce in terms of ethnic groups, as well as socioeconomic
features (SIMD).

8.

Background reading/external references

8.1

Item 7.6 - Gaelic Language Plan 2018-22 15 May 2018

8.2

The City of Edinburgh Council Gaelic Language Plan 2018-22

8.3

Item 7.10 Gaelic Language Plan Progress Annual Report 2018-19 November 2019

9.

Appendices

9.1

Bòrd na Gàidhlig Annual Monitoring Form: The City of Edinburgh Council

Page 233

BÒRD NA GÀIDHLIG
FOIRM DÀTA BLIADHNAIL 2019-20
ANNUAL RETURN FORM 2019-20
The City of Edinburgh Council

Ainm na buidhne
Organisation’s name

IMPORTANT NOTE ON OUR SUBMISSION
This report provides an update on progress between April 2019 and
September 2020

Prìomh Dhàta Measaidh
Primary Indicator Data

Fios bhon
Phoball
Communications from
the Public

Not all service
Cia mheud brath sgrìobhte a fhuair am buidheann bhon
areas are able
phoball ann an Gàidhlig am-bliadhna?
to record this
How many written communications have the organisation
information,
received from the public in Gaelic this year?
it is not
Narrative
• The Gaelic schools receive occasional communications in therefore not
possible to
Gaelic from Gaelic partner organisations, the Gaelic
report an
Development Officer (GDO – employed by Comunn na
Gàidhlig, and part-funded by the City of Edinburgh Council) accurate
and promotional material from groups such as Sabhal Mòr total.
Ostaig and FilmG.
See narrative
• Bun-sgoil Taobh na Pàirce (TnaP) receive communication for a
from parents in Gaelic.
description of
communicati
• Àrd-sgoil Sheumais Ghilleasbuig/James Gillespie’s High
ons.
School (SG/JGHS) receive communication from parents in
Gaelic.
•

Oifigear Leasachaidh Corporra Ghàidhlig, Comhairle Bhaile
Dhùn Èideann, Corporate Gaelic Development Officer
(CGDO) receives communications in Gaelic from school
staff, stakeholders and the Gaelic Community. The CGDO
uses and encourages other staff learners to use the “Happy
to communicate in Gaelic or English” logo, thus showing
equal respect to Gaelic and English.

1

Page 234

A’ sgaoileadh
fiosrachaidh
Dissemination of
information

Cia mheud pìos a sgaoil am buidheann air na meadhanan
sòisealta ann an Gàidhlig am-bliadhna?
How many posts did the organisation distribute on social
media in Gaelic this year?
Narrative
• TnaP: tweet regularly bilingually
• SG/JGHS has a Gaelic Blog and Twitter account which
are updated at regular points throughout the school
year
• Examples of Corporate posts since February 2020 are:
o The winner of the bilingual poster competition
by the Council’s Gaelic Champion (an Elected
Member)
o Edinburgh Local Mòd and National Mòd preMòd eCèilidh
o Reading the Gaelic Landscape Event
o Gaelic Books Council Awards
o Central Library: 6 posts relating to Gaelic
Language or literature.
o In 2020-21: European Day of Languages, 26th
September 2020: 12 shares.

Cia mheud fios-naidheachd a chaidh a sgaoileadh leis a’
bhuidheann
anns
a’
Ghàidhlig
am-bliadhna?
How many press releases did the organisation publish in
Gaelic this year?
Narrative
•

Press release in November 2019 on Seachdain na Gàidhlig
(Edinburgh Gaelic Festival)

•

TnaP’s regular newsletters have pieces in Gaelic and
English, as do their class blogs.

•

In 2020-21: Edinburgh Local Mòd – May 2020

•

Press release for Gaelic week: November 2020.

The Council uses a range of channels for communication
including social media which are more cost effective than press
releases, allowing us to achieve a wider audience/reach for
communications. The CGDO appeared on BBC Alba in January
2020 being interviewed about this new post and priority
activities for the coming year.
2

Page 235

Not all service
areas are able
to record this
information,
it is not
therefore not
possible to
report an
accurate
total.
See narrative
for a
description of
communicati
ons.

Cia meud neach-obrach a fhuair cothrom trèanaidh ann an
sgilean Gàidhlig am-bliadhna?
How many staff received Gaelic skills training this year?
Between September 2019 to end September 2020: 85

Luchd-obrach
Staff

Cia mheud dreuchd a th’ agaibh an-dràsta far a bheil Gàidhlig
ann mar sgil riatanach?
How many posts do you currently have where Gaelic is an
essential skill?
Narrative
• Corporate Gaelic Development Officer (CGDO) - 1
• Croileagan play leaders - 5

•

Taobh na Pàirce:
Teaching - 22.77 (34 teachers including the 4 JGHS ones)
Support - 5.95 (11 people)
Admin - 1.82 (3 people)

•

Nursery:
Teaching 1 (1 teacher)
Support 4.5 (6 staff)

•

Àrd Sgoil – Teachers 5.5 FTE and one CL

Cia mheud neach-obrach a th’ agaibh an-dràsta aig a bheil
sgilean Gàidhlig?
How many staff currently within the organisation have Gaelic
skills?
Not known at present: we will be carrying out a staff survey in
November 2020 which will include a question on Gaelic skills.
The CGDO has generated interest among staff in learning the
language through lunch and learn sessions (67 attendees);
and as noted on page 8, SG/JGHS has undergone a significant
expansion of the GME Secondary provision.

3

Page 236

Foillseachaidhean
Publications

Inbhe
Status

Cia mheud foillseachadh a dh’fhoillsich am buidheann gu dàchananach am-bliadhna?
How many organisational publications have been published
bilingually (Gaelic and English) this year?
None
Cia mheud soidhne dà-chànanach a chuir am buidheann an
àirde am-bliadhna?
How many bilingual signs has the organisation erected this
year?
None during the present year, however progress includes:
• Gaelic signage at the new Meadowbank has been
negotiated and there will be a meeting in October 2020
on the overall signage package, after which the design
work will commence. The new completion date is now
June 2021.
• In January 2020, the CGDO arranged for a graphic design
project with S2 pupils at SG/JGHS for signs and pop-up
banners for the Gaelic Books section in Edinburgh and
Scottish Collection, Central Library – this was underway
but postponed due to lockdown
•

In April 2020, the CGDO arranged for a competition for
pupils at TnaP to design a bilingual poster for display in
the Council’s locality offices – the poster was selected
(and the winner announced via Twitter – see section
above), but use has been postponed due to lockdown
and locality offices not accessible in current times.

•

Museums: bilingual signs for the Good to Go scheme
have been produced but implementation has been
postponed due to Covid. The CGDO will discuss
opportunities on Museums reopening.

•

Trams: agreement reached with Edinburgh Trams that
the next renewal of the route map will include bilingual
signs for the stops [last upgrade early 2020]

Existing signage arrangements:
• SG/JGHS has 2 prominent Gaelic signs, which were
erected during the initial school build.
•

TnaP aim for Gaelic-only signage.

4

Page 237

Prìomhachasan a’ Phlana Cànain Nàiseanta Gàidhlig
National Gaelic Language Plan Priorities
Cleachdadh na Gaidhlig / Using Gaelic
Ciamar a tha a’ bhuidhinn a’ toirt fàs air cleachdadh na Gàidhlig?
How is the organisation increasing the use of Gaelic?
This links to the priority “Gaelic is visible, encouraged and has a sustainable future” in our Gaelic Language
Plan 2018-22.
This section gives an overview of how we have increased the use of Gaelic through increasing awareness of
Gaelic events, publicity in Gaelic and supporting and promoting opportunities for participation. We have
outlined activity in schools in a later section.

Communication - supporting and promoting opportunities to participate in Gaelic events:
The CGDO began work in February 2020 with the Communications Team colleagues to develop a Gaelic
Communications Plan with SMART objectives:
o

•
•

To create an informative, accessible and engaging online network of content for all Gaelic
speakers, (fluent and learner) and supporters of Gaelic in Edinburgh.
o To raise awareness of activities to encourage engagement and participation from all parts of
the Gaelic community in the capital.
o To promote and strengthen wider awareness of Gaelic and its presence within the capital to
both Gaelic and non-Gaelic speakers.
o Develop beneficial online links with Gaelic groups, initiatives and communities across
Scotland.
On completion, a Facebook page will be introduced to give an overview of news and activities
happening in Edinburgh’s Gaelic community. This will include a regular school report from Primary
and High School GME pupils.
CGDO with our Communications Team is working to develop a series of regular News Beat articles
(published on the Council’s intranet) and to increase Facebook/twitter activity as a way of sharing
opportunities more widely.

Expanding the Gaelic Offer in the City
•

•
•

As a member of a range of groups and committees, the CGDO supports both the development and
the promotion of Gaelic activities, for example:
o CEC publicise and contribute funding to the Seachdain na Gàidhlig (Edinburgh Gaelic
Festival)
o Successful Digital Local Mòd. May 28th/29th 2020. Promotion of National Mòd events (CGDO
member of Local Mòd Committee).
TnaP publicise Gaelic events and Gaelic learning opportunities for parents through their usual
network and support the work of the Gaelic Development Officer (Comunn na Gàidhlig) in providing
Gaelic language experiences for the wider community.
Àrd-sgoil Sheumais Ghilleasbuig (SG/JGHS) has held a number of events in Gaelic across the city.
Examples include:
o community Gaelic music events, Oidhcheanan Òigridh supported and funded by BnaG. Last
event held November 2019 – fundraiser for The Eilidh Macleod Trust.
o With our CGDO; engagement with Central Library, City Arts Centre, National Library,
National Galleries, Newbattle Abbey and Edinburgh University.
5

Page 238

Forthcoming:
The CGDO has been instrumental in arranging a number of initiatives with partners as part of the
development of partnership working between organisations – these include:
• Successful GLAIF applications:
1) The City of Edinburgh Council, Glasgow City Council, Comunn na Gàidhlig and Spòrs Gàidhlig:
“Latha Spòrs” June 4th, 2021. Spòrs Gàidhlig will lead on a day of activities in central Scotland with
30, 2nd year pupils.
2) The City of Edinburgh Council Newbattle Abbey College, Comunn na Gàidhlig, Taobh na Pàirce,
Àrd-sgoil Sheumais Ghilleasbuig and Gaelic Community: “Intergenerational Weekend” April 23rd/24th
2021.

Increasing awareness of developments in GME in Edinburgh:
Within schools:
• We held two events in the last year for parents and members of the public to provide an update on
progress with GME education.
The Council’s Communications Team have helped to publicise Gaelic related activity in the City including:
• Arranging interviews with BBC Alba on the future direction of GME in Edinburgh, with our CGDO,
pupils and Gaelic Community.
• Publicising plans for a new Gaelic High School - we hope to go to statutory consultation in October
2020.
• Social Media posts in Gaelic.

Ionnsachadh na Gàidhlig / Learning Gaelic
Ciamar a tha a’ bhuidhinn a’ toirt fàs air ionnsachadh na Gaidhlig?
How is the organisation increasing the learning of Gaelic?
This links to priority “our communities are supported to be fluent and confident speakers” in our Gaelic
Language Plan 2018-22.
We are actively engaged in delivering on the national strategy for adult Gaelic learners:

Learning for the public:
•

The CGDO supports:
o Conversation class for advanced learners/Saturday at Central Library from 8th February 2020
(online from April 2020)
o A weekly “Fighe is Cabadaich” (Knitting and Chat) session (starting February 2020,
Wednesday 2-4pm)
o Parent classes, Boroughmuir High School from 17th Feb. 5 week “Gaelic for the Home”.
o Reading Club for Learners online, Friday mornings, from April 2020.

•

73 adults participated in 7 Gaelic Language classes (Nat 2 to Higher Levels) in the Adult Education
Programme from January to June 2019; with 9 Gaelic classes available in the September to
December 2019 programme. The programme is available on the Council’s website. Classes are
protected against low uptake levels (i.e. less than 12 places filled) through subsidy from Gaelic
funding.
Gaelic Language classes in the Adult Education Programme: total enrolled between September 2019
– March 2020: 144. 12 classes [last year, 73 adults participated in 7 Gaelic Language classes]. The

•

6

Page 239

programme is available on the Council’s website. Classes are protected against low uptake levels
(i.e. less than 12 places filled) through subsidy from Gaelic funding.

Learning for staff Council-wide:
One of the aims of our Gaelic Language Plan is to improve the awareness, learning and use of Gaelic across
the Council, in line with the objective of improving the visibility of Gaelic and to ensure staff are informed
about the Gaelic Plan, history, culture and relevance of Gaelic in Edinburgh:
The CGDO is supporting this in a number of ways:
• Two “Lunch and Learn Gaelic” sessions for staff – starting in Feburary 2020, the second in August
These have been very popular, with staff attending from a wide range of services in the council.
Learn Gaelic and Duolingo recommended at these events as online resources for learning Gaelic.
• Starting in July 2020, working with Learning and Development: Developing Digital Learning Module
for staff, Gaelic Awareness.
• Providing “Introduction to Gaelic” sessions for staff using YouTube as platform, starting in
September 2020 (which has had nearly 850 views to date).
• Additional classes for staff are provided by an external tutor, online from October 2020 for Beginner
and Intermediate level.
These activities have created a positive image and environment for Gaelic among staff.

Teaching in schools:
a) Staff language skills and development:
•
•
•
•

•
•

We have support in place for staff to complete their Gaelic Language in Primary Schools training.
One candidate completed course May 2019. Two further candidates successfully participated in the
2019-20 course; strengthening of GLE in their primary settings.
We are planning a full programme of CLPL input for staff across sectors, with the focus on Gaelic
language and fluency and immersive pedagogy.
TnaP provide financial support for externally delivered courses, as well as allowing time away for
assessments and seminars; they are currently delivering bespoke in-house training to all staff.
Specific Grant funding supports costs of externally delivered courses.
GME staff have protected development time as part of their working week with specific
development tasks, e.g. Social Subjects and differentiated materials. They also attend regular
meetings with Central Belt Gaelic Secondary Teachers group which considers QA, moderation,
sharing resources and best practice. On hold due to COVID.
SG/JGHS is running a free Gaelic class for any of its staff who have an interest in the language.
Currently on hold due to COVID and focus on recovery.
Three JGHS staff have begun Gaelic Learners’ courses delivered by Sabhal Mòr Ostaig (funded by
BnaG and self-funding).

b) Scope and scale of provision:
•
•

Sgoil-àraich – we are exploring the inclusion of the nursery class at Bun-sgoil Taobh na Pàirce in the
August 2020 plan with the aim of increasing provision to 11:40 hours, using a term-time model, in
line with the Early Years expansion plan – on hold due to COVID.
We are working in partnership with Oganan, who have now become a Partner Provider and are able
to top-up provision so that families can receive their entitlement of 11:40 hours of funded Early
Learning and Childcare to children and families.

•

TnaP:
7

Page 240

•

•
•

•
•

o are delivering GME to 419 and 49 in nursery.
o host Oganan Dhun Èideann, a Gaelic-medium wraparound-care provider.
SG/JGHS has undergone a significant expansion of the GME Secondary provision:
o the majority of the S1 cohort now receive 9 of their subjects through the medium of Gaelic.
o S1 now receive Key Adult Time in Gaelic.
o the use of Gaelic has increased across the school, both in terms of the amount of time
pupils spend being immersed in the language, and the opportunities staff have to
communicate in Gaelic.
o We now have a Curriculum Lead in place, which means that we can roll out the offer of GLE
to schools across the Council.
We are continuing to explore the possibility of engaging people who can provide sports coaching in
Gaelic for the school year 2019-2020. This would be in addition to current provision. Worked with
Gate8 Outdoor Activity provider to facilitate participation in outdoor activities in Gaelic.
We have secured Scottish Government funding for set up of classrooms in both school settings for
use of Esgoil, helping us to increase the amount of Gaelic input available to pupils. The equipment
has been installed and will be ready for use shortly. Some technical issues remain but we are now
able to use successfully and we are contributing to teaching of the E-sgoil national offer (short term
cover for E-sgoil teacher)
The GDO supports Gaelic Medium social provision for young people based on GME activities
through Sradagan (youth clubs)
The GDO supports Gaelic Medium online provision for GME pupils.

c) Transitions:
•

Enhanced transition P7 – S1 has been a major focus, with SG/JGHS colleagues supporting teaching
and learning in primary classes on a regular, timetabled basis. Focus has been on upper primary,
with additional support in younger classes. Particular attention has been given to additional
support for learning (ASfL), with a member of primary ASfL team seconded one morning per week
to support secondary GME colleagues. Teachers involved report that this has greatly increased
understanding of pupils’ needs well before transition and should have tangible impact on ease of
transition P7 to S1. Evaluation of the impact of this work will inform the development of a crosssector transitions policy this session. The JGHS teacher now has responsibility for developing SfL
expertise and resources across the department.

d) Recruitment:
•

•

•

The Council held a recruitment drive in March 2019, along with education providers, responding to
challenges in recruiting Gaelic speaking staff. This was supported by the Council’s HR and
Communications Teams and Bord na Gàidhlig, who coordinated input from a range of bodies
including Edinburgh and Strathclyde Universities and Newbattle Abbey College. A session was held
as part of the event to advise current teachers on how to get funding for courses to study Gaelic and
be able to teach, or for those who are fluent to get funding to do the Gaelic Teaching course. The
event was successful, attended by around 20 people and will potentially be held on an annual basis,
subject to COVID Guidance.
TnaP regularly employ people who have an interest in Gaelic, who are perhaps in the early stages of
learning, and provide a range of supports, including financial support from Gaelic Specific Grant, to
help them progress as quickly as possible.
Work is ongoing with key partners, including FE/HE institutions and other local authorities, to
develop a programme for career-long professional development which will support recruitment and
retention.

8

Page 241

e) School capacity:
We have been considering options to expand existing capacity across all provision:

•

TnaP through capital works and re-organisation: plans were developed by pupils, parents and staff,
in line with agile spaces, to adapt one of the large TnaP classrooms for use in team teaching larger
classes from August 2019.

A’cur air adhart na Gàidhlig / Promoting Gaelic
Ciamar a tha a’ buidhinn a’ cur deagh iomhaigh air adhart airson na Gàidhlig?
How is the organisation promoting a positive image of Gaelic?
This links to our priority “Gaelic is visible, encouraged and has a sustainable future within the city of
Edinburgh” and our ambition to support the development of a strong and vibrant Gaelic community.
The activities described below reflect our approach to increasing the prominence of Gaelic within schools
and across Edinburgh, and our efforts to develop career opportunities and pathways for learners.

Initiatives designed to increase the visibility of Gaelic activity and resources across the City include :
•

As in previous years, the Council support Gaelic involvement at The Scottish Storytelling Centre and The
Scottish International Storytelling Festival, delivered by TRACS (a Council-funded organisation); Gaelic
activity is included in TRACS’ year-round programme. A further development is the Scottish
Storytelling Centre’s podcast, Sgeul is Seanchas, giving Gaelic stories each month, launched
September 2019.

•

Embedding and expanding existing Gaelic activities and resources
o Events e.g. “Oidhchean Ogridh” Gaelic-speaking musicians from both Taobh na Pàirce and James
Gillespie’s High School performances (open to all parents), arranged by CGDO/CnaG and funded
by BnG
o Partnership with Comunn nan Leabhraichean/Central Library/Members of Community for
updating and expanding Gaelic collection.
o CGDO in discussions re a book collection suitable for GME pupils at a library close to the school:
Macdonald Road or Leith (March 2020, postponed due to lockdown).
o Partnership with Comunn nan Leabhraichean - Children’s sessions: Leugh is Seinn le Linda –
reading and singing for pre-school and primary school children. Central Library/Stockbridge
(March 2020, postponed due to lockdown)
o Blackhall Library: Òrain agus Rannan - every 2nd Tuesday from 18th February 2020 (postponed
due to lockdown)

Activities to generate employment using Gaelic include:
•

•

As part of our ongoing engagement with MG ALBA, BBC and Gaelic media companies to identify
opportunities to enhance Gaelic skills in the media in Edinburgh, MG ALBA attended the September
2019 meeting of the Gaelic Implementation Group (GIG), leading to a collaboration (which was just
beginning before lockdown in March 2020) with Cànan Graphics Studio/MG Alba to produce a regular
Gaelic podcast, run by S6 Advanced Higher Gaelic class.
A member of staff at SG/JGHS is leading on Developing Young Workforce (DYW)/Enterprise projects
2019-20, with a focus on involvement in Foundation Apprenticeship Early Years/Childcare and link with
TnaP/Òganan

Forthcoming:
• The City of Edinburgh Council, National Library and the GME unit of Àrd-sgoil Sheumais Ghilleasbuig:
9

Page 242

Young Female Leadership Programme: new partnership project in Autumn 2020 term to create a young
female leadership project. As part of this project, a group of students will receive mentoring and training
to design and deliver their own Gaelic language tours of the Library’s upcoming exhibition, Petticoats
and Pinnacles – an exhibition about pioneering female mountaineers. The tours will be available to the
public in spring 2021. This project is supported by Baillie Gifford. This is a first step towards a wider
initiative being investigated by the Council around Young Apprenticeships in Languages and Tourism,
this links GME to innovative practice in wider languages teaching and learning, which forms part of work
in Edinburgh schools on the Scottish Government 1+2 Approach to Languages. This is an opportunity to
link GME to the wider curriculum and affords GME pupils’ opportunities to engage in meaningful activity
with other successful language learners.

Partnership approach to develop a programme of Gaelic Events:
A priority this year has been to build partnerships with key organisations across the city, to further develop
and promote Gaelic:
•

National Portrait Gallery - Tours in Gaelic: opportunities created for senior pupils to support volunteer
guides to include Gaelic language in public tours and to train as Young Gaelic Tour Guides. Scotland’s
Photograph Album: The Mackinnon Collection, Junior Gaelic speaking guides. Session on 30th January
2020 – community members on tour with S3 pupils from Àrd-sgoil Sheumais Ghilleasbuig (SG/JGHS)

•

Events developed in partnership with the National Library:
o John Murray, an Honorary Fellow at the University of Edinburgh, discusses his book 'Reading the
Gaelic Landscape', in which he applies a Gaelic lens to the study of Scotland’s landscapes and
history. James Graham, An Comunn's Chief Executive: “event with John Murray on the 13th
October at 5pm is a perfect addition (National Mòd). Gaelic landscapes and place names will
enable people to travel in their imaginations where they can’t in real life” (13th October 2020)
o Professor Mata Maciver, “The Advent of Modern Gaelic Broadcasting” (14 January 2021)
CGDO, City Arts Centre and Museum of Edinburgh: Bilingual exhibitions (Donald Smith, 2021/ Will
Maclean,2022) with involvement from Gaelic Community and GME pupils with Ian Stephen.

•

Promotion of Gaelic in Tourism:
•

Promotion of Gaelic in Tourism – having become a member of The Gaelic Tourism Implementation
Group, Visit Scotland, the CGDO initiated joint work in July 2020 with the following partners in:
o Invisible Cities (social enterprise with people who have been homeless) to develop Gaelicrelated content (the history of Gaelic in Edinburgh and simple phrases) which Guides will
incorporate in current tours. Further development to include:
▪ Creation of a “Gaelic Experience Tour” which will be added to Invisible Cities portfolio.
▪ Creation of a Gaelic Treasure hunt in the city assisted by Gaelic Medium pupils.
o

•

Mercat Tours: Will be supported by CGDO to develop Gaelic-related content (the history of
Gaelic in Edinburgh and simple phrases) which Guides will incorporate in current tours.

The CGDO has been working with Business Growth and Inclusion colleagues since August 2020 to
develop a Gaelic guide on edinburgh.org. and in partnership with the Department of External Relations
at the National Library a virtual Mod Fringe Event, “Reading the Gaelic Landscape” (August 2020)

Gaelic Hub
10

Page 243

•

•

There is longstanding ambition to have a Gaelic Hub for Edinburgh with exhibitions, events and
potentially a cafe to showcase and promote the language and heritage. Plans are at an early stage. The
Council’s Business Gateway Team (Economic Development) have been involved in discussions with the
CGDO (from February 2020) about the proposed Gaelic Hub. Board Members to attend half day
“strategy planning workshop”.
Discussions began in February 2020 for a “Virtual Hub” at The George Washington Brown Room, Central
Library (postponed due to lockdown)

Fiosrachadh dearcnachaidh eile
Other monitoring information
A’ brosnachadh Foghlam Gàidhlig
Promotion of Gaelic Education
Chan fheum ach Ùghdarrasan Ionadail seo a lìonadh a-steach
For Local Authorities only to complete

Fo Earrainn 15 de dh’Achd an Fhoghlaim (Alba) 2016, feumaidh ùghdarrasan ionadail aig a bheil foghlam
Gàidhlig anns an sgìre aca seo a shanasachd ann an dòigh iomchaidh. Feumaidh gach ùghdarras ionadail
sanasachd a dhèanamh air na còraichean a th’ aig pàrantan gus tagradh a dhèanamh airson foghlam
Gàidhlig aig ìre na bun-sgoile agus foghlam luchd-ionnsachaidh na Gàidhlig a stèidheachadh. Ciamar a tha
sibh a’ coileanadh an dleastanais seo?
Under Section 15 of the Education (Scotland) Act 2016, local authorities which already provide Gaelic
education in their area must take reasonable steps to promote this. All local authorities must take
reasonable steps to promote the rights which parents have under the Act to make a request for Gaelic
Medium Primary Education and the potential provision of Gaelic Learner Education. Could you tell us how
you are undertaking this?

11

Page 244

Promoting the right to Gaelic Education:
We do this by providing information on provision and the application process, and through direct contact with
interested parents:
Croilegan’s website gives an overview of GME provision from nursery through to secondary schooling,
along with a contact number for further information. This is now included on Council website.
Link: https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/nurseries-childcare/gaelic-pre-school/1.
•

The Council’s public website includes a section on Gaelic in schools, which gives details of how to apply
for a place in the GME primary school, Bun-sgoil Taobh na Pàirce (TnaP).

•

Within the TnaP school setting, we meet regularly with parents who have an interest in Gaelic Medium
Education. Examples include regular open afternoons for prospective nursery parents, one to one
meetings with prospective parents, well planned- enrolment week, with open day, in November.

•

We have also taken significant steps to promote GME at the secondary level. The increased provision
of GME subjects and in staffing has seen the presence of Gaelic at SG/JGHS grow, with an effective
working partnership established between CEC Officers, schools and parent groups. We are also
planning for a GME Secondary school in 2024, demonstrating a clear commitment to the safeguarding
and development of Gaelic education across the city.

Pàrantan Corporra
Corporate Parenting
Chan fheum ach Pàrantan Corporra seo a lìonadh a-steach
For Corporate Parents only to complete

Am b’ urrainn dhuibh dàta a thoirt dhuinn air an àireimh de dhaoine òga le Gàidhlig a tha, no a tha air a
bhith, fo chùram a tha clàraichte leis an Ùghdarras.
Please provide data on the number of Gaelic-speaking care experienced young people registered with the
Authority.
There are none this year.

Am b’ urrainn dhuibh fiosrachadh a thoirt dhuinn air tachartasan no cothroman a tha sibh a’ cur air dòigh airson
daoine òga le Gàidhlig a tha, no a tha air a bhith, fo chùram a tha clàraichte leis an Ùghdarras.
Please provide information on activities or opportunities you provide for Gaelic- speaking care experienced
young people.

12

Page 245

At JGHS, none specifically, but we do ensure that this group are able to participate in activities/excursions, e.g.
providing financial support where applicable.
At TnaP nothing currently exclusively offered to this group.

Co-ionannachd Equalities
Bu chòir don a h-uile buidheann seo a lìonadh a-steach
For all organisations to complete

An do chomharraich an t-ùghdarras poblach agaibh cùisean sònraichte sam bith co-cheangailte ri coionannachd
chothroman
a
thaobh
leasachadh
na
Gàidhlig?
Has your public authority identified any particular issues relating to equality of opportunity with regard to the
development of Gaelic language?
•

Every request for a place in one of the Gaelic schools has been met (i.e. there is no unmet need).

•

As noted above in our description of arrangements for additional support needs, arrangements are in
place in both primary and secondary settings.

•

The work in the primary school to embed the school in the community is resulting in an increasing
number of pupils with local post-codes being enrolled in GME and so broadening the profile of the
school community in terms of the population served, e.g. SIMD and ethnicity.

•

The main challenge has been in securing teaching capacity, to ensure that GME is available across as
wide a spectrum of learning as possible. As noted above, we have developed a recruitment strategy to
help to address this.

A bheil poileasaidhean, modhan-obrach no dòighean-obrach sam bith co-cheangailte ri co- ionannachd a
chaidh a chur an gnìomh leis an ùghdarras phoblach agaibh, no a tha gan cur an gnìomh an-dràsta, a bhuineas
ri bhith a’ cur co-ionannachd chothroman air adhart an lùib leasachadh na Gàidhlig? An inns sibh dhuinn mun
deidhinn?
Are there any equalities policies, procedures or measures that have been implemented by your public
authority, or are in the process of being implemented, that are relevant to advancing the equality of
opportunity in the development of Gaelic language? Can you tell us about them?
Our key actions which are designed to advance equality of opportunity are as follows:
•

•

Pupil Voice groups were set up at TnP in August '19, with a focus on a range of topics, including
language and culture. The progress and success of these were cut short by the COVID closure. There
are plans to re-establish these groups this session, using a slightly different approach. There will also
be an Equalities group, reflecting current priorities at local authority and national level.
A member of the secondary team worked closely with primary colleagues to support transition and to
shadow the work of the support for learning teacher. This staff member was also seconded to JGHS for
13

Page 246

a morning a week to support GME learners there, and to upskill GME staff in the delivery of Support
for Learning.

A bheil eisimpleirean ann de cheumannan sònraichte a ghabh sibh gus piseach a thoirt air in- ghabhail agus
com-pàirteachas a tha air obrachadh gu sònraichte math a thaobh leasachadh na Gàidhlig taobh a-staigh an
ùghdarrais phoblaich agaibh? An inns sibh dhuinn nam biodh sibh toilichte nan sgaoileadh Bòrd na Gàidhlig na
h-eisimpleirean
agaibh
agus
nan
dèanamaid
sanasachd
orra.
Are there examples of implementing specific measures to improve inclusivity or engagement that have
worked particularly well regarding Gaelic language development for your public authority? Please indicate if
you would be happy for Bòrd na Gàidhlig to share and promote the examples provided.

Schools:
Taobh na Pàirce:
In addition to our focus on closing the attainment gap, staff make every effort to include pupils from all
backgrounds in extra-curricular activities. Strategies include budgeting to allow pupils from low-income
backgrounds to take part in trips at a reduced cost, or free of charge. This has been key in allowing pupils from
varying demographics to have the opportunity to use their Gaelic in a social environment, as well as in the
classroom.

14

Page 247

Amasan airson Seirbhisean
Corporra

Corporate Service Aims

Àrd Phrionnsabalan

Overarching Principles

Spèis Cho-ionann
A h-uile gealladh anns a’ phlana
Ghàidhlig air a lìbhrigeadh dhan aon ìre
anns a’ Ghàidhlig agus anns a’ Bheurla.

Equal Respect
Gaelic language plan commitments
delivered to an equal standard in both
Gaelic and English.
Narrative
The commitments in the report are
structured around three strategic aims,
and implementation is overseen by the
Gaelic Implementation Group, a formal
working group of the Council. This is
the same implementation process used
for all Council plans.
Active Offer
Practical measures to ensure that staff
and public are kept regularly informed
of all opportunities that exist to use
Gaelic in relation to the work of the
public authority.
Narrative
This is well embedded in Education and
has now been extended to libraries and
museums – see detain in the main
report
Third Parties
Ensure that Arm’s Length Executive
Organisations and other contractors
help with the delivery of the public
authority Gaelic language plan.
Narrative
Progress has been made with
Edinburgh Leisure through the
rebuilding of Meadowbank stadium,
which will include a Gaelic on the
external building. Agreement has also
been reached with Edinburgh trams to
include Gaelic name places on route
maps (to be displayed inside the tram).
LRT have advised that funding is not
currently available to support
translation for their services.
Normalisation
Gaelic plan commitments are
normalised within the structures of the
public authority over time, with
opportunities to grow Gaelic within
existing budgets constantly assessed.

Cothroman Follaiseach
Gnìomhan practaigeach gus dèanamh
cinnteach gu bheil fios aig luchdobrach na buidhne agus am poball
daonnan air na cothroman a th’ ann
gus Gàidhlig a chleachdadh leis an
ùghdarras phoblach.

Treas Phàrtaidhean
A’ dearbhadh gum bi ALEOs agus
cunnradairean eile ag obair gus plana
Gàidhlig an ùghdarrais phoblaich a
chur an gnìomh.

Gàidhlig na nì àbhaisteach
Geallaidhean bhon phlana Ghàidhlig
air an gabhail a- steach ann an
structaran an ùghdarrais phoblaich tro
thìde, le sgrùdadh cunbhalach airson
cothroman a chomharrachadh taobh

15

Page 248

2019-20

Rated green

Rated green

Rated amber

Rated amber

a-staigh bhuidseatan stèidhichte gus
Gàidhlig a thoirt air adhart.

Pàrantan Corporra
Gu bheilear mothachail air na
dleastanasan a th’ ann mar Pàrant
Corporra gum bi a h-uile pàiste is
neach òg fo chùram no a b’ àbhaist a
bhith fo chùram le Gàidhlig a’ faighinn
na h-aon cothroman ‘s a tha clann le
cànain eile.

Narrative
The Council’s Policy and Sustainability
Committee, the Gaelic
Implementation Group and the Officer
Group are the relevant elements of
the decision-making structure within
the Council.
Corporate Parenting
That the authority is aware of the
duties of a Corporate Parent to ensure
that looked after children and young
people and care leavers with Gaelic
receive the same opportunities as
those with other languages.
Narrative
This would be considered as part of the
assessment and support planning for
the young person.

Inbhe
Suaicheantas
Ag amas air suaicheantas corporra
anns a’ Ghàidhlig agus anns a’ Bheurla
a chruthachadh nuair a thig a’ chiad
chothrom agus mar phàirt den
phròiseas ùrachaidh.

Soidhnichean
Prìomh shoidhnichean air an dèanamh
dà-chànanach nuair a thathar gan
ùrachadh.

Conaltradh leis a’ phoball
Brosnachadh
Teachdaireachdan gu bheil
fàilte air conaltradh sa Ghàidhlig
bhon poball daonnan.

Conaltradh sgrìobhte

Rated green

Status
Logo
Rated green
Aim to render the corporate logo in
both Gaelic and English at the first
opportunity and as part of any renewal
process.
Narrative
We have committed to doing this in our
GLP but there is no renewal planned at
present
Signage
Rated green
Prominent signage will include Gaelic
and English as part of any renewal
process.
Narrative
As noted above – agreement reached for
Meadowbank and Edinburgh Trams.
Wider progress has been limited as there
is no renewal programme planned
Communicating with the public
Promotion
Rated green
Positive message that communication
from the public in Gaelic is always
welcome.
Narrative
This is well-embedded in the Gaelic
schools, where it is most relevant; and
several Corporate staff use the BnG
“happy to communicate” footer on
emails
Written Communication
Rated green: see
16

Page 249

Fàilte ga cur air conaltradh sgrìobhte
sa Ghàidhlig (post, post-d agus
meadhanan sòisealta) daonnan agus
bidh freagairt ann sa Ghàidhlig, a rèir
clàr-ama conaltraidh àbhaisteach na
buidhne.
Ionad-fàilte agus am fòn
Far a bheil luchd-obrach le Gàidhlig
ann airson seo a thoirt seachad,
gheibh iad taic airson seo a
dhèanamh agus thèid sanasachd a
dhèanamh air t-seirbheis dhan
phoball.
Coinneamhan
Cothroman airson coinneamhan dàchànanach no sa Ghàidhlig a chumail
air an rannsachadh gu cunbhalach agus
air am brosnachadh.

Written communication in Gaelic is
always accepted (post, email and social
media) and replies will be provided in
Gaelic in accordance with the general
policy.

above (section 1)

Reception and phone
Where Gaelic speaking staff are
capable of providing this service, they
are supported to do so and the service
is promoted to the public.

Rated green: see
above (section 1)

Public meetings
Opportunities to hold public
bilingually or in Gaelic are
explored and promoted.
Narrative
Opportunities tend to relate
events; translation resources
required

Amber:

Fiosrachadh
Fiosan-naidheachd
Prìomh fhiosan-naidheachd agus
fiosan-naidheachd mu dheidhinn na
Gàidhlig air an cuairteachadh sa
Ghàidhlig agus sa Beurla.

Meadhanan sòisealta
Stuth Gàidhlig ga sgaoileadh tro na
meadhanan sòisealta gu cunbhalach,
le stiùir bho ìre cleachdaidh no
cleachdadh a dh’fhaodadh a bhith
ann.

Làrach-lìn
Stuth Gàidhlig air làrach-lìn an
ùghdarrais
phoblaich,
le
prìomhachas air na duilleagan le
faicsinneachd mhòr.

meetings
regularly

to school
would be

Information
Amber
News releases
High profile news releases and all news
releases related to Gaelic are circulated
in both Gaelic and English.
Narrative
A Communications Plan is under
development, as noted in an earlier
section of this report and the approach
to news releases will be included there.
Rated green
Social Media
Gaelic content distributed regularly
through social media, guided by the
level of actual and potential users
Narrative
The appointment of the CGDO has
enabled a significant increase in social
media presence.
Amber
Website
Gaelic content should be available on
the public authority’s website, with
emphasis given to the pages with the
highest potential reach.
Narrative
As above the Communications Plan will
include the approach to website
content.

17

Page 250

Irisean Corporra
Irisean corporra sa Ghàidhlig agus
Beurla
le
prìomhachas
air
sgrìobhainnean le faicsinneachd
mhòr.

Amber
Corporate Publications
Produced in Gaelic and English, with
priority given to those with the highest
potential reach.
Narrative
As above the Communications Plan will
include the approach to corporate
publications.

Taisbeanaidhean
Cothroman airson taisbeanaidhean
dà-chànanach no sa Ghàidhlig a
chumail air an rannsachadh gu
cunbhalach agus air am brosnachadh,
le prìomhachas air an fheadhainn aig
a bheil a’ bhuaidh as motha.

Exhibitions
Opportunities
to
deliver
public
exhibitions bilingually or in Gaelic should
be explored on a regular basis, with
priority given to those with the highest
potential impact.

Corpas na Gàidhlig

Gaelic Language Corpus

Gnàthachas Litreachaidh na Gàidhlig
Leanaidh an t-ùghdarras Poblach
Gnàthachas Litreachaidh na Gàidhlig
as ùire mar stiùir airson a h-uile rud
sgrìobhte aca.

Gaelic Orthographic Conventions
The most recent Gaelic Orthographic
Conventions will be followed in relation
to all written materials produced by the
public authority.
Narrative
As noted above, this is being factored in
to the Communications Plan. At
present, the relevant written materials
from schools comply.

18

Page 251

Rated green: see
above in sections
on promoting and
using Gaelic

Rated green

Luchd-obrach
Sgrùdadh Luchd-obrach
Sgrùdadh cunbhalach air sgilean
Gàidhlig agus iarrtasan airson
trèanadh Gàidhlig tro bheatha
gach plana.

Staff
Rated amber
Internal audit
Conduct an internal audit of Gaelic skills
and training needs through the life of
each plan.
Narrative
As noted above we plan to include
questions on Gaelic skills among all
Council staff as part of our next
Colleague Opinion Survey, which will be
carried out in 2021-22.

Inntrigeadh
Eòlas air a’ phlana Ghàidhlig mar
phàirt den phròiseas inntrigidh.
Trèanadh cànain
Trèanadh ann an sgilean Gàidhlig
ga
thabhann
agus
ga
bhrosnachadh, gu sònraichte a
thaobh a bhith a’ cur plana
Gàidhlig na buidhne an gnìomh.
Trèanadh le Fiosrachadh mun
Ghàidhlig
Trèanadh le fiosrachadh mun
Ghàidhlig, le prìomhachas air
stiùirichean, buill bùird,
comhairlichean agus luchd-obrach
air a bheil dleastanas a bhith a'
conaltradh leis a' mhòr-shluagh.

Fastadh
A’ toirt aithne is spèis do sgilean
Gàidhlig mar phàirt den phròiseas
fhastaidh.

Gàidhlig ainmichte mar sgil a tha na
buannachd agus/no a tha
riatanach
gus
seirbheisean
Gàidhlig a lìbhrigeadh agus a rèir
na comhairle laghail aig Bòrd na
Gàidhlig.
Sanasan-obrach dà-chànanach no
sa Ghàidhlig airson dreuchdan far a
bheil Gàidhlig ainmichte mar sgil
riatanach.

Induction
Knowledge of the public authority’s
Gaelic language plan included in new
staff inductions
Language training
Gaelic language skills training and
development offered to staff,
particularly in relation to
implementing the public authority’s
Gaelic language plan.
Awareness training
Gaelic awareness training offered to
staff, with priority given to directors,
board members, councillors and staff
dealing directly with the public.

Rated green:
introduced in
March 2019
Rated green: see
above in “learning
of Gaelic”

Rated green

Narrative
See above sections for the extensive
range of activities underway, which are
open to all groups of staff.
Rated green
Recruitment
Recognising and respecting Gaelic skills
within the recruitment process.
Narrative
As per standard recruitment process re
essential and desirable knowledge, skills
and experience.
Gaelic named as an essential and / or
Rated green: as
desirable skill in job descriptions in
above
order to deliver the Gaelic language
plan and in accordance with the Bòrd
na Gàidhlig recruitment advice.
Bilingual or Gaelic only job adverts
for all posts where Gaelic is an
essential skill.

19

Page 252

Rated green: for
example, CGDO
post

20

Page 253

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.6
Policy and Sustainability Committee

10.00am, Tuesday, 10 November 2020

Filming in Edinburgh – costs and income
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

Routine
All
2

1.

Recommendations

1.1

Policy and Sustainability Committee is asked to:
1.1.1 note the findings of the comparative study into city location filming costs and
income (Appendix 1) and Edinburgh’s continuing competitiveness; and
1.1.2 note the planned film and TV sector engagement on the feasibility of
introducing a ‘Film Permit’ procedure to further support the effective
management of filming in the city.

Paul Lawrence
Executive Director of Place
Contact: Rosie Ellison, Senior Film Officer
E-mail: rosie.ellison@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 07570 569183

Page 255

Report

Filming in Edinburgh – costs and income
2.

Executive Summary

2.1

Further to the meeting on 25 February 2020, the Committee requested a further
report looking at costs and income of filming, comparing Edinburgh’s results with
cities that charge for the use of public space for filming, to inform future Council
policy in this area.

2.2

The comparative study, shown in Appendix 1 ‘UK Filming: Cost and Impact,
2019/20’, found that the costs to filmmakers of Council services and locations are
broadly in line with UK market norms for film work. The economic benefit to the city
from filming is greatly increased by hosting major international feature films. The
study also found that ‘Filming Permits’ are employed by most local authority film
offices outside Scotland to manage filming in public spaces. Consideration of this
option for Edinburgh will take into account the need to remain competitive in
attracting high value filming to the city.

3.

Background

3.1

Filming is a highly competitive global industry, with countries and regions around
the world vying to attract filming for the economic and promotional benefits it can
bring.
3.1.1 The value of filming to the UK economy in 2019 increased by 16% to £3.6
billion. Of this, £3.07 billion came from inward investment film & TV
productions, with 21 studio-backed films accounting for 71% of the total
spend on production. 1
3.1.2 The growth of the creative industries in the UK has led to the number of jobs
increasing at twice the rate of the rest of the economy. 2

1

https://www2.bfi.org.uk/news-opinion/news-bfi/announcements/bfi-statistics-20

https://www.thecreativeindustries.co.uk/industries/tv-film/tv-film-facts-and-figures/uk-tv-film-governmenteconomic-data
2

Page 256

3.2

The City of Edinburgh Film Charter, approved by the Economy Committee on 6
March 2014 confirms the Council’s intention to welcome filming to the city and sets
out how the Council will realise ‘best value’ on returns from property rental and
services with fees in line with UK market norms for film work. It includes the
following parameters:
3.2.1 Location fees will reflect disruption and dedicated personnel time and will be
negotiable.
3.2.2 Fees for Council services should reflect recoupment of costs to the city,
including materials, permits and dedicated personnel’s time.

3.3

The Culture and Communities Committee agreed an update to the Code of Practice
for Filming in Edinburgh on 29 January 2019, detailing the procedures and
expected conduct of filmmakers working in Edinburgh and introducing policies for
night filming and drone filming.

3.4

On 25 February 2020 the Policy and Sustainability Committee received the annual
report of Film Edinburgh, the film office for Edinburgh, East Lothian and Scottish
Borders. This outlined that 340 films, TV programmes and commercial shoots took
place in the Edinburgh region in 2019 with an economic impact of £14.4m. The City
of Edinburgh Council’s revenue from filming in that period was £250,000.

3.5

In March 2020, First Stage Studios was appointed to run the new film and TV studio
space in Bath Road in Leith. This is expected to enhance the city’s production
capability, enabling film and TV productions to shoot not only on location over short
periods of time, but also to base the entire production in the city, creating
employment in the city over several months.

3.6

On 1 April 2020 responsibility for Film Edinburgh transferred from Marketing
Edinburgh into the Council’s Culture Service.

3.7

Filming in Edinburgh is expected to contribute to the city’s economic and cultural
recovery. While the amount and value of filming to the city in 2020/21 will inevitably
fall short of previous years due to the on-going impacts of the Coronavirus
pandemic, mainstream factual and commercial filming recommenced in July under
sector guidelines for Covid-19, and drama returned in September 2020 following
guidelines for the genre.

3.8

On 7 August 2020 the Council’s Incident Management Team (CIMT) approved the
City of Edinburgh’s Covid-19 Location Filming Action List, an annexe to the Code of
Practice focusing on the management of filming under Covid-19.

4.

Main report

4.1

Definitions for the purposes of this report:
4.1.1 Costs: costs attributed to filmmakers for hiring Council locations and services
to facilitate film and television productions; and

Page 257

4.1.2 Income: income derived by the city or the Council (as defined) from the
activity of film and television productions.
4.2

Film Edinburgh obtained cost and income data for the 2019/20 period from city
filming destinations within the UK: Glasgow, Bath, Bristol, Liverpool, Manchester,
Cardiff, Belfast. This is laid out in Appendix 1, ‘UK Filming: Cost and Impact,
2019/20’.

4.3

Costs:
4.3.1 Council parks, green spaces and beaches for filming - in March 2017, the
Council introduced tiered pricing for filmed productions, distinguishing
between very low impact filming such as documentaries which may have
only three or four people working on them and do not require exclusive use
of a site, and larger-scale productions like drama and commercials which
have workforces of 20 to 100 people and may in some cases ask for
exclusive use of an area for a short period of time. Cities around the UK have
varying pricing models for the use of parks and open spaces (see Appendix
1), and Edinburgh’s fees are broadly competitive.
4.3.2 Public streets - the Council charges fees for services to support filming on
public streets where filming will cause disruption or require officer support.
Services include temporary traffic orders to close, partially obstruct or control
traffic on public streets; the recuperation of lost revenue from parking bays
affected by filming; permits for heavy equipment and temporary structures;
and service charges for removal or alteration of street furniture. These fees
are broadly comparable to most UK cities.
4.3.3 Furthermore, businesses in streets that are closed or partially closed for
filming are compensated for loss of revenue by the film production company,
and residents’ associations and community groups can receive funds to
compensate for clear disruption.
4.3.4 Film Edinburgh charges an administrative fee for its services in supporting
and advising large-scale productions which may have an impact on the
community. Local authority film offices outside Scotland claim a percentage
of council service costs as an administrative fee.
4.3.5 In addition to costs and services outlined above, local authority film offices
outside Scotland issue ‘Filming Permits’ to confirm that specified filming in
public streets and spaces complies with their own Codes of Practice,
whether this is non-obstructive or high-impact filming. Prices range from £50
(less than 10 crew) to £500 (more than 100 crew), with exemptions for local
production companies, news, students and non-commercial filming. Cities
(outside London) that deal with high levels of filming can recover up to
£10,000 from ‘Filming Permits’.
4.3.6 The majority of film and TV programmes filmed in Edinburgh bring production
crew with them and therefore have to build in accommodation and travel
costs.

Page 258

4.4

Competition:
4.4.1 Edinburgh’s proximity to Glasgow, which is currently home to 65% of
Scotland’s film and TV production workforce, makes for clear cost
comparisons between the cities when film and TV companies are
considering where to film.
4.4.1.1

Appendix 1 shows that Glasgow’s charges for roads services
and parking are broadly comparable with those of Edinburgh.
Glasgow charges for use of public land only when exclusive
use is required by filmmakers and does not currently use Film
Permits nor charge film office administrative fees. Glasgow
hosts several large-scale feature films and TV dramas every
year thanks to its resident crew depth, build space options as
well as its physical similarity to some US cities.

4.4.2 Until such time as First Stage Studios is established and there is related
greater depth of production workforce based in Edinburgh, the city must
balance costs to remain competitive.
4.4.3 London cannot be used as a direct comparator:
4.4.3.1

4.5

London comprises of 33 local authorities. 75% of the UK’s
film/TV production workforce is based in London as well as 27
of the UK’s 39 dedicated film studios, each with multiple sound
stages. Rather than hosting eight-12 dramas a year, London
hosts eight-12 dramas every month. The economic impact of
filming in London in 2019 was £1.3 billion – a third of the total
economic impact of film and TV production in the UK.
Production teams on most shoots in London are largely local,
reducing the overhead costs of travel and accommodation for
production companies.

Income:
4.5.1 Edinburgh records between £5m and £7m in economic impact per annum,
increasing to between £14m and £16m when major international feature films
or TV dramas choose Edinburgh as a key location.
4.5.2 The filming of Fast & Furious 9 in 2019 Edinburgh provided a £5.2m boost to
the city, of which £5m was spent on local private businesses which either
closed to facilitate filming or provided services to the production.
4.5.3 The City of Edinburgh Council derived nearly £250,000 of revenue for
location fees and services for filming in 2019.
4.5.4 Two other cities, Glasgow and Liverpool, provided information on local
economic impact of between £11m and £20m per annum as a result of the
relatively high number of international feature films and TV dramas hosted.
4.5.5 Further revenue to Edinburgh is derived from promotional benefits of a
successful film or TV show. Outlander, for example, has been a driver of film

Page 259

tourism in the city. Many of Edinburgh’s tour operators now run Outlander
tours and the city’s Destination Marketing Operators offer Outlander-themed
hospitality events. By March 2019, Historic Environment Scotland reported
that visitors to Craigmillar Castle had increased 80% since it became an
‘Outlander’ location three years earlier 3.

5.

Next Steps

5.1

It is intended that Film Edinburgh will continue to encourage production and filming
to locate in Edinburgh, in line with the Film Charter and Code of Practice for
Filming.

5.2

It is proposed that Film Edinburgh engage with the film and TV production sector to
explore the feasibility, benefits and competitiveness of introducing Filming Permits
for filming in public spaces.

6.

Financial impact

6.1

Filming in Edinburgh during 2019 generated £249,186 in income to the Council.

6.2

Revenue from filming fluctuates with the amount and type of filming in the city, as
well as the chosen locations: not all filming takes place in public spaces.

7.

Stakeholder/Community Impact

7.1

The recent re-introduction of location filming in Edinburgh is expected to contribute
to the city’s economic recovery. Based on local businesses deriving c.£12m from
filming in 2019.

7.2

The indirect yet long-lasting benefits of filming include the promotion of the city to a
local, regional, UK and global audience, and the civic and business pride and
commercial benefits generated in the longer term by association with a successful
film or TV production.

8.

Background reading/external references

8.1

British Film Institute Statistics 2019

8.2

Department of Culture Media and Sport Sectors Economic Estimates June 2019.

8.3

Historic Environment Scotland report Feb 2019 and historic data relating to previous
years.

3

https://www.historicenvironment.scot/about-us/news/another-record-breaking-year-for-scottish-heritagesites/

Page 260

8.4

Glasgow City Council Neighbourhoods and Sustainability Charges 2019/20.
(2020/21 charges https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=31466&p=0)

8.5

Liverpool Film Office charges https://www.liverpoolfilmoffice.tv/wpcontent/uploads/2019/12/LFO-FILM-PERMIT-FEES-2019-20.pdf

8.6

Bristol Film Office charges http://filmbristol.co.uk/homepage/filmingpermission/charges-payments/

8.7

Film London filming permissions https://filmlondon.org.uk/resource/permission

9.

Appendices

9.1

Appendix 1: UK Filming: Cost and Impact, 2019/20.

Page 261

Appendix 1:
UK Filming costs and impact, 2019/20
2019/20 Figures

Edinburgh

Dedicated Film/TV N
Studio
Build space
Workforce
25% of Scotland

Glasgow

Belfast

Cardiff

Y

Y

Y

Y
Y (65% Scotland)

Y
Y

Y
Y

Y
Y

n/a

n/a

£250 above Road
closure fees

Film office admin £250 (40-100
n/a
fees
crew), £500 (100200), £1000 (>200
crew)
Costs 'Filming
n/a
n/a
Permits'

Liverpool

Page 262

£475 TTRN, £639 £450 TTRN, £2100 n/a
TTRO + advertising TTRO
costs
Costs Parking (per £22-£49/day
£40/day city
n/a
bay)
centre, £11.60
outside centre.
Reduced for longterm suspensions

Bristol

Y

Y

Y
Y

Y
Y

Bath

London
Y
Y
Y (75% UK)

Y

10% above council £80 + 50% council £80 (crews of +30) £0-£450
fees
fees
(+ receive
highways + 50%
parks fees)
Scale from £0
£50-£300 (tiered £50 - £200
£50-£150
£0 to £300
local/news/chariti by scale)
es to £1000 large
scale filming

0 £150-£250

Costs Roads
(TTRN/TTRO)

Manchester

£1,450 £720 / £2323.75

n/a

£22/day + £25
admin

£124 £535 (TTRN) /
£2748 (TTRO)
£30/day

£1,300 TTRO £1,000 £3,100

£22/day, or
£15/day for
multiple bays

£15/day

£17-£49/day

£55 half day /
£105/day

£200 - £5000/day.
Tiered by crew
size / duration

Costs Parks &
Open spaces (off
road) (factual/low
impact)

£53 up to 5 crew / £280/day for
up to 4 hrs + £100 exclusive use.
vehicle. >6 crew: Otherwise £0
£132/hour

varies

£45/2 hrs

FOC up to 5 crew. £88/hr, £264/4
hrs. Major parks
£205.55/4 hrs.
Tiered by crew
size / duration

£90 hr-£700 full
day. Tiered by
crew size /
duration

Costs Parks &
Open spaces (off
road)
(drama/largescale)

£132/hr
(<£1584/day) +
£100 vehicles +
10% bond for
exclusive use

£500-£1000/day

£400/day

£250 -£500 full
day. Tiered by
crew size /
duration

£120 hr - £900 full £205-£305/day.
day. Tiered by
Tiered by crew
crew size /
size / duration
duration

Costs Drone
permits
Film office staff
Volume of largescale / drama
Number of
productions
Value of filming

£920/day for
exclusive use

£100 n/a
1
10/year

n/a

£250

2

£250 n/a

2

5

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

324/year

£5M - £15M/year £12M-£20M/year n/a

n/a

£11-17M

340/year

14/year

£92/hr, or £417 £700 full day.
Major parks £828£1859 full day.
Tiered by crew
size / duration

£150
2

2
16/year

£200 - £5000/day.
Tiered by crew
size / duration

£150 n/a
2 <100
8/month

£1.3B

Prepared by Film Edinburgh, August 2020
Data source: Film Offices UK 2019/20

Agenda Item 7.7
Policy and Sustainability Committee
10:00am Thursday, 10 November 2020

Community Centres and Libraries reopening (update)
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

1.

Recommendations

1.1

The Policy and Sustainability Committee is asked to:
1.1.1 Note the current use of community centres and libraries.
1.1.2 Approve the approach being adopted to safely reopen libraries and community
centres, subject to available resources being made available from Council
reserves. The additional cost is c£200k.
1.1.3 Note the resources challenges for the Council in maintaining a safe environment
for citizens and staff across the estate.
1.1.4 Approve the addition of youth work (as defined by Youthlink Scotland) to the list
of essential services that may be able to access community centres
1.1.5 Approve that, subject to risk management, governance and available resources,
community centres will be able to apply to reopen for indoor youth work.

Andrew Kerr
Chief Executive
Contact: Paul McCloskey, Strategic Manager CLD & Libraries
E-mail: paul.mccloskey@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 6156/ 07990 772 333

Page 263

Report

Community Centres and Libraries reopening (update)
2.

Executive Summary

2.1

The report outlines the present adaptation and renewal arrangements in Community
Centres and Libraries, including performance data for libraries and approved use of
Centres.

2.2

It proposes next steps: the addition of indoor youth work to the defined criteria;
outline plans for library reopening and gradual introduction of services; Council
officers and partners to explore a collaborative approach to the gradual adaptation
and renewal of community learning and development across the city.

2.3

The key pressure on the Council remains the Facilities Management (FM) resource
deployed across the schools’ estate. Maintaining as far as possible a safe
environment for pupils and staff requires a high level and quality of janitorial and
cleaning services. The reopening of other Council buildings diverts this key FM
resource from schools to those buildings and the service has a consequent pressure
in trying to address this gap in capacity.

3.

Background

3.1

The Council has 35 community centres and 28 libraries offering a wide range of
community learning, information and leisure opportunities which are highly valued
by citizens and community groups across the city. In addition to the 28 libraries
there are targeted mobile library services, a prison library and hospital library.

3.2

In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, the Council took the decision to close all
non-essential buildings, including all libraries and community centres.

3.4

On 6 August 2020 the Council approved a process that could result in approval
being given to Management Committees of CEC Community Centres to access
centres for essential services. The essential services that were agreed were:
hosting of essential voluntary or urgent public support services, such as food banks,
homeless services, blood donation sessions, regulated childcare, access to retrieve
equipment for outdoor youth work.

3.5

It approved the reopening of libraries and on Tuesday 6 October six libraries
reopened for public use, offering a range of services.
2

Policy and Sustainability Committee 10 November 2020 v0.3

Page 264

3.6

The operational environment and support for public reopening of Council buildings
remains highly challenging, prioritising public and staff safety while developing public
access to services within available resources.

4.

Main report

4.1

Edinburgh has been responding to the Covid-19 global pandemic. There are three
drivers guiding the Council’s approach:
4.1.1 Ensure the most vulnerable in our city and in our care are protected
4.1.2 Minimise the risks to Council staff and volunteers
4.1.3 Continue to provide services as best we can in challenging circumstances
We will build from the Council’s current priorities: poverty, sustainability and
wellbeing

4.2

The challenge before the City and the Council cannot be underestimated in both the
immediate and longer term. The national position regarding Covid-19 continues to
evolve. Therefore, any programme arrangements put in place need to have the
flexibility to adapt to changing circumstances and Public Health Guidance.
There remains a requirement for some community centres and libraries to be
utilised for out of school care, early learning and childcare and as potential
alternative accommodation for the contingency plan for the 50% model for schools.

4.3

Subject to public health guidance and the capacity to support the safe use of the
settings, our ambition is to have a planned, phased reopening of libraries and
community centres for the wider public as part of Phase 4 of the Scottish
Government’s Scotland’s Route map through and out of the crisis
Libraries

4.4

Stage 1 saw six libraries reopening on 6 October: Kirkliston, Newington,
Fountainbridge, McDonald Road, Stockbridge and Central. Services offered are
book returns, browsing and borrowing, Peoples Network (internet and computer
access), National Entitlement Card applications and support, printing and
photocopying, free sanitary protection, hearing aid batteries. Browsing and
borrowing, Peoples Network and National Entitlement Card visits are bookable in
advance. Officers successfully met the challenge of developing with the supplier a
bespoke library booking system, within a relatively short timescale of three weeks,
which was up and running in time for reopening.

4.5

Service performance, staff and customer feedback is being monitored and some of
the data is included in Appendix 1. Reopening libraries, in a very controlled and
managed way, is a learning experience for both customers and staff. Officers are
adapting and refining the service model since day one, with daily reporting back by
managers on site to the Library Adaptation and Renewal (A&R) Team to monitor and
3

Policy and Sustainability Committee 10 November 2020 v0.3

Page 265

review progress. The learning from Stage 1 will help inform the development of
Stage 2.
4.6

The A&R Team is preparing plans to reopen a further four libraries for Stage 2:
Wester Hailes, Craigmillar, Gilmerton and Drumbrae. While the selection of Stage 1
libraries was based mainly upon available space for the high volume of books in
quarantine, the choice of Stage 2 libraries prioritises as far as possible those
communities which have low Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation (SIMD) Scores
(relative measure of deprivation).
Subject to available resources, the team is working towards an indicative date of
Monday 14 December.

4.7

An Integrated Impact Assessment on library service adaptation and renewal is
attached at Appendix 2.

4.8

An outline route map for the reopening of further libraries is attached at Appendix 5.
This includes a consideration of the factors and conditions which would support
further reopening, including staffing and resources.
Community Centres

4.9

The Policy and Sustainability Committee agreed on 6 August 2020 a framework and
process for limited reopening of community centres.
The agreed purpose for access to centres is early learning and childcare, out of
school care, blood donor services, food banks, access to equipment for outdoor
youth work.

4.10 To date 5 applications have been received, 4 approved and 1 not approved.
Although Scottish Government sector Guidance is available for Community Learning
and Development, specific guidance on Community Centres (which was expected to
be published August/ September) is still awaited.
4.11 Some Management Committees have requested access to Community Centres for
the purposes of indoor children’s clubs and youth work. Officers have written to all
management committees on 21 October to ascertain the level of interest, what
assistance they may require from the Council and an assurance that they are
confident that they can undertake youth work in line with Scottish Government
Guidance.
4.12 11 of the 35 Management Committees of Community Centres have expressed an
interest in gaining access to their Centre for the provision of some children services
and or youthwork .The Centres all want different levels of access ranging from one a
week for one group to several sessions a week for many different groups .
4.13 It needs to be emphasised that the definition of youth work and what is permitted
under the Scottish Government framework for the gradual, phased renewal of youth
work services does not include all activities that involve children and young people.

4
Policy and Sustainability Committee 10 November 2020 v0.3

Page 266

4.14 There is a risk in asking volunteers to undertake cleaning, particularly in the context
of the Coronavirus pandemic. The Council is seeking advice regarding who is
responsible for this in terms of the management and governance of public health risk
for building users.
4.15 If there is an increased cost to the Council to meet these requests, then committee
approval will be required to meet the increased costs. If Management Committees
can undertake youth work without the need for people or financial assistance from
the Council, these may be able to be progressed more quickly, if agreements are in
place regarding responsibilities for standards of cleaning and infection control,
subject to the risk outlined in the paragraph above. This will involve the review of the
existing lease agreements that set out roles, responsibilities and liabilities for all
involved.
4.16 There is a significant concern that CEC Locality Managers and Local Lifelong
Learning Service Managers will ultimately retain individual responsibility for activity
within centres but not be in a position to manage and exercise their responsibilities
should the centres be allowed to open to the public.
Collaboration
4.17 The Edinburgh CLD Partnership and the Council’s Community Centre Change
Group (CCCG), have identified a need to plan and manage the adaptation and
renewal of community learning and development services, in a way that aims to
respond to community need while adopting an approach of collective endeavour,
in order to come up with creative solutions and ideas.
4.18 In October 2019,Finance and Resources Committee approved the commencement
of work to amend the existing lease agreements between the Council and the
Community Centre Management Committees .This decision was taken in recognition
of the fact that the existing lease arrangements are not fit for purpose .This work
requires consultation with the Management Committees .Recent months have only
served to highlight the need to amend these lease arrangements to allow
Management Committees to have more autonomy but also ensure the health and
safety of service users and protect the legal and financial interests of the Council.
4.19 Engagement will commence with Management Committees as soon as is practical in
order to investigate the options for changes in lease and management
arrangements. It is important that that this work is clearly aligned with wider Council
Business Plan and still allows for the delivery of services supported by a sustainable
resource and operational model.
4.20 This offers an opportunity for the Council to work in partnership with Management
Committees and other partners who are critical to the delivery of community based
learning, to consider what support and development is in most need in the
community that the centre serves and to develop its offer around those needs.
4.21 A first step towards this is a series of virtual meetings in late November across the
city, involving representatives from management committees, Edinburgh Council of
5
Policy and Sustainability Committee 10 November 2020 v0.3

Page 267

Voluntary Organisations, Lothian Association of Youth Clubs and Officers from
Lifelong Learning Service, Facilities Management and Business Support.
The most recent Community Centre Updates, produced by the CCCG, are attached
at Appendix 4.

Resources
4.22

Throughout the pandemic, the Council has been trying to balance the need to adapt
and renew services for citizens while fulfilling its civic duty to keep residents and
staff safe, in line with national guidance.
The pandemic, unprecedented in modern times, has required of local and national
government a dynamic response to best manage a grave public health emergency,
assessing what are at times competing priorities and demands for services and
resources.
Public Health Guidance requires local authorities to apply stringent and prescribed
cleaning and hygiene regimes to minimise Coronavirus transmission and infection.
The key pressure on the Council is the Facilities Management (FM) resource
deployed across the schools’ estate. Maintaining as far as possible a safe
environment for pupils and staff requires a high level and quality of janitorial and
cleaning services. Cleaning itself is a skilled role and this is perhaps not always fully
understood by everyone. It requires formal training, including to COSHH standards
for the use of relevant chemicals and specialist equipment.
To work towards mitigating these pressures, the service has been actively recruiting
throughout the pandemic.

4.23

5.

Plans to reopen community centres and libraries will be considered alongside a
range of other priorities within the Adaptation and Renewal workstream under
Operations and Services and all work to support the reopening of these buildings is
located within that programme.

Next Steps

5.1

That further details on the reopening of community centres and libraries are included
in the wider action plans which will emerge from the Adaptation and Renewal
workstream on Operations and Services

5.2

Community Centre Management Committee applications to reopen centres for the
defined purposes will be considered and progressed.

5.3

Work will continue to adapt and renew library services and implement Stage 2, while
scoping the work and resources required to support further potential reopening and
undertaking preliminary building assessments.

6
Policy and Sustainability Committee 10 November 2020 v0.3

Page 268

6.

Financial impact

6.1

Currently the Council is facing a challenge in terms of prioritising Facilities
Management (FM) resource support the reopening of schools and has a working
assumption that there is a lack of resource and there will be a need to move
resources from other CEC buildings e.g. community centres and libraries to support
schools. To accommodate any reopening of community centres or libraries will result
in an additional budget pressure estimated to be £200k.

7.
7.1

Stakeholder/Community Impact
Given the huge challenges facing the city and the need for services to adapt to what
is a changed world, the Council will continue to engage with citizens on its plans for
libraries and community centres adaptation and renewal.

8.

Background reading/external references

8.1

Scotland’s Route map through and out of the crisis

8.2

The Scottish Government and Youth Link Scotland published on 22 September
2020 a framework for the gradual, phased renewal of youth work services.

8.3

The new Scottish Government Strategic Framework (libraries on page 61) https://www.gov.scot/publications/covid-19-scotlands-strategic-framework/

9.

Appendices

9.1

Appendix 1 Library reopening service data

9.2

Appendix 2 Integrated Impact Assessment on library adaptation and renewal

9.3

Appendix 3 Link to previous Community Centres and Libraries Reopening (Policy
and Sustainability) report 6 August 2020

9.4

Appendix 4

9.5

Appendix 5 Route map for gradual reopening of libraries

Community Centre Updates 6 and 7

7
Policy and Sustainability Committee 10 November 2020 v0.3

Page 269

Appendix 1
Since phase one of reopening, Libraries have been offering a range of services. Customers can
return material at any time during opening hours, but all other services require booking in advance.
Information about use of the library in the third week (19-24 October) has been used to provide a
snapshot of usage since reopening.

Bookings
Central Library
and Children’s
Library

Borrow Children's
&
Browse and
Browse Collect

Hearing Aid
Replacement
Batteries

People's
Network

National
Entitlement Card

293

92

7

79

60

McDonald
Road Library

105

26

3

53

60

Newington
Library

155

19

8

27

62

Kirkliston
Library

31

13

1

6

10

Stockbridge
Library

78

26

0

34

39

89
751

28
204

4
23

51
250

40
271

Fountainbridge
Library
Total
Context:
•

•

•

•
•
•

Libraries have operated at capacity since re-opening on 06 October with a small proportion
of customers being unsuccessful in securing bookings at every branch every day.
Unfortunately, we are not able to increase capacity per building until social distancing
restrictions are relaxed.
Compared year on year these statistics would show a steep and uniform drop. This is due to
significantly reduced capacity for customers in branches indicated by social distancing
measures and Scottish Government and Public Health Scotland guidelines as well as advice
from Health and Safety and Environmental Health partners.
The booking system is being continuously monitored and adapted to best to reflect
customer needs e.g. we have allowed booking much further ahead in time for National
Entitlement Card as this was in such high demand, and we have shortened the time
allocated to some booking slots to allow more customers access per day where it has been
shown that this is appropriate.
Reduced opening hours and the requirement for cleaning between use has reduced the
sessions available on the People’s Network (public access computers and internet).
The bulk of bookings have been for Borrow & Browse slots. There have been very few
missed appointments.
During October 15,063 items were returned and 13, 179 items issued.

Page 270

Appendix 2
Integrated Impact Assessments
Introduction
We know that services are under pressure, difficult decisions are being made and normal working
practices may need to change or be adapted very quickly to ensure we can deliver essential services
at this challenging time. However, it’s important that we don’t lose sight of our legal responsibilities
in relation to equality, socio-economic disadvantage, climate change, sustainability, the environment
and human rights.
The Council uses an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) tool to help ensure we are meeting those
duties when developing policies and making service decisions. We recognise that it may not be
possible to carry out all elements of the Council’s IIA process when making rapid decisions in relation
to the Council’s response to Covid-19. However, the Council remains under these duties and it’s
vital we continue to have due regard to potential impacts, and record our consideration of these and
any mitigating actions required. We have produced this shortened guide to help relevant staff to do
this.
Heads of Service remain ultimately responsible for deciding whether an assessment is required and
ensuring potential impacts are considered and recorded. The full Council IIA process should be
followed in all but emergency circumstances and Equality Diversity and Rights Advisors nominated
by each service area have a role in supporting the process. We are also making arrangements for IIA
training to be provided remotely and offered to a wider range of staff, beyond Equality Diversity and
Rights Advisors, with further information to follow.
The remainder of this document provides guidance on:
1. Deciding whether an impact assessment is required
2. Considering potential impacts
3. Recording impacts and mitigating actions
1.

Deciding whether an IIA is required

1.1. The first stage is to consider whether a proposal requires an impact assessment. If you answer
yes to any question in the high relevance category, then an IIA is required. If you identify that an
IIA is not required, then you need to explain why/how you have reached this decision and send
a brief statement to your Head of Service for agreement and approval. This can be done by
email, but It is important you retain a record of this approval as evidence.
High Relevance
The proposal could potentially affect people for example in the availability, accessibility or quality of goods, facilities or
services
The proposal has potential to make an impact on equality even when this only affects a relatively small number of people
The proposal has the potential to make a significant impact on the economy and the delivery of economic outcomes
The proposal is likely to have a significant environmental impact
The proposal is considered strategic and high level in the organisation
Low Relevance
The proposal has little relevance to equality
The proposal has negligible impact on the economy and the delivery of economic outcomes
The proposal has no/minimal impact on the environment

Page 271

Yes/no
Yes
Yes
Yes
No
Yes
No
No
Yes

If you have identified only low relevance please give a brief statement of your reasoning and report this to your Head of Service/NHS
Project Lead for approval. Please then insert the statement in the section in the relevant management or committee report.

2. Considering potential impacts
2.1. IIAs are normally carried out by a group of at least four people, to increase the diversity of
perspectives and provide supportive challenge. We would encourage you, when possible, to
make use of skype to facilitate this. If this is not possible, we would recommend that the lead
officer involves at least one other staff member.
2.2. Gather relevant data and evidence about the needs and experiences of people with protected
characteristics and those vulnerable to experiencing poverty and ill health in the context of the
work you are undertaking. A list of the types of evidence you will want to consider is included
within the summary report template at Annex A. Much of this evidence will already be
available within services; where evidence is not available, this should be noted.
2.3. As a group exercise if possible, think critically about how your proposal will impact on different
groups of people, including those with protected characteristics, and/or impact on human
rights, sustainability and the environment. A list of population groups and potential impacts is
provided at Annex B as a prompt to aid thinking (and is not intended to be exhaustive).
3. Recording impacts and mitigating actions
3.1. Taking account of what the evidence gathered is telling you, critically consider how the proposal
might impact on different groups in different ways. Consider positive, as well as negative
impacts, and consider what actions might be necessary to prevent or mitigate negative impacts
and/or maximise positive impacts.
3.2. Record a summary of the anticipated impacts and mitigating actions. A summary report
template for recording this information is provided at Annex A.
3.3. Return the completed summary report template to
strategyandbusinessplanning@edinburgh.gov.uk for publication on the Council website.

Page 272

Annex A
INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY REPORT TEMPLATE FOR EMERGENCY DECISIONS
Please complete as many of these sections as possible
1.

Title of proposal

Library Service – adaptation and renewal (re-opening phase) of libraries following closure in
response to Covid-19 virus
2.

What will change as a result of this proposal?

The first phase of reopening libraries will see a selection of branches across the city opening
on Tuesday 6 October, for a range of services.
The initial service offer will include access to library buildings for browsing and borrowing, returning
items, free access to computers, internet and WiFi, support with National Entitlement Card online
applications, Hey Girls free sanitary provision, collection of hearing aid batteries, printing and
photocopying.
The 6 libraries are Central, Kirkliston, McDonald Road, Fountainbridge, Stockbridge and Newington.
The choice of locations for the first phase of reopening is a pragmatic one, based upon the
availability of space to manage an expected early surge in demand. We also wanted to avoid (initially
at least) library hub buildings where critical resilience services are operating
3. Briefly describe public involvement in this proposal to date and planned
In planning the reopening of Edinburgh's libraries our top priority is the health of residents and
colleagues, and the process is directed by Scottish Government guidance and Safer Workplace
Guidance for Public Libraries. Planning has taken into account the specific considerations for each
library building and we have examined different approaches adopted by our colleagues in many
services across Scotland and more widely afield.
The date and rationale for re-opening has been communicated via notices on buildings, library
account email, library web page, mainstream media, library social media and main Council web page
and social media communications.
As part of monitoring and evaluating the impact of this library reopening, we will seek customer and
staff feedback.
4.

Date of IIA

05/10/2020
5.

Who was involved in carrying out the IIA? (please list lead officer and other staff)

Name
Louise Graham

Job Title
Lifelong Learning Strategic Development Officer
(Libraries)

Paul McCloskey

Lifelong Learning Service Manager (CLD and
Libraries)

Page 273

6. Evidence available at the time of the IIA
Evidence

Available – detail source

Data on populations
in need

Scottish Index of Multiple
Deprivation (SIMD); 2011
census data; free school meals
and school clothing grants; RNIB
sight loss data tool; the number
of individuals in key
demographics within
Edinburgh, accessing specific
Council care packages and
services.
Library Management System; Eservice supplier platforms
People’s Network (public access
computer) usage

Data on service
uptake/access

Comments: what does the evidence tell
you about different groups who may be
affected?
Identifies small area concentrations of
multiple deprivation across all of
Scotland in a consistent way; declared
ethnic group; local authority register of
areas of need; figures for Edinburgh
compared to Scotland
http://www.rnib.org.uk/knowledge-andresearch-hub ; the percentage of
vulnerable communities and individuals
likely to be impacted by a loss of service
Loan figures for physical stock
e-audio issues
e-book issues
PressReader statistics
RB Digital e-magazine issues
Number of library members
Number of virtual users

Data on socioeconomic
disadvantage e.g. low
income,
material/area-based
deprivation.

Scottish Index of Multiple
Deprivation (SIMD); free school
meals and school clothing
grants; DWP Universal Credit
application data

Identifies small area concentrations of
multiple deprivation across all of
Scotland in a consistent way; local
authority register of areas of need;
number of residents per locality
accessing benefits/seeking employment

Data on equality
outcomes

https://scvo.org.uk/digital

Research/literature
evidence

The Place of Kindness:
Combating Loneliness and
Building Stronger Communities
Carnegie UK, 2017

Libraries’ positive role in social inclusion
and mental wellbeing.

Shining A Light: Country
Factsheet (Scotland) Carnegie
UK, 2017

A summary of Scottish data on attitudes
to and use of public library services.

Digital equality – SCVO - Confidence,
skills, access and affordability may
prevent people from being online.
https://www.microsoft.com/en- Accessibility equality - tools to provide
digital solutions which reflect the
us/accessibility
diversity of a wide range of issues.

Page 274

Evidence

Available – detail source
Ambition and Opportunity: A
Strategy for Public Libraries in
Scotland 2015-2020 Scottish
Library and Information Council
(SLIC) and Carnegie UK, 2015
The Next Chapter SLIC and
Young Scot, 2018

Public/patient/client
experience
information
Insight from public /
service user
engagement
Evidence of unmet
need
Good practice
guidelines

Carbon emissions
generated/reduced
Environmental data

Council complaint and
compliment process; library
enquiries email; library
membership account help; eservices account help
Libraries enquiries email
accounts; Libraries social media
accounts; event and activity
evaluation and feedback
N/A

Comments: what does the evidence tell
you about different groups who may be
affected?
National strategy – sets out the vision,
mission and outcomes for public libraries
across Scotland.

Insights, ideas and recommendations for
policy and practice in public libraries
following co-design process with SLIC
and Young Scot panel members.
Customers are able to contact staff,
request help and feedback on issues in a
variety of ways.
Active web and social media presence –
monitoring customer requests and
feedback.

Ambition and Opportunity: A
Strategy for Public Libraries in
Scotland 2015-2020 Scottish
Library and Information Council
(SLIC) and Carnegie UK, 2015

National strategy – sets out the vision,
mission and outcomes for public libraries
across Scotland.

How Good Is Our Public Library
Service – A Public Library
Improvement Model for
Scotland SLIC, 2014

A framework designed for public library
managers and staff to evaluate the
quality and effectiveness of their service
provision, identify areas for
improvement, and demonstrate their
contribution to overall corporate
performance.
Drop in carbon emissions indicates a
proportionate drop in service delivery –
and types of services used by more
vulnerable customers

Business support library van run
schedule; Mobile library van
routes; Library Link journeys to
libraries.
N/A

Risk from cumulative
impacts

N/A

Other (please specify)

N/A

Additional evidence
required?

N/A

Page 275

7.

In summary, what impacts were identified and which groups will they affect?

Equality, Health and Wellbeing and Human Rights
Positive
Restricted movement of people – customers and staff throughout
the city in line with government and council instructions not to
travel unnecessarily: phased opening approach allows impact of
opening to be measured and rolled back if necessary.

Affected populations
All

Citywide staffing approach supports reduced travel where
appropriate.
Staffing has been considered in discrete cohorts (bubbles) to limit
transmission.
Social distancing measures enforced in library buildings supports
staff and customer health and safety e.g. altered layouts, reduced
capacity, protective barriers, booking system, PPE.
Increased access through technology to greater choice and
improved accessibility (in some cases) to information and
resources.
Improved staff skills in use of technology and development of
these life skills in the population (increasingly essential for
employability).
New developments and innovation in service delivery methods
and programme development.
Increased engagement with audiences via social media.
Renewed access to physical book stock.
Enable fulfilment of customer reservations from open branches.
Physical, welcoming space – hub of community and place of social
inclusion re-opens – positive impact on local community.
Negative
Location of 6 sites (three are city centre locations) does not
support the library and information needs of other communities
which may not be able to easily travel to the open libraries. Stage
2 plans to prioritise libraries in areas of social disadvantage.
Booking system in place – at least initially – off-putting to some
and barriers to some for online and/or telephone booking.

Page 276

All

Reduction in availability of specialist resources: health, rights, law,
community languages etc. – not all services fully functioning yet
and expectations raised.
Social isolation and lack of support for mental wellbeing,
community support, peer mentoring and neighbourhood networks
– not able to fully support with short booked appointments and
current social distancing guidelines.
Necessary cancellation/postponement of programmed live events,
festivals and group activities – until otherwise indicated by
relaxation in Scottish Government guidelines.

Environment and Sustainability including climate change
emissions and impacts
Positive
Drop in carbon emissions as library van run is reduced, Mobile
Library vans and Library Link transfers stop during restricted
opening.
Majority of library buildings (24) remain closed – reduction in
water, power and lighting.
Less use of paper-based resources.

Affected populations

All

Negative
Minerals and natural resources (e.g. Cobalt) used for new and
emerging technologies has environmental impacts.
Six Library buildings re-open – water, power, lighting.
Library van run and stock transfer re-starts in a limited form.
New stock deliveries re-start.
Having six open may encourage people to travel across the city by
car thereby increasing carbon emissions.

Economic including socio-economic disadvantage

Affected populations

Positive
Access to the People’s Network (free computer and internet
access) will support employability and training initiatives.

All

Staff training packages developed to be delivered remotely and
online – investment in webcams to continue this type of delivery –
part of service adaptation and renewal.
Development of free “face to face” digital skills sessions for
customers delivered using learning and teaching digital platforms
– also including signposting to self-help for customers in essential

Page 277

digital skills - lack of one-to-one help available in line with social
distancing rules
Programme of activities and events tailored for online delivery
and lockdown conditions continued as part of service offer.
Bespoke Children and Young People Libraries Facebook page
created to support parents.
E-issues have no fines and no fees.
E-learning content is free.
E-services are free.
E-resources offers e.g. family history e-resources available to use
from home – usually only available within libraries.

All

Negative
Libraries in areas of low SIMD scores (social and economic
disadvantage) remain closed. The intention in Stage 2 is to
prioritise those libraries located in areas which have low SIMD
scores.
Extra investment in digital technology and e-services in order to
deliver library services effectively – laptops/tablets ordered per
branch in order to improve customer experience.
Loss of income generation to Library Service from community
group room bookings.
Loss of income generation to Library Service from event ticket
bookings.
Significant loss of fines and loans charges income to the Council

8. Is any part of this policy/ service to be carried out wholly or partly by contractors and if so how
will equality, human right, including socio-economic disadvantage, environmental and
sustainability issues be addressed?
No.
9.

Describe how you will communicate information about this policy/ service change to children
and young people and those affected by sensory impairment, speech impairment, low level
literacy or numeracy, learning difficulties or English as a second language?
We will communicate the reasons and process around libraries re-opening in various ways: with
posters, via web, social media and mainstream media. Messages will also be conveyed through
Government issue leaflets and mainstream media. We will promote the services that are
available, advertise how to make a booking, and how to contact the libraries that are open. We
will continue to communicate with Communities and Families staff, partners in adult learning,
youthwork and disabilities organisations.

Page 278

10. Is the policy likely to result in significant environmental effects, either positive or negative? If
yes, it is likely that a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) will be required and the impacts
identified in the IIA should be included in this.
No.
11. What, if any, actions are recommended in response to the impacts identified above? This can
include keeping the proposal under review, gathering more data, or specific actions to mitigate
identified impacts.

Specific actions (as a result of the IIA
which may include responding to
financial implications, mitigating
negative impacts, action to manage the
risk of cumulative impacts)

Who will take them
forward (name and
job title)

Deadline for
progressing

Review date

Development of basic essential digital
skills updates for staff including selfhelp signposting links.

Libraries Digital team

06th October
2020

30th
November
2020

6th October
2020

03rd January
2021

06 October
2020

03rd January
2021

06 October
2020

03rd January
2021

Continued programme of activities and
events tailored for online delivery and
lockdown conditions.

Lead Officer:
Eamonn Glancy,
Libraries
Development Leader
(Digital)
Libraries CYP team,
Libraries
Development
Leaders, Libraries
Digital team
Lead Officer(s):
Louise Graham,
Lifelong Learning
Strategic
Development Officer
(Libraries)
Cleo Jones, Lifelong
Learning Strategic
Development Officer
(Libraries)

Library booking system to be
sourced/developed and implemented.

Libraries Digital team

Bespoke Children and Young People
Libraries Facebook page curated and

Libraries CYP team,
Libraries Digital team

Lead Officer: Louise
Graham, Lifelong
Learning Strategic
Development Officer
(Libraries)

Page 279

Deadline for
progressing

Review date

Lead Officer: Cleo
Jones, Lifelong
Learning Strategic
Development Officer
(Libraries)

06 October
2020

03rd January
2021

Investment in e-resources to support
sustained increase in issues and use.

Libraries Digital team

06th Oct 2020

03rd January
2021

Proposal to adapt and renew mobile
library services (subject to Scottish
Government guidance) in development.
This could significantly mitigate the
impact of libraries remaining closed in
areas of the city furthest away from an
open library.

Lead Officer: Cleo
Jones, Lifelong
Learning Strategic
Development Officer
(Libraries)

09 November
2020

03 January
2021

Use partnerships with organisations
supporting employability so that the
People’s Network access can be
prioritised to those in greatest need.

Lead Officer: Louise
Graham, Lifelong
Learning Strategic
Development Officer
(Libraries)

26 October
2020

03 January
2021

Review the requirement for a booking
system (which is a barrier) for browsing
visits once the initial weeks of opening
are underway.

Lead Officer: Louise
Graham, Lifelong
Learning Strategic

26 October
2020

Specific actions (as a result of the IIA
which may include responding to
financial implications, mitigating
negative impacts, action to manage the
risk of cumulative impacts)

Who will take them
forward (name and
job title)

Children and Young People offer further
developed to support families during
limited opening.

Lead Officer: Diane
Yule, Lifelong
Learning
Development Leader
(CYP)

Housebound delivery service and
customer care calls continued to
support our most vulnerable customers

Lead Officer: Louise
Graham, Lifelong
Learning Strategic
Development Officer
(Libraries)

Page 280

Specific actions (as a result of the IIA
which may include responding to
financial implications, mitigating
negative impacts, action to manage the
risk of cumulative impacts)

Who will take them
forward (name and
job title)

Deadline for
progressing

Review date

Development Officer
(Libraries)

Are there any negative impacts in section 7 for which there are no identified mitigating actions?
The fact that 6 libraries out of 28 are open cannot be easily mitigated for those people living in areas
of the city distant from a library. While the revised mobile library programme in
development will have some impact, this will be limited. However, we are living through a
pandemic and reopening of six city libraries, with a range of services for customers, with
public, staff and volunteer safety as a priority, is a positive step forward for the world’s first
City of Literature and its people.
#13.

How will you monitor how this proposal affects different groups, including people with
protected characteristics?
Through existing Council, partners and third sector organisational contacts for groups with
protected characteristics. In addition, monitoring channels of customer engagement and
feedback e.g. complaints and compliments process, library emails and library social media
channels.

14.

Sign off by Head of Service
Name

Date

15.

Publication

Completed and signed IIAs should be sent to strategyandbusinessplanning@edinburgh.gov.uk to be
published on the IIA directory on the Council website www.edinburgh.gov.uk/impactassessments

Page 281

Annex B
Population groups and potential impacts
POPULATION GROUPS
Think about how the policy or proposal could impact (positively or negatively) on the following groups.
People with protected characteristics
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Older people and people in their middle years
Young people and children
Men (include trans men), Women (include trans women) and non-binary people. (Include issues
relating to pregnancy and maternity including same sex parents)
Disabled people (includes physical disability, learning disability, sensory impairment, long-term
medical conditions, mental health problems)
Minority ethnic people (includes Gypsy/Travellers, migrant workers, non-English speakers)
Refugees and asylum seekers
People with different religions or beliefs (includes people with no religion or belief)
Lesbian, gay, bisexual and heterosexual people
People who are unmarried, married or in a civil partnership

Those vulnerable to falling into poverty
• Those who have low or no wealth
• Those on low income
• Those who live in areas of deprivation
• Those experiencing material deprivation
• Unemployed
• People in receipt of benefits
• Lone parents
• Vulnerable families eg young mothers, people experiencing domestic abuse, children at risk of statutory
measures, includes disabled adult/child, minority ethnic families
• Families with a child under 1
• Larger Families (3+ children)
• People in receipt of pensions
• Looked after children and young people
• Those leaving care settings (including children and young people and those with illness)
• Homeless people
• Carers (including young carers and carers with protected characteristics)
• Those involved in the criminal justice system
• People with low literacy/numeracy
• People experiencing difficulties with substance use
• Others e.g. veterans and students
Geographic / other communities
• Rural/semi-rural communities
• Urban communities
• Coastal communities
• Business community
Staff
•
•
•
•

Full-time / Part-time
Shift workers
Staff with protected characteristics
Staff vulnerable to falling into poverty

Page 282

POTENTIAL IMPACTS
Think about how the policy or proposal could impact (positively or negatively) on the following objectives, and
how this might affect the population groups listed above in different ways:
Equality and Human Rights
• Eliminate discrimination and harassment
• Advance equality of opportunity e.g. improve access / quality of services
• Foster good relations within and between people who share protected characteristics
• Enable people to have more control of their social/work environment
• Reduce differences in status between different groups of people
• Promote participation, inclusion, dignity and control over decisions
• Build family support networks, resilience and community capacity
• Reduce crime and fear of crime including hate crime
• Protect vulnerable children and adults
Promote healthier lifestyles including:
• diet and nutrition,
• sexual health,
• difficulties with substance use
• physical activity
• life skills
Environmental
• Reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (including carbon management)
• Reduce need to travel and promote sustainable forms of transport
• Plan for and adapt to future climate change
• Pollution: air/ water/ soil/ noise
• Protect coastal and inland waters
• Enhance biodiversity
• Encourage resource efficiency (energy, water, materials and minerals) eg avoid single use plastic
Public Safety eg:
• minimise waste generation
• infection control
• accidental injury
• fire risk
Improve the physical environment eg:
• housing quality
• public space
• access to and quality of green space
Economic (including socio-economic)
• Improve quality of and access to services
• Reduce cost of living
• Maximise income and/or reduce income inequality
• Support local business
• Improve local employment opportunities
• Help young people into positive destinations
• Help people to access jobs (both paid and unpaid)
• Improve working conditions, including equal pay
• Improve literacy and numeracy

Page 283

APPENDIX 4

COMMUNITY CENTRE UPDATE 6
7TH FEBRUARY 2020
Handbook
The Community Centre Handbook was introduced at all centres in July 2018, with the
intention of reviewing and revising this after 12 months. Feedback was sought from the
different parties involved in the operational management of centres. One aspect of the
Handbook is that although it aimed to be a guide on matters of health and safety (H&S),
there remained some ambiguity as to who was responsible for specific aspects of H&S.
The new handbook will have two sections: section one - a set of questions and answers
covering areas such as insurance, public entertainment licences, safeguarding of children
and vulnerable adults, serving of alcohol; section two - the self-assurance questionnaire.
A Self Assurance framework (SAF) is in place across schools and it was felt that the
instruction of this approach could help all parties to identify risk and provide a framework to
manage risk through the provision of a questionnaire, issued annually and validation
guidance which provides guidance on how to ensure the mitigations detailed in the
questionnaire are operating effectively. Extending the questionnaire to Community
establishments ensures a comprehensive approach to how we manage risk with and
through partnerships by being clear about roles/responsibilities/requirements.
Locality engagement with Management Committees (MCs) on this approach took place
across the city – South West 22 October, North West 23 October, North East 28 October and
South East 30 October 2019.
A summary of the feedback is set out below:
•
•
•
•
•

The assurance framework could assist risk management
Management committees would like to be part of shaping the questionnaire
It would be good to have regular updates on risk management
It would be good to receive Risk Matters (risk communications)
Management Committees would like to attend risk training for example health and
safety training, courses such as Ready for Winter

1|P ag e

Update Number 6 February 2020

Page 284

Following up on the engagement sessions, the focus now is on shaping the questionnaire
with Management Committees and that we seek volunteers for this with a “you said/we
did” approach.
It was clear that asking MCs to adopt a framework was welcomed by some and seen as a
burden by others and that capacity will need to meet what is required.
Completing the SAF is an exercise that will involve all parties – Management Committees,
Facilities Management, Business Support, Lifelong Learning. It isn’t only the MCs who are
responsible: given the shared nature of centres all parties need to actively input to the
completion of the framework.
Before that happens, we will be asking for your input to the design of the questions. The
questionnaire was designed for schools and while some of the questions still stand others
will need to be deleted or changed to reflect a community centre environment.
What came through the locality engagement was the need to involve management
committees in a meaningful way to shape the content of the self-assurance framework,
adapting this to reflect a community centre context including specific questions in the SAF
questionnaire.
These questions are the scaffolding which underpins the framework and it is felt that getting
this first stage right is essential, so all the parties involved in community centres, particularly
the volunteer Management Committees, feel fully involved and engaged in adopting the
SAF. This will mean that actual implementation of the SAF itself will take place in the Spring
(once the questions have been developed).
We suggest that a first step is to ask for volunteers who would want to be part of a
questions design working group. This work could lead to the formation of a management
committee partnership risk group. The group would develop a specific term of reference
which could lead to an effective risk management process, including
identification/assessment/action management/escalation. Council officers would support
the group and enable its development. 1. Would you be interested in volunteering for such a

group?

One emerging idea at the engagement sessions was that of MCs supporting each other in
terms of aspects of Community Centre management, perhaps through sharing knowledge or
‘how do you do this …?’ type of assistance. Management Committees advised that they
wanted Council officer co-ordination and support with this. There was also discussion on
sharing of resources/ideas/good practices – focusing on opportunities looking at what is
being done well alongside what can be improved. There was discussion about centres

2|P ag e

Update Number 6 February 2020

Page 285

sharing a booking database and busy centres sharing bookings with quieter centres where
this suited
The Council is supportive of these ideas. It seems more empowering for people to help each
other and if you feel that specific Council support for this idea would help, we would very
much welcome your ideas. 2. What would this support look like for your MC?
One centre asked if MCs were willing to share their email contacts then MCs could more
easily contact one another, and this could help communication and some of the mutual
support and help as above. 3. Are you happy for your key contact email to be shared with
all other MCs?
Centres are putting in place Red Button folders for emergency information and Risk Matters,
a regular update compiled by the Council Risk Management team is being shared with all
Community Centre MCs.
The Community Centre Change Group (CCCG) is a Council officer group, with
representatives from Facilities Management, Business Support, Lifelong Learning, Health &
Safety, Estates, Resilience, Risk (and when required Fire Safety, Insurance, Human Resources
and Legal services).
4. How do you feel that your voice as a management committee could be fed into the
work of this group and future developments in a more direct way? Would the idea of
locality or smaller local forums help, each choosing a spokesperson who would attend the
CC Change Group meetings or meet with Service Managers who are on the CC Change
group? There could be more than one way of doing this.
Seminar/ workshop
One idea to increase collaboration is to hold a half day seminar/ workshop (perhaps two or
three times per year) to which all MCs across the City are invited:
Possible themes might be
•
•
•
•
•

Volunteer Recruitment, Support and Development
Managing Financial Accounts
Fundraising applications and Fundraising Strategy
Health and Safety
Good practice sharing.

If successful, these events could be repeated, reflecting themes suggested by MCs and the CCCG.
5. What themes do you think it would be useful to explore at such events?

3|P ag e

Update Number 6 February 2020

Page 286

Lease Review Consultation
Most of the leases to management committees date back to 1994 and need modernisation
and renewal. On 10 October 2019, Finance and Resources committee agreed the principle
of implementing modern leases on standard terms in all community centres with
management committees and that there will be consultation with the management
committees on the draft standard lease terms appended to the report.
A copy of the report is enclosed with this Update.
Here is an electronic link to the report:
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s9350/Community%20Centre%20Leases.p
df
(If the link does not work when you click on it, please copy and paste the link into your
Internet browser and it should take you to the report)
The consultation will begin later this year and the outcomes will be reported back to Finance
and Resources Committee for their consideration.
Summary of the questions asked through the Update:
1. Would you be interested in volunteering for a question design working group?
2. What would this Council support (to enable MCs to better support each other) look
like for your MC?
3. Are you happy for your key contact email to be shared with all other MCs?
4. How do you feel that your voice as a management committee could be fed into the
work of this group (the Community Centre Change Group) and future
developments in a more direct way?
5. What themes do you think it would be useful to explore at half day seminars?
Please feedback any answers or comments to your Lifelong Learning Service Manager in
the first instance.
Thank you.
Kind regards

4|P ag e

Update Number 6 February 2020

Page 287

Paul McCloskey
Lifelong Learning Strategic Manager - Community Learning and Development and Libraries
paul.mccloskey@edinburgh.gov.uk Tel 0131 529 6156/ 07990 770 333

If you have any questions, please contact the Lifelong Learning Service Managers below:
North East
Caroline Lamond – caroline.lamond@edinburgh.gov.uk
Scott Neil – scott.neill@edinburgh.gov.uk
North West
Helen Bourquin - helen.bourquin@edinburgh.gov.uk
Scott Donkin – scott.donkin@edinburgh.gov.uk
South East
Andrew Gallacher – andrew.gallacher@edinburgh.gov.uk
Jackie Stewart – Jackie.stewart@ea.edin.sch.uk
South West
Christine Doherty – christine.doherty@edinburgh.gov.uk
Hana Mackechnie – hana.mackechnie@edinburgh.gov.uk

5|P ag e

Update Number 6 February 2020

Page 288

APPENDIX 4

COMMUNITY CENTRE UPDATE 7
26 OCTOBER 2020
Context
Colleagues, volunteers and partners, we are living through a pandemic, unprecedented in
modern times, one which has changed many aspects of life for citizens and communities.
Such times can place an extra burden, particularly on the most vulnerable in society, given
the isolation some experience and the necessary social contact restrictions.
Community learning and development in all its forms, statutory and voluntary, supports
primarily disadvantaged or vulnerable groups and individuals to engage in learning, personal
development and active citizenship. A challenge facing us all is how can we best continue to
try and adapt services to reach out those who may be struggling while meeting public health
requirements (which themselves are subject to flux and change depending on levels of virus
transmission) and having the necessary resources to ensure the services are as safe as they
can be.
Collaboration and partnership
There is a need to plan and manage community learning and development services in a way
that while it tries to respond to and meet community need, at the same time requires our
collective endeavour in order to come up with creative solutions and ideas.
As you will know Community Centres closed in March 2020 as a consequence of the Covid19 pandemic and it was agreed at Policy & Sustainability Committee on 6 August that
Management Committees can apply for reopening only for the purposes of food banks,
homelessness services, blood donors and access to retrieve equipment for outdoor youth
work.
While it is natural for people to wish for a return to business as usual, this is not likely to
happen. Partly to do with the significant Health and Safety considerations attendant upon
the resumption of all activity whether in or out of buildings and how this influences
numbers of participants; partly to do with the additional resources required to ensure that
as far as possible all parties are safe - volunteers, staff and citizens; partly to do with the
budget challenges for many organisations including the Council.
1|P ag e

Update Number 7 October 2020

Page 289

A priority in Scotland is continuity in children’s education – ensuring as far as possible that
the learning of future generations is maintained and that they have the best start in life.
What this means for the Council is that the facilities management support for schools
remains a priority, as it responds to an ongoing, changing situation which requires
significant levels of cleaning and facilities support. Added to this is the support required for
other Council buildings such as Critical Resilience Centres and most recently the reopening
of six libraries.
Conversation
Council officers who have a working relationship with Community Centres would like to
have a conversation with Management Committees and some of our third sector partners,
to explore some questions which it is hoped could help us to adopt a more strategic,
planned approach to the adaptation of community learning and development. There are no
easy answers to the intrinsic challenges we all face together – but there may be some
possible solutions through dialogue and conversation.
The suggestion is that we hold video meetings using Teams (used by the Council and there
are ways of people joining in as ‘guests’, which we can share information about when we
get to the stage of setting these up). We had thought of setting up a meeting for each
Locality and that one person from each MC to attend one of these. The reason for this is
that having meaningful conversations with large groups can be particularly difficult in the
artificial environment of Teams.
In attendance would be representatives of Lifelong Learning Locality Service Managers,
Business Support, Facilities Management, Edinburgh Council of Voluntary Organisations,
Lothian Association of Youth Clubs and myself (as meeting chairperson/ facilitator).
In order to help facilitate discussion and make best use of the time, it would be useful to
know in advance:
•

what are the top three areas you would like to explore in the conversation?

This information could help us to group the questions into themes and structure the
discussion.
The days and times aim to offer a variety of slots – management committee representatives
would choose the day and time suits best.
The suggested days and times are:

2|P ag e

Update Number 7 October 2020

Page 290

Can you please let Seth Henderson seth.henderson@edinburgh.gov.uk know by ………
November your top three areas, preferred date and time and the email address you want
the meeting invite sent to. If willing to share, a mobile contact number would be useful
should you have any problems connecting to the meeting on the day.
Lease Review Consultation
The planned consultation on the review of the standard lease for community centres was
placed on hold at the start of lockdown as the preferred option was to hold the consultation
in person. Given the uncertainty over when that will be possible, it is now proposed to
undertake the consultation by supplying written information on the proposals and
requesting written feedback from the management committees which can then be collated
and submitted to Finance and Resources committee for their consideration. This process
will be supported through online sessions using Microsoft Teams.
These online sessions would be set up following on from the more general sessions as
outlined above.
Assurance Framework
I attach Update No 6 which refers to the Assurance Framework – at the time some
Management Committee members expressed an interest in contributing the design of
questions. We plan to pick this work up again and perhaps we can touch on this in our
Teams meetings?
Thank you for your support and commitment
Take care

Paul McCloskey
Lifelong Learning Strategic Manager - Community Learning and Development and Libraries
paul.mccloskey@edinburgh.gov.uk Tel 0131 529 6156/ 07990 770 333
If you have any questions, please contact the Lifelong Learning Service Managers below:
North East
Caroline Lamond – caroline.lamond@edinburgh.gov.uk
Scott Neil – scott.neill@edinburgh.gov.uk
3|P ag e

Update Number 7 October 2020

Page 291

North West
Helen Bourquin - helen.bourquin@edinburgh.gov.uk
Scott Donkin – scott.donkin@edinburgh.gov.uk
South East
Andrew Gallacher – andrew.gallacher@edinburgh.gov.uk
Jackie Stewart – Jackie.stewart@ea.edin.sch.uk
South West
Hana Mackechnie – hana.mackechnie@edinburgh.gov.uk

4|P ag e

Update Number 7 October 2020

Page 292

Appendix 5 – Library Service – Building/Service Implications – Covid – 19
Scottish Government Framework – Applicable Library Service
The table below illustrates the three Service Stages (1,2 and 3) of the library offer and cross references this to the Scottish Government Guidance and levels.

Page 293

Service Offer

Implications

STAGE 1 Service Phase:

Distinct service areas require
dedicated staff resource to
maximise throughput of
customers. Staff numbers higher
than pre lockdown requirements
Web and telephone booking in
operation
Strict health and safety measures

NO

Potential for slight reduction of
number of staff required to
maintain safe operations.

NO

Browsing – Booking Required – including children’s areas
Bus Pass Application – Booking required
Computer Access – Booking required
Hearing aid batteries – At door – no entry
Strict controls over numbers of customers based on
building size
STAGE 2 Service Phase:
Browsing – No booking required
Bus Pass Application – Booking required – Avoid queuing
Computer Access – Booking required
Hearing aid batteries – Entry to branch to pick up
STAGE 3 Service Phase:
Move to pre – lock down conditions. Open browsing,
return of group-based activity, children’s activities,
teenagers activities, booking system remains for bus pass
and computers, partners activities

Level 0

NO

YES

Level 2

Level 3

YES
Maintain
state of
awareness
and high
alert

N/A

Level 4

YES

YES

NO

Strict
Protective
measures in
place

Strict
Protective
measures in
place

All Buildings
Closed

N/A

N/A

NO

Maintain
state of
awareness
based on
guidance

Health and safety measures still
required
Service prepared to return to
Covid – 19 restrictions
Staff ratios per branch return to
normal levels. Maintain hygiene
practices.

Level 1

All buildings
closed

N/A

N/A

NO
All buildings
closed

Page 294

Branch

Current Status

Floor Space
(Sqm)

Max Number of
Customers in line with
H&S requirements /
Service Offer/Building size

Scottish
Service Stage
Government
Framework
Level

Other factors to consider

Central

Open – Service offer at Stage 1.
Not all areas of building are
open.

1624

16

0–3

1

Fountainbridge

Open - Service offer at Stage 1.
Not all areas of building are
open to accommodate
storage/quarantine.

291

12 – Distinct computer
access area

0–3

1

Parts of building being used to
support storage and
quarantine with additional
staff welfare

Kirkliston

Open - Service offer at Stage 1.

242

8

0–3

1

Significant challenges exist
with storage solutions

MacDonald
Road

Open - Service offer at Stage 1.
Not all areas of building are
open to accommodate
storage/quarantine.

443

9

0–3

1

Building not fully open to
accommodate storage and
quarantine

Newington

Open - Service offer at Stage 1.
Not all areas of building are
open to accommodate
storage/quarantine.

420

9

0–3

1

Stockbridge

Open - Service offer at Stage 1.
Not all areas of building are
open to accommodate
storage/quarantine.

293

11 – Under review

0–3

1

Not all of the building is
available for customer use to
accommodate service offer,
storage and quarantine

Craigmillar

Proposed second phase of
opening with stage 1 service
offer. Also operates as Crisis
Response Centre

583

7 (under review)

0–3

1

Shared space with Crisis
Response Centre – loss of
library space at east end of
building

Page 295

Branch

Current Status

Floor Space
(Sqm)

Max Number of
Customers in line with
H&S requirements /
Service Offer/Building size

Scottish
Service Stage
Government
Framework
Level

Other factors to consider

Drumbrae

Proposed second phase of
opening with stage 1 service
offer. Not all areas of building
will be available.

330

10

0–3

1

Building was being used by
Royal High School delaying
potential for Stage 1 opening.

Gilmerton

Proposed second phase of
opening with stage 1 service
offer.

217

6

0–3

1

Potential issues associated
with building storage space
resolved

Wester Hailes

Proposed second phase of
opening with stage 1 service
offer.

607

12

0–3

1

Proposed to open as part of
second phase.

Piershill

Closed

317

N/A

0–3

1

Portobello

Closed

282

N/A

0–3

1

Moredun

Closed

250

N/A

0–1

2/3

Building layout/condition
presents challenges around
safe operation

Morningside

Closed

455

N/A

0–1

2/3

Upper floor inaccessible
presenting reconfiguration
challenges on ground floor.

Balgreen

Closed

112

N/A

0

3

On primary school footprint.
Size of building impacts on
type of service alongside
appropriate safety measures

Colinton

Closed

134

N/A

0

3

Size of building impacts on
type of service alongside
safety measures

Page 296

Branch

Current Status

Floor Space
(Sqm)

Max Number of
Customers in line with
H&S requirements /
Service Offer/Building size

Scottish
Service Stage
Government
Framework
Level

Other factors to consider

Currie

Closed

190

N/A

0

3

Size of building impacts on
type of service alongside
safety measures

Granton

Closed

153

N/A

0

3

On Primary School footprint.
Size of building impacts on
type of service alongside
safety measures

Balerno

Closed

52

N/A

0

3

Size of building impacts on
type of service alongside
safety measures

Blackhall

Closed – Refurbishment Work
started 5 October with
estimated completion on 11
December.

868

N/A

0–3

1

Dependent on refurbishment
works completion

Corstorphine

Closed – Refurbishment Mid to
late November start. Contract
works to be completed
February 2021

276

N/A

0–1

2/3

Layout of building impacts on
type of service alongside
safety measures. Consider
proximity to Drumbrae Hub

Oxgangs

Closed – Refurbishment Work
started 1 October planned
completion March 2021

Granton

Closed

153

N/A

0

3

Unrealistic with H&S/social
distancing restrictions

Central

Open – Refurbishment
estimated start 1 December
with completion August 2021.

Page 297

Gate 55

Closed

Not Known

N/A

N/A

N/A

Covid -19 test centre

Muirhouse

Closed – Due to be demolished
to accommodate new build
Culture & Learning Hub

410

N/A

N/A

N/A

New Cultural & Learning Hub
to be completed 2022

Branch

Current Status

Floor Space
(Sqm)

Max Number of
Customers in line with
H&S requirements /
Service Offer/Building size

Scottish
Service Stage
Government
Framework
Level

Other factors to consider

Oxgangs

Closed - Refurbishment
Contract works to be completed
February 2021

338

N/A

0–3

1

Significant works taking place
until March 2021

Ratho

Closed – Due to be demolished
to create new school/library
hub

91

N/A

N/A

N/A

Sth Queensferry

Closed -

137

N/A

0–1

2/3

Building layout creates
challenges around distancing
and service offer

Leith

Closed -

537

N/A

N/A

N/A

Covid-19 Test Centre

NOTE:
Buildings
Current conditions mean all buildings must be inspected and involve Health & Safety with a view to creating a safe layout, distinct service spaces and
functionality for staff welfare.
Each building will have a safe maximum number of occupants both in terms of staff and customers. This ensures effective distancing and monitoring of
hygiene in line with infection control and health & safety.

Staffing
More staff are required in each branch to ensure each distinct service area is fully supported, manage customers through their allotted booking time period
and ensure the next customer can access the service. Where social distancing measures relax going forward, staffing will begin to retract to normal
numbers. As the number of libraries reopening increases towards the maximum number, the service will need to recruit to some of the posts currently
vacant.
Covid-19 cleaning
Library staff undertake regular touchpoint cleaning during the day to maintain standards of hygiene and reduce potential virus transmission. However,
there is a daily requirement for cleaning carried out by Facilities Management cleaning operatives as well as monthly fogging of each building. This includes
an additional requirement for cleaning on Saturdays and on Thursdays (at those libraries which were previously closed on that day).
Library futures

Page 298

As part of the Adaptation and Renewal Wellbeing strand, a library futures option paper is in development, looking at the development of hub models and
taking into account the new build developments at Ratho (Nursery and Library) and Muirhouse (Nursery, Library and North Edinburgh Arts); the role of
library and information services in supporting community wellbeing and wider access to Council and partner services and information; extending choice for
citizens by their being able to access services through the use of Open + technology.

Agenda Item 7.8
Policy and Sustainability Committee

10am, Tuesday 10 November 2020

Update on the Edinburgh Health and Social Care Older
People Joint Inspection Improvement Plan
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

1.

Recommendations

1.1

It is recommended that Policy and Sustainability Committee:
1.1.1 Note the significant progress to date in delivering agreed improvement actions
as specified in the improvement plan, developed in response to the Joint
Inspection of Older People’s Services (appendix 1).

Judith Proctor
Chief Officer – Edinburgh Health and Social Care Partnership
Contact: Marian Gray, Lead Officer
E-mail: marian.gray@edinburgh.gov.uk| Tel: 0131 529 4050

Page 299

Report

Update on the Edinburgh Health and Social Care Older
People Joint Inspection Improvement Plan
2.
2.1

3.

Executive Summary
This report provides an update on the work undertaken to deliver against the
agreed improvement plan, developed in response to the findings of the Joint
Inspection of Older People’s services. (appendix 1).

Background

3.1 The Care Inspectorate (CI) and Healthcare Improvement Scotland (HIS) (known as
the Joint Inspectors) carried out a joint inspection of Older People’s Services in
health and social care across Edinburgh in 2016. The report was published in May
2017.
3.2 Given several findings were graded as ‘weak’, the Joint Inspectors returned to
undertake a progress review against the initial report and the findings from this were
published in December 2018. While some areas were noted to have made some
slight improvement, overall the progress report found that progress of improvement
had been slow and that the initial improvement plan had not made the impact
expected. In response to this, the Partnership Executive Team developed a revised
improvement plan which reflected the strategic direction of the Partnership, its
transformation programme and a more strategic approach. The improvement actions
plan was aligned to four areas to address the 17 recommendations set out in the
initial report:
3.2.1 Conversation 1 - Listen and connect
3.2.2 Conversation 2 - Work with people in crisis
3.2.3 Conversation 3 - Build a good life
3.2.4 Conversation 4 - Infrastructure and enablers
3.3 The improvement plan is embedded as part of the Partnership’s transformation and
programme. The Executive Team also worked to ensure that both the CI and HIS
were kept informed of the approach and development of the improvement plan,
highlighted the move toward a more strategic approach to improvement and
2

Page 300

operational delivery. A series of regular workshops with the Joint Inspectors has
continued since the improvement plan was approved and these have continued over
the course of the Covid-19 pandemic.
3.4 An initial report on the approach has been to Policy and Strategy in August 2019, and
to the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board and NHS Lothian’s Healthcare Governance
Committee in December 2019.

4.

Main report

4.1 The improvement plan addresses each recommendation by including a statement of
aims and targets for year 1, year 2 and year 5. It also defines how this will be
achieved and measures to indicate successful delivery. Each recommendation is led
by a member of the Executive Team with regular scrutiny at the Partnership
Executive Team, chaired by the Chief Officer. A monitoring tool has been developed
to monitor progress against actions and is included as appendix 2.
4.2 From the 79 actions which were due for delivery in December 2019, 52 actions have
been implemented and include:
4.2.1

The development of a transformation and change programme to support
service redesign (agreed by the EIJB in February 2019)

4.2.2

The successful roll-out of Hospital at Home across the city

4.2.3

The closure of the Gylemuir interim care facility

4.2.4

Individuals diagnosed the dementia being offered a minimum of one-year
post-diagnostic support

4.2.5

An improved falls pathway has been implemented

4.2.6

The set-up of a Quality Hub within the Partnership and the establishment
of Clinical and Care Governance Committee and sub-committee structure
underneath it with a focus on delivering quality services

4.2.7

Clear governance arrangements in place for the transformation
programme, aligned to the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board (EIJB)
governance arrangements

4.2.8

Savings and recovery programme is now in place with a regular review
mechanism in place and regular reporting to the Performance and Delivery
Committee and EIJB

4.2.9

Improvements made within the Inter-Agency Referral Discussions (IRDs)
approach and adult support and protection training redesigned

4.2.10 Baseline workforce plan submitted and agreed by the EIJB, with second
iteration due in March 2021.
4.3 There are 23 actions with a delivery date of December 2019. These relate to
complex and interdependent areas of work which have been disrupted by the Covid3

Page 301

19 pandemic and have not been completed in the initial timescale. However
significant work has been done and these actions are being progressed through the
relevant transformation programmes. The actions fall under the following areas of
work:
4.3.1

The development of intermediate care facilities is being taken forward
through the Partnership Bed Based Review, looking at the totality of the
bed base and reconfiguring it to fit future needs of the population

4.3.2

A market facilitation strategy is being taking forward through the One
Edinburgh Approach and options are developed to look at ways to contract
care in a different way, by building relationship with providers

4.3.3

The promotion and uptake of Self-Directed Support (SDS) will be a
fundamental pillar of the work within the Three Conversations model and
the development of the Edinburgh Pact

4.3.4

Recognising that the Partnership need to futureproof the workforce,
options being considered include, career paths for people, better
promotion of health and care as a career choice, succession planning,
scoping what the workforce of the future is and looking at options relating
to volunteers.

4.4 Some of the actions in the monitoring plan remain at amber and will remain at amber
until full implementation of transformation has been rolled out. This highlights the
complex and far reaching nature of the change being implemented and reflects the
strategic approach being taken. Members will however note that work is taking place
to progress these aligned to the transformation programme.
4.5 Throughout 2019, there has also been significant engagement with the CI and HIS,
sharing the strategic thinking in developing the Improvement Plan and demonstrating
process with the actions identified.

5.

Next Steps

5.1 There is an exercise ongoing to collate an evidence base to demonstrate to the Joint
Inspectors that relevant actions have been achieved. The evidence gathered will be
presented to the Joint Inspectors in November 2020 and discussions will be on going
regarding what further actions, if any the Care Inspectorate require.

6.

Financial impact

6.1 The delivery of the improvement plan is embedded in the Transformation and
Change programme. The focus of the Transformation Programme is aimed at
improving the experience of people seeking help and reduce demand for formal
services by ensuring appropriate supports are available earlier for people.

4

Page 302

7.

Stakeholder/Community Impact

7.1 The inspection progress review report and the improvement plan highlight areas of
unmet need and underdeveloped services across Edinburgh which are likely to
impact on the health and wellbeing of services user and their unpaid carers
7.2 An impact assessment will be undertaken on each work stream within the
transformation programme and associated change projects.
7.3 The development of the improvement plan and the subsequent transformation work
streams has involved a range of stakeholders. Each work stream will include
involvement from citizens and the public as well as partners from the voluntary and
independent sector.
7.4 Each workstream will also include a range of internal stakeholders as well a lead
officers from within the Partnership.

8.

Background reading/external references

9.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Older People Joint Inspection Improvement Plan
Appendix 2: Older People Joint Inspection Monitoring Plan

5

Page 303

Appendix 1

Edinburgh Health and Social Care
Partnership
Progress Review of Older People’s Services
Page 304

Framework for Improvement Based on the
Three Conversations Approach

Agreed by the Executive Management Team:
May 2019

Introduction and Background
Joint Inspection
The Care Inspectorate and Healthcare Improvement Scotland (the Joint Inspectors) carried out an inspection of Older People’s Services in Edinburgh in
2016 and reported their findings in a report published in 2017. The original report noted a number of are as of weakness across the partnership and set
out 17 recommendations for improvement (fig 1 below).
It is normal practice, within joint inspections, that where a grade of ‘weak’ is applied, that the joint inspectors return wi thin a year to assess progress. The
progress review visit took place in June and July 2018 and the report published in December 2018. The review visit is not a further inspection and grades
are not given, however levels of progress against the initial recommendations are provided.
The Partnership

Page 305

This inspection was carried out on the wider partnership in Edinburgh – the Integration Joint Board (IJB) and the Health and Social Care Partnership
(HSCP), and their partner organisations NHS Lothian (NHSL) and City of Edinburgh Council (C EC). Given the complex interrelationship between partners
it’s important that we address the remaining challenges set out in the report as a partnership and in a collaborative and col legiate way. However, given
the number of recommendations, the issues they span and the requirement to make improvement at pace, it makes sense to have a single action plan,
owned by all, but driven through the HSCP as the organisation responsible for operational delivery of Older People’s Services in Edinburgh.
Actions, Improvement and Key Updates Since Review Visit
The review visit took place at a time of significant change in the EIJB and HSCP. A new Chief Officer took up post in May 20 18 and a new Head of
Operations took up post formally in July that same year. Much focus and activity had taken place since the initial inspection and action plans developed
however since then there has been an opportunity to review and refresh the HSCP’s approach to addressing improvement and its wider strategic and
transformational change.
A significant focus has been placed on addressing some of our key challenges in performance. These are clearly identified in both the initial report and in
this follow up report – Delayed Discharges, people waiting for an assessment of care and people waiting for care. We can demonstrate that by February
2019 improvements had been made in a number of areas including:
•
•
•

We have set clear trajectories of improvement for Delayed Discharges over the winter and into 2019. These are monitored closely and we have
reported a consistent improving trend since they were agreed;
Linked to that, we have reduced the number of delays in NHS Lothian acute beds by 25% since September 2018;
We have reduced the number of people waiting in hospital for an assessment for social care 40 to 16 during the same time period;

•
•

There have been more significant improvements in relation to people waiting for a Package of Care on NHSL acute sites – WGH has 48% fewer
Delayed Discharges and RIE 16% fewer;
We would also report that waits for care in care homes remain under pressure.

The additional investment of funding toward community care capacity has begun to be applied and providers are reporting positively. We anticipate the
additional capacity this will purchase to come on stream in January (the time lag relating to recruitment, PVG checks, mandat ory training of new staff etc).
This will create further capacity and will enable both a targeting of delays, as well as supporting older people in the community remain at hom e.
Other areas of leadership for change and transformation have been identified and we can highlight:
•
•

Page 306

•
•

Significant activity around strategic planning and the development of our Outline Strategic Commissioning Plans (including the Older People’s
OSCP) – and in relation to engagement and participation with this being recognised as good practice in the recent Audit Scotland Repo rt – 750
people;
Carers’ Strategy – we have undertaken a test of change in relation to carers’ assessments and access to self directed support and a new carers’
strategy is in development. A lot of engagement with carers, carers’ groups and other stakeholders has taken place and the strategy will come to
the IJB in February;
The HSCP’s first Workforce Plan has been developed following the ‘6 step’ methodology and the baseline document will come to the IJB in
December. A cross system workforce planning group is in place to oversee this work and the next steps of its development;
The Chief Officer commissioned an independent review of the IJB’s Governance and the report and recommendations will come to the IJB in
December. If agreed, the actions taken to implement the recommendations will support a strengthened strategic leadership and direction and
support a new transformation programme in support of the longer term vision and longer term sustainability of the HSCP.

Transformation and Change – Three Conversations Model
A proposal setting out a recasting of our strategic transformation model and vision will come to the IJB in February 2019. T his is not the place to go into
detail however the proposal sets out a reshaping of our model in Edinburgh ali gned to the ‘3 conversations’ approach – summarised in Fig 2 below. The
implementation of this programme, if successful, would support delivery of improvement against the inspection report and the follow up, and, beyond
that, the longer term sustainability of good quality health and care services in Edinburgh which shift the balance of care, support independence and self
direction, and which promote health and wellbeing.

The Approach to our Improvement Plan
Given our shift toward a new strategic transformation programme it makes sense that we align our inspection improvement work to that. In this way
it will be embedded in our change programme and central to it. It is clear in the review follow up report it self that the joint inspectors believed we
were too detailed in the initial response to the recommendations – the revised approach embeds this within longer term strategic change.
Fig 3 below sets out how we’ve mapped the recommendations against our three conversation approach. There are areas of overlap and our
programme management approach will support us in ensuring both good governance of implementation and reducing duplication in delivery.
It should also be noted that we can demonstrate that we’ve closed off a number of recommendations since the visit in June.
Fig 1 Joint Inspection Recommendations
Noted below are an overview of all recommendations identified:
Recommendation 1

Page 307

Recommendation 2
Recommendation: 3

Recommendation: 4
Recommendation: 5

Recommendation: 6
Recommendation: 7
Recommendation: 8
Recommendation: 9

Recommendation: 10

The partnership should improve its approach to engagement and consultation with stakeholders in relation to:
- Its vision
- Service redesign
- Key stages of its transformational programme
- Its objectives in respect of market facilitation
The partnership should further develop and implement approaches to early intervention and prevention services to support older people to
remain in their own homes and help avoid hospital admissions

The Partnership should develop exit strategies and plans from existing ‘interim’ care arrangements to help support the delivery of
community based services that help older people and their carers to receive quality support within their own homes or a setting of
their choice
The Partnership should engage with stakeholders to further develop intermediate care services, including bed based provision, to
help prevent hospital admission and to support timely discharge
The partnership should work in collaboration with carers and carers organisations to improve how carers’ needs are identified,
assessed and met.
This should be done as part of updating the carers strategy
The Partnership should ensure that people with dementia receive a timely diagnosis and that diagnostic support for them and their
carers is available.
The Partnership should streamline and improve the falls pathway to ensure that older people’s needs are better met

The Partnership should develop joint approaches to ensure robust quality assurance processes are embedded in practice.
The Partnership should work with the local community and other stakeholders to develop and implement a cross market facilitation strategy.
This should include risk assessment and contingency plans
The Partnership should produce a revised and updated joint strategic commissioning plan with detail on:
• how priorities are to be resourced

• how joint organisational development planning to support this is to be taken forward
• how consultation, engagement and involvement are to be maintained
• fully costed action plans including plans for investment and disinvestment based on identified future needs
• expected measurable outcomes

The Partnership should develop and implement detailed financial recovery plans to ensure that a sustainable financial position is
achieved for the Integrated Joint Board

Recommendation: 12

The Partnership should ensure that:
1. there are clear pathways to accessing services
2. eligibility criteria are developed and applied consistently
3. pathways and criteria are clearly communicated to all stakeholders, and
4. waiting lists are managed effectively to enable the timely allocation of services (refer to recommendation 13)

Recommendation: 13

The partnership should ensure that:
• people who use services have a comprehensive, up-to-date assessment and review of their needs which reflects their views
and the views of the professionals involved
• people who use services have a comprehensive care plan, which includes anticipatory planning where relevant
• relevant records should contain a chronology
allocation of work following referral, assessment, care planning and review are all completed within agreed timescales

Page 308

Recommendation: 11

Recommendation: 14

The Partnership should ensure that risk assessments and management plans are recorded appropriately and are informed by
relevant agencies. This will help ensure that older people are protected from harm and their health and wellbeing maintained.

Recommendation: 15

The Partnership should ensure that self-directed support is used to promote greater choice and control for older people. Staff and
multi-agency training should be undertaken to support increased confidence in staff in all settings so that they can discuss the
options of self-directed support with people using care services

Recommendation: 16

The Partnership should develop and implement a joint comprehensive workforce development strategy, involving the third and
independent sectors. This will help to support sustainable recruitment and retention of staff, build sufficient capacity and ensure a
suitable skills mix that delivers high quality services for older people and their carers

Recommendation: 17

The Partnership should work with community groups to support a sustainable volunteer recruitment, retention and training model

Fig 2

Page 309

3
Fig

Conversation 1 – Listen and Connect

Conversation 2 – Work Intensively with People in Crisis

(Access, Wellbeing and Prevention)

(Crisis intervention, Short Term and

Recommendation 1

Recommendation 14

Recommendation 1

Recommendation 2

Recommendation 15

Recommendation 4

Recommendation 5

Recommendation 5

Recommendation 6

Recommendation 6

Recommendation 7

Recommendation 7

Recommendation 8

Recommendation 8

Page 310

Recommendation 9

Recommendation 10

Recommendation 10

Recommendation 11

Conversation
3 – Build a Good Life
Recommendation
11

Recommendation 13

(Long Term Care,12Complex Care, Accommodation and
Recommendation
Bed Based Care)
Recommendation 13

Infrastructure
Recommendation
15 and Enablers Programme

Recommendation 1

Recommendation 13

Recommendation 1

Recommendation 15

Recommendation 3

Recommendation 15

Recommendation 5

Recommendation 16

Recommendation 5

Recommendation 6

Recommendation 17

Recommendation 6

Recommendation 7

Recommendation 7

Recommendation 8

Recommendation 8

Recommendation 9

Recommendation 10

Recommendation 10

Recommendation 11

Recommendation 11
Recommendation 13

Recommendation: 1
The partnership should improve its approach to engagement and consultation with stakeholders in relation to:
- Its vision
- Service redesign
- Key stages of its transformational programme
- Its objectives in respect of market facilitation
Executive Lead:
Chief Officer
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
We are committed to ensuring there is an appropriate level of engagement with staff and key stakeholders including 3rd, independent and voluntary sectors in the design and
implementation of our transformation and change programmes

Page 311

Aligned to Quality Indicators:
9 - Leadership and Direction the supports partnership
9.1 – Vision, values and culture across the partnership
9.2 - Leadership of strategy and development
9.4 – Leadership of change and improvement
Targets
1 year: By December 2019
• A Transformation and change programme agreed and resourced by IJB by Feb 2019
• The transformation plan and delivery structure will set out clear engagement with key stakeholders at every stage
• There will be clear stakeholder involvement in the review of the partnership’s vision and values
• Development of a partnership communication plan and a range of platforms to improve communication with key stakeholders
• Staff involvement in the key stages of service redesign will be set out and evidenced
3 years: By December 2021
• The transformation programme will evidence stakeholder led change and delivery
• Staff will be involved in decision making around service redesign and transformation and this will be evidenced through annual staff surveys and evidence of participation
5 years: By December 2023
• There is clear and visible leadership and participation by our staff and partners embedded across all service redesign, transformation and change programmes
• Plans and developments are co-produced and there is clear evidence of community / communities of interest participation in decisions that affect them
How will we do it?

Page 312

• Clear programme board membership and participation plan for the three conversations approach.
• Where appropriate, fund in kind, 3rd, independent and voluntary sector engagement in transformation and change programmes
• Develop a stakeholder satisfaction survey to assess progress
• Establish stakeholder focus groups
• Develop a partnership website and social media platforms to improve communication with staff and key stakeholders
•
How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)
• Key stakeholder membership at programme board meetings
• Stakeholders fully engaged in all transformation and change programmes and market facilitation strategies
• Evidence of a shift in investment towards community organisations and 3rd and independent sectors
• Fully established EHSCP website with regularly updated information to keep staff and key stakeholders up to date on partnership business and developments
• Good level of attendance from all staff groups across the partnership at staff engagement sessions
• Positive stakeholder satisfaction survey results
• Evidence of 3rd, independent and voluntary sector attendance and input at programme board meetings
• Agreed timetable for stakeholder focus / engagement sessions
• Positive staff and stakeholder feedback through staff survey
What evidence do we have to support this?
• Evidence of engagement and participation clear in terms of reference of all our groups and through notes and minutes
• Stakeholder surveys at regular points of our work to gauge experience of role and its impact
• Number of community engagement opportunities evidenced will increase over the course of the programme
• Evidence of partnership approach to commissioning and service design

Recommendation: 2
The partnership should further develop and implement approaches to early intervention and prevention services to support older people to remain in their own homes and
help avoid hospital admissions
Executive Lead:
Head of Operations
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
We are committed to building and reinforcing community capacity and support in order to avoid and reduce formal care and support. We are committed to the principles of a
‘home first’ model and our early intervention strategy and our prevention strategy will reflect that. We intend to invest in community capacity building and work collaboratively
across all sectors. We are committed to the implementation of three conversations which will facilitate the transfer of resources to support early intervention and prevention
services.
Aligned to Quality Indicators:

Page 313

2 – Getting help and the right time
5 – Delivery of key processes
6 – Policy development and plans to support improvement in service
Targets
1 year: By December 2019
• Our conversation 1 programme board will be established and will have prioritised and agreed its key priorities to early intervention and prevention
• Explore and begin to develop sustainable expenditure
• Develop our current Be Able service
3 years: By December 2021
• We will have established a co-ordinated community capacity approach by developing a network of low level community connections to compliment the support available
to support older people to remain in their own homes
5 years: By December 2023
• Early intervention and prevention will be the main focus in our approach to support older people to live independently in their own homes with improved outcomes.
How will we do it?
• Establish conversation 1 programme board
• Identify key priorities and manage these with robust programme / project management support
• Use Ministerial Steering Group (MSG) measures to monitor activity and measure improvement
How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)
• Reduction in the number of delayed discharges in acute hospitals
• Reduction in the number of >75 admissions and readmissions
• Reduction in the number of unscheduled hospital bed days
• Reduction in A&E attendances
• Reduction in the % of last 6 months spent in an acute setting
• Balance of care; % of population in community of institutional care
• Reduction in waiting lists for assessments and reviews
• Improved outcomes for service users
•
What evidence do we have to support this?
• Measurements against MSG improvement objectives.

Recommendation: 3

The Partnership should develop exit strategies and plans from existing ‘interim’ care arrangements to help support the delivery of community based services
that help older people and their carers to receive quality support within their own homes or a setting of their choice

Page 314

Executive Lead:
Chief Nurse
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
Deliver community based services to assist older people and carers to receive quality support at home or in a setting of their choice. Where it is identified that a person’s needs
can no longer be met at home and can only be met in a care home, we will ensure that there is a high quality, person centred interim and intermediate services, which can care
for their needs while they are waiting for a permanent place in a care home of their choice. We have committed to the closure of our current interim facilities at Liberton
Hospital and Gylemuir House Care Home as they no longer suitable.
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
2 – Getting help at the right time
6 – Policy development and plans to support improvement in service
Targets
1 year: By December 2019
• Interim care at current establishments will be closed at Liberton Hospital and Gylemuir House Care Home. An intermediate care facility for 40 people will open at the
Jardine Clinic in late 2019
• We will have reviewed our interim care arrangements and will have a clear plan in place, in terms of our interim care services. This is intrinsically linked with our bed
based resources and we will manage this under Recommendation 4.
• Our interim care services will be supported by the appropriate home based pathways so that people only stay in interim care beds when there is no alternative and when
they are waiting on a place at an identified care home becoming available. This is intrinsically linked with our bed based resources and we will manage this under
Recommendation 4.
3 years: By December 2021
• No further action specific to this recommendation as linked to and will be managed under Recommendation 4
5 years: By December 2023
Not applicable
How will we do it?
• Capture improved interim care directions within Strategic Plan.
• Continue to work with all stakeholders to continually improve our interim care model.
• Continue to be clear on our interim care model and ensure that people have clear plans for moving on prior to admission.
• Identify how improvements in the care at home position can support more people to be cared for intensively at home as an alternative interim solution and while they
are being assessed.
How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)

•

People in our interim care facilities will not exceed maximum length of stay and will be assessed timeously with the appropriate level package of care, back to their own
home.
What evidence do we have to support this?

Recommendation: 4

The Partnership should engage with stakeholders to further develop intermediate care services, including bed based provision, to help prevent hospital
admissions and to support timely discharge.

Page 315

Executive Lead:
Head of Strategy
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
We will have clear pathways from home to hospital and then back to home which will provide the optimum level of care and rehabilitation for people so that they are supported
to remain as independent as possible for as long as possible. This will be designed as part of the Strategic Plan and within it the transformation programme. Implementation will
be further supported by the roll out of the Three Conversations approach.
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
2 – Getting help at the right time
5 – Delivery of key processes
6 – Policy development and plans to support improvement in service
Targets
1 year: By December 2019
• Further engage with stakeholders to firm up plans for future intermediate care facilities, including whether this involves new buildings or different utilisation of current
facilities such as HBCCC.
• Analysis of current community intermediate care provision and understanding of how this could be improved to facilitate more intermediate care within people’s own
homes.
• Agree the exit strategy for Liberton hospital which includes opening the Jardine clinic and the transfer of people currently based in Liberton hospital.
• Agree closure plan for Gylemuir House and transfer residents and staff. Afternote: this action has been completed.
• We will have reviewed our interim care arrangements and will have a clear plan in place, in terms of our interim care services.
• Our interim care services will be supported by the appropriate home based pathways so that people only stay in interim care beds when there is no alternative and when
they are waiting to return home or on a place at an identified care home becoming available.
3 years: By December 2021
Directly links to the outcomes of the transformation programme within the current 3 year strategic planning cycle. In particular output from the Hospital at Home review,
the bed based review and the care at home review.
5 years: By December 2023

We will have well established intermediate care in the community and within bed based resources that is a short term assessment and rehabilitation and reablement service.
How will we do it?

•
•
•
•

Conduct further engagement activities around bed based intermediate care proposals, particularly around how rehabilitation, HBCCC and internal care
home facilities are utilised, to support the strategic ‘home first’ approach.
Identify how community based intermediate care could impact on the bed numbers needed for bed based HBCCC, internal care home, rehabilitation and
intermediate care.
Further analysis of pathways to understand optimum rehabilitation journey for people and the services required.
Gain feedback from the pilot of Discharge to Assess to understand if this could support the intermediate care model.

How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)

Page 316

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Fewer delayed discharges in RIE, WGH, Liberton hospital/the Jardine Clinic
Service user feedback
Increase number of frail elderly returning home rather than institutional care
Increase number of frail elderly returning home with less intense Package of Care, therefore decreasing additional demand for care at home services
Reduce the number of people delayed in hospital when fit to go home (Delayed Discharge)
Reduce length of stay and bed days lost to delays
Reduce unplanned admissions and re-admissions into acute hospitals
Reduce number of people waiting for an assessment and the length of time people wait for an assessment

• Sustainable intermediate care and support
What evidence do we have to support this?

•

Through the Older People Partnership Working Group, the redesign of Intermediate Care Models is underway including internal care homes, HBCCC,
Respite, Interim and intermediate care underway, and rehabilitation pathways, with intended outcomes:
o Improve the experience for people receiving care and services
o Improve frail elderly discharge pathway
o Enable appropriate care capacity to meet needs with timely reviews
o Development of a highly engaged, motivated, and supported workforce, able to utilise the full extent of their professional training and skills

•

The redesign and model review will be informed by work which is underway:
o A review of the orthopaedic rehabilitation pathways (27.03.19)
o A review of improving access and pathways, including Acute Care at Home Review (04.04.19)
o A review of respite provision and HBCCC (25.04.19)
o A review of community rehabilitation and intermediate care services is planned to
o Application of a Test of Change for Discharge to Assess, and planned roll out
o Engagement with key stakeholders and wider workforce in the redesign work, to understand the level of medical and rehabilitation needs
presented within the pathway, and clearly seeking and challenging views about the environment in which care can be provided

Recommendation: 5

The partnership should work in collaboration with carers and carers organisations to improve how carers’ needs are identified, assessed and met.
This should be done as part of updating the carers strategy

Page 317

Executive Lead:
Head of Strategy
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
We will collaborate with carers and partners on all aspects of the implementation of the carers act and update the Edinburgh Joint Carers Strategy to include the contribution
from key stakeholders.
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
5.4 – Involvement of individuals and carers in directing their own support
6.4 – Involving individuals who use services, carers and other stakeholders
Targets
1 year: By December 2019
• By the end of January 2019, finalise the draft Edinburgh Joint Carers Strategy following consultation with adult and young carers and prepare the final version for
ratification by the end of March 2019. This will include the statutory Short Breaks Services Statement (Unpaid Carers). Completed
• Consider new ways of working with paid and unpaid colleagues and adopt the learning from successful pilots in North West Edinburgh and Longstone.
• Develop an implementation plan to support the rollout of the Carers Strategy in Edinburgh for EIJB ratification in August 2019.
• In partnership with third, independent and voluntary sectors, and in consultation with carer representatives, the needs of carers will be considered across each of the
Three Conversation approach within the transformation programme.
3 years: By December 2021
• Review the carers strategy in consultation with key stakeholders.
• Paid and unpaid carers will be prevalent across all EHSCP delivered services.

•

Collaborative work with carers and carers organisations will be embedded as continuous improvement business as usual.

5 years: By December 2023
• The views of paid and unpaid carers will be prevalent across all EHSCP delivered services.
How will we do it?
• Fully consider paid and unpaid carer views in the development of the final revised Carer’s Strategy for EHSCP, including the Short Breaks Services Statement.
• Develop a clear implementation programme for the roll out of the carers’ strategy.
• Ensure carer representation for each of the work streams identified as part of the implementation programme.
• Invite carer representatives to join each of the Three Conversation transformational Programme Boards.

How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?

(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)
• Positive carer representative feedback.
• Performance data shows improvement against measurable indicators associated with the high level priorities and activities identified in the strategy, and recorded form
April 2019.
• Number of Adult Carer Support Plans and Young Carer Statements Completed.
• Review of services and clear robust contract management.
What evidence do we have to support this?
• Redesigned paperwork to meet the new duties of the Carers (Scotland) Act 2016 – Adult Carer Support Plans, Eligibility Criteria.
• New business processes and supporting documentation produced and tested – SWIFT/AIS. This will allow performance to eb measured and reported against key
indicators form April 2019 onwards.
• Carers census survey results.
• Consultation data and report to inform Strategy Development and implementation.
• Regular progress reports including minutes from various groups / committees.
• Feedback from carers/case studies from pilots.
• Draft carers Strategy and Short Breaks Services Statement to 29th March 2019 EIJB
• Final Carer’s Strategy and Implementation Plan ratified by EIJB in August 2019.

Page 318

Recommendation: 6

The Partnership should ensure that people with dementia receive a timely diagnosis and that diagnostic support for them and their carers is available.
Executive Lead:
Head of Strategy
Last Update:
Jan 2019
Aim Statement

Update Frequency:
3 monthly

Target Stage:
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

We are committed to delivering timely diagnosis and quality post-diagnostic support for people who have a dementia diagnosis and those who give support. We
aim to deliver this within the EHSCP priority areas and in line with national policy, standards and local plans. This will link to other dementia related developments
as outlined in the draft Strategic Plan’s Older People’ Commissioning Plan and draft IJB Directions.
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
2.2 – Prevention, early identification and intervention at the right time
5.1 – Access to support
5.2 – Assessing need, planning for individuals and delivering care and support
Targets
1 year: By December 2019

•
•
•

•
•
•

•

Implement revised ISD data set for Scottish Government Local Delivery Plan (LDP) target on diagnosis and post-diagnostic support - “To deliver expected rates of
dementia diagnosis and all people newly diagnosed with dementia will have a minimum of a year’s worth of post – diagnostic support coordinated by a Link Worker,
including the building of a person-centred support plan.”
Through 2019 scoped and developed project plan for quality improvement work to streamline post-diagnostic support (PDS) referral pathways, including referral
transitions and addressing any service provision gaps.
Through 2019 support post-diagnostic support training as a test of change development.

Implement revised service specification for the current Alzheimer Scotland PDS Service contract.
Develop and progress implementation plan for PDS developments, in partnership, which includes implementing published Quality Improvement
Framework for PDS, PDS training model for staff, national Homebased Memory Rehabilitation pilot site. This will take account of links to Carers’
Act, technology enabled care and wider dementia pathways work.
To support GP Practices in North East Edinburgh National Innovation Test Site to test relocation of post-diagnostic support to primary care and
scope opportunities for further development, ensuring it links with wider post-diagnostic support provision and developments. This includes the
testing of both PDS group work and post-diagnostic support in care homes.
Improve the pathway for referral to diagnosis by working with locality MATs to find ways to streamline assessment and triage processes.

3 years: By December 2021
• Review current post-diagnostic support contract in place (1 April 2018 to 31 March 2021) by December 2020.
• From 2019 to 2021, support GP Practices in North East Edinburgh National Innovation Test Site to test relocation of post-diagnostic support to primary care.
• To share learning and continue to develop PDS delivery model as required in line with local and national influences.

Page 319
•

A clear pathway for referral to diagnosis of patients with symptoms of dementia.

5 years: By December 2023
• Continue to support dementia post-diagnostic support service developments, including service delivery, implementation of national Quality Improvement Framework,
training, and data, taking account of local and national influences and Scottish Government Local Delivery Plan (LDP) target reporting requirements.
How will we do it?
• Multi-agency Edinburgh Dementia Post Diagnostic Support Reference Group in place. Terms of reference recently reviewed to take forward priority areas.
• Links to National Dementia Post Diagnostic Support Leads Group will help influence and shape Edinburgh developments taking account of developments, innovation and
challenges experienced across Scotland.
• Dementia and Memory Support Steering Group in place for National PDS Innovation Test Site in Primary Care to take forward work.
• Continue to develop engagement opportunities with people living with a dementia diagnosis and their carers to ensure their views inform developments.

•

Work with locality MATs to improve the pathway for referral to diagnosis by reviewing current pathways and streamlining the process for triage
and assessment.

How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)
• Increased numbers of people receiving timely post-diagnostic support through quantitative data from national reporting to ISD on Local Delivery Plan (LDP) target.
• PDS Contract – monthly and quarterly reporting.
• Report on the National Innovation Test Site in North East Edinburgh GP Cluster External evaluation, (through funding by Scottish Government contract for all national test
sites evaluation) in which will further inform developments. Evaluation to begin in 2019.
• Engagement feedback from people living with dementia and their families on experiences of support, gaps and suggested areas for improvement.

•

Test for change paper will be completed for improving the referral to diagnosis and onward signposting pathways.

What evidence do we have to support this?
• Review of contracted Alzheimer Scotland Dementia Post-Diagnostic Support Service completed April 2017. This included evidence gathered through 2 focus groups with
people living with dementia and their carers, and a review of semi-structured questionnaires routinely sent to service users and their carers at 12 months post-diagnostic
support.
• Monthly LDP Target reporting and ISD published performance report.
• Commitments 1 and 2 within Scotland’s National Dementia Strategy 2017-2020 which specifically relate to further post-diagnostic support developments and testing
relocation of PDS to Primary Care.
• A clear and timely pathway for referring patients for diagnostic tests and onward signposting for post diagnostic support.
• Remain engaged with the development of the Alzheimer Scotland ‘Delivering Fair Dementia care for People with Advanced Dementia’.

Recommendation: 7
The Partnership should streamline and improve the falls pathway to ensure that older people’s needs are better met

Page 320

Executive Lead:
Head of Operations
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
We will broaden our approach to managing falls and focus on prevention and early intervention as part of our falls pathways
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
2.2 – Prevention, early identification and intervention at the right time
2.3 – Access to information about support options including self directed support
5.3 – Shared approach to protecting individuals who are at risk of harm, assessing risk and managing and mitigating risks
6.2 – Partnership development of a range of a range of early intervention and support services
Targets
1 year: By December 2019 we will:
• have developed a process to proactively identify individuals at risk of falls and fractures at an early stage to ensure they are able access the right support at the right time.
• have successfully implemented “Prevention of Management of Falls in the Community: A framework for action for Scotland 2014/16”
• have tested the Care Inspectorates best practice tool ‘Managing Falls and Fractures in Care Homes for Older People’
• review existing falls pathways
• provide targeted support to care homes
• engage with health promotion to develop public awareness campaign

• have completed a programme of training to locality hub and clusters
3 years: By December 2021
We will continue the work to improve our falls pathways and continue to test ways to reduce the number of falls in the community and our care homes through early
intervention and prevention and it will be embedded in continuous improvement business as usual
5 years: By December 2023
We will continue to deliver a programme of improvement around access to falls services and falls prevention with good engagement with SAS, acute services, and 3rd,
independent and voluntary sector organisations.
How will we do it?
Continue to deliver a range of initiatives with a focus on early prevention and intervention through a clearly developed programme of work.
How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)
Reduction in the number of falls resulting in injury and requiring hospital admission
Reduction in admission rates to A&E for people over the age of 65.
Reduction in the number of falls within care homes
Clear referral and care pathways
What evidence do we have to support this?

Page 321

Recommendation: 8
The Partnership should develop joint approaches to ensure robust quality assurance processes are embedded in practice.
Executive Lead:
Clinical Director / Chief Nurse
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
We are committed to delivering high quality, safe care and support to all service users in the EHSCP by following the key principles of the Health and Social Care Standards: ‘My
support, my life.
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
6.3 – Quality Assurance, self evaluation and improvement
9.4 – Leadership of change and improvement
Targets
1 year: By December 2019 we will have completed the workstreams to:

•

Page 322

Review the current quality assurance and improvement resource for the partnership including the understanding of partner’s roles and contributions to EHSCP quality
agenda to ensure there is a joint approach across all services.
• Agree the partnerships approach to quality assurance and improvement and review governance arrangements to ensure there is a clear reporting line for the escalation
of care and service delivery concerns.
• Build capacity and capability around quality improvement across the partnership through the development of a Quality Assurance Hub
• Develop a clear joint reporting framework to gather information across services to provide assurance that the care we deliver meets an expected standard and as a tool
to benchmark against good practice.
• Developed a framework for managing risk with a clear escalation route from service level to corporate level
• Adopt a single IT platform for managing risk
3 years: By December 2021 we will:
• have a fully developed and implemented Quality Framework for the partnership
• have an agreed set of quality standards linked to national standards that we will use to measure the quality of the services we deliver
• have a fully developed programme to introduce a single IT platform for reporting adverse events across all services and a joint policy for the review and investigation of
adverse events and significant occurrences
• be able to demonstrate that quality is recognised as a cross cutting enable across the 3 conversations model for transformation and change
5 years: By December 2023 we will:
• be able to evidence that we deliver all our services to the highest possible standard by measuring against local and national standards.
• have a fully embedded culture of quality improvement across all our staff groups and our staff will be equipped with the knowledge and skills to allow them to influence
improvement.
How will we do it?
1 year
• Review the current quality assurance and improvement resource in the partnership with a view to managing the resource centrally as part of the EHSCP Quality Hub. This
will increase the skill mix across the partnership and allow the resource to be managed more effectively to support the delivery of the agreed quality and assurance
workstreams.
• Consider the requirements of the QA support available through safer and stronger communities to ensure the level of quality assurance support available to the
partnership is sufficient enough to deliver the level of assurance required to ensure the services we deliver are of the highest standard
• Identify the key drivers required to support the development of a EHSCP Quality Hub
• Consider quality and assurance as part of the wider EHSCP governance review
• Review the current ‘quality dashboard’ model to establish if it provides the level of scrutiny required
• Develop a EHSCP corporate level risk register with a clear process for managing risk across the partnership
• Support locality and hosted service teams to develop local risk registers and provide training to aid appropriate identification of risk and appropriate escalation
• Implement DATIX as single system for risk management
3 years
• Involve key stakeholders in the development of a quality framework with measurable standards linked to the Health and Social Care Standards: My support, my life
• Prepare a business care highlighting the benefits and cost implications to move to a single IT platform for incident management
5 years
• The quality hub will be the main driver in the delivery of a fully embedded culture of improvement and assurance in EHSCP. The Quality Hub will continually review and
measure against agreed standards and support staff across all professions to continually improve the standard of care we deliver across our services.

How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)

Page 323

Year 1
Centralised quality resource
Coaching network
EHSCP Quality Website
Clear arrangement with Safer and Stronger Communities Directorate for QA support
Quality and assurance part of the EHSCP governance framework for EHSCP
Reporting framework used across all services with a clear reporting line
Fully developed local and corporate risk registers
Single IT platform for risk management and service user feedback
Year 3
Agreed EHSCP Quality Framework
Measurable standards
Plan to introduce a single reporting system for incident management
Quality input into the 3 programme boards for transformation and change
Year 5
Fully developed and functioning quality hub with a range of skill mix across all professions.
Measurable standards consistently applied to measure the quality of services we provide
A comprehensive programme of improvement initiatives
What evidence do we have to support this?

Recommendation: 9
The Partnership should work with the local community and other stakeholders to develop and implement a cross market facilitation strategy. This should include risk
assessment and contingency plans
Executive Lead:
Head of Strategy
Last Update:
Jan 2019
Aim Statement

Update Frequency:
3 monthly

Target Stage:
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

Building on the work conducted with local community and stakeholders to date; work in partnership to develop a cohesive approach to market facilitation which includes risk
assessment and contingency plans for key market segments.
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
6.1 – Operational and strategic planning arrangements
6.5 – Commissioning arrangements
Targets
1 year: By December 2019
• Have established principles for market facilitation through the Strategic Plan.
• Develop and agree a plan to address each market segment based on a combination of priority, risk and opportunity.
• Have clear processes for engaging with key providers and other stakeholders to plan for the future.
3 years: By December 2021
• Co-produce with relevant stakeholders, the Edinburgh market shaping strategy, which includes risk assessment and contingency plans.
• Continue to improve engagement and relationships with all stakeholders
• New approach to the grants programme agreed with the 3rd sector through the Community Engagement Strategy.

Page 324

5 years: By December 2023
• Evidence that the impact of the well established relationships with stakeholders has improved the outcomes for the users of our services.
How will we do it?
• Identify and agree key market segments.
• Identify the best approach to engaging with each segment (building on networks that already exist).
• Work together to agree principles for working together.
• Work together to identify upcoming challenges in key market segments and work together to address these.
• Establish a regular forum for engagement with the 3rd sector.
How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)
• There will be clearly identified mechanisms for engaging with market segments.
• Market facilitation principles will be produced and agreed.
• Marked improvement in engagement across all provider groupings.
What evidence do we have to support this?

Recommendation: 10
The Partnership should produce a revised and updated joint strategic commissioning plan with detail on:
• how priorities are to be resourced
• how joint organisational development planning to support this is to be taken forward
• how consultation, engagement and involvement are to be maintained
• fully costed action plans including plans for investment and disinvestment based on identified future needs
• expected measurable outcomes
Executive Lead:
Head of Strategy
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
The EIJB draft Strategic Plan for 2019-2022 will contain a full range of steps to be taken to improve older people’s care in accordance with the care Inspectorate
report and recommendations. Most of this effort will be focussed within the transformation programme.

Page 325

Targets
1 year: By December 2019
• Review the strategy for older people as part of the development and production of the new EIJB Strategic Plan taking full account of the
Inspection report and work conducted within the Older Peoples Reference Group.
• Develop action plans which flow from the transformation programme that include anticipated cost implications, active monitoring cost
implications and develop costed business cases at key decision making points.
• Develop engagement and communications plan.

3 years: By December 2021
• Review Older People care within the EIJB Strategic Plan against action plans and the Inspection report.
• Review progress on action plans and business cases.
• Monitor progress including benefits from the roll out of the Three Conversations approach.

5 years: By December 2023
• Continuous review and improvement based on lessons learned from the transformation programme outputs. This is particularly in relation to
Hospital@Home, the bed base review and the care at home review.

How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)
• EIJB Strategic Plan 2019-2022 will be published and ongoing monitoring of the actions and implementation plans.
• Analysis of the performance management framework.
• Analysis of EIJB Directions directly linked to older people.
• Engagement plan actions have been achieved.
• Action plans have been achieved.

What evidence do we have to support this?
•
•

Feedback from the Older People Reference Group.
Feedback on the draft Strategic Plan consultation.

Page 326

Recommendation: 11

The Partnership should develop and implement detailed financial recovery plans to ensure that a sustainable financial position is achieved for the Integrated
Joint Board
Executive Lead:
Chief Finance Officer
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
We will produce a comprehensive 3 year financial plan setting out the quantum of the financial challenge facing the IJB and reflecting the aims and ambitions set out in the
strategic plan.
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
8.1 – Management of resources
Targets
1 year: By December 2019 we will have:
• An IJB financial plan for 2019/20 developed reflecting the budgets delegated by NHS Lothian and CEC and agreed by IJB
• An approved savings and recovery programme for 2019/20 which is reviewed regularly and progress updates given to the IJB
• A 3 year financial framework developed in line with the strategic plan

•

Started work with the IJB to consider its risk appetite, in particular how it views the balance of financial and service risks

3 years: By December 2021:
• We will have processes in place to refresh and update the financial plan on a routine basis
• We will have developed a financial strategy aligned to the strategic plan
• The IJB will have agreed its risk appetite
5 years: By December 2023 we will have:
• A financial framework which allows us to plan and deliver high quality services improving overall outcomes for the citizens of Edinburgh
• A level of financial intelligence to model, predict, plan and evaluate the impact of service change including the transfer of resource from acute services to community
services.
How will we do it?
• Through a series of workshops with the IJB, develop and deliver a savings programme for 2019/20
• Agree the budgets delegated by our partners In line with our budget protocol
• Produce a financial plan for agreement by the IJB
• Work closely with the heads of finance in NHS Lothian and CEC to ensure the appropriate level of financial support is available to support the development of
our strategies.

Page 327

How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)
• Agree a financial plan based on delegated budget
• Have a credible savings plan which is on target for delivery
What evidence do we have to support this?
•
•

Evidence (through papers, minutes etc) of IJB agreement of financial plan with associated savings programme
Projected delivery of a balanced financial position for 2019/20 evidenced by through the annual accounts for the year

Recommendation: 12

The Partnership should ensure that:
1. there are clear pathways to accessing services
2. eligibility criteria are developed and applied consistently
3. pathways and criteria are clearly communicated to all stakeholders, and
4. waiting lists are managed effectively to enable the timely allocation of services (refer to recommendation 13)

Page 328

Executive Lead:
Head of Operations
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
We aim to provide clarity and consistency to our pathways for accessing services. We aim understand how we engage with people. We aim to introduce Three Conversations
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
5 – Delivery of key processes
Targets
1 year: By December 2019
Under the umbrella of Three Conversations we will:
• Develop a new protocol and processes to improve the quality and efficiency of screening and allocation
• Improve the standard for responding to referrals and initial conversations
• Improve the waiting time for assessments
• Review ICT and business processes to support new ways of working
• Identify mechanisms to clear the backlog of assessments and reduce waiting lists
• Develop, agree and implement the Edinburgh Offer
3 years: By December 2021
Access to services will be integrated into the Three Conversations approach
5 years: By December 2023
There will be clear pathways for stakeholders to access our services in a timely manner and be signposted to services within agreed timescales.
How will we do it?
• Implement Three Conversations with the first principle of a providing and immediate response to someone contacting us
• Simplify review processes
• Introduce a performance framework to continually measure improvement
• Work closely with data and compliance team to review and cleanse the list of overdue reviews
How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)
• Our pathways will be clear and easy to navigate
• Reduction in front end waiting lists
• Eliminate waiting lists for assessments

What evidence do we have to support this?

Recommendation: 13
The partnership should ensure that:
• people who use services have a comprehensive, up-to-date assessment and review of their needs which reflects their views and the views of the professionals
involved
• people who use services have a comprehensive care plan, which includes anticipatory planning where relevant
• relevant records should contain a chronology
• allocation of work following referral, assessment, care planning and review are all completed within agreed timescales

Page 329

Executive Lead:
Head of Operations
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
In line with our implementation of Three Conversations, we will provide a clear and comprehensive process and engagement strategy for the assessments and review of people’s
needs that is proportionate to need and complexity.
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
1 – Key performance outcomes
5 – Delivery of key processes
Targets
1 year: By December 2019 we will:
Under the umbrella of Three Conversations we will
• Review and streamline the assessment process and documentation
• Review the process of engagement with stakeholders
• Ensure chronologies are determined by the complexity of individual care plans
3 years: By December 2021
Assessments and care planning will be part of the Three Conversations approach
5 years: By December 2023
All people that use our services will have access to a level of resource and support proportionate to their needs, with a good standard of assessment, care planning and review.
How will we do it?
Review as part of recommendation 12
Use the principles of building on individual assessments
Develop a new protocol to streamline the process for assessment, review and care planning under the 3 conversations model.
How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?

(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)
Our pathways will be clear and easy to navigate
Reduction in front end waiting lists
Chronologies proportionate to the level of complexity
What evidence do we have to support this?

Recommendation: 14

The Partnership should ensure that risk assessments and management plans are recorded appropriately and are informed by relevant agencies. This will help
ensure that older people are protected from harm and their health and wellbeing maintained.

Page 330

Executive Lead:
Head of Operations
Last Update:
Jan 2019
Aim Statement

Update Frequency:
3 monthly

Target Stage:
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

Our processes for managing risk are effective to ensure the safety of our service users
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
5.3 - Shared approach to protecting individuals who are at risk of harm, assessing risk and managing and mitigating risks
Targets
1 year: By December 2019 we will:
• streamline the process for tracking and monitoring IRDs
• continue the development of a programme of ASP training at level 1,2,3 and 4
• progress with health participation in IRDs
• ensure health participation in all IRDs (conversations and recording) standard by end 2019
• ensure all APCC plans are SMART
• recognise the ‘Duty to Inquire’ stage as a formal assessment
• move the Complex Risk Assessment to a more person centred asset based Safety Assessment
• ensure all staff who take lead in adult protection investigations are offered appropriate level of support

3 years: By December 2021

We will be confident that our systems and processes are robust enough to provide assurance that the users are services are safe and where risk is a concern, people are assessed
appropriately.
5 years: By December 2023
Good quality and appropriate risk assessments and robust risk management plans, informed by relevant partners will be evidenced in continuous improvement business as usual
to ensure older people are protected from harm
How will we do it?
The Senior Manager for Regulation and Compliance (Safer and Stronger Communities) will lead on a programme of improvement work to address the identified priorities

How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)

What evidence do we have to support this?

Page 331

Recommendation: 15

The Partnership should ensure that self-directed support is used to promote greater choice and control for older people. Staff and multi-agency training should
be undertaken to support increased confidence in staff in all settings so that they can discuss the options of self-directed support with people using care
services
Executive Lead:
Head of Operations
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
We are committed to enabling citizens of Edinburgh to live their own chosen life independently with the right resources and support. We aim to implement Three Conversations
which will promote greater choice for people and will ensure staff in all settings are confident about discussing self-directed support.
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
2 – Getting help at the right time
7.3 – Training, development and support

Page 332

Targets
1 year: By December 2019
• Introduction of clear guidance for staff, articulating the intent and core principles of self-directed support, as well as revised step by step processes.
• Re-introduction of Resource Allocation System (RAS) to enable assessors to discuss the indicative budget with citizens to support the co-production of support plans to
meet identified outcomes.
• Staff and multi-agency training workshops developed, including the introduction of Three Conversations approach through several innovation sites and the roll out of
Good Conversations skills based training to all staff who will be involved in assessing.
• Improvement targets set to increase use of Options 1 and 2, and performance measures established.
• Continued roll out of access to SDS for carers
3 years: By December 2021
• A catalogue of “stories of difference” to support workers to be more creative in their approach to support planning
• Demonstrated qualitative improvements in practice which will be supported by the roll out of the 3 conversation model, to be introduced in 2019
• Demonstrate senior management support through creative solutions decision making
5 years: By December 2023
• Have a fully embedded culture which meets our Aim Statement.
How will we do it?
• Working with Partners for Change to introduce the 3 Conversation Approach.
• Introducing workers handbook providing clear guidance for SDS practice, which will increase worker confidence.
• Roll out training workshops to support SDS quality practice.
How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)
• Increased proportion of people in receipt of support services using Options 1 and 2.
• Implementation of RAS and working with individuals to use their budgets creatively.
• Variety of “stories of difference”..
• Staff satisfaction surveys.
What evidence do we have to support this?
• Tools introduced with 3 Conversation Model will measure and evidence success, as demonstrated in other authorities with whom they have worked.

Recommendation: 16

The Partnership should develop and implement a joint comprehensive workforce development strategy, involving the third and independent sectors. This will
help to support sustainable recruitment and retention of staff, build sufficient capacity and ensure a suitable skills mix that delivers high quality services for
older people and their carers.

Page 333

Executive Lead:
Chief Nurse
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
Develop a flexible and sustainable workforce across EHSCP by improving staff development opportunities and by investing in staff health and well being
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
6.4 – Involving individuals who use services, carers and other stakeholders
7 – Management and support of staff
9.3 - Leadership of people across the partnership
Targets
1 year: By December 2019
• Develop a baseline workforce development plan using a six step methodology
• Develop an integrated framework for education and training
• Engage with national apprenticeship scheme for caring roles
• Improve engagement with all stakeholder (staff, partnership and 3rd, independent and voluntary sector organisations) in the development of workforce model
• Work in partnership with the newly established Quality Assurance Hub (recommendation 8)
3 years: By December 2021
• We will continue to use the workforce development pan to further strengthen our workforce
• We will have a well established partnership employee health and wellbeing strategy
5 years: By December 2023
• We will have a fully developed workforce to deliver a high standard of care across all services in EHSCP
How will we do it?
Workforce plan to be overseen by EHSCP workforce development group
Recruit 17 modern apprentices to work in caring roles across EHSCP
Promote the health and wellbeing of staff to help stabilise the current workforce
Succession planning
Transform role – identify skill mix across all professions
Review processes for recruitment
Proactively manage sickness absence across all services
Move to a single framework (imatters) to measure staff satisfaction

How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)
Reduction in absence rates
Measure against a standard that all posts will be filled within 10 weeks
Reduction in vacancy rate to <5% across all sectors
Staff surveys will indicate staff are more confident and competent
Our workforce remains with us and more people want to work in the Partnership
What evidence do we have to support this?

Recommendation: 17

Page 334

The Partnership should work with community groups to support a sustainable volunteer recruitment, retention and training model
Executive Lead:
Head of Operations
Last Update:
Update Frequency:
Target Stage:
Jan 2019
3 monthly
1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
Aim Statement
Support organisations to develop volunteering networks and thereby building community capacity that supports early intervention and links with Recommendation 2. Our aim is
to support community capacity and sustainable communities that support people through the implementation of Three Conversations
Aligned to Quality Indicators:
8 – Partnership working
Targets
1 year: By December 2019
• Review existing city wide volunteering structures and networks
• Build a robust relationship with our 3rd Sector partners that supports community capacity building
• Agree the approach to produce a revised community group set up to align with Edinburgh volunteering strategy and maximise volunteer participation and retention
3 years: By December 2021
• Implement the EHSCP elements to the Edinburgh Volunteer Strategy
5 years: By December 2023
• Well established volunteer network across all services in EHSCP that supports our strategic aims

How will we do it?
• Engage through the delivery group set up by volunteer Edinburgh
• Start work on reviewing the existing structures
How will we know that change has led to an improvement / how will we know we have achieved what we set out to do?
(Measures: process, outcome and balancing)
• Increase in the number of volunteers, their satisfaction and retention.
What evidence do we have to support this?

Page 335

Appendix 2 Older People Joint Improvement Monitoring Action Plan
Blue
KEY

Completed

Reference

Recommendation

Green
On track to
complete by
agreed date

Amber

Red

On track to be complete within 3 months of
agreed date

Work not started or might have started but
issues/barriers identified

Executive Lead

Year 1 Target / actions by December 2019
Progress
A Transformation and change programme agreed Paper to EIJB in Februuary 2019, approved and
and resourced by the EIJB by February 2019
resources secured
The transformation plan and delivery structure
will set out clear engagement with key
stakeholders at every stage

The partnership should improve
its approach to engagement and
consultaion with stakeholders in
relation to:
Its vision
1

Service redesign

Page 336

Key stages of its transformational
programme
Its objective in respect of market
facilitation

Chief Officer

Paper to IJB begins this and further work
completed by revision of the strategic plan and the
Interim Transformation Programme. Workshops
held to explore priorities

Indicator
Blue

Blue

There will be clear stakeholder involvement in the Strategic Plan consultation with stakeholders,
review of the partnership’s vision and values
feedback influenced content and report to IJB

Blue

Development of a partnership communication
plan and a range of platforms to improve
communication with key stakeholders

Blue

Development of EHSCP web page and
communication plan on going. Strategic Plan
engagement sessions held with a wide variety of
stakeholders. Work being done on engagement
with people who use services

Staff involvement in the key stages of service Programme for transformational change underway
redesign will be set out and evidenced
and programme/project staff recruited. Specific
topic workshops held with key stakeholders and
business cases developed. Programme boards
established. iMatters survey completed and action
plans in development. Employees Partnership
Forum continues and Employee Partnership
embedded in partnership governance. Making it
Happen meetings established and innovation site
feedback influences service redesign

Green

Our conversation 1 programme board will be
Programme boards established. Three
established and will have prioritised and agreed its Conversations is implemented (7 innovation sites).
key priorities to early intervention and prevention Early intervention and prevention transformational
workshops held and agreed as priority to support
change and 3Cs. Feedback from innovation sites
will influence programme board 1

2

The partnership should further
develop and implement
approaches to early intervention
and prevention services to
support older people to remain in
their own homes and help avoid
hospital admissions

Explore and begin to develop sustainable
expenditure
Head of
Operations

Develop our current Be Able Service

As above. Previous grants process has been
reviewed and new grants process focused on
ensuring sustainable community activity,
community investment activity and partnership
working with Third Sector
Be Able review underway alongside review of
partnership day centres and Steady Steps
programme. Focus to re-align support based on
person’s need and support to maintain level of
ability

Green

Green

Green

Page 337

3

The Partnership should develop
exit strategies and plans from
existing ‘interim’ care
arrangements to help support the
delivery of community based
services that help older people
and their carers to receive quality
support within their own homes
or a setting of their choice

Chief Nurse

Interim care at current establishments will be
closed at Liberton Hospital and Gylemuir House
Care Home. Intermediate care facilities for 40
people will be estanblished

GMH closed on 28th June 2019, all residents
supported and transferred to appropriate long
term care facility. . Model on intermediate care
agreed and resources secured.

We will have reviewed our interim care
arrangements and will have a clear plan in place,
in terms of our interim care services. This is
intrinsically linked with our bed based resources
and we will manage this under Recommendation
4.

Agreed “interim care” is a model we no longer
want to pursue. Focus will be on intermediate care,
Home First and Discharge to Assess
Blue

Our interim care services will be supported by the As above
appropriate home based pathways so that people
only stay in interim care beds when there is no
alternative and when they are waiting on a place
at an identified care home becoming available.
This is intrinsically linked with our bed based
resources and we will manage this under
Recommendation 4.
Further engage with stakeholders to frim up plans
for future Intermediate care facilities, including
whether new buildings or different utilisation of
current facilities such as HBCCC

Multi agency, multi professional workshops held
regarding HBCCC, review of partnership bed
capacity underway, discussions about care home
based intermediate care underway

Page 338

Analysis of current community intermediate care Discharge to Assess under the banner of Home
provision and understanding of how this could be First in development and likely to start in
improved to facilitate more intermediate care
November 2019 – recruitment underway.
within people’s own homes

4

The Partnership should engage
with stakeholders to further
develop intermediate care
Head of Strategic
services, including bed based
Planning
provision, to help prevent
hospital admission and to support
timely discharge

Agree the exit strategy for Liberton hospital which Agreed and action plan in place. Delay in moving
includes opening the Jardine clinic and transfer
date is a building issue rather than a service issue.
people from Liberton hospital
Bed capacity already reduced to 40 and team in
place to move as quickly as building works allows
Agree closure plans for Gylemuir House and
transfer residents and staff

Blue

Blue

Amber

Blue

Blue

Gylemuir House closed on 28th June 2019
Blue

provision, to help prevent
hospital admission and to support
timely discharge

Planning

We will have reviewed our interim care
arrangements and will have a clear plan in place,
in terms of our interim care services

EHSC Partnership no longer exploring interim care
as a service, focus is on intermediate care and
Home First

Our interim care services will be supported by the EHSC Partnership no longer exploring interim care
appropriate home based pathways so that people as a service, focus is on intermediate care and
only stay in interim care beds when there is no
Home First
alternative and when they are waiting on a place
at an identified care home becoming available

Blue

Blue

Page 339

5

The partnership should work in
collaboration with carers and
carers organisations to improve
how carers’ needs are identified,
assessed and met.
This should be done as part of
updating the carers strategy

By the end of January 2019, finalise the draft
Edinburgh Joint Carers Strategy following
consultation with adult and young carers and
prepare the final version for ratification by the end
of March 2019. This will include the statutory
Short Breaks Services Statement (Unpaid Carers)

Draft joint carers strategy presented in March 2019
and ratified by EIJB in August 2019. The Short
Breaks Service Statement (unpaid carers) was
agreed in March and is published and available on
the web

Consider new ways of working with paid and
unpaid carers and adopt the learning from
successful pilots in North West Edinburgh and
Head of Strategic Longstone.
Planning
Develop an implementation plan to support the
rollout of the Carers Strategy in Edinburgh for EIJB
ratification in August 2019

Learning from pilots is under review and hopes to
be concluded in November 2019. Plan to adopt the
learning form pilots, as well as learning from 3Cs,
will be developed following the review

Page 340
6

The Partnership should ensure
that people with dementia
receive a timely diagnosis and
that diagnostic support for them
and their carers is available.

Head of Strategic
Planning

Implementation plan developed and ratified by the
IJB in August 2019

In partnership with third, independent and
voluntary sectors, and in consultation with carer
representatives, the needs of carers will be
considered across each of the 3 conversation
approach within the transformation programme

Stakeholder sessions undertaken as part of the
consultation for the strategic plan which included
carers and care support organisations

Implement revised ISD data set for Scottish
Government Local Delivery Plan (LDP) target on
diagnosis and post-diagnostic support - “To deliver
expected rates of dementia diagnosis and all
people newly diagnosed with dementia will have a
minimum of a year’s worth of post – diagnostic
support coordinated by a Link Worker, including
the building of a person-centred support plan"

Implemented revised ISD and people newly
diagnosed with dementia will be offered a
minimum of one year’s post-diagnostic support,
coordinated by a named link worker

Through 2019 scoped and developed project plan
for quality improvement work to streamline postdiagnostic support (PDS) referral pathways,
including referral transitions and addressing any
service provision gaps

In progress but slight delay to expected start
because of staff capacity and availability. Post
Diagnostic Support (PDS) Reference Group to take
forward

Through 2019 support post-diagnostic support
training as a test of change development

Completed tests of change at Liberton Day Hospital
and selected care homes in North East Edinburgh.
As above, included in PDS Reference Group
workplan

Blue

Green

Blue

Blue

Blue

Amber

Blue

Implement revised service specification for the
current Alzheimer Scotland PDS Service contract

6

The Partnership should ensure
that people with dementia
receive a timely diagnosis and
that diagnostic support for them
and their carers is available.

Head of Strategic Develop and progress implementation plan for
Planning
PDS developments, in partnership, which includes
implementing published Quality Improvement
Framework for PDS, PDS training model for staff,
national Homebased Memory Rehabilitation pilot
site. This will take account of links to Carers’ Act,
technology enabled care and wider dementia
pathways work

Completed and subject to ongoing development
through regular contract monitoring

Blue

The work from this has been folded in to the
project plan and the planned work of the PDS
Reference Group. Work has been reviewed and
revised and is now focused on improvement
Blue

Page 341

To support GP Practices in North East Edinburgh As above – folded into PDS Reference Group
National Innovation Test Site to test relocation of
post-diagnostic support to primary care and scope
opportunities for further development, ensuring it
links with wider post-diagnostic support provision
and developments. This includes the testing of
both PDS group work and post-diagnostic support
in care homes

Page 342
7

The Partnership should streamline
and improve the falls pathway to
ensure that older people’s needs
are better met

Head of
Operations

Improve the pathway for referral to diagnosis by
working with locality Memory Assessment and
Treatment services to find ways to streamline
assessment and triage processes

Steering group in place to progress improvement
work. Work identified and test of change in South
West locality planned Spring 2020 to streamline
diagnosis and improve access to support following
diagnosis

Develop a process to proactively identify
individuals at risk of falls and fractures at an early
stage to ensure they are able access the right
support at the right time

Enhancing Be Able to increase capacity
Training has been carried out with staff across the
partnership on level 1 assessments to proactively
identify people at risk of falls or fractures. This is in
line with NICE guidelines.
Work is ongoing to improve the referral process
within ATEC24

Blue

Amber

Blue

Implemented “Prevention of Management of Falls Long Term Conditions team lead on this and other
in the Community: A framework for action for
developments with dedicated Community Falls CoScotland 2014/16”
ordinator. The four stages of the framework have
been implemented across the partnership. Training
has been carried out across the partnership to
meet Stage 1 and Stage 2 requirements and there
are Assistant Practitioners in each hub who carry
out level 2 multifactorial assessments
Stage 3 - there is an established Fallen Uninjured
Person pathway and a Scottish Ambulance Service
(SAS) Pathway. GP's, NHS 24, ATEC24 and SAS have
been involved in the embedding of the pathways
and their review.
Stage 4 specialist assessments are carried out in
one of the three day hospitals in the city or by
specialist AHP's embedded in local teams

Test the Care Inspectorates best practice tool
‘Managing Falls and Fractures in Care Homes for
Older People’

7

Page 343

The Partnership should streamline
and improve the falls pathway to
ensure that older people’s needs
are better met

Head of
Operations

Review existing fall pathways

A test of change has been carried out to trial the
impact of embedding the care inspectorate best
practice tool ‘Managing falls and Fractures in Care
Homes for Older People’ . The aim was to reduce
falls related A+E admissions by 20% in a six month
period. Four care homes were in the initial phase,
Jewel House, Laverock House, Ashley Court and
Fords Road. Evaluation data showed an average
62% reduction in falls related A+E attendances. A
further 2 phases are currently being carried out in
8 care homes

The existing Lothian Falls and Bone Health Pathway
was reviewed in January 2018

Blue

Blue

Blue

Provide targeted support to care homes

Long Term Conditions team links with care homes
as above. The care homes targeted have been
spread across the four localities and were
identified as those that had the highest rates of
A+E attendances for falls.
A Care Homes Falls Panel has developed organically
from this process and brings together professionals
from across the city who work in Care Homes to
share their experiences and professional
knowledge

Engage with health promotion to develop public
awareness campaign

Some involvement with health promotion around
physical activity and increasing falls awareness but
there has been no specific campaign.

Have completed a programme of training to
locality hub and clusters

An ongoing programme of training is carried out
with practitioners across the Partnership. The focus
is on the early identification of people who might
be at risk of falling and onward referral for further
more detailed assessments as required.
Information on where to signpost individuals to
following a falls has been widely circulated

Page 344

Review the current quality assurance and
Review undertaken and new model identified that
improvement resource for the partnership
is a joint approach to improvement in the
including the understanding of partner’s roles and Partnership
contributions to EHSCP quality agenda to ensure
there is a joint approach across all services
Agree the partnerships approach to quality
assurance and improvement and review
governance arrangements to ensure there is a
clear reporting line for the escalation of care and
service delivery concerns.

8

The Partnership should develop
joint approaches to ensure robust
quality assurance processes are
embedded in practice.

Chief Nurse /
Clinical Lead

Clinical and Care Governance Committee
established by the EIJB following the Good
Governance Institute report and action plan.
Scorecard performance reporting framework
developed.

Blue

Red (Action
needs to be
allocated)

Blue

Blue

Blue

8

The Partnership should develop
joint approaches to ensure robust
quality assurance processes are
embedded in practice.

Chief Nurse /
Clinical Lead

Build capacity and capability around quality
improvement across the partnership through the
development of a Quality Assurance Hub

Review of all staff with a role of improvement,
either directly or indirectly, and those trained or
qualified in this field to better understand the
resources we have and make decisions about how
to best deploy them

Develop a clear joint reporting framework to
gather information across services to provide
assurance that the care we deliver meets an
expected standard and as a tool to benchmark
against good practice

Review data gathering. Currently use a balance
scorecard (version 9) and need to agree if data
gives us the information we need to improve and
develop practice and services

Developed a framework for managing risk with a Re-establish steering group. This is a complex and
clear escalation route from service level to multi-faceted issue and work has begun on EIJB risk
corporate level
register and EHSCP risk register
Adopt a single IT platform for managing risk

Page 345
9

The Partnership should work with
the local community and other
stakeholders to develop and
implement a cross market
facilitation strategy. This should
include risk assessment and
contingency plans

Contracts
Manager

Agreed risk register should be on Datix but only as
a holding register rather than how EHSCP manages
risk. On-going discussions with partner agencies
about how to achieve the use of a single platform.
Recent decision to implement the current NHS
Lothian H&S Assurance Framework across EHSCP
so partnership managers are following one
framework. Chief Officer to take a paper to CLT to
raise issues and seek solutions/support

Have established principles for market facilitation Principles developed in line with Strategic Plan and
through the Strategic Plan.
specific plan will be developed and implemented
by June 2020 focused on building a collaborative
relationship and sustainable community support
across all different sectors with the external
market
Develop and agree a plan to address each market As above
segment based on a combination of priority, risk
and opportunity.

Amber

Green

Amber

Red

Green

Green

9

10

the local community and other
stakeholders to develop and
implement a cross market
facilitation strategy. This should
include risk assessment and
contingency plans

Contracts
Manager

Page 346

The Partnership should produce a
revised and updated joint
strategic commissioning plan with
detail on:
- how priorities are to be
resourced
- how joint organisational
development planning to support
Head of Strategic
this is to be taken forward
Planning
- how consultation, engagement
and involvement are to be
maintained
- fully costed action plans
including plans for investment
and disinvestment based on
identified future needs
- expected measureable outcomes

Have clear processes for engaging with key
providers and other stakeholders to plan for the
future.

Specific plan will include communication and
engagement strategy to develop a sustainable
longer term framework for cross market facilitation

Review the strategy for older people as part of
the development and production of the new EIJB
Strategic Plan taking full account of the Inspection
report and work conducted within the Older
People’s Reference Group

Previous reference group now disbanded, new
working groups will be formed through the
establishment of the Three Conversations
Programme Board or as a need for business as
usual improvement activity. New EIJB Strategic
Plan agreed and approved in August 2019

Develop action plans which include anticipated
cost implications, active monitoring cost
implications and develop costed business cases at
key decision making points.

Transformation Programme being established
which will drive transformational change.
Programme/project staff are being recruited and
business cases developed following stakeholder
workshops. Savings and recovery programme
established

Develop engagement and communications plan.

Inclusive engagement plan for al services, people
and staff under development. Interim plan in place
to ensure communication and engagement
progresses

11

Chief Finance
Officer

Blue

Green

Green

An IJB financial plan for 2019/20 developed
reflecting the budgets delegated by NHS Lothian
and CEC and agreed by IJB

The Partnership should develop
and implement detailed financial
recovery plans to ensure that a
sustainable financial position is
achieved for the Integrated Joint
Board

Amber

Papers presented to EIJB in October 2019.
Workshops held with EIJB and others to explore
issues and options and recovery plan agreed.

Green

An approved savings and recovery programme for Savings and recovery plan in place and monitored
2019/20 which is reviewed regularly and progress monthly through Savings Governance Board
updates given to the IJB
through to the EIJB Performance and Delivery
Committee

11

The Partnership should develop
and implement detailed financial
recovery plans to ensure that a
sustainable financial position is
achieved for the Integrated Joint
Board

Chief Finance
Officer

A 3 year financial framework developed in line
with the strategic plan

Two sessions held with EIJB and final report will be
presented to EIJB in January 2020

Started work with the IJB to consider its risk
appetite and, in particular how it views the
balance of financial and service risks

In development through GGI work which has
begun to explore EIJB risk appetite. Workshop
planned for early 2020 with EIJB

Blue

Green

Green

Page 347

Develop a new protocol and processes to improve Implementation of Three Conversations ensures
the quality and efficiency of screening and
screening and allocation process will change or will
allocation
be withdrawn. In the meantime current business as
usual pathways remain in place and during 3Cs
development learning will allow changes to current Amber - will
processes and pathways in preparation of full 3Cs
remain
implementation. Interim changes will be made to
amber until
keep flow. New recording tools have been
3c's fully
developed through 3Cs and a new procedure will implemented
be developed as 3Cs becomes more widely
established

Improve the standard for responding to referrals
and initial conversations

12

The Partnership should ensure
that:
- there are clear pathways to
accessing services
- eligibility criteria are developed
and applied consistently
- pathways and criteria are clearly
communicated to all
stakeholders, and
- waiting lists are managed
effectively to enable the timely
allocation of services (refer to
recommendation 13)
Recommendation now under the
umbrella of Three Conversations

Head of
Operations

As above. 7 innovation sites now running across a
variety of teams bringing a wealth of information
about how we respond quickly, appropriately and
in a person centred, strength based way. Grip and
control of processes to ensure consistency and
rigour during our transformation

Amber - will
remain
amber until
3c's fully
implemented

12

that:
- there are clear pathways to
accessing services
- eligibility criteria are developed
and applied consistently
- pathways and criteria are clearly
communicated to all
stakeholders, and
- waiting lists are managed
effectively to enable the timely
allocation of services (refer to
recommendation 13)
Recommendation now under the
umbrella of Three Conversations

Head of
Operations

Improve the waiting time for assessments
Amber - will
remain
As above. Discharge to Assess under the banner of amber until
Home First and linked with Good Conversations
3c's fully
(skills enhancement) will improve hospital
implemented
assessments
Review ICT and business processes to support new As above. Learning from 3Cs will influence ICT
Amber - will
ways of working
requirements going forward as front line practice
remain
changes and develops. Engaged with support
amber until
services to ensure service needs fully understood
3c's fully
and they are part of Making It Happen.
implemented
Identify mechanisms to clear the backlog of
assessments and reduce waiting lists. Develop,
agree and implement the Edinburgh Offer

Page 348
13

The partnership should ensure
that:
- people who use services have a
comprehensive, up-to-date
assessment and review of their
needs which reflects their views
and the views of the professionals
involved
- people who use services have a
comprehensive care plan, which
includes anticipatory planning
where relevant
- relevant records should contain
a chronology
allocation of work following
referral
- assessment, care planning and
review are all completed within
agreed timescales
Recommendation now under the
umbrealla of Three Conversations

Head of
Operations

As above. Two 3C innovation sites focused on
waiting lists which will help us develop new
operational delivery methods that are responsive
and flexible. Edinburgh Pact (Edinburgh Offer
renamed) is still in development and will be
influenced by the outcomes from the 3Cs
innovation sites

Review and streamline the assessment process
and documentation

As above in Recommendation 12

Review the process of engagement with
stakeholders

As result of the new Strategic Plan and the
development of a wider engagement and
communication plan will ensure robust
engagement with stakeholders

Amber - will
remain
amber until
3c's fully
implemented

Amber - will
remain
amber until
3c's fully
implemented

Amber

13

- people who use services have a
comprehensive, up-to-date
assessment and review of their
needs which reflects their views
and the views of the professionals
involved
- people who use services have a
comprehensive care plan, which
includes anticipatory planning
where relevant
- relevant records should contain
a chronology
allocation of work following
referral
- assessment, care planning and
review are all completed within
agreed timescales
Recommendation now under the
umbrealla of Three Conversations

Ensure chronologies are determined by the
complexity of individual care plans
Head of
Operations

Training will be developed following the ASAP audit
which is underway and chronologies will be
addressed within new 3Cs recording and ASAP
work

Amber

Streamline the process for tracking and
monitoring IRDs

New terms of reference have been issued for EIRD
Group. This group monitors and tracks IRDs as well
as provides quality assurance and feedback for the
work undertaken.
Blue

Page 349

Continue the development of a programme of ASP All courses have been reviewed. Level 1 is now
training at level 1,2,3 and 4
elearning, level 2 &3 revised and level 4 had new
topics added. All course now routinely evaluated
with a focus on the participants level of confidence
following completion
Progress with health participation in IRDs

14

The Partnership should ensure
that risk assessments and
management plans are recorded
appropriately and are informed by
relevant agencies. This will help
ensure that older people are
protected from harm and their
health and wellbeing maintained.

Head of
Operations

Agreed principle of rota for Health colleagues

Blue

Blue

14

The Partnership should ensure
that risk assessments and
management plans are recorded
appropriately and are informed by
relevant agencies. This will help
ensure that older people are
protected from harm and their
health and wellbeing maintained.

Head of
Operations

Ensure health participation in all IRDs
(conversations and recording) standard by end
2019

Ensure all APCC plans are SMART

Page 350
15

The Partnership should ensure
that self-directed support is used
to promote greater choice and
control for older people. Staff and
multi-agency training should be
undertaken to support increased
confidence in staff in all settings
so that they can discuss the
options of self-directed support
with people using care services

Head of
Operations

Test of change undertaken in NW that agreed a
rota for Health colleagues who can interrogate
health care systems for information for the
purposes of IRD. Will be rolled out to NE by
December 2019. Senior Social Workers will have
one point of contact on any particular day and will
record discussion/information etc on EIRD

Green

APCC Plan monitored by Senior Practitioners who
chair all APCCs and audit of ASAP and APCC
underway. The will ensure consistency across all
localities

Green

Recognise the ‘Duty to Inquire’ stage as a formal
assessment

Work on going through 3Cs that will address
recording

Amber

Move the Complex Risk Assessment to a more
person centred asset based Safety Assessment

Work on going through 3Cs that will address
recording

Amber

Ensure all staff who take lead in adult protection
investigations are offered appropriate level of
support

3Cs includes robust reflective practice individually,
in 1-1 and collectively as groups of staff

Amber

Introduction of clear guidance for staff,
articulating the intent and core principles of selfdirected support, as well as revised step by step
processes.

In development and will be influenced by 3Cs.
Edinburgh Pact still in development. Focus on
choice and control for the person

Re-introduction of Resource Allocation System
Resource Allocation System (RAS) being reviewed
(RAS) to enable assessors to discuss the indicative
budget with citizens to support the co-production
of support plans to meet identified outcomes.
Staff and multi-agency training workshops
On-going, see recommendation 12, 13 and 14
developed, including the introduction of Three
Conversations approach through several
innovation sites and the roll out of Good
Conversations skills based training to all staff who
will be involved in assessing.

Amber

Amber

Amber

options of self-directed support
with people using care services

Improvement targets set to increase use of
Options 1 and 2, and performance measures
established.

On-going, see recommendation 12, 13 and 14

Develop a baseline workforce development plan
using a six step methodology

Baseline plan completed in 2018 and signed off by
EIJB in December 2018

Amber

Blue

Develop an integrated framework for education
and training

16

The Partnership should develop
and implement a joint
comprehensive workforce
development strategy, involving
the third and independent
sectors. This will help to support
sustainable recruitment and
retention of staff, build sufficient
capacity and ensure a suitable
skills mix that delivers high
quality services for older people
and their carers

Head of Strategic
Planning / Chief
Nurse

Page 351
17

The Partnership should work with
community groups to support a
sustainable volunteer
recruitment, retention and
training model

Head of
Operations

Workforce Steering Group had been established
under Converstaion 4 Enablers. Plan to develop a
new Core Workforce Group which will report to
EMT through the soon to be established
Programme Board. National Guidance due in
November 2019 with a likely recommendation of
the Partnership must have 3 year integrated plan
by March 2021

Engage with national apprenticeship scheme for
caring roles

In place and making progressp

Improve engagement with all stakeholder (staff,
partnership and 3rd, independent and voluntary
sector organisations) in the development of
workforce model

As above - integrated framework

Work in partnership with the newly established
Quality Assurance Hub (recommendation 8)

See recommendation 8

Review existing city wide volunteering structures
and networks

This folds into recommendation 2 and 3Cs and will
be address in Programme Board Conversation 1
and links with the overarching community
investment programme supporting prevention and
early intervention

Build a robust relationship with our 3rd Sector
partners that supports community capacity
building

Amber

Amber

Red

Amber

As above. Relaytionship and frmawork developed
in Partnership with EVOC

Red

Red

17

The Partnership should work with
community groups to support a
sustainable volunteer
recruitment, retention and
training model

Head of
Operations
Agree the approach to produce a revised
community group set up to align with Edinburgh
volunteering strategy and maximise volunteer
participation and retention

As above
Red

Page 352

Agenda Item 8.1
Policy and Sustainability Committee

10.00am, Tuesday, 10 November 2020

Policies – Assurance Statement - Customer
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

Routine

1.

Recommendations

1.1

To note that Council policies detailed in this report have been reviewed and are
considered to reflect current legislative requirements and best practice and
therefore remain fit for purpose.

Stephen S. Moir
Executive Director of Resources
Contact: Nicola Harvey, Head of Customer and Digital Services,
Customer and Digital Services Division, Resources Directorate
E-mail: Nicola.harvey2@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 5006

Page 353

Report

Policies – Assurance Statement - Customer
2.

Executive Summary

2.1

Council policies are key governance tools. They help realise the Council’s vision,
values, pledges and outcomes, and are critical to the Council’s operations, ensuring
the statutory and regulatory obligations are met in an efficient and accountable
manner.

2.2

To strengthen governance arrangements in this area, a policy framework has been
developed to ensure that all current Council policies are easily accessible, and are
created, revised and renewed in a consistent manner and to an agreed standard.

2.3

To ensure that Council polices remain current and relevant, all Council Directorates
are required to review policies on an annual basis. This report provides an
assurance update on key policies within the Customer Team of the Customer and
Digital Services Division of the Resources Directorate. The report encompasses:
Corporate Debt Policy, Discretionary Housing Payments Policy, Council Tax
Policies (second homes and empty properties) and Non-Domestic Rates Policy
(Discretionary Relief).

3.

Background

3.1

Council policies are key governance tools. They help realise the Council’s vision,
values, pledges and outcomes, and are critical to the Council’s operations, ensuring
the statutory and regulatory obligations are met in an efficient and accountable
manner.

3.2

To strengthen governance arrangements in this area, a policy framework has been
developed to ensure that all current Council policies are easily accessible, and are
created, revised and renewed in a consistent manner and to an agreed standard.
This included the development of a comprehensive register of Council policies and
introduction of a policy template to provide the Council with a standardised format in
terms of content and style.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 10 November 2020

Page 354

4.

Main report

4.1

A critical element of the policy framework is to ensure that all Council policies are fit
for purpose. This requires each directorate to review, on an annual basis, all
policies relevant to their services, and to provide the necessary level of assurance.

4.2

This report confirms that the policies listed in the appendix have been reviewed by
directorate senior management and are considered fit for purpose.

4.3

Some policies require minor adjustments to ensure on-going currency and accuracy
(for example changes in legislation). Any changes are noted and detailed where
appropriate.

4.4

Council policies are available through an interactive directory on the Council’s
website.

5.

Next Steps

5.1

The Customer Team will continue to ensure Council policies in their remit are
current and accurate.

6.

Financial impact

6.1

There are no direct financial impacts as a result of this report.

7.

Stakeholder/Community Impact

7.1

Consultation was undertaken with directorates and divisions as part of the
development of a policy framework for the Council.

7.2

A review of the Corporate Debt Policy was recently undertaken by officers and
members of the Poverty Commission Group. This review resulted in some minor
changes regarding language and tone and clarified the support channels in place
for citizens who face indebtedness.

8.

Background reading/external references

8.1

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee Report 22 May 2014 – Review of
Council Policy: up-date.

8.2

Policy and Sustainability Committee Report 6 August 2019 – Policy Assurance
Statement – Customer.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 10 November 2020

Page 355

9.

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Assured Policies

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 10 November 2020

Page 356

Appendix 1 – Assured Polices

Policy title:
Approval date:
Approval body:
Review process:

Corporate Debt Policy
3 September 2013 (with a number of subsequent
amendments)
Corporate Policy and Strategy Committee
Annual review taking account of changes in legislation,
service improvements, regulations and wider policy initiatives.

Change details: 2.1

No material changes in last 12 months, however minor
updates relating to current Court Costs and fees, revised
language and tone of the policy and additional signposting for
citizens to agencies providing welfare benefits and debt
advice. The policy was reviewed by officers and the Poverty
Commission and remains fit for purpose.

Policy title:
Approval date:
Approval body:
Review process:

Discretionary Housing Payments Policy
06 December 2016 (Date of original approval)
Corporate Policy and Strategy Committee
Annual review by Customer Manager, with Policy and
Sustainability Committee to approve any material changes.
No material changes in last 12 months, however minor
updates to the policy at section 4.17 relating to updated
channels for citizens to apply (citizens that do not have
access to online facility can email dhp@edinburgh.gov.uk or
phone 0131 608 1111) The policy remains fit for purpose.

Change details:

Procedure title:
Approval date:
Approval body:
Review process:
Change details:

Council Tax Empty Properties Procedure
29 October 2015 (Date of original approval)
Finance and Resources Committee
Annual review taking account of changes in legislation and
service improvements.
No material changes in last 12 months, minor temporary
updates relating to the policy for Covid19.
Additional discretion applies for the removal of the empty
property premium as a result of Covid19 where refurbishing
work had to stop, or a property was removed from on the
market for sale/let. This applies to properties after 1st March
2020 and a 10% discount can then be applied for a period of 6
months before the premium is reapplied. Additionally,
exemptions for properties that are occupied solely by students
and became unoccupied on or after 17 March 2020 for a

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 10 November 2020

Page 357

reason relating to Covid19. From (and including) the 27 May
2020 such a property will be exempt from paying council tax
until it is occupied, or the provisions in the Act comes to an
end.
The policy remains fit for purpose.
Procedure title:
Approval date:
Approval body:
Review process:

Change details:

Procedure title:
Approval date:
Approval body:
Review process:

Change details:

Council Tax Procedure for Second Homes
9 February 2017
City of Edinburgh Council
In November 2016 the Scottish Government amended the
Council Tax (Variation for Unoccupied Dwellings) (Scotland)
Regulations 2013 by implementing The Council Tax (Variation
for Unoccupied Dwellings) (Scotland) Amendment
Regulations 2016. This gave local authorities discretion to
remove second home discounts.
This procedure is reviewed in line with legislative changes and
is operating effectively. No change in last 12 months and
policy remains fit for purpose.
NDR Discretionary Rating Relief
22 January 2013
Corporate Policy and Strategy Committee
The power to grant DRR is governed by the provision of the
Local Government (Financial Provisions etc) (Scotland) Act
1962. This procedure is reviewed in line with legislative
changes and is operating effectively. The current policy
remains fit for purpose and will be extended before an
anticipated material revision linked to the Barclay Review
(Empty Property Rating Relief) is completed. This is
dependent on national guidance. Committee will be updated
at the appropriate time
No change and the policy remains fit for purpose.

Policy and Sustainability Committee – 10 November 2020

Page 358

Agenda Item 8.2
Policy and Sustainability Committee

10:00am, Tuesday 10 November 2020

Human Resources Policies - Assurance Statement
Item number
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

1.

Routine

Recommendations
To note that the Council policies detailed in this report have been reviewed and are
considered as being current, relevant and fit for purpose.

Stephen S. Moir
Executive Director of Resources
Contact: Katy Miller, Head of Human Resources,
Human Resources Division, Resources Directorate
E-mail: katy.miller@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 5522

Page 359

Report

Human Resources Policies - Assurance Statement
2.

Executive Summary

2.1

This report confirms the employment or Human Resources (HR) policies, which
have been reviewed, consulted on, and approved by relevant committee in the last
12 months.

2.2

In addition, this report outlines HR policies that are planned for review in the next 12
months.

3.

Background

3.1

Council policies are key governance tools. They help realise the Council’s vision,
values, pledges, and outcomes, and are critical to the Council’s operations,
ensuring that statutory and regulatory obligations are met in an efficient and
accountable manner.

3.2

HR policies are reviewed as and when a change to the existing policy deems this
necessary, primarily as a result of: changes to legislation or statute; agreement of
new national terms and conditions of service or Government Policy; organisational
change; or resulting from changes agreed through Trade Union Consultation.

3.3

The Corporate Policy and Strategy Committee agreed the approach detailed above,
for HR policies, on 5 December 2017.

4.

Main report

4.1

A critical element of the policy framework is to ensure that our HR policies are fit for
purpose, that they support our culture, reflect best practice and meet our legal
obligations.

4.2

Appendix one confirms the policies together with the detail of the changes, which
have been reviewed, consulted on, and approved by relevant committee in the last
12 months, namely; sickness absence, domestic abuse, recruitment and selection,
and disciplinary.

4.3

Other policies planned for review or part way through review are currently on hold,
whilst resources have been diverted to deal with COVID related matters.

Page2020
360
Policy and Sustainability Committee – 10 November

Page 2

4.4

Depending on the emerging nature of COVID, the following will be resumed or
scheduled over the next 18-24 month period:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Maternity, Paternity, Adoption and Shared Parental Leave
Grievance
Avoidance of Bullying and Harassment
Special Leave
Disciplinary Policy for Teachers
Employee Code of Conduct
Employer Discretions

4.5

All Council policies are available through an interactive directory on the Council’s
website.

5.

Next Steps

5.1

Policies will be reviewed over the next 18-24 months as outlined.

6.

Financial impact

6.1

There is no direct financial impact arising from this report.

7.

Stakeholder/Community Impact

7.1

Consultation was undertaken, where appropriate, with recognised trades unions as
part of the Council’s Working Together Protocol and local collective consultation
arrangements concerning Human Resource policies.

8.

Background reading/external references

8.1

None

9.

Appendices

9.1

Appendix 1 – Assured Policies

Page
Policy and Sustainability Committee – 10 November
2020

361

Page 3

Appendix 1 – Assured Policies

Title:
Approval Date:
Approval Body:
Review Date:

Changes:

Title:
Approval Date:
Approval Body:
Review Date:

Changes:

Title:
Approval Date:
Approval Body:
Review Date:

Sickness Absence Policy
1 October 2019
Policy and Sustainability Committee
The policy will be reviewed as and when a change to the existing
policy deems this necessary, primarily as a result of: changes to
legislation or statute; agreement of new national terms and
conditions of service or Government Policy; organisational
change; or resulting from changes agreed through Trade Union
Consultation.
The policy was updated to include improvements following
feedback from key stakeholders and provided additional focus on
prevention, support and effective conversations. Absence
thresholds replaced triggers, and managers were provided with
greater scope to make informed contextual decisions when
managing absence. Policy style, tone and language were
updated in line with current approach to policy development,
making it less complex and more accessible for colleagues. The
update also removed the link between absence management
and annual pay progression.
Domestic Abuse Policy
1 October 2019
Policy and Sustainability Committee
The policy will be reviewed as and when a change to the existing
policy deems this necessary, primarily as a result of: changes to
legislation or statute; agreement of new national terms and
conditions of service or Government Policy; organisational
change; or resulting from changes agreed through Trade Union
Consultation.
A review of the policy was required by new legislation, the
Domestic Abuse (Scotland) Act 2018, which made coercive and
controlling behaviours a criminal offence. The opportunity was
taken to refresh and update the policy, with additional focus on
providing appropriate support. Policy style, tone and language
were also updated in line with current approach to policy
development, making it less complex and more accessible for
colleagues.
Recruitment and Selection Policy
1 October 2019
Policy and Sustainability Committee
The policy will be reviewed as and when a change to the existing
policy deems this necessary, primarily as a result of: changes to
legislation or statute; agreement of new national terms and
conditions of service or Government Policy; organisational
change; or resulting from changes agreed through Trade Union
Consultation.

Page2020
362
Policy and Sustainability Committee – 10 November

Page 4

Changes:

The policy was updated to place greater emphasis on diversity
and inclusion, the importance of robust pre-employment checking
and to ensure our approach to recruitment is fair, objective and
inclusive. Policy style, tone and language were also updated in
line with current approach to policy development, making it less
complex and more accessible for colleagues.

Title:
Approval Date:
Approval Body:
Review Date:

Pay Policy
25 February 2020
Policy and Sustainability Committee
The policy will be reviewed as and when a change to the existing
policy deems this necessary, primarily as a result of: changes to
legislation or statute; agreement of new national terms and
conditions of service or Government Policy; organisational
change; or resulting from changes agreed through Trade Union
Consultation.
This was a new policy, and superseded aspects of the Corporate
Debt Policy, in so far as they relate to under/overpayments to
employees. The purpose of the policy is to formalise processes
and controls that ensure employees receive the correct pay at
the right time. It standardises the processes that will be followed
to ensure consistent and robust management of all pay related
matters, for both existing and former employees. This includes
the resolution of overpayments and underpayments where they
occur.

Changes:

Title:
Approval Date:
Approval Body:
Review Date:

Changes:

Disciplinary Policy
25 June 2020
Policy and Sustainability Committee
The policy will be reviewed as and when a change to the existing
policy deems this necessary, primarily as a result of: changes to
legislation or statute; agreement of new national terms and
conditions of service or Government Policy; organisational
change; or resulting from changes agreed through Trade Union
Consultation.
While no significant amendments to the existing framework were
deemed necessary, there was an opportunity to make procedural
improvements to the disciplinary process. Additional emphasis
was placed on timely and informal resolution of minor conduct
concerns. Where formal processes are required, the importance
of prompt and robust investigations was reinforced, and the right
to accompaniment in investigations meetings was formalised.
The link between formal warnings and annual pay progression
was also removed. Policy style, tone and language were also
updated in line with current approach to policy development,
making it less complex and more accessible for colleagues.

Page
Policy and Sustainability Committee – 10 November
2020

363

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

